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1/7/2022 Eligible List Posting

https://jobapscloud.com/SF/Admin/EListPosting.asp?PUB=1&FirstCol=Rank 1/1

City and County of San Francisco Department of Human Resources
Eligible List

List ID: 059294   Permanent PBT List Type: CPE

Class: 6334  Chief Building Inspector Scope: DBI

Working Title:
Post: 11/28/2012 Cert Rule: Rule of Three Scores Duration: 12 Months

Inspection Start: 11/19/2012 Inspection End: 11/27/2012 Adoption: 11/28/2012

Rank Score Last Name First Name Middle

1 1060 O'RIORDAN PATRICK

2 981 TOM RONALD K

3 966 GRIECO ANTHONY D

4 781 VENIZELOS THOMAS S

5 700 DUMFORD DONALD A

1/7/2022 10:17:55 AM
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CITY & COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO

Controller’s Office

September 16, 2021

Public Integrity Review

Preliminary Assessment: 
Department of Building Inspection’s 
Permitting and Inspections Processes
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Assessment Summary

The Controller’s Office (Controller) issues this preliminary assessment of the permitting and 
inspections* processes of the Department of Building Inspection (DBI) based on a limited 
survey of San Francisco properties, including 555 Fulton Street (Fulton) and 2867-2899 San 
Bruno Avenue (San Bruno), with known irregularities in plan review and/or inspections as 
identified by the federal complaints against Mohammed Nuru, Rodrigo Santos and Bernard 
Curran. This assessment is informed by the findings of the Controller’s joint Public Integrity 
investigation with the City Attorney’s Office (City Attorney) and identifies generally 
applicable risk areas in DBI’s processes where improper preferential treatment can occur. 

DBI senior management reports that it has launched departmental reforms and begun an 
internal audit to identify, review, and remediate potential issues resulting from improper 
preferential treatment afforded during the tenure of former DBI Director Tom Hui. This 
preliminary assessment does not review DBI’s remediation efforts. Rather, it focuses on 
measures DBI should take to ensure an ethical culture and promote ethical compliance in 
the future. 

* This review focused on building inspection processes and did not review electrical or plumbing inspection processes. DBI 
should conduct additional reviews that cover the remainder of its inspection processes.



3

Assessment Summary – Preliminary Findings
Our assessment identifies the following significant weaknesses in the department’s systems, 
processes, and controls needed to reduce the risk of fraud or inappropriate activities:

• The department’s permitting and inspection system lacks system controls to ensure 
completed data is entered into the system and to prevent inappropriate after-the-fact 
changes to recorded inspection records. Other review and inspection milestones and 
policies to manage such changes are uneven and inadequately monitored.

• The department does not make use of available data to track, monitor, and investigate 
certain “red flag” activities, such as out-of-area inspections, inappropriately expedited 
review of project plans, or approvals by those without proper authorization to do so.

• Review and investigation of complaints or higher-risk activities is not standardized 
across the department, and in some cases inappropriately assigned to units to review 
their own initially-performed work.

• Financial penalties for non-compliance with code appear in some cases too low and 
do not provide an adequate incentive to adhere to City-established requirements.

• These internal control weaknesses, combined with a pattern of poor ethical 
management under the former director, sustained a negative “tone at the top” during 
his tenure.
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Assessment Summary – Recommendations
This assessment makes preliminary recommendations to the Building Inspection 
Commission (BIC) and DBI to:

• Foster an ethical organizational culture by ensuring there is an ethical tone at the top and by 
promoting adherence to ethics disclosure and conduct laws.

• Create a strong reporting and compliance program to identify risks and ensure consistent 
enforcement of its robust ethical rules and policies.

• Ensure public transparency, consistency, and adequate internal controls in the recording and 
modification of data in its records.

• Use existing data to conduct monitoring that will help identify fraud and abuse risks.
• Consider requiring plan reviewers and inspectors to certify compliance with city conflict-of-interest 

rules to deter bribery, nepotism, and favoritism. 
• Provide more public outreach and education on its internal permitting and inspection 

requirements and processes to help the public identify proper and improper practices when they 
interact with the department.

This report, the Controller’s seventh stemming from the joint Public Integrity investigation, 
is designed to provide transparency into the overarching investigative findings at DBI and 
provide general recommendations for reform at DBI to prevent nepotism, cronyism, and 
corruption in the future. This assessment is offered for public comment and review and may 
be revised as our work continues. More assessments of other internal control processes 
may be released as our Public Integrity Review progresses. 
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Federal Criminal Charges and Resignations Related to Mr. 
Nuru, Mr. Hui, and Former City Employees and Contractors
In January 2020 former Public Works Director Mohammed Nuru was criminally charged with a 
scheme to defraud the City and County of San Francisco (City) of his honest services by providing 
official action in exchange for bribes. Among other charges, the complaint alleges that Mr. Nuru 
and former DBI Director Tom Hui accepted meals from the developer of 555 Fulton Street (555 
Fulton), Li Zhang, and the project’s permit expediter, Walter Wong. 

In response to those criminal charges, the City Attorney’s Office (City Attorney) and Controller’s 
Office launched a joint investigation into public corruption identified in the criminal complaint. 
While the City Attorney’s Office focused on employee and contractor wrongdoing across multiple 
departments, the Controller’s Office undertook a Public Integrity review of city contracts, purchase 
orders, and grants to identify red flags possibly indicating process failures. The Controller’s Office 
also created a Public Integrity Tip Line to facilitate the anonymous reporting of any information it 
might receive regarding the joint Public Integrity Investigation. 

Since January 2020 the U.S. Attorney’s Office has criminally charged 13 additional city employees 
and contractors of the City. As a result of these criminal investigations and the City Attorney’s 
ongoing investigations, several city department heads and senior officials have been released or 
resigned from city service, some city contractors and their principals have been suspended from 
city contracting, and the City’s residential refuse collector, Recology, and Mr. Wong have agreed to 
pay significant restitution to ratepayers and taxpayers. 

https://sfcontroller.org/public-forms-notices
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Mr. Wong’s Plea and Cooperation

Mr. Wong was criminally charged on June 23, 2020, with conspiracy to commit 
honest services fraud and conspiracy to commit money laundering. The 
conspiracy alleged that Mr. Wong conspired with Mr. Nuru and other, unnamed 
city officials. 

On July 6, 2020, Mr. Wong pled guilty and agreed to cooperate with the federal 
investigation.

In June 2021 Mr. Wong and the City reached settlement under which Mr. Wong 
and entities controlled by Mr. Wong agree not to do business with the City or act 
as a permit expediter at DBI for five years, the maximum debarment period 
allowed under city law. The document also states that Mr. Wong agrees to pay 
significant restitution to the City for contracts he or his company obtained 
through bribery and cronyism and agrees to pay more than $300,000 to the City 
for ethics violations. 
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Additional Criminal Charges Related to DBI

Independent of Mr. Wong’s wrongdoing, three other people have been criminally 
charged with fraud related to their conduct at DBI: 

• Bernard Curran, a former DBI senior building inspector. 
• Rodrigo Santos, a licensed engineer and former Building Inspection 

Commission president.*
• Peter Schurman, an engineering technician who was not a city employee.

As further described below, these criminal complaints, along with City Attorney 
findings and publicly available information, demonstrate that former DBI officials 
gave certain project sponsors improper preferential treatment by expediting 
project review and/or overlooking legal violations. 

* The Building Inspection Commission oversees DBI.
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City Attorney’s 2018 Suit Against Mr. Santos
In March 2018 DBI identified irregularities in payments Mr. Santos made to DBI and 
notified the Controller’s Office about its concerns. After an investigation, the City 
Attorney sued Rodrigo Santos, Peter Schurman, and others for fraud related to several 
construction projects in San Francisco. The lawsuit alleges that Mr. Santos, his firm at 
the time, Santos & Urrutia Associates, Inc., and his associates circumvented state and 
local laws designed to protect the safety of workers and the public by:

• Performing excavation work that exceeded the scope of the permitted work.
• Misappropriating professional stamps of licensed engineers to fraudulently certify 

special inspections required for final approvals of certain projects.

In early 2020 the City amended its lawsuit to add allegations that Mr. Santos stole 
more than $400,000 from his clients but not that any DBI official was complicit in this 
alleged fraud. 

In May 2020 the U.S. Attorney’s office charged Mr. Santos with defrauding his clients 
and obstructing justice. The investigation found that Mr. Santos fraudulently deposited 
to his personal bank account checks totaling $766,412.90. The City’s civil lawsuit 
against Mr. Santos and Mr. Schurman was stayed pending resolution of criminal 
charges against them. As described later in the report, in August 2021 additional 
criminal charges were filed against Mr. Santos alleging a scheme to bribe Mr. Curran.
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Public Findings of Mr. Hui’s Improper Preferential 
Treatment

In 2013 Mayor Edwin Lee appointed Mr. Hui as DBI director. While the 
department head, Mr. Hui received annual ethics training and filed the required 
annual Statements of Economic Interest (Form 700s). 

On March 10, 2020, the City Attorney released a report finding that former DBI 
Director Mr. Hui: (1) provided improper preferential treatment to Mr. Wong’s 
client, Li Zhang, the developer of 555 Fulton; (2) accepted meals from Mr. Wong 
and the developer, both restricted sources for Mr. Hui; and (3) abused his official 
position to help his son and his son’s girlfriend obtain city jobs.* Mr. Wong is 
alleged to have been a close friend and supporter of former Mayor Lee.**

On March 10, 2020, Mayor London Breed asked the Building Inspection 
Commission to remove Mr. Hui. Mr. Hui resigned on March 11, 2020.

* City Attorney’s Report regarding Mr. Hui, March 10, 2020.
** Criminal complaint against Harlan Kelly, November 25, 2020.

https://www.sfcityattorney.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Investigation-of-Tom-Hui-Director-of-the-Department-of-Building-Inspection-March-10-2020.pdf
https://www.justice.gov/usao-ndca/press-release/file/1341026/download
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Public Records Demonstrate Conflicts of Interest by 
Former DBI Employees
In May 2021 DBI placed Mr. Curran on leave pending an investigation into alleged conflict of 
interest violations. Public records show that Mr. Curran borrowed $180,000 from Freydoon 
Ghassemzadeh on March 21, 2017. Publicly available DBI records also show that during the 
life of the loan, Mr. Curran inspected projects at properties owned by Mr. Ghassemzadeh. 
Contrary to law, Mr. Curran did not disclose the loan on any Form 700 that he initially filed, 
but did so on May 20, 2021 by amending an already filed Form 700. Mr. Curran resigned 
from DBI on June 15, 2021.

Public records also show that a former DBI employee who has not been named publicly and 
is no longer employed at DBI also owed Mr. Ghassemzadeh a significant amount of money 
when this employee was still employed by the department and was reviewing plans 
submitted to obtain permits for work at properties Mr. Ghassemzadeh owned.

DBI records show that Mr. Ghassemzadeh’s son, Bahman Ghassemzadeh, was a project 
sponsor for the work at these properties. In February 2018 the BIC appointed Bahman 
Ghassemzadeh to the Board of Examiners, from which he resigned in June 2021 in the wake 
of media coverage about his father’s loan to Mr. Curran.*
* The Board of Examiners is a group of 13 experts created under Section 105.1 of the San Francisco Building Code to hear 
and make determinations by members of the public requesting clarification on the safety and use of new materials, new 
methods, or types of construction, and to provide interpretation of the San Francisco Building Codes.

https://sfdbi.org/board-examiners
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Federal Charges Against Mr. Curran and Additional 
Charges Against Mr. Santos
In August 2021 the U.S. Attorney’s office filed additional criminal charges against Mr. 
Santos and Mr. Curran for committing honest services wire fraud. The U.S. Attorney’s 
investigation found that Mr. Santos allegedly solicited donations from his clients to make 
charitable contributions to the San Francisco Golden Gate Rugby Association, for which Mr. 
Curran had an affinity, in exchange for Mr. Curran giving favorable official treatment to Mr. 
Santos’s clients. To do this, Mr. Curran allegedly exploited his authority to unilaterally assign 
himself inspections of projects belonging to Mr. Santos’s clients. This alleged scheme 
disregarded DBI guidance and procedure, which states that when inspectors are not 
available to conduct inspections in their own districts, an “Inspection wheel” should be 
utilized to assign an alternative inspector. If this wheel had been used, Mr. Curran likely 
would not have been assigned to these properties.

The improper preferential treatment that Mr. Curran allegedly provided included:

• Conducting inspections and providing approvals at projects of Mr. Santos’s clients before 
completion of the work needed to comply with the permit. 

• Inspecting work at projects outside of his assigned district, where either another senior 
building inspector or their subordinate should have performed the inspection.
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Federal Charges Against Mr. Curran and Additional 
Charges Against Mr. Santos (continued)

Specifically, Mr. Curran:

• Approved final inspections of work when:

o A sprinkler system in an accessory dwelling unit had not been installed, 
contrary to what the permit required.

o Work to remove unauthorized walls was not completed but was 
recorded as abated (resolved).

• In coordination with Mr. Santos, manipulated an inspection assignment to 
delay the inspection so that Mr. Curran could inspect the work himself on a 
later date.

• Recorded an inspection in DBI records although it was not conducted.
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City Attorney and DBI Investigations Reveal Favoritism in 
Both Plan Review and Inspection Attorney and DBI 
DBI management is conducting its own review of properties with potential life/ safety 
issues, including 555 Fulton and 2867-2899 San Bruno. The original plan review of 555 
Fulton, conducted in April 2014, reflects the risks of improper preferential treatment at 
the plan review stage of a permit application. 2867-2899 San Bruno (the San Bruno 
properties) illustrates how improper preferential treatment can be provided during 
inspections. 

Improper preferential treatment can be, but is not necessarily, an indicator of illegal or 
unsafe conditions. 

• As has been publicly reported, the San Bruno properties originally posed a 
significant fire risk to residents there. 

• As detailed later in this report, DBI is auditing the 555 Fulton project and has 
found no life/safety issues to date, only potential favoritism in the assessment of 
permit fees, fast-tracking of plan review, and abbreviated plan review. However, 
because DBI’s audit is pending, these conclusions are not final.
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Impact of Tone at the Top on DBI’s Culture
Tone at the top refers to the ethical atmosphere that is created in the workplace by the 
organization’s leadership, according to the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE) and as 
discussed in our first report, San Francisco Public Works Contracting. Management’s tone has a 
trickle-down effect on employees: a tone that upholds ethics and integrity will encourage 
employees to uphold those same values. In contrast, a tone that appears to lack (or at least not 
emphasize) ethics, organizational responsibility, and accountability can encourage staff to tolerate 
or even commit fraud. When this is the case, staff feels it has no obligation to protect the 
organization.1 Compliance with ethics rules must start at the top.2

Former Building Inspection Commissioners, Mel Murphy and Rodrigo Santos, fostered an unethical 
tone at the top by tolerating and promoting improper preferential treatment at DBI. 

• Rodrigo Santos was a BIC commissioner from 2000 through 2005 and served as its president from 
March 2004 through January 2005. He used his knowledge of DBI and former role as commissioner 
to enrich himself and benefit his clients using a variety of schemes as discussed above, including 
preferential treatment and benefits conferred to him by former senior inspector Mr. Curran to his 
clients.

• Mel Murphy served as BIC commissioner from 2006 through early 2012 and served as its president 
from March 2009 to March 2011. He abused his privilege as former commissioner to demand a 
preferred building inspector attend inspections on his personal residential project.

1 “Tone at the Top: How Management Can Prevent Fraud in the Workplace,” ACFE; “Tone at the Top Conveying Responsibility and 
Accountability, ACFE, Suzanne Mahadeo.
2 A Resource Guide to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, Second Edition, U.S. Department of Justice and U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission, July 2020.

http://openbook.sfgov.org/webreports/details3.aspx?id=2843
https://www.acfe.com/uploadedFiles/ACFE_Website/Content/documents/tone-at-the-top-research.pdf
https://www.acfe.com/article.aspx?id=571
https://www.justice.gov/criminal-fraud/file/1292051/download
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Impact of Mr. Hui’s Tone at the Top on DBI’s Culture

The former commissioners may have taken advantage of their insider knowledge 
and relationships built while serving as commissioners and influenced Mr. Hui’s 
actions as the head of DBI, where he put little emphasis on organizational 
responsibility and accountability for ethics but emphasized the need to meet 
DBI’s bottom line of processing permits and completing inspections in a timely 
manner. Although prompt service is a laudable goal, compelling or allowing DBI 
staff to provide improper preferential treatment is unacceptable. 

On paper, DBI’s code of conduct and policies and procedures are strong. 
Nevertheless, significant ethical violations occurred at DBI because Mr. Hui and 
his former leadership staff did not effectively implement these standards. 
Evidence further indicates that Mr. Hui provided improper preferential treatment 
to permit sponsors he favored by assigning certain inspectors to inspect their 
buildings (for example, Mr. Curran at the San Bruno properties), where violations 
would be overlooked.
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Fraud Risk Posed by Mr. Hui
According to the ACFE, fraud risk is vulnerability that an organization faces from individuals capable of 
combining the three elements of fraud. Dr. Donald Cressey’s “fraud triangle” states that three elements 
must be present for a person to commit fraud: pressure, opportunity and rationalization. We review Mr. 
Hui’s actions through this model and the fraud risk he posed to DBI.

Pressure: Insurmountable pressure, job security, or financial burden
Mr. Hui may have felt pressure from his appointing authority, former Mayor 
Edwin Lee, who had a favorable relationship with Mr. Wong, to be complicit 
in actions to protect his job, which included soliciting DBI feedback and 
accepting favors and dinners from Mr. Wong and his acquaintances.

Opportunity: Opportunity or perceived opportunity
Because management is responsible for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal controls, 
the risk always exists that management may override internal controls, as was the case with Mr. Hui.1 As 
the department head, Mr. Hui had the opportunity to override internal DBI controls to assign favorable 
DBI staff and provide improper preferential treatment to Mr. Wong’s projects by expediting permits and 
inspections and overlooking otherwise problematic issues in permitting and inspections.

Rationalization: Justification of the fraud that makes it acceptable
Mr. Hui appears to have rationalized preferential treatment for Mr. Wong by calling it good customer 
service without considering whether all members of the public had equal access to him as the director.  
In fact, Mr. Hui obtained benefits from the improper preferential treatment he enabled Mr. Wong to 
receive. Mr. Hui benefitted personally because the treatment may have helped maintain his job security 
and benefitted his relatives (via city hiring).
1 “Management Override of Internal Control: The Achilles’ Heel of Fraud Prevention,” American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Opportunity

Pressure Rationalization

https://www.aicpa.org/content/dam/aicpa/forthepublic/auditcommitteeeffectiveness/auditcommitteebrief/downloadabledocuments/management-override-achilles-heel.pdf
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DBI’s Code of Professional Conduct and Statement of 
Incompatible Activities (SIA)
DBI has an extensive ethical Code of Professional Conduct (code of conduct) for its staff, 
customers, and commissioners. Specifically, DBI staff must:

• Not compromise the integrity of the permitting process by exceeding or appearing to 
exceed their authority; attempting to expedite plans or permits not assigned to them; 
providing unauthorized service outside their area of responsibility; allowing extraordinary 
or unsupervised access to submitted plans or paperwork by any customer; or by 
asking others to do so.

• Not accept any gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit offered by a member of the 
public or by persons or businesses regulated by the department.

Similarly, DBI clients and permit expediters are expected to:

• Not compromise the integrity of the permitting process by exceeding or appearing to 
exceed their authority.

• Offer no gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit to a member of the department or the 
commission.

DBI’s SIA also prohibits activities that conflict with official duties, including a prohibition on the 
provision of services or information to any individual or entity if the services or information 
is not available to other members of the public on the same terms (irrespective of whether 
the information is provided in exchange for any material benefit).
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DBI’s Organizational Culture
Preliminary Finding: Despite DBI’s extensive departmental ethics rules, Mr. Hui’s unfettered 
discretion and abuse of his official position as the department head created an unethical 
environment, caused lapses in public integrity, and encouraged abuse by other senior 
leaders who reported to him. Current DBI senior leadership must continue to demonstrate 
its commitment to an ethical culture to ensure compliance and foster an ethical climate, 
which Mr. Hui failed to do.

Former director’s non-compliance with ethics disclosures: Although DBI staff completed 
mandatory ethics training and filed mandatory disclosure forms for the most part, 
compliance was only on paper for former senior leadership. Mr. Hui and Mr. Curran failed to 
disclose gifts from restricted sources and participated in decisions in which they had a 
financial interest. For example, Mr. Hui was required to file Form 700s for the tenure of his 
city employment. Despite receiving multiple private meals from Mr. Wong and/or Mr. Zhang 
in 2019, Mr. Hui’s Form 700 reported no gifts. Also, section 3.216(b) of the San Francisco 
Campaign and Governmental Conduct code and the department’s SIA likely prohibits many 
DBI employees, including former Director Hui, from receiving gifts in excess of $25 from 
anyone in the position of Mr. Wong or Mr. Zhang. Also, DBI’s code of conduct prohibits 
provision of intentional preferential treatment and access to Mr. Wong. Similarly, Mr. Curran 
and at least one other former DBI employee, who has not been named publicly and is no 
longer employed at DBI, made official decisions about projects owned by their personal 
lender, Freydoon Ghassemzadeh.

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/san_francisco/latest/sf_campaign/0-0-0-1615
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DBI’s Current Remediation Efforts
Interim DBI Director Patrick O’Riordan has tasked his new executive team with implementing a 
series of reform initiatives to address issues raised by the federal complaint, the City Attorney’s 
investigation, and findings of wrongdoing by former employees. Some of these tasks include:*

• Assisting with ongoing Controller and City Attorney investigations.
• Updating and reissuing DBI’s code of conduct.
• Deploying hiring and outreach best practices by DBI’s Human Resources unit to ensure 

hiring of ethical individuals who will foster and enforce an ethical tone at the top. 
• Analyzing Permit Tracking System (PTS) data in consultation with the City Attorney to 

identify irregularities in plan approval or inspection processes.
• Creating an internal audit team to identify criteria that will trigger a life/safety review of 

properties where plans or inspections may have received improper preferential treatment 
from DBI staff in the past.

• Ensuring expanded compliance control efforts in alignment with Supervisor Hillary 
Ronen’s proposed legislation, which requires the department to implement expanded 
compliance control and consumer protection provisions for projects, individuals, agents, 
and entities with a history of significant violations. 

• Modernizing DBI’s technology to provide better data monitoring, transparency, and 
automation.

• Increasing spot checks and additional quality control and standardization of plan reviews 
to ensure consistency.

* A full list of DBI’s reform initiatives can be found at its website, https://sfdbi.org/reform-initiatives

https://sfbos.org/sites/default/files/o0040-21.pdf
https://sfdbi.org/reform-initiatives
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Overview of DBI’s Oversight and Organization
Building Inspection Commission (BIC): The seven-member BIC oversees DBI by appointing 
the DBI director, setting departmental policy, hearing appeals of certain types of DBI actions, 
and using its monthly meetings to provide a public forum. The mayor appoints four 
positions to the BIC and the president of the Board of Supervisors appoints three.

Department of Building Inspection (DBI): DBI oversees the enforcement of San Francisco’s 
building, housing, plumbing, electrical, and mechanical codes. DBI’s purpose is to ensure 
that life and property in San Francisco are safeguarded. DBI is overseen by a director—
currently Interim Director Patrick O’Riordan—who reports to the BIC. DBI is separated into 
three main divisions: Permit Services, Inspection Services, and Administrative Services. 

• Permit Services Division: Receives, reviews, and issues permit applications for 
construction, electrical, plumbing, and street space permits. Ensures proposed 
construction meets all safety requirements. Assesses and collects fees related to these 
permits.

• Inspection Services Division: Inspects buildings for compliance with code 
requirements and to ensure the scope of work is in accordance with building permits. 
Responds to complaints on residential and commercial buildings.

• Administrative Services Division: Supports the department’s fiscal management, 
performs purchasing and business analysis, and houses the records management, 
finance services, and management information services units.
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Overview of DBI’s Oversight and Organization (continued)
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High-Level Risks in DBI’s Permitting and Inspections Process
Employees in supervisory positions may provide improper preferential treatment 
in DBI’s permitting and inspecting processes at two points:

• Assigning plan reviews and/or inspections to staff. Mr. Hui and possibly 
other employees who have since left the department were able to 
unilaterally assign specific DBI staff (including themselves) to conduct 
specific plan reviews or inspections. In some cases, this was done to provide 
improper preferential treatment.

• Reviewing plans and inspecting work. Improper preferential treatment can 
occur when plan check staff performs inappropriately expedited, less-than-
thorough plan reviews. This includes, as described earlier about Mr. Curran, 
when an inspector signs off on inspection records without thorough 
inspection, including by intentionally overlooking violations.

Although conflict-of-interest rules are detailed in policies that employees must 
comply with, DBI would benefit from requiring its staff to complete twice annually 
certifications of compliance with city conflict-of-interest rules, including its SIA 
and code of conduct.
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Organization of DBI’s Permit Services Division
DBI’s Permit Services Division is overseen by the director and Permit Services 
deputy director. The division is organized as shown below.
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DBI’s Permit Issuance Volume

DBI processes more than 50,000 permits per year. The table below summarizes 
DBI’s permit activity in the last three fiscal years.

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21

Permit Employees 87 84 91

Number of Permits Issued
Building 27,942 21,267 21,161

Electrical 15,826 12,994 12,964

Plumbing 18,425 15,160 15,919

Miscellaneous 8,943 7,043 711

Total 71,136 56,464 50,755
Construction Valuation
(based on issued permits) $5,144,712,001 $3,922,232,237 $2,640,144,038 

Source: Permitting data provided by the Department of Building Inspection.
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Overview of DBI’s Permit Process

Depending on the type of permit being applied for, the review process may require additional steps.
• Over-the-counter permits: smaller, less complicated projects that may or may not require plans 

(drawings)
• In-house review permits: larger and more complicated projects that require plans (and other approvals)

Step 1: Applicant applies for permit.*

• Permit applications undergo varying degrees of review by DBI plan reviewers, depending on the      
proposed work’s complexity and size, including reviews by other departments, as necessary.

• If plans exist, they are reviewed; permit fee is calculated based on the estimated construction cost.

Step 2: DBI reviews plans, estimates cost of work, and calculates fee.**

• If plans are approved, applicant goes to Step 4.
• If plans are not approved, they are sent back to the applicant to be revised and resubmitted.

Step 3: DBI approves or rejects permit application.

• DBI assesses the fee calculated by the plan reviewer.
• Applicant pays the fee.

Step 4: If permit is approved, DBI assesses permit fee.

• DBI issues the permit.
• Work may begin immediately (except for demolition permits). 

Step 5: DBI issues permit.

* Certain applications can be expedited, depending on the project or for additional fees.
** Pursuant to Ordinance 40-21, DBI requires additional review of submissions from individuals associated with multiple violations.

https://sfdbi.org/sites/default/files/Agenda%20Item%202%20for%2004-04-14.pdf
https://sf-fire.org/services/plan-check#srv&ot
https://sfbos.org/sites/default/files/o0040-21.pdf
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Types of DBI Permit Applications

Over-the-Counter (OTC) Permits: Plan reviewers review OTC permit applications 
for conformance with building code requirements. Plans are reviewed on a first-
come, first-served basis through a waiting list.* These permits are also reviewed 
by other departments as needed. After all necessary reviews, DBI will review the 
full application, update the record in PTS, and approve the application. Once the 
applicant pays all applicable fees, the permit is issued.

In-House Review Permits: In-house review permit applications are first routed to 
the Planning Department for its review and approval. If approved by the Planning 
Department, the application is assigned to a plan reviewer based on employee 
workloads and project complexity. Plan reviewers are expected to begin 
reviewing full permit applications within three weeks of their assignment, but new 
deadlines can be established if justified. Senior plan reviewers are expected to 
review all their staff’s plan reviews before permits are issued.

* During the COVID-19 emergency, customers have been required to drop off OTC permit applications to be reviewed by 
the various departments as needed, but DBI reports that it plans to return to its previous process. Certain applications can 
be expedited, depending on the project or for additional fees.

https://sfdbi.org/sites/default/files/Agenda%20Item%202%20for%2004-04-14.pdf
https://sf-fire.org/services/plan-check#srv&ot
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Risks for Improper Preferential Treatment in DBI’s Permit Process
Preliminary Finding: Some projects receive improper expedited permitting (earlier plan review 
start dates and shorter plan review times), which indicate preferential treatment.

• Improper assignment of plan reviewers and expedited plan reviews: Evidence indicates 
that compared to other permit applications, DBI expedited some permit applications of 
applicants who were favored by Mr. Hui and other former DBI employees. Although in-
house review permits are normally assigned as they are received, senior management has 
the authority to assign specific plan reviews to specific employees, which, in some cases in 
the past, it appears to have done for improper reasons. Also, DBI has no way of knowing if a 
plan reviewer expedited a project in their queue over another. Permits for complex projects 
that are approved on the same day the permit application was filed—an instance of which 
is discussed in this report—may indicate improper preferential treatment. 

• Improper plan reviews: DBI would not necessarily be aware if a permit was not reviewed 
thoroughly or properly. Whether intentional or unintentional, the problem is less likely to 
be detected because DBI does not currently require quality assurance reviews of senior 
plan reviewers’ work. Also, although plan reviewers are to assess permit fees based on a 
construction cost schedule, the fees can be assessed incorrectly without this being detected.

• Unreported conflict of interest in the permit process: As is the case citywide, DBI relies 
on employees to self-report financial conflicts of interest to establish whether the employee 
has a conflict with a permit applicant.

https://sfdbi.org/sites/default/files/Cost%20Schedule_0.pdf
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Background on 555 Fulton

• 555 Fulton is a mixed-use development consisting of 139 condominiums and 
commercial retail space. The project was developed by Fulton Street 
Ventures, dba Z&L Properties, Inc., which is privately funded by Guangzhou 
R&F Properties Co., Ltd. 

• Mr. Zhang is a director of Z&L Properties, Inc., and the co-founder of R&F 
Properties Co., Ltd.

• According to DBI records, development of 555 Fulton began in 2013 and 
continued through this year.

• In February 2019, with assistance from Mr. Wong, Mr. Zhang met with Mr. 
Hui on three or four occasions to ask questions about 555 Fulton, and Mr. 
Hui improperly granted Mr. Zhang and Mr. Wong special access to DBI 
information.
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555 Fulton: Appearance of Improper Preferential 
Treatment in the Permit Plan Review
At least four of DBI’s actions during the plan review process for 555 Fulton could give the 
appearance of improper preferential treatment:

• Shoring plan review began immediately. The review of the plans for the shoring permit 
application was greatly expedited; the assigned senior plan reviewer began reviewing the 
plans immediately after they were submitted. According to DBI, plan reviewers usually 
start a review a month or so after it is assigned to them. 

• Shoring plan review was unusually quick. The shoring plans were reviewed and 
approved in less than a day. In contrast, an experienced DBI employee estimated that a 
review of this size and complexity would take at least three or four days.

• Inaccurately low construction cost estimate caused the applicant to be 
undercharged. The estimated cost for the proposed shoring work recorded for the 
permit was $1.1 million less than it should have been per the DBI Cost Schedule. This 
discrepancy reduced the permit fee the applicant paid by approximately $9,300.

• No quality assurance review of the shoring permit: The review that led to the approval 
of the shoring permit for 555 Fulton was not subject to a quality control review because 
it was performed by a senior plan reviewer rather than a plan reviewer.

No one who reviewed the shoring permit application or any superior in their chain of 
command, including Mr. Hui, is still employed by DBI.
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Organization of DBI’s Inspection Division
The Inspection Division is overseen by an inspection services deputy director and 
is divided into the following functional units: building, electrical, housing, 
plumbing, and code enforcement. Each unit is headed by the chief inspector and 
is staffed by senior inspectors and staff inspectors.
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DBI’s Inspections Volume

DBI conducts over 118,000 inspections per year. The table below summarizes 
DBI’s inspection activity in the last three fiscal years. 

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21
Inspections Employees 133 130 133
Number of Inspections

Building 66,648 60,774 50,720
Code Enforcement 3,368 2,675 2,862

Electrical 39,735 34,009 31,733
Housing 12,134 8,083 3,180

Plumbing 38,064 33,897 30,211
Total 159,949 139,438 118,706

Source: Inspections data provided by the Department of Building Inspection.
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Overview of DBI’s Inspection Process

• After DBI issues a permit, construction may begin.

Step 1: Applicant begins construction work.

• Work performed under each permit is inspected by the applicable unit (Building, Electrical, and/or 
Plumbing) of the Inspection Division, as needed. 

• Projects require various inspections as construction proceeds and meets defined milestones.

Step 2: DBI inspects work.

• Additional DBI and other department inspections (such as the Fire Department) are conducted as needed.
• Also, “special inspections” may be required at certain steps of a project. These inspections are conducted 

by a private engineer who is independent of the contractor.

Step 3: DBI and others do additional inspections. 

• Once the permitted work passes all previous inspections, the Inspection Division conducts a final 
inspection.

Step 4: DBI does final inspection. 

• If the work passes final inspection, the inspector provides a final sign-off on the permit.
• If the work increased the building’s square footage, a Certificate of Final Completion is issued.

Step 5: Permit gets final sign-off and project is certified as complete.
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Overview of DBI’s Inspections Process
Permit Inspections Process: Each project requires at least one inspection. Projects are 
inspected for different purposes as construction progresses. Only one inspector conducts and 
attends most inspections. Once a building project is complete and has passed any other 
required inspections (such as electrical and plumbing inspections), a building inspector signs 
off on the final permit. A building inspector should be the last inspector to inspect a project 
and is to issue the final approval and any required certificates.

Building Inspection Districts: DBI divides San Francisco into 18 inspection districts (excluding 
Treasure Island and Yerba Buena Island). One building inspector is assigned to each district 
and reports to one of DBI’s four senior building inspectors. Thus, DBI has 18 district inspectors.

Out-of-District Building Inspections: If the district inspector can conduct an inspection, it is 
inappropriate to assign it to another inspector. However, when district inspectors cannot 
conduct an inspection in their district, typically because they are on leave or their workload is 
too high, their senior inspector will assign another inspector to do so. These assignments 
usually go to floating inspectors. DBI has an inspector assignment “wheel” that is to be used to 
determine which inspector should conduct the inspection. DBI began using this wheel in 2014 
after Mel Murphy, a former BIC president, requested that permitted work at his residence be 
inspected by a specific inspector. In general, inspectors change districts every two years, partly 
to reduce the risk of inspectors developing unethical relationships with permit applicants and 
property owners in their districts. 
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Overview of DBI’s Inspection Scheduling
Standard advance scheduling: Individuals with permits can call DBI, use DBI’s website, or 
visit DBI’s office to schedule required inspections.

Same-day scheduling (non-standard): Certain urgent inspections can be scheduled on 
the same day they need to occur. This can be done by the chief building inspector, a senior 
inspector, or the district inspector. (District inspectors can do so only for projects in their 
districts and only with their senior inspector’s approval.) Same-day inspections can occur 
when an inspector is at the property reviewing work under another permit or when a 
permit agent (who represents the client/owner) calls an inspector to request a same-day 
appointment. 

Inspection assignment wheel: According to the inspection assignment wheel, when the 
district inspector cannot perform an inspection, the replacement inspector is to be chosen 
according to the following order:

1. Floating inspector
2. Inspector with availability on schedule
3. Inspector with schedule that is not completely full
4. Adjacent district inspector
5. Other building inspector
6. Senior inspector
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Risks for Improper Preferential Treatment in DBI’s Inspections
Preliminary Finding: Due to their relationships with DBI employees, some permit sponsors 
received improper preferential treatment for certain inspections.

• Abuse of inspection scheduling protocols: Previously, inspectors could unilaterally 
schedule inspections without approval, even if the inspection was out of their district 
and the district’s inspector was working the day of the inspection.

• Inspectors overlooking violations: Previously, as evidenced in Mr. Curran’s scheme, 
permit sponsors who had relationships with Mr. Hui and/or former DBI managers and 
inspectors requested and received same-day inspections by specific inspectors who 
intentionally overlooked violations, such as unauthorized changes of use or other 
code violations. 

• Inspectors approving final inspections although they were not conducted or not 
recorded as conducted: ”Ghost inspections” would be difficult to detect if a senior 
inspector signed off on the project although an inspection was not conducted. Also, 
DBI’s inspection records may be (unintentionally or intentionally) incomplete if some 
inspectors fail to record all inspections in PTS. 

• Unreported conflict of interest in the inspections process: As is the case citywide, 
DBI relies on employees to self-report financial conflicts of interest to establish 
whether an employee has a vested interest or improper relationship with a permit 
sponsor that conflicts with the employee’s job duties in the inspection process.
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Issues Identified in the August 20, 2021 Federal 
Complaint Against Mr. Curran and Mr. Santos

The U.S. Attorney’s complaint alleges that Mr. Curran provided preferential treatment 
to Mr. Santos’s clients who donated to the Golden Gate Rugby Association by:

• Manipulating and abusing the inspections process: This included malfeasance 
of improperly expediting or delaying inspections, so that Mr. Curran, rather than 
the assigned district inspector, could conduct the inspections, approving final 
inspections without the work being completed or other mandatory inspections 
being conducted, and approving inspections without visiting the property.

• Unilaterally scheduling same-day and out-of-district inspections: During May 
2017 through April 2019, Mr. Curran conducted inspections for 12 clients who 
donated to the Golden Gate Rugby Association. Of the 14 inspections identified 
by the Controller’s Office, all were same-day inspections and 12 were out-of-
district. During July 2014 through June 2018, 34 of the 56 inspections Mr. Curran 
conducted for Mr. Santos’s clients were same-day inspections.1

1 This data may be incomplete. Of the eight client-donor properties we identified, two had permits that did not include Mr. 
Santos as a permit agent. However, the U.S. Attorney’s office documentation shows that Mr. Santos was involved with 
these permits. Further information on this issue is presented on a subsequent slide.
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Background on the San Bruno Properties

• 2867-2899 San Bruno are five adjacent properties with the same owners. These 
properties are in Building Inspection District 12.

• In 2013 the owners received a permit to construct five, nearly identical, four-story 
buildings consisting of two residential units, two office spaces, and one commercial 
retail space. The project’s estimated cost was $5,266,460.

• In 2014 construction of these properties began.

• In January 2017 the project received its final inspection and approval.

• In December 2018 the Planning Department received a complaint alleging the 
addition of 20 unpermitted dwelling units in the buildings. The complaint was 
referred to DBI, which confirmed that 29 residential units were constructed instead 
of the permitted 10, creating fire-life safety concerns. Other permit violations and 
discrepancies from the developer’s city-approved plans were also noted. 

• In a pre-litigation settlement, the City Attorney’s Office levied $1.2 million in civil 
penalties for code violations. DBI issued the owners violations and fines, and the 
owners applied for a new permit to gain approval of the unpermitted construction.
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Issues Identified at the San Bruno Properties
Preferential treatment provided: According to Mr. Curran, he was directed by Mr. 
Hui to inspect these properties.1 Mr. Curran may have intentionally not identified 
violations at these properties due to perceived or actual pressure from Mr. Hui.

Inspections did not identify violations, including changes affecting fire safety: 
Despite allegedly conducting two same-day inspections, Mr. Curran did not identify 
violations later found by the joint task force,2 including the fact that 20 dwelling 
units had been added illegally. This entailed piping for additional kitchens that had 
been installed without a plumbing permit and associated electrical installation that 
had been altered without an electrical permit. Also, the illegal additional units 
changed the project’s occupancy category. A 29-unit project is subject to more 
stringent fire safety standards than is a 10-unit project.

Final inspection approval without underlying inspections having been 
performed: Despite these violations and without the building inspections that 
should have been performed earlier, records show that Mr. Curran conducted the 
final inspection and gave the final sign-off on the permit.
1 DBI’s Staff Report on the San Bruno properties, August 17, 2021.
2 Several city agencies, including DBI, the San Francisco Fire Department, SF Planning and the City Attorney’s office created 
this task force to determine the full extent of building, planning and fire code violations at this property.
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Issues Identified at the San Bruno Properties (continued)

Disregarded inspection assignment wheel: Mr. Curran unilaterally assigned himself to two 
same-day inspections at these properties in Inspection District 12, disregarding the building 
inspection assignment wheel, which should have been used. The District 12 inspector was 
working in the district on the day of one of these inspections, so should have conducted it. 
The district inspector was off on the day of the other inspection but, according to the 
inspection assignment wheel, a senior inspector, such as Mr. Curran was, should have been 
the last option to conduct this inspection. 

Minimal number of inspections for a project of its size: Five four-story buildings were 
constructed over three years for this project, yet it received only four inspections. In 
contrast, a sample of 1,838 other building permits for work completed in July 2014 through 
July 2021 that had comparable estimated construction costs ($1 million to $10 million) 
showed an average of more than seven inspections per permit.

Permit Tracking System data is incomplete; inspections either were not recorded in PTS 
or did not occur: According to DBI, Mr. Curran claimed that inspections were documented 
by hand on paper job cards for some of the San Bruno properties and were not recorded in 
PTS. DBI policy requires inspectors to record all inspections in PTS. When documented by 
hand, it is difficult to ensure all inspections were conducted and to hold inspectors 
accountable for completing inspections.
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Overview of DBI’s Database and Record Retention Systems

The PTS database contains high-level information, by property address, on permit 
applications and issuance, inspections, complaints, and final sign-offs. PTS does not 
contain any supporting documents, which are instead scanned and uploaded to DBI’s 
document management system. DBI also uses a separate electronic plan review 
software that allows applicants to submit plans electronically. Building plans for 
projects that are no longer active are held by the Planning Department and must be 
requested if needed. Changes made to PTS data are tracked by a technical log that 
system users can access only upon request.

PTS has three user levels, each with a different level of access:

• Public: The public has read-only access to complaints and inspection records for 
specific properties. See Appendix for details.

• Internal: DBI employees can enter and edit data. An employee’s access level 
depends on their role in the department.

• Management Information Services (MIS) staff: With the system’s highest 
access level, this staff can provide technical administration, including generating 
reports from PTS records. 
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Additional DBI Data Monitoring Is Warranted 

Preliminary Finding: PTS records of some properties are incomplete. 

PTS inspection records for some properties we surveyed appear to be 
incomplete. All inspections conducted under each permit are to be recorded in 
PTS and should be searchable by property address. However, according to DBI, in 
some cases where there were multiple permits (and multiple job cards) for the 
same property active simultaneously, PTS inspection records are incomplete. 

According to DBI, some inspectors signed off on final building inspections by 
relying on information written on paper job cards. However, neither images of 
the job cards nor the information on them is consistently recorded in PTS. DBI 
acknowledges that some critical data for some properties is not in PTS. Thus, DBI 
is at a significant disadvantage in monitoring its permitting and inspections 
activities.
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Additional DBI Data Monitoring Is Warranted (continued)

Preliminary Finding: Not all inspection records in PTS have the same editing 
controls. Some examples of inconsistent editing controls include:

• PTS building inspection records can be modified after an inspection is 
completed by any building inspector or senior building inspector until the 
inspection record of the property is closed. 

• In contrast, the Electrical Inspection Division locks its records after 10 days, but 
senior electrical inspectors can modify the final inspection result.

Only the MIS technical staff has access to the technical audit log in PTS which 
shows when modifications are made, and staff reviews the log only when there is 
a request or complaint that requires doing so. Making the audit log accessible to 
certain managers or regularly providing management with activity reports of 
recent log entries in a form they could easily understand could increase 
accountability by enabling managers to identify any suspicious modification of 
records.
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Additional DBI Data Monitoring Is Warranted (continued)

Preliminary Finding: DBI has no centralized monitoring of its permitting or 
inspections processes. Because of this, management may not be as likely to 
identify and detect certain potential fraud and abuse risks.

Although over 250 reports—such those on plan reviewer activity, permit backlog, 
and inspection activity—can be generated from PTS, DBI has made no 
centralized effort to leverage information in PTS to proactively monitor the work 
of its staff. Thus, DBI is missing an opportunity for automated risk-reporting 
offered by the data in and reporting capability of PTS.

Such proactive monitoring could begin with reports on:
• Improperly routed permits 
• Expedited permit reviews
• Same-day inspections
• Out-of-district inspections
• Average daily percentage or number of completed inspections
• Completeness and potentially improper modification of inspection records
• Number of inspections sorted by permit type ($ amount and complexity)
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Additional DBI Data Monitoring Is Warranted (continued)

Below is an example of information that could be in a report that DBI could generate from 
PTS to help assess fraud risks in the department’s inspections activities. 

This example shows that Mr. Curran conducted many more same-day inspections than did 
the other senior inspectors. Although same-day inspections are sometimes warranted, the 
disparity between this senior inspector’s total and the average of other senior inspectors is 
stark. Without monitoring, possibly including analysis of a sample of these same-day 
inspections, management has no way to detect whether this senior inspector abused these 
inspections and/or conducted them improperly. 

Inspector
Days 

Served as 
Inspector

Number of 
Inspections*

Number of Same-
Day Inspections

Inspections 
per Day

Same-Day 
Inspections per Day

Bernard Curran 2,564.00 7,783.00 5,645.00 3.04 2.20

Average of Other 
Senior Inspectors** 1,285.50 1,327.50 718.67 1.03 0.56

Source: Inspection data for all building inspections scheduled during July 1, 2014 through July 6, 2021.
* Includes inspections of building permit alterations, which are inspections to authorize the alteration of original building permits. 
Additional analysis is needed to determine if the building permit alterations were appropriate.
** Six other senior inspectors’ data were reviewed for this period.
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DBI Complaints
Complaints Process: Anyone can file a complaint about specific properties or inspectors. 
Complaints often fall into one of the following categories:

• Work exceeds permit scope: These complaints usually are investigated by the 
district inspector assigned to the property. DBI would be unaware if district 
inspectors afforded improper preferential treatment to a certain property owner or 
their agent by overlooking violations and/or prematurely abating complaints.

• Inspectors’ work is improper: These complaints are reviewed by the senior 
inspector whose districts include the relevant property (and, usually, the one who 
supervises the inspector who is the subject of the complaint). However, because 
these investigations are done in conjunction with the subject inspector, this risks 
inspectors reviewing their own work and abating complaints when they should not.

• Unpermitted work: The Code Enforcement Division investigates these complaints 
and addresses any violation found at properties with no active permit. This includes 
collecting fees and penalties from the owner and monitoring compliance with the 
terms of any enforcement action. 

Complaint dispositions are reported publicly in PTS. Dispositions include DBI issuing a 
notice of violation, assessing fees, and ordering corrective actions. Complaints with serious 
findings can lead to case referrals to the City Attorney’s Office for possible litigation.
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Insufficient Fines to Deter Permit Violations

Preliminary Finding: When violations are found by code enforcement inspectors 
or reported by a member of the public, property owners may incur fees and 
penalties. However, for large projects these fees and penalties may not be 
sufficient to deter misconduct. 

As part of its ongoing reform efforts, DBI plans to expand and clarify public 
information and outreach on code enforcement and violation penalties.

Violation Penalty
Exceeding scope of 
approved permit

Two times the Permit Issuance Fee
Example: New construction valued1 at $1 million would be assessed a 
$5,724.12 penalty.

Work without permit 
investigation fee

Nine times the Permit Issuance Fee plus the original permit fee
Example: New construction valued at $1 million would be assessed a 
$28,620.60 penalty.

Source: San Francisco Building Code, Table 1A-K
1 The building permit fee amount depends on the project’s estimated value.

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/san_francisco/latest/sf_building/0-0-0-92776#JD_BTable1A-K
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/san_francisco/latest/sf_building/0-0-0-92612
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Further Public Outreach Is Needed

Preliminary Finding: Publicly available information on DBI’s permit and inspections 
processes is insufficient. The public should have more information about when and 
how to obtain a permit, the permit review and approval process, and the order of 
required inspections.

DBI’s website provides information on the department’s Permit Services and the 
process to submit a permit application but does not describe when a permit is needed 
or the types of permits a project may need. DBI last published general permit 
guidance 17 years ago, in October 2004. The lack of up-to-date guidance can only 
deter first-time and infrequent permit applicants. 

Similarly, DBI’s website provides information about its Inspection Services and the 
types of inspections available, but it does not state what inspections are required for 
various types of permits or the order in which the inspections should be conducted. 
This information could be helpful to first-time or infrequent permit applicants.

Additional public-facing information would increase DBI’s transparency and 
accountability in its permitting and inspections process. Recently, DBI began efforts to 
update its website and improve information and guidelines for its customers.

https://sfdbi.org/permit-services
https://sfdbi.org/ftp/uploadedfiles/dbi/downloads/Getting_a_City_Permit.pdf
https://sfdbi.org/inspection-services
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Recommendations
Given the findings of our preliminary assessment, we offer the following 
preliminary recommendations, which we may refine as the investigation and 
review continue and we consider the feedback we receive in the review process.

1. The Building Inspection Commission should work with the Department of 
Building Inspection to ensure it sets a good ethical tone at the top and 
reiterates the importance of compliance with ethics laws and rules.

The Department of Building Inspection should:

2. Remind its employees of the availability of the Whistleblower Program to 
report allegations of deficiencies in the quality and delivery of government 
services, wasteful and inefficient government practices, misuse of city funds, 
or improper activities by city government officers and employees.



49

Recommendations (continued)

3. Create a compliance program, independent of other divisions within the 
department and resourced with newly-selected and specialized staff and 
outside auditors and consultants, to help identify risks and combat fraud and 
abuse in permitting and inspection activities through training and 
enforcement, including but not limited to:

a) Performing an annual risk assessment of each DBI division and tools in place 
to mitigate identified risks.

b) Performing monthly reviews of same-day inspection schedules, out-of-district 
inspections, urgency of these inspections, and validity of these inspection 
approvals. 

c) Identifying any instances of permit applications deviating from established 
procedures, such as building plan reviews being conducted more quickly than 
expected.

d) Ensuring consistent training and guidance on permit plan reviews and 
inspections by preparing and implementing annual training plans that cover 
all employees involved in these functions.

e) Performing testing of its adherence to its Statement of Incompatible 
Activities, Code of Professional Conduct, city laws, and DBI policies.
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Recommendations (continued)

4. Ensure its Permit Tracking System (PTS) has complete and accurate data, and 
has adequate controls to deter unauthorized modification of PTS records that 
conceal wrongdoing by DBI employees by:

a) Requiring that all inspections are complete and recorded in PTS before a 
final permit sign-off is completed.

b) Electronically locking inspection records in PTS so they cannot be edited 
after a certain period, such as 24 or 48 hours after initial entry.

c) Creating an audit log for PTS, in addition to the technical log, to 
summarize who entered what information into PTS and when. It should 
be readily understandable and largely accessible to the public and subject 
to the department’s record retention policy.

5. Require supervisory quality assurance reviews of senior plan reviewers and 
senior inspectors’ work, as well as for permits and inspections for projects that 
may warrant additional review, such as those that are larger or more complex. 
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Recommendations (continued)

6. Consider whether plan reviewers and inspectors should be required to certify 
biannually that they comply with city conflict-of-interest rules, the 
department’s Statement of Incompatible Activities, and the department’s 
Code of Conduct, to remind them of the City’s ethics rules and help prevent 
future conflicts of interest.

7. Review the fees and penalties the department is authorized to levy for non-
compliant construction (documented in Notices of Violation) to determine 
whether they are severe enough to effectively deter misconduct. If the 
department determines the fees and penalties are insufficient, it should 
recommend to the Building Inspection Commission that they be increased 
within legal constraints.

8. Conduct more outreach to educate the public on the City’s permit and 
inspections process. For example, a checklist for permit sponsors listing the 
required types and order of inspections needed to construct or renovate a 
residential structure could be beneficial.
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Completed and Upcoming Public Integrity Reporting
The Controller’s Public Integrity Review, performed in consultation with the City Attorney, 
will continue to assess selected city policies and procedures to evaluate their adequacy in 
preventing abuse and fraud. Completed, current, and future assessments and reports 
address the following topics:

• San Francisco Public Works Contracting (June 29, 2020)

• Gifts to Departments Through Non-City Organizations Lack Transparency and Create “Pay-to-
Play” Risk (September 24, 2020) 

• San Francisco’s Debarment Process (November 5, 2020)

• Ethical Standards for Contract Award Processes of the Airport Commission and Other 
Commissions and Boards (January 11, 2021)

• Refuse Rate-Setting Process Lacks Transparency and Timely Safeguards (April 14, 2021)
• 12-Month Status on Public Integrity Recommendations (August 4, 2021)
• The San Francisco Public Utilities Commission contracting process, Community Benefits program, 

and project-specific audits
• Citywide ethics reporting requirements

Additional reviews and assessments will be determined and performed as the City 
Attorney’s investigation proceeds.

http://openbook.sfgov.org/webreports/details3.aspx?id=2843
http://openbook.sfgov.org/webreports/details3.aspx?id=2887
http://openbook.sfgov.org/webreports/details3.aspx?id=2908
https://openbook.sfgov.org/webreports/details3.aspx?id=2924
https://openbook.sfgov.org/webreports/details3.aspx?id=2951
https://openbook.sfgov.org/webreports/details3.aspx?id=2996
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Any questions or comments?
Contact us at: ben.rosenfield@sfgov.org

todd.rydstrom@sfgov.org
mark.p.delarosa@sfgov.org

mailto:ben.Rosenfield@sfgov.org
mailto:todd.Rydstrom@sfgov.org
mailto:mark.p.delarosa@sfgov.org
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Appendix: Publicly Available DBI Information

DBI’s public-facing PTS website allows the public to access information on specific 
properties, permits and complaints. Permit specific information provides the public 
application numbers, addresses, description of permits and estimated costs, as well as the 
disposition/stage of the permits. It also identifies the contractor(s) and authorized agent(s) 
for each permit.

Permit Information
And Status:

Contractor Details:

Permit Agents:
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Publicly Available DBI Information (continued)

DBI’s website provides a description of each permit review as well as pending and 
completed inspections, including special inspections, conducted on each property.

Permit Reviews:

Inspections:

Special 
Inspections:
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Publicly Available DBI Information (continued)

DBI publishes the following information through DataSF on a weekly basis:

• Permit Data: Listing of application/permit numbers, job addresses, supervisorial 
districts and status of applications for building, electrical, and plumbing permits.

• Permit Contacts: Listing of contacts associated with building permits, including 
name, address, and license number.

• DBI’s Notices of Violation: Listing of complaint numbers, violations, and 
inspector comments.

• DBI Complaints: Listing of complaints from Housing, Building, Electrical, 
Plumbing and Code Enforcement divisions.

• DBI Inspection Division Districts: Listing of Inspectors and the district they are 
assigned to based on division.

The public can review data using these separate datasets but would need to compare 
and reconcile the data. Additional non-public data or context is necessary to ensure 
conclusions drawn from this data are appropriate. For example, the performance of an 
out-of-district inspection could be found by reconciling the data but can be warranted 
under specific circumstances.

https://data.sfgov.org/browse?Department-Metrics_Publishing-Department=Building+Inspection&category=Housing+and+Buildings&page=1
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5203 – VACANT
5207 – VACANT

INSPECTION SERVICES
0953 - EDWARD SWEENEY

DEPUTY DIRECTOR

PLUMBING INSPECTION
6244 - STEVEN PANELLI

CHIEF PLUMBING INSPECTOR 

6246 - ALEX KWAN
SR. PLUMBING INSPECTOR

6242 – MICHAEL JURADO
6242 – ANTHONY AMABLE
6242 – ROLAND DAVANTES
6242 – JASON BUCKLEY
6242 – JOHN WATSON

6246 - ROBERT FARROW
SR. PLUMBING INSPECTOR

6242 – DAVID LEDDA
6242 – RICHARD STRABEL
6242 – WAYNE WONG
6242 – GREG HILL

6242 – DANIEL ORTEGA

BUILDING INSPECTION 
6334 - DANIEL LOWREY

CHIEF BUILDING INSPECTOR

ELECTRICAL INSPECTION
6250 – RON ALLEN

CHIEF ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR 

6249 - DAVID GREEN
SR. ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR

6249 - PAUL ORTIZ
SR. ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR

6248 – GARY KATO
6248 – ROGER MASCIO
6248 – CHERYL ROSE
6248 – COLLIN WING
6248 – VACANT
6248 – VACANT

6248 – JAMES HILL
6248 – DANIEL FROSS
6248 – OSHA ASHWORTH 
6248 – BRYAN KEIL
6248 – DENNIS HOLL 
6248 – VACANT (New)

6248 – JEFFREY MOLINARI
6248 – MICHAEL BAIN
6248 – JAMES REED
6248 – KENNETH BURKE
6248 – STEPHEN POWERS

6333 - PATRICK O’RIORDAN
SR. BUILDING INSPECTOR

6331 – KEVIN MCHUGH
6331 – TAM CHIU
6331 – STEVE HAJNAL
6331 – CHRISTOPHER SCHROEDER
6331 – NORMAN GUTIERREZ
6331 – THOMAS FESSLER
6331 – ADWIN LAU
6331 – THOMAS THERIAULT
6331 – VACANT

6333 - THOMAS VENIZELOS
SR. BUILDING INSPECTOR

6331 – DENNIS CARLIN, JR.
6331 – NANCY CURVINO
6331 – LEOPOLDO RAFAEL
6331 – GRANT BECKER
6331 – DARLENE HARTLEY
6331 – MARK WALLS
6331 – BRETT HOWARD
6331 – DONALD SIMAS

6331 – JERRY SULLIVAN
6331 – BERNARD CURRAN
6331 – EDWARD GREENE
6331 – MICHAEL QUINLAN
6331 – EDWARD DONNELLY
6331 – ROBERT POWER
6331 – FERGAL CLANCY 
6331 – NELSON LAU
6331 – VACANT (New)

6333 - JOSEPH DUFFY
SR. BUILDING INSPECTOR

6249 – VERNON TAKASUKA
SR. ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
0953 – PAMELA LEVIN

DEPUTY DIRECTOR

PERMIT SERVICES
0953 – HANSON TOM

ACTING DEPUTY DIRECTOR

PERMIT SUBMITTAL AND ISSUANCE
6334 – NEIL FRIEDMAN

CHIEF BUILDING INSPECTOR

1408 – VACANT (New)
1426 – STEPHEN LEE
1823 – SARAH LUU
4321 – LOLA YOUNG
1823 – VACANT
1840 – VACANT
4321 – VACANT

FINANCE  SERVICES
0931 – VACANT

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT
1408 – CARRIE YING PEI

1446 - MEHRET TESFAYE
1426 – ALMA CANINDIN 
1426 – EVELYN KARCS
1426 – MARIA ASUNCION
1426 – VACANT
1426 – VACANT
1426 – VACANT

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT
1408 - ADORA CANOTAL

SUPERVISOR

1424 – CATHERINE BYRD 
1424 – BEN MAN 
1426 – CZARINA YSIP
1426 – VACANT 

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT
1408 – VACANT (New)

6246 - MICHAEL MITCHELL
SR. PLUMBING INSPECTOR

6242 – KENNETH YOUNG
6242 – ROBERT CHRISTMAN
6242 – DANIEL SHEA, III
6242 – JAMES O’SULLIVA1N
6242 – VACANT (PEX)

PERMIT CENTER 
(1st FLOOR)

1410 – WAI-FONG CHEUNG
SUPERVISOR

PAYROLL/PERSONNEL
0931 – EMILY M. MORRISON

1203 – JOSEPHINE RACELIS
1220 – SANDY THONG

1408 – JUL LYNN PARSONS
1446 – SERENA FUNG
1444 – TERESITA SULIT
1426 – GLORIA SANBUENAVENTURA
6331 – RAYMOND BERRIOS
6331 – DONAL DUFFY 
6331 – JAMES LI
6331 – KEITH MATHER
6331 – JOHN YAM
1410 – VACANT (New)
1426 – VACANT
6331 – VACANT
6333 – VACANT
6334 – VACANT

CODE COMPLIANCE 
6333 – JOHN HINCHION

ACTING SR. BUILDING INSPECTOR

6272 - ANDREW KARCS
SR. HOUSING INSPECTOR

6272 - ALAN DAVISON
SR. HOUSING INSPECTOR

6270 – JOHANNA COBLE
6270 – DAVID HERRING
6270 – DANNY MAK
6270 – SERGIO SALVETTI
6270 – VACANT

6272 - DAVID GOGNA
SR. HOUSING INSPECTOR

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT 
1408 - BERNEDETTE PEREZ

SUPERVISOR

1426 – SHIRLEY HODGE
1426 – MAY PASION
1406 – MARISA LEE CHAN
1406 – MARIEJIE ARGUELLES

6270 – HARRY DERVARTANIAN
6270 – JAMES GALVIS
6270 – ANTHONY LEPE
6270 – JOSE LOPEZ
6270 – JAMES SANBONMATSU
6270 – VACANT
6270 – VACANT 

6270 – MAY LING-DEA
6270 – ALEX FONG
6270 – ISABEL OLIVARES
6270 – PATRICK MCMANUS
6270 – TIM MANSUR

HOUSING INSPECTION
6274 - ROSEMARY BOSQUE
CHIEF HOUSING INSPECTOR

6272 - PATRICK MCKENZIE
SR. HOUSING INSPECTOR

6270 – RON DICKS
6270 – ALBERT LEONG
6270 – STEPHEN MUNGOVAN
6270 – VACANT
6270 – VACANT
6270 – VACANT

OVER-THE-COUNTER 
PLAN REVIEW 

5214 – TOM HUI
SUPERVISOR

1408 – AMARIS CHAN
1408 – KATHY SHEK
1408 – BRENDA YAN
1408 – GRACE SECONDEZ
1408 – VACANT (New)
1426 – ANA MAYORGA 
1426 – MARIANNE PANGELINAN
1406 – PETER GIBSON
1406 – PATRICIA JAYIN
1406 – DWAYNE FARRELL

INSPECTION SERVICES
1410 – CHRISTINA WANG

SUPERVISOR

CODE ENFORCEMENT SERVICES
0953 – EDWARD SWEENEY
ACTING DEPUTY DIRECTOR

RECORDS MANAGEMENT
0923 - PATTY HERRERA

DIVISION MANAGER

REPORT OF RESIDENTIAL BUILDING 
RECORDS (3R REPORTS)
1410 - TUTI SUARDANA

SUPERVISOR

1406 – MAGGIE HE
1408 – NOREEN MURPHY
1408 – MAY YU
1408 – WENDY HAMILTON
1426 – VACANT
1426 – VACANT

CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS 
1842 - LAUREN YIM

SUPERVISOR

1752 – RAUL PEREA
1752 – BENEDICTO GUINTO
1752 – NANCY GUTIERREZ
1408 – ROCHELLE GARRETT
1408 – SAPHONIA COLLINS
1408 – HEIDI LEE
1406 – DARREN WU
1426 – VACANT
1426 – VACANT

DISASTER COORDINATION 
6334 – ANTHONY GRIECO

ACTING CHIEF BUILDING INSPECTOR 
(New) 

PLAN REVIEW TEAM 2
5241 – TOM LE
SUPERVISOR

5241 – MIN CHEN
5241 – DENNIS DANG
5218 – GARY HO
5241 – RICHARD TAM
5241 – SIMON TAM
5218 – HOWARD ZEE
5241 – WILLY YAU

1408 – TARA BAZILE
1408 – SUSAN BUFKA
1408 – JANCE CHUNG 
1408 – FIDEL DEL ROSARIO
1408 – DELIA GALIZA
1408 – EMILIE GREEN
1408 – YOLANDA LAURENTE
1408 – HAREGG SHAWL
1408 – JANET YIP
1408 – REN ZHANG
1406 – CHRISTOPHER VICTORIO
1424 – VACANT
1406 – VACANT (New)
1408 – VACANT (New)
1408 – VACANT (New)
1408 – VACANT (New)
1410 – VACANT (New)
6334 – VACANT

6331 – JIMMY CHEUNG 
6331 – SPENCER GOSCH
6331 – MIRA LEE
5207 – DAVID PANG
6331 – IRENE WONG
6331 – JOSEPH YU

PLAN REVIEW TEAM 3
6333 - RON TOM

SUPERVISOR

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION SERVICES
1070 - HEMALATHA NEKKANTI

DIVISION MANAGER

1023 – KEVIN IP
1043 – PAMELA FONG
1044 – DENISE MERLO
1044 – HAROLD STEGER
1052 – RICHARD CHURCH
1052 – CIRILA SANTIAGO
1052 – ANTHONY WONG
1053 – CATHERINE CRUZ
1053 – PATIENCE HUTCHINSON
1053 – KELVIN NGUYEN
1054 – VAL BACHARACH
1426 – SIM YEUNG
1042 – VACANT (New)

1408 – GARLAND SIMPSON
1404 – ANNE YU

LEGISLATIVE/PUBLIC AFFAIRS
0923 – WILLIAM STRAWN

BUDGET, CONTRACTS AND
REVENUE COLLECTION
1824 – GAYLE REVELS

PLAN REVIEW TEAM 1
5241 – RODOLFO PADA

SUPERVISOR

5241 – ROBERT CHUN
5241 - VACANT
6331 – MICHAEL GUNNELL
6331 – ALAN SMITH
6331 – VIVIAN HUANG
6331 – JAIME VALLE

TECHNICAL SUPPORT
5241 – DAVID LEUNG

SUPERVISOR

6333 – RICHARD HALLORAN
6331 – KIRK MEANS
6331 – CHRISTINA BAILEY 
1452 – CORA ELLA

ACCOUNTING
1657 – JANE SUN

1632 – ALDELIZA HERRERA
1654 – JONATHAN TSO
1649 – PETER CHOW

6331 – VACANT (New)
6272 – MATTHEW GREENE

1446 - VACANT

As of November 3, 2011

1426 – IRENE BARTHOLOMEW
1408 – MANDY LEI
1406 – GILES SAMARASINGHE
1408 – VACANT (New)
1446 – VACANT

PERMIT CENTER + 
ADMINISTRATION

(2ND FLOOR)
1410 – SYLVIA THAI

SUPERVISOR

PERMIT CENTER
5th (FLOOR)

5293 – MAX PUTRA
SUPERVISOR

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
PROJECT MANAGER

1070 – PENNY VENABLE

1406 – JACQUELINE HUBBARD

PERMIT ADMINISTRATION UNIT

DEVELOPMENT FEE COLLECTION 
UNIT/REFUNDS

1408 – JOHN BLACKSHEAR
NEW = New positions for FY 2011-12
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0963 – TOM C. HUI
ACTING DIRECTOR

BUILDING INSPECTION COMMISSION BUILDING INSPECTION COMMISSION
1555 – SONYA HARRIS

COMMISSION SECRETARY

OFFICE OPERATIONS
1452 - CAROLYN JAYIN

INSPECTION SERVICES
0953 – DANIEL LOWREY

ACTING DEPUTY DIRECTOR

PLUMBING INSPECTION
6244 - STEVEN PANELLI

CHIEF PLUMBING INSPECTOR 

6246 - ALEX KWAN
SR. PLUMBING INSPECTOR

6242 – MICHAEL JURADO
6242 – ANTHONY AMABLE
6242 – ROLAND DAVANTES
6242 – JASON BUCKLEY
6242 – JOHN WATSON

6246 - ROBERT FARROW
SR. PLUMBING INSPECTOR

6242 – DAVID LEDDA
6242 – RICHARD STRABEL
6242 – WAYNE WONG
6242 – GREG HILL

6242 – DANIEL ORTEGA

BUILDING INSPECTION 
6334 - VACANT

CHIEF BUILDING INSPECTOR

ELECTRICAL INSPECTION
6250 – RON ALLEN

CHIEF ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR 

6249 - DAVID GREEN
SR. ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR

6249 - PAUL ORTIZ
SR. ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR

6248 – GARY KATO
6248 – ROGER MASCIO
6248 – CHERYL ROSE
6248 – COLLIN WING
6248 – ROBERT VANKOLL
6248 – NEW
6248 – NEW 

6248 – DANIEL FROSS
6248 – OSHA ASHWORTH 
6248 – BRYAN KEIL
6248 – DENNIS HOLL 
6248 – BEN YEE
6248 – VACANT

6248 – JEFFREY MOLINARI
6248 – MICHAEL BAIN
6248 – JAMES REED
6248 – VACANT
6248 – VACANT
6248 – VACANT

6333 - PATRICK O’RIORDAN
SR. BUILDING INSPECTOR

6331 – KEVIN MCHUGH
6331 – TAM CHIU
6331 – STEVE HAJNAL
6331 – CHRISTOPHER SCHROEDER
6331 – NORMAN GUTIERREZ
6331 – THOMAS FESSLER
6331 – ADWIN LAU
6331 – NEW
6331- NEW

6333 - THOMAS VENIZELOS
SR. BUILDING INSPECTOR

6331 – DENNIS CARLIN, JR.
6331 – NANCY CURVINO
6331 – LEOPOLDO RAFAEL
6331 – GRANT BECKER
6331 – DARLENE HARTLEY
6331 – MARK WALLS
6331 – BRETT HOWARD
6331 – DONALD SIMAS
6331 – JOHN YAM

6331 – VACANT
6331 – BERNARD CURRAN
6331 – EDWARD GREENE
6331 – MICHAEL QUINLAN
6331 – EDWARD DONNELLY
6331 – ROBERT POWER
6331 – FERGAL CLANCY 
6331 – NELSON LAU
6331 – VACANT 

6333 - JOSEPH DUFFY
SR. BUILDING INSPECTOR

6249 – VERNON TAKASUKA
SR. ELECTRICAL INSPECTOR

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
0953 – PAMELA LEVIN

DEPUTY DIRECTOR

PERMIT SERVICES
0953 – EDWARD SWEENEY
ACTING DEPUTY DIRECTOR

1823 – SARAH LUU
1823 – VACANT
4321 – LOLA YOUNG
4321 – CYNTHIA D’AMATO
1840 – VACANT
1426 – STEPHEN LEE

FINANCE  SERVICES
0931 – GAYLE REVELS

ACTING MANAGER

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT
1408  – CARRIE PEI

1446 - MEHRET TESFAYE
1426 – ALMA CANINDIN 
1426 – VACANT
1426 – MARIA ASUNCION
1426 – VACANT
1426 – VACANT

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT
1408 - ADORA CANOTAL

SUPERVISOR

1408 – BEN MAN 
1426 – CZARINA YSIP
1426 – VACANT 
1408 – CATHERINE BYRD 
1424 – VACANT 

6246 - MICHAEL MITCHELL
SR. PLUMBING INSPECTOR

6242 – KENNETH YOUNG
6242 – ROBERT CHRISTMAN
6242 – DANIEL SHEA, III
6242 – JAMES O’SULLIVAN

PAYROLL/PERSONNEL
0931 – EMILY M. MORRISON

1203 – JOSEPHINE RACELIS
1220 – VACANT
1244 - NEW

1408 – JUL LYNN PARSONS
1446 – SERENA FUNG
1444 – TERESITA SULIT
1426 – GLORIA SANBUENAVENTURA
6331 – RAYMOND BERRIOS
6331 – DONAL DUFFY 
6331 – JAMES LI
6331 – KEITH MATHER
6331 – MICHAEL GUNNELL
6331 – JOHN CUNEO
6331 – THOMAS THERIAULT
1410 – VACANT
1426 – VACANT
6331 – VACANT
6334 – VACANT
6331 – VACANT
6331 – NEW
6331 – NEW
0953 - VACANT

CODE COMPLIANCE 
6333 – JOHN HINCHION (6331)

ACTING SR. BUILDING INSPECTOR

6272 - ANDREW KARCS
SR. HOUSING INSPECTOR

6272 - ALAN DAVISON
SR. HOUSING INSPECTOR

6270 – JOHANNA COBLE
6270 – DAVID HERRING
6270 – DANNY MAK
6270 – SERGIO SALVETTI
6270 – VACANT

6272 - DAVID GOGNA
SR. HOUSING INSPECTOR

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT 
1408 - BERNEDETTE PEREZ

SUPERVISOR

1408 – MAY PASION
1426 – SHIRLEY HODGE
1426 – MARISA LEE CHAN (1406)
1426 - VACANT
1406 - VACANT

6270 – HARRY DERVARTANIAN
6270 – JAMES GALVIS
6270 – ANTHONY LEPE
6270 – JOSE LOPEZ
6270 – JAMES SANBONMATSU
6270 – VACANT
6270 – VACANT 

6270 – ALEX FONG
6270 – ISABEL OLIVARES
6270 – PATRICK MCMANUS
6270 – TIM MANSUR
6270 – VACANT

HOUSING INSPECTION
6274 – ROSEMARY BOSQUE
CHIEF HOUSING INSPECTOR

6272 - PATRICK MCKENZIE
SR. HOUSING INSPECTOR

6270 – RON DICKS
6270 – ALBERT LEONG
6270 – STEPHEN MUNGOVAN
6270 – VACANT
6270 – VACANT
6270 – VACANT

INSPECTION SERVICES
1410 – CHRISTINA WANG

SUPERVISOR

RECORDS MANAGEMENT
0923 – PATTY HERRERA

DIVISION MANAGER

REPORT OF RESIDENTIAL BUILDING 
RECORDS (3R REPORTS)
1410 – TUTI SUARDANA

SUPERVISOR

1408 – NOREEN MURPHY
1408 – VACANT OFFBUDGET
1408 – VACANT OFFBUDGET
1408 – MAY YU
1426 – MAGGIE  HE (1406)
1426 – CARMELA VILLASICA
1426 – VACANT

CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS 
1842 - DARREN WU (1406)

ACTING SUPERVISOR

1410 – 1 NEW OFFBUDGET 
1408 – ROCHELLE GARRETT
1408 – HEIDI LEE
1408 – SAPHONIA COLLINS
1408 – GARLAND SIMPSON
1408 – VACANT
1408 – 4 NEW OFFBUDGET
1408 – 2 NEW
1752 – BENEDICTO GUINTO
1752 – NANCY GUTIERREZ
1752 – VACANT
1426 – VACANT
1426 – VACANT

DISASTER COORDINATION 
6334 – NEIL FRIEDMAN

CHIEF BUILDING INSPECTOR 

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION SERVICES
1070 – HEMALATHA NEKKANTI

DIVISION MANAGER

1023 – KEVIN IP
1042 – VACANT 
1042 – NEW
1043 – PAMELA FONG
1043 - NEW
1044 – VACANT
1044 – HAROLD STEGER
1052 – RICHARD CHURCH
1052 – CIRLA SANTIAGO
1052 – ANTHONY WONG
1053 – CATHERINE CRUZ
1053 – PATIENCE HUTCHINSON
1053 – KELVIN NGUYEN
1054 – VAL BACHARACH
1426 – SIM YEUNG

BUDGET, CONTRACTS AND
REVENUE COLLECTION

1824 – VACANT

ACCOUNTING
1657 – JANE SUN

1632 – ALDELIZA HERRERA
1654 – JONATHAN TSO
1652 – KRISTINA SUN (1649)

6272 – MATTHEW GREENE

1446 - VACANT

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
PROJECT MANAGER

1070 – PENNY VENABLE

1406 – VACANT

DEVELOPMENT FEE COLLECTION 
UNIT/REFUNDS

1408 – JOHN BLACKSHEAR

6246 - VACANT
SR. PLUMBING INSPECTOR

AS OF AUGUST 30, 2012

ENERGY/MECHANICAL
PLAN REVIEW

5241 – JAMES ZHAN
ACTING SUPERVISOR

5241 – JEFF LAI
5207 – MOHSIN SHAIKH
5207 – REYNALDO ORTEGA
5207 – DANNY LAU
5207 – NEW
5207 – NEW
5203 – TIMOTHY NAGATA

PERMIT SUBMITTAL AND ISSUANCE
5241 – DAVID LEUNG

MANAGER

PERMIT CENTER 
(1st FLOOR)

1410 – WAI-FONG CHEUNG
SUPERVISOR

1408 – AMARIS CHAN
1408 – KATHY SHEK
1408 – GRACE SECONDEZ
1408 – VACANT
1426 – ANA MAYORGA 
1404 – ANNE YU

PLAN REVIEW TEAM 1
5214 – TOM LE

ACTING SUPERVISOR

5241 – DENNIS DANG
5241 – SIMON TAM
5241 – WILLY YAU
5241 – DIANE YIN
5241 – JOSEPH CHAN
5214 – NEW1410 – VACANT

1408 – TARA BAZILE
1408 – JANCE CHUNG 
1408 – FIDEL DEL ROSARIO
1408 – DELIA GALIZA
1408 – EMILIE GREEN
1408 – YOLANDA LAURENTE
1408 – HAREGG SHAWL
1408 – JANET YIP
1408 – REN ZHANG
1408 – MARIANNE PANGELINAN
1408 – EVELYN KARCS
1408 – VACANT 
1408 – VACANT 
1406 – CHRISTOPHER VICTORIO
1406 – VACANT 

6331 – JIMMY CHEUNG 
6331 – ALAN SMITH
6331 – JAIME VALLE

PLAN REVIEW TEAM 3
6333 - RON TOM

SUPERVISOR

5241 – MIN CHEN
5241 – RICHARD TAM
5241 – ANNE (QI) MU
5214 – VACANT

TECHNICAL SUPPORT
6333 – RICHARD HALLORAN

SUPERVISOR

6331 – KIRK MEANS
6331 – CHRISTINA BAILEY 
6331 – VACANT
6331 – NEW
5207 – NEW 
1452 – CORA ELLA

1408 – MANDY LEI
1408 – VACANT
1426 – IRENE BARTHOLOMEW
1406 – GILES SAMARASINGHE

PERMIT CENTER + 
ADMINISTRATION

(2ND FLOOR)
1410 – SYLVIA THAI

SUPERVISOR

PERMIT PROCESSING CENTER 
MANAGER
5th (FLOOR)

6334 – ANTHONY GRIECO (6333)
SUPERVISOR

1426 - VACANT 
1406 – PETER GIBSON
1406 – PATRICIA JAYIN
1406 – DWAYNE FARRELL

CENTRAL PERMIT BUREAU

HELP DESK/INFORMATION 
CENTER

1408 – BRENDA YAN
SUPERVISOR

1410 – SUSAN BUFKA
ACTING SUPERVISOR

PLAN REVIEW TEAM 4
6333 – VIVIAN HUANG
ACTING SUPERVISOR

6331 – SPENCER GOSCH
6331 – MIRA LEE
6331 – JOSEPH YU
6331 – IRENE WONG

PLAN REVIEW TEAM 2
5214 – RODOLFO PADA
ACTING SUPERVISOR

MIS / SPECIAL PROJECTS
1381 – VIVIAN L. DAY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT

6242 – NEW
6242 – NEW

NEW positions are requested for FY 12-13
VACANT is as of FY 11-12

PLAN REVIEW TEAM 5

5212 – HANSON TOM
5218 – GARY HO
5218 – HOWARD ZEE

PLAN REVIEW TEAM 6
5214 – ROBERT CHUN

SUPERVISOR

5207 – DAVID PANG
5207 – EMILY LIN
5241 – MATTHEW RALLS
5241 – CHU LIU

LEGISLATIVE/PUBLIC 
AFFAIRS

0923 – WILLIAM STRAWN
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From: O"Riordan, Patrick
To: Best Design and Construction Company; Harold Lewis; Harlan Kelly
Cc: erynramirez@ ; 49erfrancisco@ ; mikeyellis@ ; smsultana68@ ;

dsultana@  ethanjedwin@ cmheisler1@ ; bkspringengn@  Lowrey,
Daniel; Hui, Tom; Venizelos, Thomas; Duffy, Joseph; Hartley, Darlene

Subject: RE: Construction at 1622 11th Ave., Monitoring of Site, and Stability Issues
Date: Friday, December 28, 2012 2:29:07 PM

Hello Everyone,
 
Please be advised that Senior Building Inspector Tom Venizelos will be the primary point of contact
at DBI regarding this matter as he is the Senior Building Inspector responsible for that specific
District.
 
When the complaint was filed I responded as the Senior Building Inspector who was available at that
time.  Sr. Inspector Venizelos has been apprised of the situation and will be handling DBI’s
involvement from this point forward.  
 
Tom Venizelos may be  reached at 415 558 6107 or by e-mail at Thomas.Venizelos@sfgov.org
 
Regards,
 
Patrick O'Riordan
Senior Building Inspector
3rd Floor, 1660 Mission Street
San Francisco, CA 94103
Tel. 415 558 6105
 

From: Best Design and Construction Company [mailto:best_design@ ] 
Sent: Friday, December 28, 2012 12:52 PM
To: Harold Lewis; Harlan Kelly
Cc: O'Riordan, Patrick; erynramirez@ 49erfrancisco@ ; mikeyellis@ ;
smsultana68@ ; dsultana@ ; ethanjedwin@ ; cmheisler1@ ;
bkspringengn@
Subject: RE: Construction at 1622 11th Ave., Monitoring of Site, and Stability Issues
 
Harold:

As you have already been informed that a meeting is scheduled for10:00 AM, Monday,
December 31, 2012 at site to go over the concrete foundation staging and construction plans.
So far, I was informed that the following persons were invited to attend the meeting:

1. Geo-grount; 2. General Contractor, Barrry; 3. Owner, Harlan; 4. Geotechnical Engineer,
Harold Lewis; 5.  Neighbor's Consulting Engineer, Brian and 6. Design Engineer, Charles.

Harold, we discussed an initial approach to the staging  plan on December 22, 2012 before
Christmas. And, you seemed to be agreeable to it. Our office decided to take the initiative to
prepare and complete the staging plans even though the foundation approval is under the
Geotechnical Engineer's jurisdiction.  

mailto:patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org
mailto:best_design@msn.com
mailto:hllewis455@att.net
mailto:harlan_kelly_jr@yahoo.com
mailto:daniel.lowrey@sfgov.org
mailto:Thomas.Venizelos@sfgov.org


At this moment, the plans are about complete and ready for review and discussion on Monday
by the engineers, contractors and Owner. Upon the approval, we will take it to Building
Department for the removal of NOV's and obtaining building permits to resume the foundation
work.

In the last few days, we have been receiving different statements made by you as quoted from
other people. Some of the statements seem different from our understanding or may have been
misunderstood by others. At the request of the Owner, please send site meeting notes and
correspondences, both verbal or written, regarding your all communication and comments
related to the Project. We want to keep a record of it.

Our understanding is that the recommendations as stated in your previous soil report and
sequent letters to the Building Department remain the same.

I am looking forward to seeing you Monday and expect to have a fruitful results.

Charles

From: hllewis455@
To: best_design@ ; harlan_kelly_jr@
CC: Patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org; erynramirez@  49erfrancisco@
mikeyellis@  Smsultana68@  dsultana@
ethanjedwin@ ; cmheisler1@
Subject: RE: Construction at 1622 11th Ave., Monitoring of Site, and Stability Issues
Date: Fri, 28 Dec 2012 11:29:16 -0800

 

Charles Ng

 

When will your revised foundation plans be available?  Valuable construction time is a wasting.

 

Harold Lewis

From: Harlan Kelly [mailto:harlan_kelly_jr@  
Sent: Wednesday, December 26, 2012 3:47 PM
To: Harold Lewis
Subject: Fw: Construction at 1622 11th Ave., Monitoring of Site, and Stability Issues

 

Harold, please see email below.  Charles is in Chicago.  If you need to visit the site, let me know and I'll
have the Contractor meet you there.  

 

Thank you,



 

Harlan

415

 

 

 

----- Forwarded Message -----
From: Brian K Spring <bkspringengn@ >
To: Harlan Kelly <harlan_kelly_jr@ >; Harold Lewis <hllewis455@ ;
wwest1@  
Cc: Sent: Tuesday, December 25, 2012 9:39 PM
Subject: Construction at 1622 11th Ave., Monitoring of Site, and Stability Issues

 

Hello Mr. Kelley, Mr. White & Mr. Lewis 

 

I am Brian Spring, the engineer monitoring your project for    I was at the site on Tuesday, the 18th, and went by the site
again on Friday, the 21st, to observe the repairs to the slide, and the fortifying of the vertical cuts at the structural foundation of the adjacent buildings.   

 

Attached here are some photos of the site taken Friday, after initial remediation had been done.    Photo 16.09.02 shows the fill-soils placed against the
adjacent properties' excavated sides.  The fill-soils in the back portion of the properties are covered with plastic sheeting, while the fill-soils along the
existing structures are not covered.   I would like to have Mr. Lewis confirm that this is how he intends the site to be protected.   It is my understanding
that Mr White's crew is performing the work directed by Mr. Lewis. 

 

In Photo 16.11.19, you can see that the temporary fill-soils have been placed against the vertical cut along the structure at 1624, at approximately a 1:1
slope.   You can also see that along the middle-portion of that length, for about 10 or 12 feet, the fill-soils do not come up to the top of the cut, falling
about 3 feet short of the top.   It appears that the fill-soils have fallen away from the vertical cut.   I would like to know that the soils are regularly
monitored by Mr Lewis, to ensure that they are maintained in a condition, that he considers adequate.  

 

Although the placement of the temporary fill-soils against the vertical cut adjacent to the structures have improved the stability of underlying
(foundational) soils, post excavation, the underlying soils do not have the lateral stability they had before the excavation was done.  The soils are not
currently configured in a permanently stable state, and thus i am concerned about the stability of the adjacent structures, in the event that lateral stability
of the underlying soils becomes critical (ie, during high wind, or earthquake).  

 

At this time, we do not know how long the project will remain in this condition.  I am sure that you are getting a revised permit for the new construction
sequence, and am anxious to hear of your revised time-line.   I am concerned about the length of time the site will be maintained in this temporary,
compromised condition.   If Mr. Lewis is not satisfied that the soils supporting the adjacent structures are laterally stable, then measures must be taken
immediately to return them to full stability.   If the supporting soils are not laterally stable, then, at the least, the residents must relocate until the
foundational soils are again stable.  

 

We look forward to hearing from you.  As we are concerned about the safety of the residents, I ask that you reply to this email by noon tomorrow,
Wednesday, December 26th.

 

Best Regards, 



Brian Spring, PE, SE
cell:  415 
fax:   801 
email:  BKSpringEngn@
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Vivian L. Day, C.B.O., Director 
April 2009 
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DEPARTMENT OF 

 BUILDING INSPECTION  
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL 

CONDUCT   
 



 
 

A position in government is a position of public trust. Thus the standards of behavior for 
public employees are often higher than those for employees in the private sector. As public 
employees, our behavior is directed by the Government Code and the Political Reform Act 
of 1974, by this Code of Professional Conduct, and by the Statement of Incompatible 
Activities (SIA) approved by the Ethics Commission in October 2008.  As employees in San 
Francisco’s City government, we are accountable to the residents and voters of San 
Francisco. We are judged not only by our official actions and conduct, but also by our 
personal activities when they are related to our work for the City.  

The Department of Building Inspection occupies a unique position in the government of the 
City and County of San Francisco.  While the work we do is very technical in nature, it is 
also work that affects the lives of everyone who lives, works or visits the City.  We review 
the plans, conduct inspections and ensure the structural safety of every home, office 
building, business and hotel in San Francisco.  It is vitally important that we discharge our 
duties in the most efficient and fair manner possible.  While the Department has been 
criticized in the past, we have taken many specific action steps to improve our process and 
our transparency – and we are continuing to do so.  The reality is that we need to be above 
reproach – and this Professional Conduct Manual is designed to help ensure that we 
achieve this result individually and collectively.  As we continue to make improvements in 
other aspects of our programs, from reducing turnaround times to creating a more 
transparent and integrated permit tracking system, we need to remind the public and remind 
ourselves of the professional responsibilities associated with the important work we do.   
 
The revised 2009 Code of Conduct has three components: one for the customer; one for our 
Commission; and one for all of us.  Inasmuch as we must monitor our own professionalism, 
it is also important that the customer and Commission conduct themselves with respect and 
professionalism. 
 
The Code is not meant to substitute for applicable laws and rules.  Read the Code, and the 
SIA, thoroughly.  These guidelines will help you determine the difference between right and 
wrong.  In fact, in many ways, they will help you determine if some action might give the 
appearance of being questionable, even if, technically, it is not. 
 
Should you have questions regarding the Code, you can ask your supervisor, division 
managers, or I and we will answer your questions in strict confidence. 
 
It is an honor to work with and for you all at the Department of Building Inspection.  I know 
that you want to perform your duties to the best of your abilities, free from rumor and 
innuendo about perceived improper actions that may or may not have occurred in the past.  
By following the Code of Professional Conduct, and the SIA, we will achieve two of the most 
important goals in running this department -- fairness and equal treatment for all clients and 
client representatives, and, most importantly, ongoing structural safety for the public. 
 
Vivian L. Day, C.B.O., Director 
Department of Building Inspection                    April 2009 
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CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 
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Chapter 15 of the Charter defines Conflicts of Interest as follows: 
 
“Public office is a public trust and all officers and employees of the City and County shall 
exercise their public duties in a manner consistent with this trust.  The City may adopt 
conflict of interest and governmental ethics laws to implement this provision and to 
prescribe penalties in addition to discipline and removal authorized in this Charter.  All 
officers and employees of the City and County shall be subject to such conflict of 
interest and governmental ethics laws and the penalties prescribed by such laws.  
(Amended November 2003) “ 
 
What the Charter is essentially saying is that you should: 
 

• perform your duties with integrity 
• treat the public fairly 
• conduct official business honestly 

 
Your actions need to conform to these standards and should be completely impartial 
and fair, no matter whom from the public you deal with. 
 
The obligation to maintain the public trust extends into all areas of our lives.  As a result, 
you need to consistently make good moral judgments in both your professional and 
private life.  One dishonest or inappropriate act can destroy a reputation or a career built 
on years of hard work. 
 
Because the Department of Building Inspection has experienced employees having 
lapses of judgment in the past, we have established a practice of zero tolerance for 
serious misconduct and/or activities that are corruption related.  A zero tolerance 
policy means that even one incident of this type of behavior will be punished.  We 
continue to use all available means to eradicate corruption and the appearance of 
corruption.  The newly-published Statement of Incompatible Activities (SIA), which is 
posted on the DBI web site and included in this manual, provides an update on the 
standards and rules that are the basis of this policy. It remains your responsibility to 
know the rules and standards, and practice them in your professional life. 
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ETHICAL CODE AND PRACTICES 



 

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION  
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

 
 

Recognizing the public trust placed on individuals engaged in the administration and 
enforcement of building regulatory codes, the Department of Building Inspection is committed to 
the highest values and principles of professional conduct. For the benefit and guidance of 
department staff and for the enlightenment of the public we serve, these ideals and the 
standards that support them are characterized below in a Code of Professional Conduct. This 
Code is designed to support consistent adherence to high standards, foster mutual respect, 
help prevent misunderstandings, and avoid circumstances that could have the appearance of 
less than responsible professional behavior. 
 
 

SERVICE  

  
 Employees will convey the City’s commitment to the public and generate 

customer confidence by being responsive, cooperative and receptive.  
 Customers will be assisted in a consistent manner where they will be provided 

information, when possible, that provides a solution, or be directed to the 
appropriate person, division or other department for help. 

 Customers will be treated with courtesy, respect and dignity and should treat 
employees in the same manner. 

FAIRNESS  

  
 Employees will enforce compliance with building codes equally and neutrally for 

all customers, without consideration of any relationship, special interest, political 
association, other affiliation or lack thereof.  

 

SAFETY  

  
 Employees will place public safety and public interest above individual, group or 

special interests. 
 Employees will uphold all building codes set forth in Chapter 1, Administration, of 

the San Francisco Building Code.  Through its enforcement, such codes are 
intended to protect the lives and safety of the public.  

 

INTEGRITY  

  
 Employees will demonstrate the highest standards of personal integrity in order 

to inspire public confidence and trust in City employees.  
 Employees will not compromise the integrity of the permitting process by 
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DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION 
EMPLOYEES CODE OF  

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 



exceeding or appearing to exceed their authority; attempting to expedite plans or 
permits not assigned to them; providing unauthorized service outside their area 
of responsibility; allowing extraordinary or unsupervised access to submitted 
plans or paperwork by any customer; or by asking others to do so. 

 Individual employees will not accept any gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit 
offered by a member of the public or by persons or businesses regulated by the 
department, doing business with the department or seeking to do business with 
the department if said gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit is not consistent 
with the rules and regulations established in the Statement of Incompatible 
Activities and existing city and state rules and regulations governing gifts to 
public officials. 

 

HONESTY  

  

 Employees will be truthful in communicating with customers and staff, do what 
they say they will do, and be reliable. 

 Employees will provide facts and situations honestly, without bias, when 
presenting a problem for resolution by another member of staff. 

 

CONSISTENCY  

  
 Employees will regulate and enforce the minimum standardized requirements 

established by the codes in a consistent manner for all customers.  
 Employees will provide all customers with a consistent standard of care, at all 

times, and in all varieties of work throughout the department. 
 

PROFESSIONALISM  

  
 Employees are representatives of the City and will rigorously pursue a standard 

of excellence at all times to engender respect for the City, the Department, and 
themselves. 

 Employees will be punctual and prepared for appointments and field visits.  
 Employees will be provided opportunities to continue training to maintain and 

improve their skills. Employees will stay current on policy and code changes. If 
required to be certified, employees will maintain certifications to ensure 
compliance with law. 

 Employees will make suggestions and participate in the improvement of the 
operations of the department to the best of their ability. 
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FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
If you have questions about the Code of Professional Conduct; if you think you’ve witnessed 
improper activities; or if you wonder if something you have been asked to do is proper or not, 
there are a number of ways for you to obtain additional information. 
 

 Your supervisor should be your first source.  He/she will be able to answer a great many 
of your questions and, just as importantly, is responsible for ensuring that his/her 
operation runs correctly. 

 
 If your question deals with something your supervisor has done, or has asked you to do, 

then you should bring the matter to gradually higher levels of management, including the 
Director. 

 
 The Ethics Commission can answer questions regarding proper and improper behavior, 

particularly as specified in the SIA.  Remember, however, that the Ethics Commission 
deals with policies adopted City-wide.  In certain cases, the Department of Building 
Inspection may have adopted more stringent rules and these prevail. 

 
 The City and County of San Francisco's Whistleblower Complaints Program receives and 

tracks complaints about the quality and delivery of government services, wasteful and 
inefficient City government practices, misuse of government funds, and improper 
activities by City government officials, employees and contractors. The Controller's Office 
operates the program and receives complaints by telephone, email, and the Web. When 
appropriate, the Controller's Office investigates and attempts to resolve individual 
complaints. 

 
 The whistleblower complaints hotline number is (415) 701-2323. If outside the 415 area 

code, call 415-701-2311/TTY: 415-701-2323. You may also call 3-1-1. 
 
 

 

 DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION  
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

 
 

Recognizing the public trust placed on individuals engaged in the oversight of building 
regulatory codes, members of the Building Inspection Commission are committed to the highest 
values and principles of professional conduct. For the benefit and guidance of department staff 
and for the enlightenment of the public we serve, these ideals and the standards that support 
them are characterized below in a Code of Professional Conduct. This Code is designed to 
support consistent adherence to high standards, foster mutual respect, help prevent 
misunderstandings and avoid circumstances that could have the appearance of less than 
responsible professional behavior. 
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BUILDING INSPECTION COMMISSION 
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 



SERVICE  

  
 I will convey the City’s commitment to the public and generate customer 

confidence by being customer-centered, receptive, patient, and courteous in my 
dealings with the public and staff.  

 I will not allow personal opinions to affect the performance of my duties. 
 

FAIRNESS  

  
 I will not give preferential service in any performance of my assigned duties. 
 I will oversee the enforcement of building codes equally and neutrally for all 

customers without any bias of relationship, special interest, political association, 
other affiliation or lack thereof.  

 I will request to be recused from any issue in which I, a member of my family, or 
a close personal acquaintance has an interest. 

 I will not approach any staff member without first requesting department 
management to authorize such contact so as not to appear to be pressuring a 
staff member. 

 

INTEGRITY  

  
 I will demonstrate the highest standards of personal integrity in order to inspire 

public confidence and trust in City government. 
 I will use my title only when conducting official City business or for informational 

purposes. In no case will I use my title or position to advance personal or political 
interests, or secure advantage or favor for myself, my family or my friends. 

 I will accept no gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit offered by a member of 
the public or by persons or businesses regulated by the department, doing 
business with the department or seeking to do business with the department for 
doing my job. When accepting a lawful gift, I will be aware that public perception 
may make a negative judgment of me or the department. 

 

PROFESSIONALISM  
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 I understand that I am a representative of the City and will set an example by 
conducting myself at all times to create respect for the City, the Department, and 
myself. 

 I will be punctual and prepared for Commission meetings.  
 I will not allow personal attacks to be made on any other commissioner, 

manager, staff member, or member of the public. 
 

 



 

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION  
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

 
Clients and expediters using the services of the Department of Building Inspection have certain 
rights and obligations when dealing with the Department.  This Code of Professional Conduct, 
while not strictly enforceable, should act as a guideline for your interaction with the Building 
Inspection Commission, as well as departmental management and staff. 
 

SERVICE  

  
 I am entitled to receive customer-centered, receptive, patient, and courteous 

service from all members of the department.  
 

FAIRNESS  

  
 I will not ask for preferential service based on my relationships with any member 

of the department. 
 I am entitled to know that enforcement of compliance with building codes is 

equal and neutral for all customers regardless of relationship, special interest, 
political association, other affiliation or lack thereof.  

 

SAFETY  

  
 I will uphold all building codes because they are designated to protect the lives 

and safety of the public.  
 

INTEGRITY  

  
 I will not compromise the integrity of the permitting process by exceeding or 

appearing to exceed my authority. 
 I will offer no gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit to a member of the 

department or the commission. 
 

HONESTY  

  

 I will be truthful in communicating with departmental staff, do what I say I will do, 
and be dependable. 

 I will depict facts and situations honestly and without bias. 
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CLIENT/EXPEDITER 
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

 



PROFESSIONALISM  

  
 I will be punctual and prepared for appointments.  
 I will not make personal attacks on any member of the Commission, nor on 

management and staff of the Department of Building Inspection and expect that 
none will be made on me. 

 I will bring any disputes with staff members up the authorized chain of command 
within the department.  If I am unsatisfied with the resolution of a permit matter, I 
understand that I am entitled and encouraged to file an appeal with the Board of 
Appeals. 
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GUIDELINES 
 
 

The nature of DBI's work sometimes places employees in situations requiring a carefully 
considered judgment as to an appropriate action. Not every situation has a clear right or wrong 
response, but attention to workplace values and standards as delineated by the Code of 
Professional Conduct must guide employee decision-making.  

This section presents questions and scenarios that have been adapted from submissions by 
DBI employees during focus group sessions. The suggested responses are meant as 
guidelines only and are based on the application to the situation of the Code of Professional 
Conduct, California State law, City Charter, City ordinances and Civil Service Commission 
rules and policies. 

It is impossible to present examples covering all situations. If this section does not provide 
sufficient guidance, the employee is encouraged to seek assistance. Refer to the "Resources" 
section of this handbook for helpful sources for opinions or interpretation of law or policies. 

A good rule of thumb to follow when you’re not certain if something is proper or not is to simply 
ask yourself, “Do I feel comfortable performing this action or seeing someone else perform it?”  
If the answer is no, that you feel uncomfortable or are worried that someone will find out, that’s 
a good indication that something may not be right. 

 
1. What is the difference between preferential treatment and customer service? 
 

Customer service delivers to every customer the same level of assistance from every 
member of the department. Preferential treatment delivers extraordinary effort or 
access—including advantage, favor, special treatment or priority—over and above the 
normal level of service to a specific few by one or more employees. However, in practice 
some customers, usually by virtue of an emergency, may require something more than 
normal service.  

 
2. What should I do if I am asked to provide preferential treatment such as moving a 

project ahead of others, overlooking a violation or signing off before all problems 
are cleared? 
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It does not matter whether the person making such a request is a public official, an 
official’s staff member, relative, friend, DBI manager or other employee, former employee 
or customer; your response should be the same. Explain to the individual that DBI policy 
is that every customer receives the highest level of customer service. In addition, as 
presented in the DBI Code of Professional Conduct, explain that integrity and public 
safety are standards you personally insist upon. Assure the individual you will deliver the 
highest quality of service. However, if you are asked to do something you believe is 
illegal or otherwise improper, document the request with your supervisor or other 
manager for further action. If you believe the individual should receive additional service 
above what is ordinarily available to every customer because his or her situation is an 



emergency, you also should document that in writing with your supervisor or manager. 

 

3. What should I do if I’m offered money or a gift if I will “look the other way” or 
otherwise expedite matters for a customer? 

 
Your response to the individual should be the same as described in Question 2. In 
addition, because the request is illegal, you must document in writing the incident with 
your supervisor or other manager for further action. Supervisors and managers should 
report such matters to the District Attorney’s Office for further investigation. See 
Resource Guide for contact information. 

 
4. What should I do if I see a manager, supervisor or other employee giving preferential 

treatment to a customer? What if I’m asked by a supervisor or manager to give 
preferential treatment? 
 

Recognizing there might be a good reason for what appears to you to be preferential 
treatment, you should arrange to meet privately with the manager, supervisor or 
employee and state that you are uncomfortable with something you think you saw and 
want to clarify the situation. State exactly what you think you saw and ask the person if 
you are interpreting the situation correctly. Give the person an opportunity to respond. If 
you still believe unwarranted preference is being given, take your concern to a higher 
level through the department chain of command. See also Question 5. If you are unsure 
whether conduct is improper, call the Ethics Commission for guidance. 

 
5. What should I do if I become aware of an illegal activity by another employee? 

 
You are encouraged to report any incidents of improper or illegal activity involving your 
department or another City and County department. Never confront an employee whom 
you suspect is involved in illegal or criminal activity.   

You have several options. You may report your complaint to the Ethics Commission. You 
will not be retaliated against in your employment for making a good faith complaint. You 
also may report to the District Attorney, City Attorney or Controller’s Office. For more 
details, see the informational handout Whistleblower Information available from the DBI 
Administrative Office, Tel. 415/558-6131, or contact the Ethics Commission at 252-3100, 
or see their website at: www.sfgov.org/ethics/complain/comppcdr.htm.  

 
6. What should I do if I notice a customer marking his or her plans in such a way as to 

differentiate them from other plans in order that they might be easily identified for 
preferential treatment? 

 
Marking plans in any way has no significance unless an employee takes action based 
upon those marks. Since it is unlikely that plans would be marked to indicate an 
emergency situation—which might justify extraordinary service—such action may 
constitute a request for preferential treatment.   
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If you believe a customer is marking plans in order to receive preferential treatment, see 
the answer to Question 2. If an employee is marking plans in order to provide preferential  
treatment or indicate to another employee plans which are to receive preferential 

http://www.sfgov.org/site/ethics_page.asp?id=13749


treatment, see the answer to Question 4 or Question 5.  
 

7. What should I do if I see customers using DBI equipment or handling plans or 
paperwork that has already been submitted for review? What should I do if I see a 
customer in an employee area? 

 
To protect the integrity of the permitting process, customers should have no further 
access to plans or paperwork once they are submitted to DBI for review. City policy, as 
stated in the DHR Employee Handbook, requires that “all City and County equipment, 
devices, and material must be used only for conducting City and County business.”   

If you see another employee allowing such activity, refer to the answer to Question 4. If 
you believe this is an illegal activity by another employee, refer to the answer to Question 
5. If the customer is unsupervised by a department employee and you feel comfortable 
doing so, approach the customer and ask if you can be of service. Inform the customer of 
the City’s policy and advise him or her that this action may jeopardize or delay the 
processing of their paperwork. Direct the customer back to the customer waiting area 
and take possession of the plans. If you do not feel comfortable taking this action, 
immediately locate a supervisor who can do so.   

If you are aware of a customer who has been informed of the City’s policy and repeatedly 
violates this policy, document the incident or incidents with your supervisor or other 
manager for further action. It may be appropriate for supervisors and managers to report 
such incidents to the District Attorney’s Office for further investigation. 

In order to avoid the appearance of extraordinary access, employees and supervisors 
conducting meetings with customers in employee areas should escort those customers 
to and from the meetings. 

 
 
8. What do I do if a supervisor overrides my decision (such as my interpretation of the 

code, my report findings…)? 
 

Supervisory review of employee decisions is an appropriate and necessary part of the 
job. Given that some building codes are open to interpretation, employees should not 
expect that their own interpretation would always be the final word. However, interpreting 
the building code consistently (i.e., similar situations result in similar interpretations) is a 
standard addressed by the Code of Professional Conduct.  

If you believe a supervisor is giving preferential treatment to a specific customer in 
overriding your decision, use the guidelines stated in Question 4. If you feel this conduct 
to be illegal, use the guidelines stated in Question 5. 

 
 
9. What should I do if I’m offered a gift (item of monetary value, favor, reward, 

entertainment, loan or meal) by a customer for “good service” or in celebration of a 
holiday? 
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The Charter Section C8.105(f) prohibits City officers and employees from receiving 
directly or indirectly any compensation, reward, or gift from any source (except the City 
and County or any other government agency to which he or she has been duly 



appointed) for any service, advice, assistance, or other matter related to the 
governmental processes of the City and County. In general, personal gifts for doing your 
job must be refused or returned with a friendly but firm message that you are not allowed 
to receive gifts for doing your job. All employees should consider themselves to be 
subject to public scrutiny. Public perception of conflict of interest may be stricter than City 
policy, and subject to disclosure and interpretation by public and press opinions. 

Be advised that there are a number of restrictions on acceptance of other kinds of gifts. If 
you are presented with a gift, consult City Attorney Jon Givner at (415) 554-4694, or 
Andrew Shen, (415) 554-4780, or call the City Attorney’s general number (415) 554-
4700. You also may call the Ethics Commission. 

 
 
10. What do you do if you are invited to a company Christmas party, a customer-

sponsored event, or to participate in a free round of golf? 
 

Refer to Question 9. Also, to make your decision you might want to consider whether you 
would have been invited to participate in this activity if you had a different job in the 
department. Is everyone invited to the event? If not, why were you selected? Ask yourself if 
the answer given is an appropriate reason. Perhaps there is a professional reason for a 
DBI representative to be included in the event. Also refer to the Code of Professional 
Conduct. The first standard for value of Professionalism should help you answer this 
question.  
 

 
11. Can I work on political campaigns? 
 

City employees are free to engage in political activities while off duty. Employees are 
prohibited from using City resources for election campaigns. For more information about 
the laws governing political activities by City officers and employees, refer to the Policies 
section of this handbook. 

 
 
12. What’s the policy on sexual harassment? 

 
According to the San Francisco Administrative Code, it is the policy of the City and 
County of San Francisco that, in accord with State and federal laws, each City employee 
has the right to work in an environment free of discrimination, including sexual 
harassment, and that sexual harassment is unacceptable and will not be tolerated in the 
workplace. 

If you feel you are being sexually harassed, you should inform your supervisor, the DBI 
Administrative Office, or other responsible officer immediately. DBI has adopted the 
City’s policy regarding the prohibition of sexual harassment. Supervisory employees are 
required to take corrective action if employees are being subjected to sexual 
harassment. Departments are required to report all complaints of sexual harassment to 
the Human Resources Director. 
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The Discrimination Complaint Procedure provides an avenue for investigating and 
resolving allegations of sexual harassment. For information and assistance on the 
complaint procedure, you may call the DHR Sexual Harassment Helpline at 557-4900. 



City officials or employees who are found to engage in harassment are subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  

It is further the policy of the City to take reasonable steps, in accord with State and 
federal laws, to provide its employees with a workplace free of sexual harassment by 
non-employees. Employees who experience sexual harassment from a customer should 
inform their supervisor or other responsible officer immediately.  

 
 
13. Are there any rules about use of alcohol or being apparently "under the influence" 

during work hours? 
 

DHR maintains a Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy. See the Policies section of 
this Handbook for this policy. It prohibits the use of illegal drugs or alcohol, or being 
under their influence while on the job. Specifically it prohibits: 

1. Unauthorized manufacture, distribution, purchase, possession, or use of a 
controlled substance; 

2. Consumption of alcohol, except when expressly authorized by the appointing 
authority as part of a work-related social function and where there will be no 
impairment of services provided to the public; and 

3. Reporting to work or remaining at work while under the influence of alcohol or 
an illegal drug. 

Non-compliance with the policy will subject an employee to discipline and/or a 
requirement to complete a drug or alcohol abuse education treatment or rehabilitation 
program.  

Information, counseling, and referrals for drug and alcohol treatment programs are 
available from the Department of Public Health Employee Assistance Program, the 
Department of Human Resources, or DBI's Administrative Office. 

 
 
14. I need to earn extra money. Can I work evenings or weekends? 

 
You must notify and receive approval from the Human Resources Director for most 
additional employment.  

Per Civil Service Commission Rule 118.2, except with the approval of the Human 
Resources Director, no person holding a full-time position under permanent or 
temporary civil service appointment, shall engage in any employment, position or service 
(hereinafter referred to collectively as "employment") in or out of the service of the City in 
which the employee is required to perform any duties for another employer, and for 
which the employee is to receive compensation in any form, including salary, wage, fee, 
or commission. Refer to the back of the request form for guidelines regarding whether 
prior permission for outside work is necessary. Any outside work, whether 
employment or contract, cannot conflict with your regular duties.  
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Forms to request Approval of Additional Employment are available at the DBI 
Administrative Office, (415) 558-6131, Room 6001, 1660 Mission Street. The forms 
must be completed by the employee and the secondary employer, and approved 
by the appointing officer. The request is then forwarded to the Department of Human 



Resources for review. The Human Resources Director will approve additional 
employment if certain conditions are met. For a list of those conditions and the full text of 
Rule 118.2, call the Civil Service Commission at (415) 252-3247 or visit its website at 
www.sfgov.org/civil_service.  

 
 
15. What outlet is available to me if I have issues with another employee? 
 
This question has multiple answers, depending upon the problem and the parties involved. 
Here are general guidelines: 
If the issue is between two employees who have no direct reporting relationship, the offended 
party might approach the other in a private manner, calmly stating the problem and the feelings 
raised, and why.  Use an “I” statement that sounds like this: “When you (whatever the other 
person is doing that creates the issue), I feel (whatever the issue makes you feel) because 
(why you have a problem with the behavior).”  For example, “When you talk loudly on the 
telephone, I feel frustrated because I am distracted from my own work.”  Or, “When you are 
late reporting to your assignment at the front desk, I feel angry and imposed upon because I 
am required to cover your work.” 
 
The DBI Administrative Office is available to advise and assist in problem resolution, as is the 
Employee Assistance Program (EAP).  This process may involve either a meeting with all 
parties, or separate discussions with the outside representative acting as the liaison/negotiator. 
 
Legitimate problems and differences of opinion may develop between employees and their 
supervisors.  An attempt may be made to informally mediate the matter in the best interest of 
the department and the employee.  When these matters can not be resolved in an informal 
manner between a supervisor and their employee(s), a grievance may be filed.  If you have 
questions about a grievance, please contact your union representative. 
 
 
16.  Employees speaking in another language besides English in the workplace bothers 

me.  What can I do? 
 
An employee’s use of a language other than English in the workplace is a legally protected 
right.  The City’s interest in hiring bilingual employees is expressed in the San Francisco Civil 
Service Commission’s policy on language diversity, which states that a workforce that speaks 
languages other than English enhances the efficiency and effectiveness of services provided to 
the diverse community. 
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If employees speaking in a language other than English bother you, you may want to use the 
technique described in Question 15, and approach the individual in a private manner to discuss 
your concern. 
 
 
17. What do I do about an irate customer, especially at a public counter, who refuses to 

calm down? 
 

You are not powerless to handle irate customers. The key is to be prepared with some 
skills in advance. Here are some pointers to understand and remember when faced with 
upset customers. 

http://www.sfgov.org/civil_service


 
 
 

SKILLS TO USE WITH ANGRY CUSTOMER 
 
 

Observe & Prepare:  Think, “This person is angry, I have skills to deal with that.” Take a 
deep breath. 

Greet the Person - Use Their Name:  Set a cordial tone. Give them the feeling you're 
dealing with them—not that they're just another faceless customer—by addressing them 
by name. Introduce yourself. 

Show Empathy:  Put yourself in their shoes. How would you feel if you were in their 
situation? Show that you are aware of their feelings about the situation. "I can see that 
you're angry/upset/worried/frustrated. I'd be________too if_________ ." 

Ask Questions:  "May I ask you some questions to help resolve this?" This empowers 
the customer and obtains the information needed to deal with the problem. 

Share Information:  Your procedures/policies/regulations are complicated. Don't expect 
the customer to understand them without explanation. "Did you know we have a 
regulation about that? Here's what it is…" If you don’t have a ready answer, find 
someone who does. 

Disengage:  Move away. Tell person you're leaving and why. Give yourself and the 
customer a chance to calm down. Don't get "locked into" an argument. 

Refer to Your Supervisor:  Most often the supervisor will say the same thing you did, 
but hearing it from a "higher authority" may make it acceptable to the customer. 

Direct Their Anger:  Many times the customer's angry with someone else, but taking it 
out on you. You may defuse their anger by calmly pointing out the correct source of the 
problem (e.g. time pressures, their client, their contractor, the loan company, etc.). 

Explore Alternatives:  Give choices. "Here's what I can do about this situation. Here's 
what I can't do. Here's what you can do. How would you like to proceed?" 

Follow Through:  Agree on a resolution and if you need to do something further, follow 
up on it. If you've promised to do something, do it right away. Nothing destroys 
credibility/trust as quickly as a promise broken or deferred. 
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For further assistance with these or other questions, contact: 
Your supervisor, Manager or the Director 

DBI’s Administrative Office 
Human Resources Development 
Employee Assistance Program 

The Ethics Commission 
Your Bargaining Unit Representative.  

 
See the Resources Section of this Handbook for Contact Information. 
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DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION  
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

 
City officials are subject to strict conflicts of interest laws and policies governing official 
conduct. Per San Francisco Charter Section 15.103, all officers and employees of the City and 
County are subject to all California State laws and City ordinances proscribing conflicts of 
interest and incompatible activities, as well as the provisions of Charter Section C8.105. Any 
violation of such laws is official misconduct and is a basis for discipline and/or removal, in 
addition to any other penalties prescribed by law. 
 
Please note that the policies presented here are intended as summaries of existing law only. It 
is the employee’s responsibility to refer to the full text. Full text references, including website 
addresses and telephone numbers, are provided at the end of each summary. 
 
 

I. Conflicts of Interest 
 

There are several City and State laws that prohibit City officials from participating in 
decisions in which they have a financial interest. In most cases these laws provide that 
conflicts may be avoided if the official discloses his or her interests and abstains from 
participating in or seeking to influence a decision in which the official has a financial 
interest. In some cases, however, the official must choose between maintaining the 
financial interest and continuing to serve as a public official. 

 
 
 
Charter 
Section 
C8.105(a) 
 

 

 
Charter Section C8.105 (a) prohibits an officer or employee of the 
City and County from becoming directly or indirectly interested in any 
contract, franchise, right, privilege or sale or lease of property 
awarded, entered into or authorized by him or her, by those under his 
or her supervision and control, or by a board or commission of which 
he or she is a member. An officer or employee must divest himself or 
herself of such an interest within 60 days or resign from his or her 
position. Charter Section C8.105 provides some exceptions to this 
result.  

  
Charter Section C8.105(c) prohibits an officer or employee of the City 
and County from making, participating in making, or in any way 
attempting to influence a governmental decision in which he or she 
has reason to know he or she has a financial interest. This provision 
is the local counterpart to the California Political Reform Act conflicts 
of interest provisions, a State law, described on page 2 of this 
section. On page 3 of this section, you will find guidelines developed 
by the Ethics Commission for identifying conflicts of interest.  

Charter 
Section 
C8.105(c) 
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For the full text of Charter Section C8.105, please refer to the 
City and County of San Francisco 1996 Charter Appendix C. 
 
The Charter can also be accessed at the following website: 
http://www.municode.com/Resources/gateway.asp?pid=14130&
sid=5. 
 
For assistance in interpreting the Charter provisions, definition 
of terms and the answers to commonly asked 
questions/scenarios, please refer to the San Francisco Ethics 
Commission’s “Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.” You can 
request a copy of the manual by calling the Ethics Commission 
at (415) 252-3100 or visiting its website at 
http://www.sfgov.org/site/ethics_index.asp. 
 
 

 
Government 
Code 
Section 
87100 et seq. 
(The Act) 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
toll-free 

 
 
 

 
The California Political Reform Act, Government Code Section 
87100 et seq., prohibits public officials from making, 
participating in making, or in any way seeking to influence, 
governmental decisions in which they have a disqualifying 
conflict of interest. Charter Section C8.105(c) is the local 
counterpart to the Act.  
 
The Ethics Commission provides guidelines for identifying 
conflicts of interest under the Act. Those guidelines are 
reprinted below. Please note that for a greater understanding of 
the Act, the reader should refer to the San Francisco Ethics 
Commission’s “Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.” The 
manual provides definitions of terms and the answers to 
commonly asked questions/scenarios.  
 
You can request a copy of the manual by calling the Ethics 
Commission at (415) 252-3100 or visiting the Commission’s 
website at http://www.sfgov.org/site/ethics_index.asp. 
 
If you have specific inquiries about the meaning and application 
of the Act please call the California Fair Political Practices 
Commission (the FPPC), at (916) 322-5660. The FPPC, not the 
Commission, interprets and enforces the conflicts of interest 
provisions of the Act.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.municode.com/Resources/gateway.asp?pid=14130&sid=5
http://www.municode.com/Resources/gateway.asp?pid=14130&sid=5
http://www.sfgov.org/site/ethics_index.asp
http://www.sfgov.org/site/ethics_index.asp


Steps to help 
identify conflicts 

of interest. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

        
 
 

 
 

         

 

Ethics Commission guidelines for identifying conflicts of 
interest: 
 
Step 1 
Determine whether the individual is a public official. A public 
official is defined as a member, officer, employee, or consultant 
of a local government agency. The term member includes any 
member of a board or commission with decision-making 
authority.  If not, the Act does not apply. 
 
Step 2 
Determine whether the public official will be making, 
participating in making, or using or attempting to use his or her 
official position to influence a governmental decision. 
If not, the Act does not apply. 
 
Step 3 
Identify the official’s economic interests that are potentially 
involved (i.e. investments, real property, sources of income, or 
business positions).   If the official has no economic interest 
covered by the Act, the Act does not apply. 
 
Step 4 
Determine whether the official’s economic interest(s) will be 
directly or indirectly involved in the governmental decision.  
Proceed to Step 5. 
 
Step 5 
Determine whether the applicable standard for analyzing 
whether the effect of the decision on the official’s economic 
interest(s) involved will be material.   Proceed to Step 6. 
 
Step 6 
Determine whether it is reasonably foreseeable that the 
governmental decision will have a material financial effect on 
the official’s economic interest.    
If it will, the official has a conflict of interest. 
 
Step 7 
Determine whether the reasonably foreseeable material 
financial effect is distinguishable from the effect on the public 
generally.  If not, the official may participate in the decision. 
 
Step 8 
Determine whether the official’s participation is legally required. 
If so, the official may participate in the decision. 
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II. Limitations on Additional Employment and Other Activities 
 

Public officials also are subject to a number of local policies governing official 
conduct that seek to restrict conflicts between outside activities and public duties. 
 
 

San Francisco 
Civil Service 
Commission 
Rule 118.2 
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Additional Employment: Per Rule 118.2, except with the 
approval of the Human Resources Director, no person 
holding a full-time position under permanent or temporary civil 
service appointment, may engage in any employment, position 
or service in or out of the service of the City in which the 
employee is required to perform any duties for another 
employer or appointing officer, and for which the employee is 
to receive compensation in any form, including salary, wage, 
fee, commission, or emolument. In no case, whether 
employment or contract, may outside work be in conflict with 
the employee’s regular duties. Refer to the back of the request 
form for guidelines regarding whether prior permission for 
outside work is necessary. 

 
Forms for requesting Approval of Additional Employment are 
available at the DBI Administrative Office. Please call (415) 
558-6131 or visit 1660 Mission Street, Suite 6001. The forms 
must be completed by the employee and the secondary 
employer, and approved by the appointing officer. The request 
is forwarded to the Department of Human Resources for 
review. The Human Resources Director will approve additional 
employment if certain conditions are met. For a list of those 
conditions and the full text of Rule 118.2, call the Civil Service 
Commission at (415) 252-3247 or visit its website at 
www.sfgov.org/civil_service.  
 

http://www.sfgov.org/civil_service


San Francisco 
Civil Service 
Commission 
Rule 118.3 

 
 
 

   

Other Activities: Per Rule 118.3, no officer or employee may 
participate in any activity or enterprise where income, profit or 
other gain is or may be accrued, which could reflect on the 
honor or efficiency of the City service, or be contrary to the 
best interests of the City service in any respect. Also, no officer 
or employee may be involved through secondary parties in the 
engagement of any activity or enterprise which the employee is 
prohibited from engaging in directly, nor in that connection may 
the employee lend, convey, or authorize the use of any 
information or resources under the employee's control. 

 
For the full text of Rule 118.3 call the Civil Service 
Commission at (415) 252-3247 or visit its website at 
www.sfgov.org/civil_service.  

 
 

III. Incompatible Activities and Offices 
 
Public officials are also subject to state and common laws governing official 
conduct that seeks to restrict conflicts between outside activities and public duties. 
 

 
Government 
Code Section 

1126 
 

 

 
Incompatible Activities: Government Code Section 1126 
prohibits City officials from engaging in compensated activities 
that are incompatible with their official duties. DBI adopted, and 
the Ethics Commission approved in October 2008, a statement 
of incompatible activities (SIA), which has been distributed to 
all employees. Please consult with your supervisor or manager 
if you have questions regarding a possible incompatible 
activity. 
Inquiries about the application of law to specific facts should be 
addressed to the San Francisco City Attorney’s Office at (415) 
554-4700, or to the California State Attorney General’s 
Office at (916) 324-5437. 
 

IV. Post-Employment Restrictions 
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Charter 
Section 

C8.105(e) 
 

 
Charter Section C8.105 (e) prohibits City officers and 
employees from representing any private interest before a City 
board or agency of which they were a member or employee for 
two years after they leave such service or employment. This 
Section does not prohibit a former officer or employee from 
representing himself or herself before his or her former board 
or agency.  

http://www.sfgov.org/civil_service


 
 

 
For further information, please contact the Ethics 
Commission at (415) 252-3100. 
 
 

V. Prohibition on Disclosing Confidential Information 
 

Charter 
Section 
C8.105(d) 

 
Charter Section C8.105 (d) prohibits City officers and 
employees from disclosing any privileged information 
concerning property, government, or affairs of the City and 
County unless a duty to do so is imposed upon that person by 
law. Officers and employees are also prohibited from using any 
privileged information obtained by virtue of their office or 
employment to advance their financial or other private 
interests. 
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VI. Accepting Personal or Campaign Advantages  
by Public Officials 

 
Governmental 
Conduct Code 

Section 3.700, et 
seq. (Prop. J). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
City officials who exercise the discretion to approve public 
benefits are prohibited from accepting personal or campaign 
advantages from public benefit recipients under the S.F. 
Campaign and Governmental Conduct Code Section 3.700, et 
seq. (Prop. J). This prohibition is in place from the date the 
official approves or votes to approve the public benefit until: (1) 
two years after the expiration of the term of office that the 
official is serving at the time he or she approves the public 
benefit; (2) two years after the official’s departure from office 
whether or not there is a pre-established term of office; or (3) 
six years from the date the official approves or votes to 
approve the public benefit, whichever is first. A “city official” 
includes elective City officers, the Controller, the City 
Administrator, appointed members of boards and 
commissions, department heads serving under City boards or 
commissions, and department heads serving under the Mayor. 
 
For more information about Government Code Section 3.700 
please refer to “An Overview of the Laws Governing the 
Conduct of Public Officials,” (May 25, 2001) developed by the 
City Attorney’s Office. For a copy of the overview or if you have 
questions call the City Attorney’s Office at (415) 554-4700. 
 



 

VII. Solicitation or Receipt of Contributions by Appointed Officials 
 
Government 

Code 
Section 
84308 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 

 

 
Government Code Section 84308 prohibits appointed officials 
from soliciting or receiving campaign contributions from parties, 
participants, or their agents in proceedings involving licenses, 
permits, or other entitlements for use. The law requires an 
appointed official's disqualification in such proceedings if the 
official has received campaign contributions of more than $250 
from a party or participant within the 12 months preceding the 
decision. In addition, Section 84308 prohibits solicitation or 
receipt of campaign contributions in excess of $250 during 
such proceedings, or for 90 days after the decision, from 
parties, participants or their agents. Finally, Section 84308 
requires the disclosure of all such campaign contributions.  

 
For definitions of terms and answers to commonly asked 
questions, please refer to the San Francisco Ethics 
Commission’s “Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.”   
 
Inquiries about the application Government Section 84308 
should be addressed to the San Francisco City Attorney's 
Office at (415) 554-4700, or to the California Fair Political 
Practices Commission at 1-866-275-3772. 
 
 

VIII. Political Activity 
 
Penal Code, 
Government 

Code, and San 
Francisco 

Campaign and 
Government 

Conduct Code 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Local officers and employees may not use public resources to 
engage in political activity. Stanson v. Mott (1970) 17 Cal.3d 
206; Cal. Penal Code Section 424. In addition, officers and 
employees may not directly or indirectly solicit funds from other 
officers or employees of the local agency or from persons on 
employment lists of the local agency, unless the solicitation is 
part of a solicitation made to a significant segment of the public 
that may include officers or employees of the agency. 
Government Code Section 3205 SFCGC Code § 3.400(a). 
Officers and employees may not participate in political 
activities of any kind while in uniform. Government Code 
Section 3206 SFCGC Code § 3.400(a). Also, officers and 
employees may not engage in political activity during working 
hours or on City premises. San Francisco Campaign and 
Government Conduct Code Section 3.400(c).  
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For more information, please refer to the City Attorney’s 
memorandum, “Political Activities by City Officers and 
Employees,” dated September 13, 2001. A copy of the 
memorandum can be obtained at the DBI Administrative 
Office, 1660 Mission Street, Suite 6001. You also may call the 
City Attorney’s Office at (415) 554-4700. 
 
 

IX. Prohibition on Compensation for City Services 
 
Charter 
Section 
C8.105(f) 
 

 
 
 

 

 
Charter Section C8.105(f) prohibits City officers and 
employees from receiving directly or indirectly any 
compensation, reward, or gift from any source (except the City 
and County or any other government agency to which he or 
she has been duly appointed) for any service, advice, 
assistance or other matter related to the governmental 
processes of the City and County. 
 
For the full text of Charter Section C8.105 please refer to the 
City and County of San Francisco 1996 Charter Appendix C. 
Section C8.105 begins on page 138.  
 
The Charter can also be accessed at the following website: 
http://www.amlegal.com/sanfrancharter/lpext.dll?f=templates&f
n=main-j.htm&2.0. 
 
 

X. Limits and Reporting Requirements for Gifts, Honoraria, 
Travel, and Loans 

 
Government 
Code Section 
81000-91014 
(The Act) 
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The Political Reform Act imposes limits on gifts and prohibits 
honoraria payments received by public officials, including 
"designated" employees (i.e., individuals required to file 
statement of economic interests [SEIs] under San Francisco's 
Conflict of Interest Code).  
 
Designated employees may not accept gifts from any single 
source totaling more than $420 in a calendar year if they are 
required to report income or gifts received from that source on 
their SEIs. 
 
A gift is any payment or other benefit provided to you that 
confers a personal benefit for which you do not provide goods 
or services of equal or greater value. A gift includes a rebate or 
discount in the price of anything of value unless the rebate or 
discount is made in the regular course of business to members 



 
 

  
 
 

 

of the public. 
 

For more information concerning gifts and 
honoraria and for a discussion of travel and loans 

please refer to the San Francisco Ethics 
Commission  

“Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.”  
 
If you have questions the City Attorney’s Office is available to help. 
Contact Deputy City Attorneys Jon Givner (415) 554-4694, or 
Andrew Shen (415) 554-4780 for legal assistance, or the Fair 
Political Practices Commission at (916) 322-5660. 
 
 

XI. Statements of Economic Interest (Form 700) 
 
Government 
Code Section 
81000-91014 
(The Act) 
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The Political Reform Act requires many tens of thousands of 
state and local public officials and employees to disclose 
certain personal financial holdings. In addition, as discussed 
above, the Act requires government officials and employees to 
disqualify themselves from participating in decisions which may 
affect their personal financial interests. The Act began as a 
ballot initiative approved by over 70 percent of California voters 
in the wake of the Watergate political scandals. 
 
DBI employees who are required to file statements of 
economic interest (SEIs or Form 700s) are identified in San 
Francisco’s Campaign and Government Conduct Code. 
Individuals who hold positions listed in these sections are 
called designated employees. To find out if you are a DBI 
designated employee, call the DBI Administrative Office (415) 
558-6131 or visit the office at 1660 Mission Street, Suite 6001. 
 
For more information about SEIs and instructions 
on how to fill out the form, please refer to the San 

Francisco Ethics Commission’s 
 “Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.”  

 
The Ethics Commission also provides assistance in completing 
the forms. You can reach the Commission at (415) 252-3100. 
In addition, you may also call Deputy City Attorneys Jon 
Givner (415) 554-4694, or Andrew Shen (415) 554-4780. 
 

XII. Valuing Diversity in the Workplace 



 
Rule 
103.1.8, Civil 
Service 
Commission 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 

Rule 
103.1.5, Civil 
Service 
Commission 
 

 
 

 
Respect for All Persons Policy: It is the policy of the City and 
County of San Francisco that each official, employee, and agent in 
official capacity, will treat all persons equally and respectfully, and 
will refrain from the willful or negligent use of slurs against any 
person on the basis of race, color, sex, sexual orientation, age, 
religion, national origin, ancestry, disability, or other protected status. 
 
For more information, please refer to your City and County of San 
Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee Handbook.  
You can also access Rule 103 by visiting the following website: 
http://www.sfgov.org/civil_service/rules/miscr103.htm.  
 
 
Language Diversity Policy: It is the policy of the Civil Service 
Commission that an employee's use of a language other than 
English is not only an asset in the provision of public services 
but, with few exceptions, such as business necessity, is a 
legally protected right. 
 
For more information please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 
Handbook. 
 
 

 
 

Sec. 16.9-25 
San Francisco 
Administrative 
Code 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Sexual Harassment Policy: It is the policy of the City and 
County of San Francisco that, in accord with State and federal 
laws, each City employee has the right to work in an 
environment free of discrimination, including sexual 
harassment, and that sexual harassment is unacceptable and 
will not be tolerated in the workplace. The City and County of 
San Francisco will take all reasonable steps within its control to 
provide a workplace in which all individuals are treated with 
respect and dignity. Sexual harassment of a City official or 
employee is, in accord with State and federal laws, strictly 
prohibited by another City official or employee. It is further the 
policy of the City and County of San Francisco to take 
reasonable steps, in accord with State and federal laws, to 
provide its employees with a workplace free of sexual 
harassment by non-employees, including, but not limited to: 
contractors and subcontractors of the City and County of San 
Francisco, clients, volunteers, interns, and members of the 
general public. 
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For more information, please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 

http://www.sfgov.org/site/civil_service_page.asp?id=6258


Handbook.   
 

 
 
For the full text of the City’s Sexual Harassment policy visit the 
following website:  
http://www.sfgov.org/site/sfdhr_page.asp?id=47703
 

 
 
Civil Service 
Commission 
Policy 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
Prohibiting Violence in the Workplace Policy: It is the policy of 
the City and County of San Francisco to require employees to treat 
co-workers and members of the public with courtesy and respect.  
 
The City and County of San Francisco will not tolerate any assaults, 
battery or threats or acts of violence by employees in the workplace. 
Employees are also prohibited from bringing weapons to the job, 
unless required by the City and County department in the 
performance of the employee’s official duties. Weapons include, but 
are not limited to, firearms, knives or weapons defined in California 
Penal Code Section 12020. Failure to comply with this policy may 
result in employee discipline up to and including termination.  
 
For more information, please see your DBI Employee Handbook, 
City and County of San Francisco Employee Handbook or 
Workplace Violence Guidelines developed by the Department of 
Human Resources and the Office of the City Attorney, February 
1998. 
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Rule 103.1.1 
Civil Service 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
Equal Employment Opportunity Policy: It is the policy of the 
Civil Service Commission of the City and County of San 
Francisco that all persons shall have equal opportunity in 
employment; that selection of employees to positions in the 
City and County be made on the basis of merit; and that 
continuing programs be maintained to afford equal 
opportunities to women and minority persons to achieve 
meaningful employment at all levels. Vigorous enforcement of 
the laws against discrimination shall be carried out at every 
level of each department. All persons shall have equal access 
to employment within the City and County, limited only by their 
ability to do the job. 
 
For more information, please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 
Handbook.  
 
You can also access Rule 103 by visiting the following website: 
http://www.sfgov.org/civil_service/rules/miscr103.htm.  
 

http://www.sfgov.org/site/sfdhr_page.asp?id=47703
http://www.sfgov.org/site/civil_service_page.asp?id=6258


 
XIII. Employee Obligations 

 

(DHR 642 
08/01) 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy: The City and 
County of San Francisco is committed to providing a safe and 
healthy workplace for all employees. Use of illegal drugs or 
alcohol, or being under their influence, jeopardizes the welfare 
and safety of employees, visitors and the public, and 
diminishes the productivity, efficiency and effectiveness of the 
City’s workers. 
 
Compliance with this Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy 
is mandatory. Any employee who violates this Policy will be 
subject to discipline up to and including termination and/or will 
be required to complete a drug or alcohol abuse education 
treatment or rehabilitation program. 
 
The following conduct is prohibited during work hours, in 
a City vehicle, or while conducting City business, whether 

on or off City property: 
 

(1) Unauthorized manufacture, distribution, purchase, 
possession, or use of a controlled substance; 

(2) Consumption of alcohol, except when expressly 
authorized by the appointing authority as part of a 
work-related social function and where there will be no 
impairment to services provided to the public; and 

(3) Reporting to work or remaining at work while under 
the influence of alcohol or an illegal drug. 

 
Any employee who is arrested for violating any criminal drug or 
alcohol statute during working hours, in a City vehicle, or while 
conducting City business, whether on or off City property, must 
notify the appointing authority within five days of the arrest in 
order that the department may conduct an appropriate 
investigation. 
 
Employees in safety-sensitive positions must submit to random 
drug tests as required by federal law. Contact your 
department’s human resources or personnel representative for 
information about the regulations for random drug testing for 
persons identified as safety-sensitive. 
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Employees may use legally-prescribed medications in the 
manner instructed by their health care provider, as long as 
using the medication does not interfere with performance of the 



essential functions of the employee’s job or pose a risk to the 
safety of others. Where appropriate, reasonable 
accommodation will be discussed with employees whose 
ability to perform essential job functions is affected by 
prescription medication. 
 
Information, counseling and referrals for drug and alcohol 
treatment programs are available from the Department of 
Public Health Employee Assistance Program, the Department 
of Human Resources, or your department’s human resource or 
personnel representative. 
 
 

Computers 
and Data 
Information 
Systems 

Computers and Data Information Systems: City and County 
employees with access to computer files and records may not 
release or disseminate information to others without 
authorization. The release or dissemination of such material 
may constitute an invasion of privacy, and may be grounds for 
disciplinary action and termination.  
 

 For more information please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 
Handbook. 
 
 

  
Use of City and County Property for Business Purposes 
Only: All City and County equipment, devices and materials 
(e.g. photocopier, telephones, computers, facsimile machines, 
stationery, etc.) must be used only for conducting City and 
County business. Use of City and County property for personal 
or private purposes, or employee organization business, is 
strictly prohibited. 

Use of City 
and County 
Property for 
Business 
Purposes 
Only  

For more information please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 
Handbook. 
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The Policies section is not intended to be a complete presentation or 

interpretation of all policies and law regulating the conduct of City 
employees.  

For further assistance contact:  
DBI’s Administrative Office  

Human Resources Development 
The City Attorney’s Office 

The Employee Assistance Program 
The Ethics Commission 

 Your Bargaining Unit Representative.  
 

See the Resources Section of this Handbook for contact information. 
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What is corruption? 
In general terms, corruption consists of engaging a job-related immoral or dishonest behavior.  
Corruption includes receiving a benefit to which you are not entitled, including a gift or 
compensation from a private person either for doing your job or deviating from your job.  
Engaging in a corrupt activity can lead to disciplinary action and criminal prosecution. 
 
What is an unlawful gratuity? 
An unlawful gratuity is the receipt of a benefit for having performed your official duties.  For 
example, an unlawful gratuity has been offered when someone tells you to “keep the change.”  
Even if you didn’t do anything out of the ordinary, “keeping the change” would be unlawful and, if 
discovered, would lead to disciplinary action and, potentially, criminal prosecution.  You cannot 
accept the offer and you have a duty to immediately report the offer to your supervisor. 
 
What is a bribe? 
A bribe is something that is offered or given to a person in a position of trust in order to influence 
that person’s conduct.  Asking for a bribe, or agreeing to accept a bribe if offered, will lead to 
disciplinary action and, potentially, criminal prosecution even if you don’t accept the bribe.  You 
have a duty to immediately report a bribe to your supervisor. 
 
What if someone offers me something as simple as a cup of coffee?  Can I take that? 
The department’s position on the acceptance of gifts is spelled out in the Statement of 
Incompatible Activities.  Simply put, while management discourages employees from accepting 
gifts from customers, expediters, contractors, etc. we recognize there may be occasions when 
gifts are routinely exchanged.  So long as gifts are within the legal limits prescribed by the 
Statement of Incompatible Activities and existing city and state regulations, and PROPERLY 
REPORTED, there is not a complete prohibition on the acceptance of gifts.  Something as 
simple as a cup of coffee may be accepted.  
  
What should I do if I see another employee engaging in corrupt activity? 
As an employee of the City and County of San Francisco and the Department of Building 
Inspection, you have a duty to report any corruption to your supervisor or a higher-level 
manager.  Failure to report the activity immediately may result in disciplinary action. 
 
If I have seen someone segregating application files or putting a special mark on them, 
and then notice that those applicants get their permits approved much more quickly, 
what should I do? 
Applicants are supposed to be treated impartially.  You have a duty to report this kind of activity 
to your supervisor or a higher-level manager.  Even if the employee is not receiving any kind of 
benefit from the activity, it is improper for him or her to treat one set of clients differently than any 
other set of clients. 
 
What do I do if I’m offered a bribe? 
Immediately report the offer to your supervisor or higher-level manager.  Do not, under any 
circumstances, accept the money or gift that’s offered. 
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FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 



 
May I use my City phone, City cell phone or City fax to contact family members or a 
doctor? 
You may use these items on a very limited basis.  If you use your cell phone for personal use, or 
if you make a long distance call on your City phone, you are required to pay the costs 
associated with such usage.  Under no circumstances, however, are you allowed to use your 
City phone, cell phone, City fax, City computers or any other City equipment or supplies for 
political purposes, or for any other personal business other than those rare circumstances when 
you need to contact family or friends.  This is consistent with the Statement of Incompatible 
Activities. 
 
What should I do if I think a co-worker is running a business during working hours and/or 
using City resources for this business? 
Any misconduct by an employee or member of the public doing business with the department 
should be immediately reported to your supervisor or a higher-level manager.  Having a 
personal business may not be improper.  However, conducting personal business during 
working hours is most certainly improper and must be reported. 
 
I was thinking of teaching a class at a local community college.  Do I need to do anything 
to make sure my activities are all right? 
You must get departmental approval for any kind of outside employment. 
 
I am a clerk in the Electrical Division and a plumbing company wants to know if I can 
perform some clerical work for them on weekends.  Is this allowed? 
No.  You cannot work in any construction trade, irrespective of the type of position,  
responsibilities, or the type of trade. 
 
May I use my City-owned vehicle to drop my child off at school? 
No.  Non-City employees are not allowed to travel in City-owned vehicles. 
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SAN FRANCISCO RESOURCES 
 

 
San Francisco Department of Building Inspection 
Administrative Office 
1660 Mission Street, Suite 6001 
San Francisco, CA 94103 
(415) 558-6131 
(415) 558-6225 (fax) 
www.sfgov.org/dbi
 
 

 

San Francisco District Attorney’s Office 
880 Bryant Street 
San Francisco, CA 94103  
(415) 553-1752 
www.sfdistrictattorney.org  
 

 

San Francisco Department of Human Resources 
One South Van Ness Avenue 
San Francisco, CA 94103-1233 
(415) 557-4963 
415 557-4870 (fax) 
www.sfgov.org/dhr 

 

 
San Francisco Ethics Commission 
25 Van Ness Avenue, Suite 220 
San Francisco, CA 94102 
(415) 252-3100 
(415) 252-3112 (fax) 
www.sfgov.org/ethics 
 

Call the Ethics Commission or visit its 
website to obtain the following information: 
 Whistleblower Ordinance and Hotline 
 A copy of “The San Francisco Ethics 

Commission Manual on Governmental 
Ethics Laws: A Guide to State and Local 
Laws Governing the Conduct of Public 
Officials and Employees.” 

 Complaint Form and Instructions 
 Database of Statements of Economic 

Interests 
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 Advice Letters Issued by Ethics 
Commission 

 Lists of Registered Lobbyists, 
Employees of Lobbyists, Clients of 
Lobbyists 

 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.sfgov.org/dbi
http://www.sfdistrictattorney.org/
http://www.sfgov.org/dhr
http://www.sfgov.org/ethics


Call the City Attorney’s Office to obtain the 
following: 

San Francisco City Attorney’s Office 
City Hall, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place 
San Francisco, CA 94102-4682 
(415) 554-4700 
(415) 554-4745 (fax) 

 A copy of “An Overview of the Laws 
Governing the Conduct of Pubic Officials 
(May 25, 2001). 

www.sfgov.org/cityattorney   Technical assistance for completing 
financial disclosure forms.  

 Assistance with interpreting local and 
state laws. 

 To report a whistleblower complaint. 
 

 
San Francisco Controller's Office 
City Hall, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place 
San Francisco, CA 94102-4694 
(415) 554-7500 
(415) 554-7466 (fax) 
www.sfgov.org/controller  

 
Call the Controller's Office to obtain the 
following information: 
 A copy of the “Whistleblower 

Information” pamphlet. 
 To report a whistleblower complaint that 

involves financial issues. 
 
 
 

                                                                
 
 
 

Department of Building Inspection - 1660 Mission Street – San Francisco, CA  94103  Information 415-558-6088 Fax (415) 558-6401 www.sfgov.org/dbi Page 36 

                                                                  

http://www.sfgov.org/cityattorney
http://www.sfgov.org/controller


 

 
CALIFORNIA STATE RESOURCES 

 
 
California Fair Political Practice Commission 
428 J Street, Suite 620 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
(Toll Free) 1-866-ASK-FPPC (866-275-3772) 
(916) 322-5660 
www.fppc.ca.gov 
 

 
The FPPC's website includes the following: 
 Advice about the Political Reform Act of 

1974.  
 Technical assistance for completing 

financial disclosure forms.  
 To report allegations about violations of 

state campaign finance, ethics, and 
lobbying laws.  

 Information about state campaign 
finance, lobbying and ethics laws. 

 
 

California Office of the Attorney General 
1300 I Street, Suite 1740 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
(800) 952-5225 
(916) 323-5341 (fax) 
www.caag.state.ca.us 
 
 
 

The Attorney General's website includes the 
following: 
 How to avoid conflicts of interest when 

acting on government contracts 
(California Government Code Section 
1090) 
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Adversely affect – Interfere with normal performance of duties. 

Benefit – Refers to an advantage, favor, exemption or anything of value.  

California Political Reform Act – The Political Reform Act of 1974 (Government Code 
Sections 81000-91014) requires many state and local public officials and employees to 
disclose certain personal financial holdings. The Act also requires government officials 
and employees to disqualify themselves from participating in decisions which may affect 
their personal financial interests.  The Act requires state and local governments to adopt 
and implement a separate conflict of interest code.  The Act, which frequently has been 
amended, began as a ballot initiative approved by over 70 percent of California voters in 
the wake of the Watergate political scandals. 

Charter of the City & County of San Francisco – The Charter is the basic document 
that describes the way that City government operates and provides services to its 
residents. The Charter outlines the powers and duties of all elected officials as well as 
those of City agencies and administrative offices.  

Code – A set of behaviors agreed to by all members of a group. 

Consistency – Uniformity of practice, explanation or conduct; applying codes, 
regulations and requirements in the same way in each instance. 

Ethics – A set of personal moral rules based on an individual’s beliefs, moral or 
religious training, and values; principles of right and wrong behavior. Ethics are brought 
to the workplace by each individual, not set by the employer. 

Fairness – Treating all persons equally; being objective and impartial. 

Gift – Any payment or other benefit provided to you that confers a personal benefit for 
which you do not provide goods or services of equal or greater value. (Government 
Code Section 82028) An item of monetary value, loan, favor, reward, entertainment, or 
meal. 

Honesty – Being truthful; presenting information accurately. 

Impair – Weaken, damage or reduce; make less effective. 

Integrity – Adherence to high moral and ethical principles; a strong sense of honesty; 
trustworthiness; doing the right thing because it is the right thing. 

Municipal Codes – The San Francisco Municipal Code is a classified compilation of the 
general and permanent ordinances of the City of San Francisco. It includes the Charter 
of the City & County of San Francisco as well as the Administrative Code, Business & 
Tax Regulation Code, Campaign and Governmental Conduct Code, Elections Code, 
Fire Code, Health Code, Park Code, Planning Code, Police code, Port Code, Public 
Works Code, Subdivision Code, Traffic Code and Zoning Maps. The Building, Electrical, 
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DEFINITIONS  



Housing, Mechanical and Plumbing Codes also are part of the overall San Francisco 
Municipal Codes. 

Neutrality – Not expressing an opinion or taking actions that support either side in a 
situation or disagreement.  

Preferential – Advantage, favor, special treatment or priority given to one individual or 
group over another. 

Professional Conduct – Values commonly accepted to be desirable in every workplace 
for every employee (i.e. Service, Fairness, Integrity, Honesty, Consistency, 
Professionalism). 

Professional Standards – A set of agreed-upon behaviors that encourage, support and 
foster professional conduct. 

Professionalism – Professionalism is the combination of all the characteristics that are 
connected with trained and skilled people; the quality of the work one does; the attitude, 
methods, or standards of a professional. 

Public trust – The public’s confidence in the department’s ability to serve them in 
accordance with regulatory codes and other law, City policies and generally accepted 
standards of professionalism. 
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 Reference to full text. 

 Reference to website. 

 Reference to telephone number. 
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SYMBOLS USED IN POLICIES SECTION 
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A position in government is a position of public trust. Thus the standards of behavior for 
public employees are often higher than those for employees in the private sector. As public 
employees, our behavior is directed by the Government Code and the Political Reform Act 
of 1974, by this Code of Professional Conduct, and by the Statement of Incompatible 
Activities (SIA) approved by the Ethics Commission in October 2008. As employees in San 
Francisco’s City government, we are accountable to the residents and voters of San 
Francisco. We are judged not only by our official actions and conduct, but also by our 
personal activities when they are related to our work for the City.  

The Department of Building Inspection occupies a unique position in the government of the 
City and County of San Francisco. While the work we do is very technical in nature, it is also 
work that affects the lives of everyone who lives, works or visits the City. We review the 
plans, conduct inspections and ensure the structural safety of every home, office building, 
business and hotel in San Francisco. It is vitally important that we discharge our duties in 
the most efficient and fair manner possible. While the Department has been criticized in the 
past, we have taken many specific action steps to improve our process and our 
transparency – and we are continuing to do so. The reality is that we need to be above 
reproach – and this Professional Conduct Manual is designed to help ensure that we 
achieve this result individually and collectively. As we continue to make improvements in 
other aspects of our programs, from reducing turnaround times to creating a more 
transparent and integrated permit tracking system, we need to remind the public and remind 
ourselves of the professional responsibilities associated with the important work we do.  
 
The revised 2014 Code of Conduct has three components: one for the customer; one for our 
Commission; and one for all of us. Inasmuch as we must monitor our own professionalism, it 
is also important that the customer and Commission conduct themselves with respect and 
professionalism.  
 
The Code is not meant to substitute for applicable laws and rules. Read the Code, and the 
SIA, thoroughly. These guidelines will help you determine the difference between right and 
wrong. In fact, in many ways, they will help you determine if some action might give the 
appearance of being questionable, even if, technically, it is not.  
 
Should you have questions regarding the Code, you can ask your supervisor, division 
managers, or me and we will answer your questions in strict confidence.  
 
It is an honor to work with and for you all at the Department of Building Inspection. I know 
that you want to perform your duties to the best of your abilities, free from rumor and 
innuendo about perceived improper actions that may or may not have occurred in the past. 
By following the Code of Professional Conduct, and the SIA, we will achieve two of the most 
important goals in running this department -- fairness and equal treatment for all clients and 
client representatives, and, most importantly, ongoing structural safety for the public. 
 
Patrick O’Riordan, Interim Director 
Department of Building Inspection                       July 2020 
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Chapter 15 of the Charter defines Conflicts of Interest as follows: 
 
“Public office is a public trust and all officers and employees of the City and County shall 
exercise their public duties in a manner consistent with this trust.  The City may adopt 
conflict of interest and governmental ethics laws to implement this provision and to 
prescribe penalties in addition to discipline and removal authorized in this Charter.  All 
officers and employees of the City and County shall be subject to such conflict of 
interest and governmental ethics laws and the penalties prescribed by such laws.  
(Amended November 2003) “ 
 
What the Charter is essentially saying is that you should: 
 

• perform your duties with integrity 
• treat the public fairly 
• conduct official business honestly 

 
Your actions need to conform to these standards and should be completely impartial 
and fair, no matter whom from the public you deal with. 
 
The obligation to maintain the public trust extends into all areas of our lives.  As a result, 
you need to consistently make good moral judgments in both your professional and 
private life.  One dishonest or inappropriate act can destroy a reputation or a career built 
on years of hard work. 
 
Because the Department of Building Inspection has experienced employees having 
lapses of judgment in the past, we have established a practice of zero tolerance for 
serious misconduct and/or activities that are corruption related.  A zero tolerance 
policy means that even one incident of this type of behavior will be punished.  We 
continue to use all available means to eradicate corruption and the appearance of 
corruption.  The newly-published Statement of Incompatible Activities (SIA), which is 
posted on the DBI web site and included in this manual, provides an update on the 
standards and rules that are the basis of this policy. It remains your responsibility to 
know the rules and standards, and practice them in your professional life.  
 

ETHICAL CODE AND PRACTICES 
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DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION  
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

 
 

Recognizing the public trust placed on individuals engaged in the administration and 
enforcement of building regulatory codes, the Department of Building Inspection is committed to 
the highest values and principles of professional conduct. For the benefit and guidance of 
department staff and for the enlightenment of the public we serve, these ideals and the 
standards that support them are characterized below in a Code of Professional Conduct. This 
Code is designed to support consistent adherence to high standards, foster mutual respect, 
help prevent misunderstandings and avoid circumstances that could have the appearance of 
less than responsible professional behavior. 
 
 

SERVICE  

  
 Employees should convey the City’s commitment to the public and generate 

customer confidence by being responsive and receptive.  
 Customers will be assisted in a consistent manner where they will be provided 

information, when possible, that provides a solution, or be directed to the 
appropriate person, division or other department for help. 

 Customers will be treated with courtesy and dignity and should treat employees 
in the same manner. 

FAIRNESS  

  
 Employees will enforce compliance with building codes equally and neutrally for 

all customers, without consideration of any relationship, special interest, political 
association, other affiliation or lack thereof.  

 

SAFETY  

  
 Employees will place public safety and public interest above individual, group or 

special interests. 
 Employees will uphold all building codes set forth in Chapter 1, Administration, of 

the San Francisco Building Code.  Through its enforcement, such codes are 
intended to protect the lives and safety of the public.  

 

INTEGRITY  

  
 Employees will demonstrate the highest standards of personal integrity in order 

to inspire public confidence and trust in City employees.  
 Employees will not compromise the integrity of the permitting process by 

DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION 
EMPLOYEES CODE OF  

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 
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exceeding or appearing to exceed their authority; attempting to expedite plans or 
permits not assigned to them; providing unauthorized service outside of their 
area of responsibility; allowing extraordinary or unsupervised access to 
submitted plans or paperwork by any customer; or by asking others to do so. 

 Individual employees will not accept any gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit 
offered by a member of the public or by persons or businesses regulated by the 
department, doing business with the department or seeking to do business with 
the department if said gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit is not consistent 
with the rules and regulations established in the Statement of Incompatible 
Activities and existing city and state rules and regulations governing gifts to 
public officials. 

 

HONESTY  

  
 Employees will be truthful in communicating with customers and staff, do what 

they say they will do, and be reliable. 
 Employees will provide facts and situations honestly, and without bias, when 

presenting a problem for resolution by another member of staff. 
 

CONSISTENCY  

  
 Employees will regulate and enforce the minimum standardized requirements 

established by the codes in a consistent manner for all customers.  
 Employees will provide all customers with a consistent standard of care, at all 

times, and in all varieties of work throughout the department. 
 

PROFESSIONALISM  

  
 Employees are representatives of the City and will rigorously pursue a standard 

of excellence at all times to engender respect for the City, the Department, and 
themselves. 

 Employees will be punctual and prepared for appointments and field visits.  
 Employees will be provided opportunities to continue training to maintain and 

improve their skills. Employees will stay current on policy and code changes. If 
required to be certified, employees will maintain certifications to ensure 
compliance with law. 

 Employees will make suggestions and participate in the improvement of the 
operations of the department to the best of their ability. 
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FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
If you have questions about the Code of Professional Conduct, if you think you’ve witnessed 
improper activities; or if you wonder if something you have been asked to do is proper or not, 
there are a number of ways for you to get additional information. 
 
 Your supervisor should be the first source.  He or she will be able to answer a great 

many of your questions and, just as importantly, is responsible for ensuring that his/her 
operation runs correctly. 

 
 If your question deals with something your supervisor has done, or has asked you to do, 

then you should bring the matter to gradually higher levels of management, including the 
Director. 

 
 The Ethics Commission can answer questions regarding proper and improper behavior, 

particularly as specified in the SIA.  Remember, however, that the Ethics Commissions 
deals with policies adopted City-wide.  In certain cases, the Department of Building 
Inspection may have adopted more stringent rules and these prevail. 

 
 The City and County of San Francisco's Whistleblower Complaints Program receives and 

tracks complaints about the quality and delivery of government services, wasteful and 
inefficient City government practices, misuse of government funds, and improper 
activities by City government officials, employees and contractors. The Controller's Office 
operates the program and receives complaints by telephone, email, and the Web. When 
appropriate, the Controller's Office investigates and attempts to resolve individual 
complaints. 

 
 The whistleblower complaints hotline number is (415) 701-2323. If outside the 415 area 

code, call 415-701-2311/TTY: 415-701-2323. You may also call 3-1-1. 
 
 

 

 DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION  
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

 
 

Recognizing the public trust placed on individuals engaged in the oversight of building 
regulatory codes, members of the Building Inspection Commission are committed to the highest 
values and principles of professional conduct. For the benefit and guidance of department staff 
and for the enlightenment of the public we serve, these ideals and the standards that support 
them are characterized below in a Code of Professional Conduct. This Code is designed to 
support consistent adherence to high standards, foster mutual respect, help prevent 
misunderstandings and avoid circumstances that could have the appearance of less than 
responsible professional behavior. 
 
 

BUILDING INSPECTION COMMISSION 
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 
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SERVICE  

  
 I will convey the City’s commitment to the public and generate customer 

confidence by being customer-centered, receptive, patient, and courteous in my 
dealings with the public and staff.  

 I will not allow personal opinions to affect the performance of my duties. 
 

FAIRNESS  

  
 I will not give preferential service in any component of my assigned duties. 
 I will oversee the enforcement of building codes equally and neutrally for all 

customers without any bias of relationship, special interest, political association, 
other affiliation or lack thereof.  

 I will request to be recluse  from any issue in which I, a member of my family, or 
a close personal acquaintance has an interest. 

 I will not approach any staff member without first requesting department 
management to authorize such contact so as not to appear to be pressuring a 
staff member. 

 

INTEGRITY  

  
 I will demonstrate the highest standards of personal integrity in order to inspire 

public confidence and trust in City government. 
 I will use my title only when conducting official City business or for informational 

purposes. In no case will I use my title or position to advance personal or political 
interests or secure advantage or favor for myself, my family or my friends. 

 I will accept no gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit offered by a member of 
the public or by persons or businesses regulated by the department, doing 
business with the department or seeking to do business with the department for 
doing my job. When accepting a lawful gift, I will be aware that public perception 
may make a negative judgment of me or the department. 

 

PROFESSIONALISM  

  
 I understand that I am a representative of the City and will set an example by 

conducting myself at all times to create respect for the City, the Department, and 
myself. 

 I will be punctual and prepared for Commission meetings.  
 I will not allow personal attacks to be made on any other commissioner, 

manager, staff member, or member of the public 
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DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION  
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

 
Clients and expediters using the services of the Department of Building Inspection have certain 
rights and obligations when dealing with the Department.  This Code of Professional Conduct, 
while not strictly enforceable, should act as a guideline for your interaction with the Building 
Inspection Commission, as well as departmental management and staff. 
 

SERVICE  

  
 I am entitled to receive customer-centered, receptive, patient, and courteous 

service from all members of the department.  
 

FAIRNESS  

  
 I will not ask for preferential service based on my relationships with any member 

of the department. 
 I am entitled to know that enforcement of  compliance with building codes is 

equal and neutral for all customers regardless of relationship, special interest, 
political association, other affiliation or lack thereof.  

 

SAFETY  

  
 I will uphold all building codes because they are designated to protect the lives 

and safety of the public.  
 

INTEGRITY  

  
 I will not compromise the integrity of the permitting process by exceeding or 

appearing to exceed my authority. 
 I will offer no gift, special favor, privilege, or benefit to a member of the 

department or the commission. 
 

HONESTY  

  
 I will be truthful in communicating with departmental staff, do what I say I will do, 

and be dependable. 

 I will depict facts and situations honestly and without bias. 
 

CLIENT/EXPEDITER 
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 
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PROFESSIONALISM  

  
 I will be punctual and prepared for appointments.  
 I will not make personal attacks on any member of the Commission, nor on 

management and staff of the Department of Building Inspection and expect that 
none will be made on me. 

 I will bring any disputes with staff members up the authorized chain of command 
within the department.  If I am unsatisfied with the resolution of a permit matter, I 
understand that I am entitled and encouraged to file an appeal with the Board of 
Appeals. 
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GUIDELINES 
 
 

The nature of DBI's work sometimes places employees in situations requiring a carefully 
considered judgment as to an appropriate action. Not every situation has a clear right or wrong 
response, but attention to workplace values and standards as delineated by the Code of 
Professional Conduct can guide employee decision-making.  
This section presents questions and scenarios that have been adapted from submissions by 
DBI employees during focus group sessions. The suggested responses are meant as 
guidelines only and are based on the application to the situation of the Code of Professional 
Conduct, California State law, City Charter, City ordinances and Civil Service Commission 
rules and policies. 
It is impossible to present examples covering all situations. If this section does not provide 
sufficient guidance, the employee is encouraged to seek assistance. Refer to the "Resources" 
section of this handbook for helpful sources for opinions or interpretation of law or policies. 
A good rule of thumb to follow when you’re not certain if something is proper or not is to simply 
ask yourself, “Do I feel comfortable performing this action or seeing someone else perform it?”  
If the answer is no, that you feel uncomfortable or are worried that someone will find out, that’s 
a good indication that something may not be right. 
 
1. What is the difference between preferential treatment and customer service? 
 

Customer service delivers to every customer the same level of assistance from every 
member of the department. Preferential treatment delivers extraordinary effort or 
access—including advantage, favor, special treatment or priority—over and above the 
normal level of service to a specific few by one or more employees. However, in practice 
some customers, usually by virtue of an emergency, require something more than 
normal service.  

 
 
2. What should I do if I am asked to provide preferential treatment such as moving a 

project ahead of others, overlooking a violation or signing off before all problems 
are cleared? 

 
It does not matter whether the person making such a request is a public official, an 
official’s staff member, relative, friend, DBI manager or other employee, former employee 
or customer, your response should be the same. Explain to the individual that DBI policy 
is that every customer receives the highest level of customer service. In addition, as 
presented in the DBI Code of Professional Conduct, explain that integrity and public 
safety are standards you personally insist upon. Assure the individual you will deliver the 
highest quality of service. However, if you are asked to do something you believe is 
illegal or otherwise improper, document the request with your supervisor or other 
manager for further action. If you believe the individual should receive additional service 
above what is ordinarily available to every customer because his or her situation is an 
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emergency, you should also document that with your supervisor or manager. 
 

3. What should I do if I’m offered money or a gift if I will “look the other way” or 
otherwise expedite matters for a customer? 

 
Your response to the individual should be the same as described in Question 2. In 
addition, because the request is illegal, you must document in writing the incident with 
your supervisor or other manager for further action. Supervisors and managers should 
report such matters to the District Attorney’s Office for further investigation. See 
Resource Guide for contact information. 

 
 
4. What should I do if I see a manager, supervisor or other employee giving preferential 

treatment to a customer? What if I’m asked by a supervisor or manager to give 
preferential treatment? 
 

Recognizing that there might be a good reason for what appears to you to be preferential 
treatment, you should arrange to meet privately with the manager, supervisor or 
employee and state that you are uncomfortable with something you think you saw and 
want to clarify the situation. State exactly what you think you saw and ask the person if 
you are interpreting the situation correctly. Give the person an opportunity to respond. If 
you still believe unnecessary preference is being given, take your concern to a higher 
level through the department chain of command. See also Question 5. If you are unsure 
whether conduct is improper, call the Ethics Commission for guidance. 

 
5. What should I do if I become aware of an illegal activity by another employee? 

 
You are encouraged to report any incidents of improper or illegal activity involving your 
department or another City and County department. Never confront an employee whom 
you suspect is involved in illegal or criminal activity.   
You have several options. You may report your complaint to the Ethics Commission. You 
will not be retaliated against in your employment for making a good faith complaint. You 
also may also report to the District Attorney, City Attorney or Controller’s Office. For more 
details see the informational handout Whistleblower Information available from the DBI 
Administrative Office, Tel. (628) 652-3541, or contact the Ethics Commission at 252-
3100 or see their website at: www.sfgov.org/ethics/complain/comppcdr.htm.  

 
6. What should I do if I notice a customer marks his or her plans in such a way as to 

differentiate them from other plans in order that they might be easily identified for 
preferential treatment? 

 
Marking plans in any way has no significance unless an employee takes action based 
upon those marks. Since it is unlikely that plans would be marked to indicate an 
emergency situation—which might justify extraordinary service—such action may 
constitute a request for preferential treatment.   
If you believe a customer is marking plans in order to receive preferential treatment see 
the answer to Question 2. If an employee is marking plans in order to provide preferential  
treatment or indicate to another employee plans which are to receive preferential 
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treatment, see the answer to Question 4 or possibly Question 5.  
 

7. What should I do if I see customers using DBI equipment or handling plans or 
paperwork that has already been submitted for review? What should I do if I see a 
customer in an employee area? 

 
To protect the integrity of the permitting process, customers should have no further 
access to plans or paperwork once they are submitted to DBI for review. City policy, as 
stated in the DHR Employee Handbook, requires that “all City and County equipment, 
devices, and material must be used only for conducting City and County business.”   
If you see another employee allowing such activity refer to the answer to Question 4. If 
you believe this is an illegal activity by another employee refer to the answer to Question 
5. If the customer is unsupervised by a department employee and you feel comfortable 
doing so, approach the customer and ask if you can be of service. Inform the customer of 
the City’s policy and advise him or her that this action may jeopardize or delay the 
processing of their paperwork. Direct the customer back to the customer waiting area 
and take possession of the plans. If you do not feel comfortable taking this action, 
immediately locate a supervisor who can do so.   
If you are aware of a customer who has been informed of the City’s policy and repeatedly 
violates this policy, document the incident or incidents with your supervisor or other 
manager for further action. It may be appropriate for supervisors and managers to report 
such incidents to the District Attorney’s Office for further investigation. 
In order to avoid the appearance of extraordinary access, employees and supervisors 
conducting meetings with customers in employee areas should escort those customers 
to and from the meetings. 

 
 
8. What do I do if a supervisor overrides my decision (such as my interpretation of the 

code, my report findings…)? 
 

Supervisory review of employee decisions is an appropriate and necessary part of the 
job. Given that some building codes are open to interpretation, employees should not 
expect that their own interpretation would always be the final word. However, interpreting 
the building code consistently (i.e. similar situations result in similar interpretations) is a 
standard addressed by the Code of Professional Conduct.  
If you believe a supervisor is giving preferential treatment to a specific customer in 
overriding your decision, use the guidelines stated in Question 4. If you feel this conduct 
to be illegal, use the guidelines stated in Question 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9. What should I do if I’m offered a gift (item of monetary value, favor, reward, 
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entertainment, loan or meal) by a customer for “good service” or in celebration of a 
holiday? 
 

The Charter Section C8.105(f) prohibits City officers and employees from receiving 
directly or indirectly any compensation, reward, or gift from any source (except the City 
and County or any other government agency to which he or she has been duly 
appointed) for any service, advice, assistance, or other matter related to the 
governmental processes of the City and County. In general, personal gifts for doing your 
job must be refused or returned with a friendly but firm message that you are not allowed 
to receive gifts for doing your job. All employees should consider themselves to be 
subject to public scrutiny. Public perception of conflict of interest may be stricter than City 
policy, and subject to disclosure and interpretation by public and press opinion. 
Be advised that there are a number of restrictions on acceptance of other kinds of gifts. If 
you are presented with a gift, consult City Attorney Jon Givner at (415) 554-4694, or 
Andrew Shen, (415) 554-4780, or call the City Attorney’s general number (415) 554-
4700. You also may call the Ethics Commission. 
 

 
10. What do you do if you are invited to a company Christmas party, a customer-

sponsored event, or to participate in a free round of golf? 
 

Refer to Question 9. Also, to make your decision you might want to consider whether you 
would have been invited to participate in this activity if you had a different job in the 
department. Is everyone invited to the event? If not, why were you selected? Ask yourself if 
the answer given is an appropriate reason. Perhaps there is a professional reason for a 
DBI representative to be included in the event. Also refer to the Code of Professional 
Conduct. The first standard for value of Professionalism should help you answer this 
question.  
 

 
11. Can I work on political campaigns? 
 

City employees are free to engage in political activities while off duty. Employees are 
prohibited from using City resources for election campaigns. For more information about 
the laws governing political activities by City officers and employees refer to the Policies 
section of this handbook. 

 
 
12. What’s the policy on sexual harassment? 

 
According to the San Francisco Administrative Code, it is the policy of the City and 
County of San Francisco that, in accord with State and federal laws, each City employee 
has the right to work in an environment free of discrimination, including sexual 
harassment, and that sexual harassment is unacceptable and will not be tolerated in the 
workplace. 
 
If you feel you are being sexually harassed, you should inform your supervisor, the DBI 
Administrative Office, or other responsible officer immediately. DBI has adopted the 
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City’s policy regarding the prohibition of sexual harassment. Supervisory employees are 
required to take corrective action if employees are being subjected to sexual 
harassment. Departments are required to report all complaints of sexual harassment to 
the Human Resources Director. 
The Discrimination Complaint Procedure provides an avenue for investigating and 
resolving allegations of sexual harassment. For information and assistance on the 
complaint procedure you may call the DHR Sexual Harassment Helpline at 557-4900. 
City officials or employees who are found to engage in harassment are subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  
It is further the policy of the City to take reasonable steps, in accord with State and 
federal laws, to provide its employees with a workplace free of sexual harassment by 
non-employees. Employees who experience sexual harassment from a customer should 
inform their supervisor or other responsible officer immediately.  

 
 
13. Are there any rules about use of alcohol or being apparently "under the influence" 

during work hours? 
 

DHR maintains a Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy. See the Policies section of 
this Handbook for this policy. It prohibits the use of illegal drugs or alcohol, or being 
under their influence while on the job. Specifically it prohibits: 

1. Unauthorized manufacture, distribution, purchase, possession, or use of a 
controlled substance; 

2. Consumption of alcohol, except when expressly authorized by the appointing 
authority as part of a work-related social function and where there will be no 
impairment of services provided to the public; and 

3. Reporting to work or remaining at work while under the influence of alcohol or 
an illegal drug. 

Non-compliance with the policy will subject an employee to discipline and/or a 
requirement to complete a drug or alcohol abuse education treatment or rehabilitation 
program.  
Information, counseling, and referrals for drug and alcohol treatment programs are 
available from the Department of Public Health Employee Assistance Program, the 
Department of Human Resources, or DBI's Administrative Office. 

 
 
14. I need to earn extra money. Can I work evenings or weekends? 

 
You must notify and receive approval from the Human Resources Director for most 
additional employment.  
Per Civil Service Commission Rule 118.2, except with the approval of the Human 
Resources Director, no person holding a full-time position under permanent or 
temporary civil service appointment, shall engage in any employment, position or service 
(hereinafter referred to collectively as "employment") in or out of the service of the City in 
which the employee is required to perform any duties for another employer, and for 
which the employee is to receive compensation in any form, including salary, wage, fee, 
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or commission. Refer to the back of the request form for guidelines regarding whether 
prior permission for outside work is necessary. Any outside work, whether 
employment or contract, cannot be in conflict with your regular duties.  
Forms for requesting Approval of Additional Employment are available at the DBI 
Administrative Office, (628) 652-3541, Suite 500, 49 South Van Ness Avenue. The 
forms must be completed by the employee and the secondary employer, and 
approved by the appointing officer. The request is then forwarded to the Department 
of Human Resources for review. The Human Resources Director will approve additional 
employment if certain conditions are met. For a list of those conditions and the full text of 
Rule 118.2 call the Civil Service Commission at (415) 252-3247 or visit its website at 
www.sfgov.org/civil_service.  

 
 
15. What outlet is available to me if I have issues with another employee? 
This question has multiple answers, depending upon the problem and the parties 
involved. Here are general guidelines: 
If the issue is between two employees who have no direct reporting relationship, the 
offended party might approach the other in a private manner, calmly stating the problem 
and the feelings raised, and why. Use an “I” statement that sounds like this: “When you 
(whatever the other person is doing that creates the issue), I feel (whatever the issue 
makes you feel) because (why you have a problem with the behavior).” For example, 
“When you talk loudly on the telephone, I feel frustrated because I am distracted from 
my own work.” Or, “When you are late reporting to your assignment at the front desk, I 
feel angry and imposed upon because I am required to cover your work.” 
 
The DBI Administrative Office is available to advise and assist in problem resolution, as 
is the Employee Assistance Program (EAP). This process may involve either a meeting 
with all parties, or separate discussions with the outside representative acting as the 
liaison/negotiator. 
 
Legitimate problems and differences of opinion may develop between employees and 
their supervisors. An attempt may be made to informally mediate the matter in the best 
interest of the department and the employee. When these matters can not be resolved in 
an informal manner between supervisor and their employee(s), a grievance may be filed. 
If you have questions about a grievance, please contact your union representative. 
16. Employees speaking in another language besides English in the workplace bothers 

me. What can I do? 
An employee’s use of a language other than English in the workplace is a legally 
protected right. The City’s interest in hiring bilingual employees is expressed in the San 
Francisco Civil Service Commission’s policy on language diversity, which states that a 
workforce that speaks languages other than English enhances the efficiency and 
effectiveness of services provided to the diverse community. 
 
If employees speaking in a language other than English bothers you, you may want to 
use the technique described in Question 15, and approach the individual in a private 
manner to discuss your concern. 
 
17. What do I do about an irate customer, especially at a public counter, who refuses to 

calm down? 
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You are not powerless to handle irate customers. The key is to be prepared with some skills 
in advance. Here are some pointers to understand and remember when faced with upset 
customers. 

 

SKILLS TO USE WITH ANGRY CUSTOMERS 
 

Observe & Prepare:  Think, “This person is angry, I have skills to deal with that.” Take a 
deep breath. 

Greet the Person - Use Their Name:  Set a cordial tone. Give them the feeling you're 
dealing with them—not that they're just another faceless customer—by addressing them 
by name. Introduce yourself. 

Show Empathy:  Put yourself in their shoes. How would you feel if you were in their 
situation? Show that you are aware of their feelings about the situation. "I can see that 
you're angry/upset/worried/frustrated. I'd be________too if_________ ." 

Ask Questions:  "May I ask you some questions to help resolve this?" This empowers 
the customer and obtains the information needed to deal with the problem. 

Share Information:  Your procedures/policies/regulations are complicated. Don't expect 
the customer to understand them without explanation. "Did you know we have a 
regulation about that? Here's what it is…" If you don’t have a ready answer, find 
someone who does. 

Disengage:  Move away. Tell person you're leaving and why. Give yourself and the 
customer a chance to calm down. Don't get "locked into" an argument. 

Refer to Your Supervisor:  Most often the supervisor will say the same thing you did, 
but hearing it from a "higher authority" may make it acceptable to the customer. 

Direct Their Anger:  Many times the customer's angry with someone else, but taking it 
out on you. You may defuse their anger by calmly pointing out the correct source of the 
problem (e.g. time pressures, their client, their contractor, the loan company, etc). 

Explore Alternatives:  Give choices. "Here's what I can do about this situation. Here's 
what I can't do. Here's what you can do. How would you like to proceed?" 

Follow Through:  Agree on a resolution and if you need to do something further, follow 
up on it. If you've promised to do something, do it right away. Nothing destroys 
credibility/trust as quickly as a promise broken or deferred. 
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For further assistance with these or other questions, contact: 
Your supervisor or manager or the Director  

DBI’s Administrative Office 
Human Resources Development 
Employee Assistance Program 

The Ethics Commission 
Your Bargaining Unit Representative.  

 
See the Resources Section of this Handbook for Contact Information. 
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DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION  
CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 

 
City officials are subject to strict conflicts of interest laws and policies governing official 
conduct. Per San Francisco Charter Section 15.103, all officers and employees of the City and 
County are subject to all California State laws and City ordinances proscribing conflicts of 
interest and incompatible activities, as well as the provisions of Charter Section C8.105. Any 
violation of such laws is official misconduct and is a basis for discipline and/or removal, in 
addition to any other penalties prescribed by law. 
 
Please note that the policies presented here are intended as summaries of existing law only. It 
is the employee’s responsibility to refer to the full text. Full text references, including website 
addresses and telephone numbers, are provided at the end of each summary. 
 
 

I. Conflicts of Interest 
 

There are several City and State laws that prohibit City officials from participating in 
decisions in which they have a financial interest. In most cases these laws provide that 
conflicts may be avoided if the official discloses his or her interests and abstains from 
participating in or seeking to influence a decision in which the official has a financial 
interest. In some cases, however, the official must choose between maintaining the 
financial interest and continuing to serve as a public official. 

 
 
 
Charter 
Section 
C8.105(a) 
 

 

 
Charter Section C8.105(a) prohibits an officer or employee of the City 
and County from becoming directly or indirectly interested in any 
contract, franchise, right, privilege or sale or lease of property 
awarded, entered into or authorized by him or her, by those under his 
or her supervision and control, or by a board or commission of which 
he or she is a member. An officer or employee must divest himself or 
herself of such an interest within 60 days or resign from his or her 
position. Charter Section C8.105 provides some exceptions to this 
result.  

 
Charter 
Section 
C8.105(c) 
 
 
 

 
Charter Section C8.105(c) prohibits an officer or employee of the City 
and County from making, participating in making, or in any way 
attempting to influence a governmental decision in which he or she 
has reason to know he or she has a financial interest. This provision 
is the local counterpart to the California Political Reform Act conflicts 
of interest provisions, a State law, described on page 2 of this 
section. On page 3 of this section, you will find guidelines developed 
by the Ethics Commission for identifying conflicts of interest.  
 
 

POLICIES 
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For the full text of Charter Section C8.105, please refer to the 
City and County of San Francisco 1996 Charter Appendix C. 
 
The Charter can also be accessed at the following website: 
http://www.amlegal.com/sanfrancharter/lpext.dll?f=templates&fn
=main-j.htm&2.0. 
 
For assistance in interpreting the Charter provisions, definition 
of terms and the answers to commonly asked 
questions/scenarios, please refer to the San Francisco Ethics 
Commission’s “Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.” You can 
request a copy of the manual by calling the Ethics Commission 
at (415) 252-3100 or visiting its website at 
http://www.sfgov.org/ethics/pertin.htm. 
 
 

 
Government 
Code 
Section 
87100 et seq. 
(The Act) 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
toll-free 

 
 
 

 
The California Political Reform Act, Government Code Section 
87100 et seq., prohibits public officials from making, 
participating in making, or in any way seeking to influence, 
governmental decisions in which they have a disqualifying 
conflict of interest. Charter Section C8.105(c) is the local 
counterpart to the Act.  
 
The Ethics Commission provides guidelines for identifying 
conflicts of interest under the Act. Those guidelines are 
reprinted below. Please note that for a greater understanding of 
the Act, the reader should refer to the San Francisco Ethics 
Commission’s “Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.” The 
manual provides definitions of terms and the answers to 
commonly asked questions/scenarios.  
 
You can request a copy of the manual by calling the Ethics 
Commission at (415) 252-3100 or visiting the Commission’s 
website at http://www.sfgov.org/ethics/pertin.htm. 
 
If you have specific inquiries about the meaning and application 
of the Act please call the California Fair Political Practices 
Commission (the FPPC), at (916) 322-5660. The FPPC, not the 
Commission, interprets and enforces the conflicts of interest 
provisions of the Act.  
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Steps to help 
identify conflicts 

of interest. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

        
 
 

 
 

         

 

Ethics Commission guidelines for identifying conflicts of 
interest: 
 
Step 1 
Determine whether the individual is a public official. A public 
official is defined as a member, officer, employee, or consultant 
of a local government agency. The term member includes any 
member of a board or commission with decision-making 
authority.  If not, the Act does not apply. 
 
Step 2 
Determine whether the public official will be making, 
participating in making, or using or attempting to use his or her 
official position to influence a governmental decision. 
If not, the Act does not apply. 
 
Step 3 
Identify the official’s economic interests that are potentially 
involved (i.e. investments, real property, sources of income, or 
business positions).   If the official has no economic interest 
covered by the Act, the Act does not apply. 
 
Step 4 
Determine whether the official’s economic interest(s) will be 
directly or indirectly involved in the governmental decision.  
Proceed to Step 5. 
 
Step 5 
Determine whether the applicable standard for analyzing 
whether the effect of the decision on the official’s economic 
interest(s) involved will be material.   Proceed to Step 6. 
 
Step 6 
Determine whether it is reasonably foreseeable that the 
governmental decision will have a material financial effect on 
the official’s economic interest.    
If it will, the official has a conflict of interest. 
 
Step 7 
Determine whether the reasonably foreseeable material 
financial effect is distinguishable from the effect on the public 
generally.  If not, the official may participate in the decision. 
 
Step 8 
Determine whether the official’s participation is legally required. 
If so, the official may participate in the decision. 
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II. Limitations on Additional Employment and Other Activities 
 

Public officials are also subject to a number of local policies governing official 
conduct that seek to restrict conflicts between outside activities and public duties. 
 
 
San 
Francisco 
Civil Service 
Commission 
Rule 118.2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

Additional Employment: Per Rule 118.2, except with the 
approval of the Human Resources Director, no person 
holding a full-time position under permanent or temporary civil 
service appointment, may engage in any employment, position 
or service in or out of the service of the City in which the 
employee is required to perform any duties for another 
employer or appointing officer, and for which the employee is 
to receive compensation in any form, including salary, wage, 
fee, commission, or emolument. In no case, whether 
employment or contract, may outside work be in conflict with 
the employee’s regular duties. Refer to the back of the request 
form for guidelines regarding whether prior permission for 
outside work is necessary. 

 
Forms for requesting Approval of Additional Employment are 
available at the DBI Administrative Office. Please call (628) 
652-3541 or visit 49 South Van Ness Avenue, Suite 500. The 
forms must be completed by the employee and the secondary 
employer, and approved by the appointing officer. The request 
is forwarded to the Department of Human Resources for 
review. The Human Resources Director will approve additional 
employment if certain conditions are met. For a list of those 
conditions and the full text of Rule 118.2, call the Civil Service 
Commission at (415) 252-3247 or visit its website at 
www.sfgov.org/civil_service.   
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San Francisco 
Civil Service 
Commission 
Rule 118.3 

 
 
 

   

 
Other Activities: Per Rule 118.3, no officer or employee may 
participate in any activity or enterprise where income, profit or 
other gain is or may be accrued, which could reflect on the 
honor or efficiency of the City service, or be contrary to the 
best interests of the City service in any respect. Also, no officer 
or employee may be involved through secondary parties in the 
engagement of any activity or enterprise which the employee is 
prohibited from engaging in directly, nor in that connection may 
the employee lend, convey, or authorize the use of any 
information or resources under the employee's control. 

 
For the full text of Rule 118.3 call the Civil Service 
Commission at (415) 252-3247 or visit its website at 
www.sfgov.org/civil_service.  

 
 

III. Incompatible Activities and Offices 
 
Public officials are also subject to state and common laws governing official 
conduct that seek to restrict conflicts between outside activities and public duties. 
 
 
Government 
Code Section 
1126 
 

 

 
Incompatible Activities: Government Code Section 1126 
prohibits City officials from engaging in compensated activities 
that are incompatible with their official duties. DBI adopted, and 
the Ethics Commission approved in October 2008, a statement 
of incompatible activities (SIA), which has been distributed to 
all employees. Please consult with your supervisor or manager 
if you have questions regarding a possible incompatible 
activity. 
 
Inquiries about the application of law to specific facts should be 
addressed to the San Francisco City Attorney’s Office at (415) 
554-4700, or to the California State Attorney General’s 
Office at (916) 324-5437. 
 

IV. Post-Employment Restrictions 
 

Charter 
Section 

C8.105(e) 

 
Charter Section C8.105(e) prohibits City officers and 
employees from representing any private interest before a City 
board or agency of which they were a member or employee for 
two years after they leave such service or employment. This 
Section does not prohibit a former officer or employee from 
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representing himself or herself before his or her former board 
or agency.  
 
For further information, please contact the Ethics 
Commission at (415) 252-3100. 
 
 

V. Prohibition on Disclosing Confidential Information 
 

Charter 
Section 
C8.105(d) 

 
Charter Section C8.105(d) prohibits City officers and 
employees from disclosing any privileged information 
concerning property, government, or affairs of the City and 
County unless a duty to do so is imposed upon that person by 
law. Officers and employees are also prohibited from using any 
privileged information obtained by virtue of their office or 
employment to advance their financial or other private 
interests. 

 
 

VI. Accepting Personal or Campaign Advantages  
by Public Officials 

 
Government
al Conduct 
Code 
Section 
3.700, et 
seq. (Prop. 
J). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
City officials who exercise the discretion to approve public 
benefits are prohibited from accepting personal or campaign 
advantages from public benefit recipients under the S.F. 
Campaign and Governmental Conduct Code Section 3.700, et 
seq. (Prop. J). This prohibition is in place from the date the 
official approves or votes to approve the public benefit until: (1) 
two years after the expiration of the term of office that the 
official is serving at the time he or she approves the public 
benefit; (2) two years after the official’s departure from office 
whether or not there is a pre-established term of office; or (3) 
six years from the date the official approves or votes to 
approve the public benefit, whichever is first. A “city official” 
includes elective City officers, the Controller, the City 
Administrator, appointed members of boards and 
commissions, department heads serving under City boards or 
commissions, and department heads serving under the Mayor. 
 
For more information about Government Code Section 3.700 
please refer to “An Overview of the Laws Governing the 
Conduct of Public Officials,” (May 25, 2001) developed by the 
City Attorney’s Office. For a copy of the overview or if you have 

http://www.sfgov.org/dbi


Department of Building Inspection – 49 South Van Ness Avenue – San Francisco, CA  94103  Information (628) 652-3200 Fax (628) 652-3239 www.sfgov.org/dbi Page 25 

questions call the City Attorney’s Office at (415) 554-4700. 
 
 

VII. Solicitation or Receipt of Contributions by Appointed Officials 
 
Government 
Code 
Section 
84308 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 

 

 
Government Code Section 84308 prohibits appointed officials 
from soliciting or receiving campaign contributions from parties, 
participants, or their agents in proceedings involving licenses, 
permits, or other entitlements for use. The law requires an 
appointed official's disqualification in such proceedings if the 
official has received campaign contributions of more than $250 
from a party or participant within the 12 months preceding the 
decision. In addition, Section 84308 prohibits solicitation or 
receipt of campaign contributions in excess of $250 during 
such proceedings, or for 90 days after the decision, from 
parties, participants or their agents. Finally, Section 84308 
requires the disclosure of all such campaign contributions.  

 
For definitions of terms and answers to commonly asked 
questions, please refer to the San Francisco Ethics 
Commission’s “Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.”   
 
Inquiries about the application Government Section 84308 
should be addressed to the San Francisco City Attorney's 
Office at (415) 554-4700, or to the California Fair Political 
Practices Commission at 1-866-275-3772. 
 
 

VIII. Political Activity 
 
Penal Code, 
Government 
Code, and 
San 
Francisco 
Campaign 
and 
Government 
Conduct 
Code 
 
 

 
Local officers and employees may not use public resources to 
engage in political activity. Stanson v. Mott (1970) 17 Cal.3d 
206; Cal. Penal Code Section 424. In addition, officers and 
employees may not directly or indirectly solicit funds from other 
officers or employees of the local agency or from persons on 
employment lists of the local agency, unless the solicitation is 
part of a solicitation made to a significant segment of the public 
that may include officers or employees of the agency. 
Government Code Section 3205 SFCGC Code § 3.400(a). 
Officers and employees may not participate in political 
activities of any kind while in uniform. Government Code 
Section 3206 SFCGC Code § 3.400(a). Also, officers and 
employees may not engage in political activity during working 
hours or on City premises. San Francisco Campaign and 
Government Conduct Code Section 3.400(c).  
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For more information, please refer to the City Attorney’s 
memorandum, “Political Activities by City Officers and 
Employees,” dated September 13, 2001. A copy of the 
memorandum can be obtained at the DBI Administrative 
Office, 49 South Van Ness Avenue, Suite 500. You can also 
call the City Attorney’s Office at (415) 554-4700. 
 
 

IX. Prohibition on Compensation for City Services 
 
Charter 
Section 
C8.105(f) 
 

 
 
 

 

 
Charter Section C8.105(f) prohibits City officers and 
employees from receiving directly or indirectly any 
compensation, reward, or gift from any source (except the City 
and County or any other government agency to which he or 
she has been duly appointed) for any service, advice, 
assistance or other matter related to the governmental 
processes of the City and County. 
 
For the full text of Charter Section C8.105 please refer to the 
City and County of San Francisco 1996 Charter Appendix C. 
Section C8.105 begins on page 138.  
 
The Charter can also be accessed at the following website: 
http://www.amlegal.com/sanfrancharter/lpext.dll?f=templates&f
n=main-j.htm&2.0. 
 
 

X. Limits and Reporting Requirements for Gifts, Honoraria, 
Travel, and Loans 

 
Government 
Code Section 
81000-91014 
(The Act) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Political Reform Act imposes limits on gifts and prohibits 
honoraria payments received by public officials, including 
"designated" employees (i.e., individuals required to file 
statement of economic interests [SEIs] under San Francisco's 
Conflict of Interest Code).  
 
Designated employees may not accept gifts from any single 
source totaling more than $420 in a calendar year if they are 
required to report income or gifts received from that source on 
their SEIs. 
 
A gift is any payment or other benefit provided to you that 
confers a personal benefit for which you do not provide goods 
or services of equal or greater value. A gift includes a rebate or 
discount in the price of anything of value unless the rebate or 
discount is made in the regular course of business to members 
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of the public. 
 

For more information concerning gifts and 
honoraria and for a discussion of travel and loans 

please refer to the San Francisco Ethics 
Commission  

“Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.”  
 
If you have questions the City Attorney’s Office is available to help. 
Contact Deputy City Attorneys Jon Giver (415) 554-4694, or Andrew 
Shen (415) 554-4780 for legal assistance, or the Fair Political 
Practices Commission at (916) 322-5660. 
 
 

XI. Statements of Economic Interest (Form 700) 
 
Government 
Code Section 
81000-91014 
(The Act) 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 
The Political Reform Act requires many tens of thousands of 
state and local public officials and employees to disclose 
certain personal financial holdings. In addition, as discussed 
above, the Act requires government officials and employees to 
disqualify themselves from participating in decisions which may 
affect their personal financial interests. The Act began as a 
ballot initiative approved by over 70 percent of California voters 
in the wake of the Watergate political scandals. 
 
DBI employees who are required to file statements of 
economic interest (SEIs or Form 700s) are identified in San 
Francisco’s Campaign and Government Conduct Code. 
Individuals who hold positions listed in these sections are 
called designated employees. To find out if you are a DBI 
designated employee call the DBI Administrative Office (628) 
652-3500 or visit the office at 49 South Van Ness Avenue, 
Suite 500. 
 
For more information about SEIs and instructions 
on how to fill out the form, please refer to the San 

Francisco Ethics Commission’s 
 “Manual on Governmental Ethics Laws.”  

 
The Ethics Commission also provides assistance in completing 
the forms. You can reach the Commission at (415) 252-3100. 
In addition, you may also call Deputy City Attorneys Jon 
Givner (415) 554-4694, or Andrew Shen (415) 554-4780. 
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XII. Valuing Diversity in the Workplace 
 
Rule 
103.1.8, Civil 
Service 
Commission 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 

Rule 
103.1.5, Civil 
Service 
Commission 
 

 
 

 
Respect for All Persons Policy: It is the policy of the City and 
County of San Francisco that each official, employee, and agent in 
official capacity, will treat all persons equally and respectfully, and 
will refrain from the willful or negligent use of slurs against any 
person on the basis of race, color, sex, sexual orientation, age, 
religion, national origin, ancestry, disability, or other protected status.  
 
For more information, please refer to your City and County of San 
Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee Handbook.  
You can also access Rule 103 by visiting the following website: 
http://www.sfgov.org/civil_service/rules/miscr103.htm.  
 
 
Language Diversity Policy: It is the policy of the Civil Service 
Commission that an employee's use of a language other than 
English is not only an asset in the provision of public services 
but, with few exceptions, such as business necessity, is a 
legally protected right. 
 
For more information please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 
Handbook. 
 
 

 
 
Sec. 16.9-25 
San 
Francisco 
Administrati
ve Code 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Sexual Harassment Policy: It is the policy of the City and 
County of San Francisco that, in accord with State and federal 
laws, each City employee has the right to work in an 
environment free of discrimination, including sexual 
harassment, and that sexual harassment is unacceptable and 
will not be tolerated in the workplace. The City and County of 
San Francisco will take all reasonable steps within its control to 
provide a workplace in which all individuals are treated with 
respect and dignity. Sexual harassment of a City official or 
employee is, in accord with State and federal laws, strictly 
prohibited by another City official or employee. It is further the 
policy of the City and County of San Francisco to take 
reasonable steps, in accord with State and federal laws, to 
provide its employees with a workplace free of sexual 
harassment by non-employees, including, but not limited to: 
contractors and subcontractors of the City and County of San 
Francisco, clients, volunteers, interns, and members of the 
general public. 
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For more information, please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 
Handbook.  
 
For the full text of the City’s Sexual Harassment policy visit the 
following website:  
http://www.amlegal.com/sanfranadmin/lpext.dll?f=templates&fn
=main-j.htm&2.0 
 

 
 
Civil Service 
Commission 
Policy 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Prohibiting Violence in the Workplace Policy: It is the policy of 
the City and County of San Francisco to require employees to treat 
co-workers and members of the public with courtesy and respect.  
 
The City and County of San Francisco will not tolerate any assaults, 
battery or threats or acts of violence by employees in the workplace. 
Employees are also prohibited from bringing weapons to the job, 
unless required by the City and County department in the 
performance of the employee’s official duties. Weapons include, but 
are not limited to, firearms, knives or weapons defined in California 
Penal Code Section 12020. Failure to comply with this policy may 
result in employee discipline up to and including termination.  
 
For more information, please see your DBI Employee Handbook, 
City and County of San Francisco Employee Handbook or 
Workplace Violence Guidelines developed by the Department of 
Human Resources and the Office of the City Attorney, February 
1998. 
 

 
Rule 103.1.1 
Civil Service 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Equal Employment Opportunity Policy: It is the policy of the 
Civil Service Commission of the City and County of San 
Francisco that all persons shall have equal opportunity in 
employment; that selection of employees to positions in the 
City and County be made on the basis of merit; and that 
continuing programs be maintained to afford equal 
opportunities to women and minority persons to achieve 
meaningful employment at all levels. Vigorous enforcement of 
the laws against discrimination shall be carried out at every 
level of each department. All persons shall have equal access 
to employment within the City and County, limited only by their 
ability to do the job. 
 
For more information, please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 
Handbook.  
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You can also access Rule 103 by visiting the following website: 
http://www.sfgov.org/civil_service/rules/miscr103.htm.  
 
 
XIII. Employee Obligations 

 

(DHR 642 
08/01) 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy: The City and 
County of San Francisco is committed to providing a safe and 
healthy workplace for all employees. Use of illegal drugs or 
alcohol, or being under their influence, jeopardizes the welfare 
and safety of employees, visitors and the public, and 
diminishes the productivity, efficiency and effectiveness of the 
City’s workers. 
 
Compliance with this Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy 
is mandatory. Any employee who violates this Policy will be 
subject to discipline up to and including termination and/or will 
be required to complete a drug or alcohol abuse education 
treatment or rehabilitation program. 
 
The following conduct is prohibited during work hours, in 
a City vehicle, or while conducting City business, whether 

on or off City property: 
 

(1) Unauthorized manufacture, distribution, purchase, 
possession, or use of a controlled substance; 

(2) Consumption of alcohol, except when expressly 
authorized by the appointing authority as part of a 
work-related social function and where there will be no 
impairment to services provided to the public; and 

(3) Reporting to work or remaining at work while under 
the influence of alcohol or an illegal drug. 

 
Any employee who is arrested for violating any criminal drug or 
alcohol statute during working hours, in a City vehicle, or while 
conducting City business, whether on or off City property, must 
notify the appointing authority within five days of the arrest in 
order that the department may conduct an appropriate 
investigation. 
 
Employees in safety-sensitive positions must submit to random 
drug tests as required by federal law. Contract your 
department’s human resources or personnel representative for 
information about the regulations for random drug testing for 
persons identified as safety-sensitive. 
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Employees may use legally-prescribed medications in the 
manner instructed by their health care provider, as long as 
using the medication does not interfere with performance of the 
essential functions of the employee’s job or pose a risk to the 
safety of others. Where appropriate, reasonable 
accommodation will be discussed with employees whose 
ability to perform essential job functions is affected by 
prescription medication. 
 
Information, counseling and referrals for drug and alcohol 
treatment programs are available from the Department of 
Public Health Employee Assistance Program, the Department 
of Human Resources, or your department’s human resource or 
personnel representative. 
 
 

Computers 
and Data 
Information 
Systems 
 

 

Computers and Data Information Systems: City and County 
employees with access to computer files and records may not 
release or disseminate information to others without 
authorization. The release or dissemination of such material 
may constitute an invasion of privacy, and may be grounds for 
disciplinary action and termination. 
 
For more information please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 
Handbook. 
 
 

 
Use of City 
and County 
Property for 
Business 
Purposes 
Only 

 

 
Use of City and County Property for Business Purposes 
Only: All City and County equipment, devices and materials 
(e.g. photocopier, telephones, computers, facsimile machines, 
stationery, etc.) must be used only for conducting City and 
County business. Use of City and County property for personal 
or private purposes, or employee organization business, is 
strictly prohibited. 
 
For more information please refer to your City and County of 
San Francisco Employee Handbook or your DBI Employee 
Handbook. 
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The Policies section is not intended to be a complete presentation or 

interpretation of all policies and law regulating the conduct of City 
employees.  

For further assistance contact the  
Personnel Division of DBI 

Human Resources Development 
the City Attorney’s Office 

the Employee Assistance Program 
the Ethics Commission 

 Your Bargaining Unit Representative.  
 

See the Resources Section of this Handbook for contact information. 
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What is corruption? 
In general terms, corruption consists of engaging a job-related immoral or dishonest behavior.  
Corruption includes receiving a benefit to which you are not entitled, including a gift or 
compensation from a private person for either doing you job or deviating from your job.  
Engaging in a corrupt activity can lead to disciplinary action and criminal prosecution. 
 
What is an unlawful gratuity? 
An unlawful gratuity is the receipt of a benefit for having performed your official duties.  For 
example, an unlawful gratuity has been offered when someone tells you to “keep the change”.  
Even if you didn’t do anything out of the ordinary, “keeping the change” would be unlawful and, if 
discovered, would lead to disciplinary action and, potentially, criminal prosecution.  You cannot 
accept the offer and you have a duty to immediately report the offer to your supervisor. 
 
What is a bribe? 
A bribe is something that is offered or given to a person in a position of trust in order to influence 
that person’s conduct.  Asking for a bribe, or agreeing to accept a bribe if offered, will lead to 
disciplinary action and, potentially, criminal prosecution even if you don’t accept the bribe.  You 
have a duty to immediately report the bribe to your supervisor. 
 
What if someone offers me something as simple as a cup of coffee?  Can I take that? 
The department’s position on the acceptance of gifts is spelled out in the Statement of 
Incompatible Activities.  Simply put, while management discourages employees from accepting 
gifts from customers, expediters, contractors, etc. we recognize that there may be occasions 
when gifts are routinely exchanged.  So long as gifts are within the legal limits prescribed by the 
Statement of Incompatible Activities and existing city and state regulations and PROPERLY 
REPORTED, there is not a complete prohibition on the acceptance of gifts.  Something as 
simple as a cup of coffee may be accepted.  
  
What should I do if I see another employee engaging in corrupt activity? 
As an employee of the City and County of San Francisco and the Department of Building 
Inspection, you have a duty to report any corruption to your supervisor or a higher-level 
manager.  Failure to report the activity immediately may result in disciplinary action. 
 
If I have seen someone segregating application files or putting a special mark on them, 
and then notice that those applicants get their permits approved much more quickly, 
what should I do? 
Applicants are supposed to be treated impartially.  You have a duty to report this kind of activity 
to your supervisor or a higher-level manager.  Even if the employee is not receiving any kind of 
benefit from the activity, it is improper for him or her to treat one set of clients differently than any 
other set of clients. 
 
What do I do if I’m offered a bribe? 
Immediately report the offer to your supervisor or higher-level manager.  Do not, under any 
circumstances, accept the money or gift that’s offered. 
 

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 
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Can I use my City phone, City cell phone or City fax to contact family members or a 
doctor? 
You may use these items on a very limited basis.  If you use your cell phone for personal use, or 
if you make a long distance call on your City phone, you are required to pay the costs 
associated with such usage.  Under no circumstances, however, are you allowed to use your 
City phone, cell phone, City fax, City computers or any other City equipment or supplies for 
political purposes, or for any other personal business other than those rare circumstances when 
you need to contact family or friends.  This is consistent with the Statement of Incompatible 
Activities. 
 
What should I do if I think a co-worker is running a business during working hours and/or 
using City resources for this business? 
Any misconduct by an employee or member of the public doing business with the department 
should be immediately reported to your supervisor or a higher-level manager.  Having a 
personal business may not be improper.  However, conducting personal business during 
working hours is most certainly improper. 
 
I was thinking of teaching a class at a local community college.  Do I need to do anything 
to make sure my activities are all right? 
You must get departmental approval for any kind of outside employment. 
 
I am a clerk in the Electrical Division and a plumbing company wants to know if I can 
perform some clerical work for them on weekends.  Is this allowed? 
No.  You cannot work in any construction trade, irrespective of the type of position, the 
responsibilities or the type of trade. 
 
May I use my City-owned vehicle to drop my child off at school? 
No.  Non-City employees are not allowed to travel in City-owned vehicles. 
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SAN FRANCISCO RESOURCES 
 

 
San Francisco Department of Building Inspection 
Administrative Office 
49 South Van Ness Avenue, Suite 500 
San Francisco, CA 94103 
(628) 652-3500 
(628) 652-6509 (fax) 
www.sfgov.org/dbi 
 

 

San Francisco District Attorney’s Office 
880 Bryant Street 
San Francisco, CA 94103  
(415) 553-1752 
www.sfdistrictattorney.org  
 

 

San Francisco Department of Human Resources 
One South Van Ness Avenue  
San Francisco, CA 94103 
(415) 557-4963 
415 557-4870 (fax) 
www.sfgov.org/dhr 
 

 

San Francisco Ethics Commission 
25 Van Ness Avenue, Suite 220 
San Francisco, CA 94102 
(415) 252-3100 
(415) 252-3112 (fax) 
www.sfgov.org/ethics 
 
 
 

Call the Ethics Commission or visit its 
website to obtain the following information: 
 Whistleblower Ordinance and Hotline 
 A copy of “The San Francisco Ethics 

Commission Manual on Governmental 
Ethics Laws: A Guide to State and Local 
Laws Governing the Conduct of Public 
Officials and Employees.” 

 Complaint Form and Instructions 
 Database of Statements of Economic 

Interests 
 Advice Letters Issued by Ethics 

Commission 
 Lists of Registered Lobbyists, 

Employees of Lobbyists, Clients of 
Lobbyists 
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San Francisco City Attorney’s Office 
City Hall, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place 
San Francisco, CA 94102-4682 
(415) 554-4700 
(415) 554-4745 (fax) 
www.sfgov.org/cityattorney  
 

Call the City Attorney’s Office to obtain the 
following: 
 A copy of “An Overview of the Laws 

Governing the Conduct of Pubic Officials 
(May 25, 2001). 

 Technical assistance for completing 
financial disclosure forms. 

 Assistance with interpreting local and 
state laws. 

 To report a whistleblower complaint. 
 

 
San Francisco Controller's Office 
City Hall, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place 
San Francisco, CA 94102-4694 
(415) 554-7500 
(415) 554-7466 (fax) 
www.sfgov.org/controller  

 
Call the Controller's Office to obtain the 
following information: 
 A copy of the “Whistleblower 

Information” pamphlet. 
 To report a whistleblower complaint that 

involves financial issues. 
 
 
 

                                                                
 
 
 
                                                                  

http://www.sfgov.org/dbi
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CALIFORNIA STATE RESOURCES 

 
 
California Fair Political Practice Commission 
428 J Street, Suite 620 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
(Toll Free) 1-866-ASK-FPPC (866-275-3772) 
(916) 322-5666 
www.fppc.ca.gov 
 

 
The FPPC's website includes the following: 
 Advice about the Political Reform Act of 

1974.  
 Technical assistance for completing 

financial disclosure forms.  
 To report allegations about violations of 

state campaign finance, ethics, and 
lobbying laws.  

 Information about state campaign 
finance, lobbying and ethics laws. 

 
 

California Office of the Attorney General 
1300 I Street, Suite 1740 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
(800) 952-5225 
(916) 323-5341 (fax) 
www.caag.state.ca.us 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Attorney General's website includes the 
following: 
 How to avoid conflicts of interest when 

acting on government contracts 
(California Government Code Section 
1090) 
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Adversely affect – Interfere with normal performance of duties. 

Benefit – Refers to an advantage, favor, exemption or anything of value.  

California Political Reform Act – The Political Reform Act of 1974 (Government Code 
Sections 81000-91014) requires many state and local public officials and employees to 
disclose certain personal financial holdings. The Act also requires government officials 
and employees to disqualify themselves from participating in decisions which may affect 
their personal financial interests.  The Act requires state and local governments to adopt 
and implement a separate conflict of interest code.  The Act, which frequently has been 
amended, began as a ballot initiative approved by over 70 percent of California voters in 
the wake of the Watergate political scandals. 

Charter of the City & County of San Francisco – The Charter is the basic document 
that describes the way that City government operates and provides services to its 
residents. The Charter outlines the powers and duties of all elected officials as well as 
those of City agencies and administrative offices.  

Code – A set of behaviors agreed to by all members of a group. 

Consistency – Uniformity of practice, explanation or conduct; applying codes, 
regulations and requirements in the same way in each instance. 

Ethics – A set of personal moral rules based on an individual’s beliefs, moral or 
religious training, and values; principles of right and wrong behavior. Ethics are brought 
to the workplace by each individual, not set by the employer. 

Fairness – Treating all persons equally; being objective and impartial. 

Gift – Any payment or other benefit provided to you that confers a personal benefit for 
which you do not provide goods or services of equal or greater value. (Government 
Code Section 82028) An item of monetary value, loan, favor, reward, entertainment, or 
meal. 

Honesty – Being truthful; presenting information accurately. 

Impair – Weaken, damage or reduce; make less effective. 

Integrity – Adherence to high moral and ethical principles; a strong sense of honesty; 
trustworthiness; doing the right thing because it is the right thing. 

Municipal Codes – The San Francisco Municipal Code is a classified compilation of the 
general and permanent ordinances of the City of San Francisco. It includes the Charter 
of the City & County of San Francisco as well as the Administrative Code, Business & 
Tax Regulation Code, Campaign and Governmental Conduct Code, Elections Code, 
Fire Code, Health Code, Park Code, Planning Code, Police code, Port Code, Public 
Works Code, Subdivision Code, Traffic Code and Zoning Maps. The Building, Electrical, 

DEFINITIONS  
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Housing, Mechanical and Plumbing Codes are also part of the overall San Francisco 
Municipal Codes. 

Neutrality – Not expressing an opinion or taking actions that support either side in a 
situation or disagreement.  

Preferential – Advantage, favor, special treatment or priority given to one individual or 
group over another. 

Professional Conduct – Values commonly accepted to be desirable in every workplace 
for every employee (i.e. Service, Fairness, Integrity, Honesty, Consistency, 
Professionalism). 

Professional Standards – A set of agreed-upon behaviors that encourage, support and 
foster professional conduct. 

Professionalism – Professionalism is the combination of all the characteristics that are 
connected with trained and skilled people; the quality of the work one does; the attitude, 
methods, or standards of a professional. 

Public trust – The public’s confidence in the department’s ability to serve them in 
accordance with regulatory codes and other law, City policies and generally accepted 
standards of professionalism. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Reference to full text. 

 Reference to website. 

 Reference to telephone number. 

 

SYMBOLS USED IN POLICIES SECTION 

http://www.sfgov.org/dbi
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THE CIVIL GRAND JURY 
 

     
   The Civil Grand Jury is a government oversight panel of volunteers who serve for one year. 

It makes findings and recommendations resulting from its investigations. 
 

Reports of the Civil Grand Jury do not identify individuals by name. 
Disclosure of information about individuals interviewed by the jury is prohibited. 

California Penal Code, section 929 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

STATE LAW REQUIREMENT 
California Penal Code, section 933.05 

 
 
 Each published report includes a list of those public entities that are required to respond to the  
Presiding Judge of the Superior Court within 60 to 90 days, as specified. 
  
A copy must be sent to the Board of Supervisors. All responses are made available to the public. 

 
 For each finding the response must: 

1) agree with the finding, or 
2) disagree with it, wholly or partially, and explain why. 

 
 As to each recommendation the responding party must report that: 

1) the recommendation has been implemented, with a summary explanation; or 
2) the recommendation has not been implemented but will be within a set timeframe  

as provided; or 
3) the recommendation requires further analysis. The officer or agency head must 

define what additional study is needed. The Grand Jury expects a progress 
report within six months; or 

4) the recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or 
reasonable, with an explanation. 
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Issue 
 
 
As San Francisco experiences a surge of growth, the Department of Building Inspection 
(DBI) must emerge from an era of revolving leadership, thwarted efforts at reform, 
funding deficiencies, staff layoffs, and apparent general resistance to change. 
Construction in San Francisco has rebounded dramatically from the 2007-09 recession, 
and the DBI is expected to report an operating surplus of about $37 million for the fiscal 
years 2009 through 2013. The Mayor, Board of Supervisors, and Building Inspection 
Commission currently have the funds available to remedy many of DBI’s problems.  
 
In this report, the 2012-13 Civil Grand Jury identifies major operational challenges that 
currently exist within DBI and opportunities for transparency and transformation. 
 

Summary 
 
In a dynamic building environment, the City of San Francisco needs a Department of 
Building Inspection (DBI) that provides transparent, consistent, efficient, and equitable 
services. The Department has experienced a good deal of turmoil and turnover in 
leadership in recent years that hampers its operations. City officials and the media have 
called it “dysfunctional,” “inefficient,” and “a mess.”  
 
The 2012-13 Civil Grand Jury investigation addressed these aspects of DBI:  

• Departmental reform: the need for stable and independent leadership, strategic 
planning, and cultural change, including examination of DBI’s ethical standards 

• Code enforcement: lax enforcement as a consequence of the Department’s 
current procedures 

• The role of technology: the potential for new technology to transform the 
Department and the current under-investment in technology 
 

Our focus on departmental reform includes the fundamental issue of leadership, including 
the Mayor’s Office, which appoints a majority of the Building Inspection Commission 
(BIC); BIC itself, which appoints the director of DBI and establishes departmental 
policy; the DBI Director; and the different department heads who manage DBI’s 
operations. 
 
Our investigation of code enforcement was driven by reports that some code enforcement 
processes are given low priority, are in need of updating and technical innovation, and do 
a disservice to vulnerable residents in the City.  
 
The implementation of new technology provides the opportunity to address many issues 
and will succeed if leadership at all levels fully embraces business process change and the 
implementation of new tools. 
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Based on its investigation, the Jury makes the following recommendations in three 
categories: 
 
Departmental Reform 
1.1 The DBI management should retain a consultant to update the 2007 Business Process 

Reengineering Report (BPR) findings and recommendations and present the findings 
to BIC and the DBI Director. 
 

1.2 The BIC and DBI Director should develop a detailed action plan with firm due dates 
for implementing BPR recommendations that the consultant identifies as not 
completed.   

 
2.1 The DBI management should update departmental policies and procedures.   

 
2.2 The DBI should make all policies and procedures easily accessible online internally 

and, where appropriate, externally. 
 

3.1 The DBI should assess staff needs for leadership and communication training and 
develop plans to strengthen areas of weakness. 
 

3.2 The DBI should assess technical skill deficiencies in the DBI staff and develop 
training plans to strengthen these areas.  

 
3.3 The DBI should cross-train specific staff members to allow the Department to better 

respond to fluctuating workloads. 
 
4.1 The DBI Director should conduct an ethical climate survey and use the results to 

identify areas where improved communication of ethical standards and monitoring of 
employee behavior are needed. 

 
5.1 The Board of Supervisors should hold a hearing within six months of the release of 

this report by the 2012-13 Jury to see if BIC has taken action on the issues raised. 
 

Code Enforcement 
6.1 The DBI should establish performance standards for resolving code violations within 

designated time frames (for example, closing 75 percent of Notices of Violation 
within six months and 95 percent within 12 months of when they are issued). The 
performance standards should be reviewed and approved by BIC in public session.  
 

6.2 The DBI should develop monthly management reports for BIC that monitor the 
Department’s performance against BIC-approved performance standards for 
resolving building code violations. 
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7.1 The DBI should review and expand its criteria for using the Building Code’s 
Demolition and Repair Fund to achieve actual abatement of unsafe building 
conditions. 
 

7.2 The Abatement Appeals Board should abide by the Building Code’s limits on 
continuances during the Notice of Violation (NOV) process. 

 
7.3 The Board of Supervisors should review the administrative procedures in the 

Building Code and consider enacting a process that provides for stronger penalties at 
the administrative level.  

 
8.1 All DBI enforcement units should use the monetary tools in the Building Code to 

encourage abatement and to fund enforcement operations. 
 

Role of Technology  
9.1 The DBI should ensure that management has clearly defined the business rules and 

workflow processes for the new Accela system.  
 

9.2 The DBI “subject matter experts” assigned to the Accela implementation team should 
be given adequate time to respond to consultant questions not addressed by 
department documentation and to fully assist in system acceptance testing prior to 
going live. 

 
10.1The DBI should conduct a methodical review of all major business processes to 

ensure that they are designed to achieve the department objectives and that they 
include time or due date criteria that can be monitored by information systems. 
 

11.1The DBI should ensure that all field inspectors and supervisors are fully trained and 
supported in both the use of the mobile equipment and the mobile Accela application 
being implemented as part of the Permit and Project Tracking System. 

 

Background 
 

1. The Department of Building Inspection 

a. Basic Facts and Figures 
 
In fiscal year (FY) 2011-12: 
 

• The Department of Building Inspection (DBI) issued 55,442 permits, 
collecting $55,657,075 in total revenues, and performed 125,243 inspections.1 

 
• The Building, Electrical, and Plumbing Inspection divisions performed 49,311 

inspections. They issued 863 Notices of Violation (NOVs) and two 
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Emergency Orders, achieved abatement of 814 violations, and referred 358 
cases to the Code Enforcement Section.2 
 

• The Code Enforcement Section received 1,202 complaints, scheduled 705 for 
a Director’s Hearing, and abated 1970 cases, referring six to the City 
Attorney’s Office (CAO).3     
 

• Housing Inspection Services (HIS), which is responsible for 20,194 buildings 
comprising 188,716 units, performed 11,142 inspections and abated 3,711 
complaints.4       

b. The Evolution and Mandate of the Department 
 
The DBI is mandated to ensure the safe construction, renovation, and maintenance of 
homes and buildings. San Francisco’s Planning Department is responsible for land use 
policy and planning codes. Prior to 1994 the Bureau of Building Inspection, under the 
Department of Public Works, handled building inspection. In November of that year, 
tenant advocacy groups dissatisfied with BBI enforcement of housing codes joined with 
the powerful Residential Builders Association to place an amendment to the City Charter 
on the ballot. Proposition G was passed by voters, creating DBI and the Building 
Inspection Commission (BIC). 5 

 
The seven-member BIC is empowered to “organize, reorganize and manage the 
Department of Building Inspection.” Four members are appointed by the Mayor and three 
by the Board of Supervisors.  
 
The stated mission of DBI is: 
 

Under the direction and management of the seven-member citizen Building 
Inspection Commission, to oversee the effective, efficient, fair and safe 
enforcement of the City and County of San Francisco's Building, Housing, 
Electrical, Mechanical, Plumbing and Disability Access Codes.  

 
The BIC appoints the Director of the Department and approves the budget. DBI is an 
“enterprise” department that generates its own revenue from permit and inspection fees, 
penalties, and fines and does not receive money from the General Fund. The Department 
does not, however, operate on a pure “profit and loss” basis. It has a limited ability to 
hold funds in reserve and must maintain a balanced budget. Because many larger projects 
may take several years to complete, funds are put in reserve for work done after the 
current fiscal year. During the 2007-09 economic downturn, revenues and permit 
applications decreased to the point where staff layoffs were mandated, leaving the 
department with a smaller complement and fewer experienced employees to handle the 
current upswing.  
 
The DBI has a troubled history, including two FBI investigations in 2006 and a high rate 
of turnover in the director position. Since 2005, DBI has had five directors, none of 
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whom has served for more than a few years. There has been an acting director since July 
of 2012, and BIC’s process for hiring a permanent director has been protracted. 

c. The Organization of DBI 
 
The DBI is organized into these divisions:6 

• Permit Services 
o Plan Review performs the intake, routing, and review of submitted plans 

prior to the issuance of permits. 
o Permit Submittal and Issuance performs the intake of permits not requiring 

plan review and the issuance of all permits.      
• Inspection Services 

o The Building, Electrical, and Plumbing Inspection divisions perform 
inspection of previously permitted work. Inspectors may note non-
permitted work in the course of their duties. They also inspect premises 
based on citizen complaints about homes with non-permitted work and 
improper construction. They issue NOVs for non-permitted work and/or 
work not in compliance with the building codes. 

o Code Compliance (Code Enforcement) inspectors follow up on NOVs 
issued by the Building, Electrical, and Plumbing Inspection divisions and 
compel property owners to correct code violations. 

o Housing Inspection Services performs the inspection of built housing for 
compliance with the Housing Code, including both periodic routine 
inspections and those arising from citizen complaints. HIS issues NOVs 
and follows them through to abatement. 

• Administrative Services handles records, payroll, and financial services. 
• Management Information Services is charged with the implementation and 

management of the Department’s information technology. 

d. The Ethical Environment 
 
The DBI was the subject of documented ethical issues over many years: 
 
• 2001 - The City Controller issued an audit that found a culture of real and perceived 

preferential treatment at DBI.7  
• 2003 – A 2002-03 Civil Grand Jury report found that some customers of DBI were 

receiving preferential treatment and recommended reforms.8 
• 2003 - A DBI information systems manager pled guilty for defrauding DBI and 

accepting $500,000 in kickbacks.9 
• 2004 - Mayor Newsom appointed an investigator to monitor allegations of favoritism 

at DBI.10     
• 2006 - An FBI investigation at DBI resulted in the indictment of the DBI manager 

who headed the one-stop permit section. He was accused of perjury and of accepting 
bribes in exchange for favorable treatment of permit applicants.11 In 2008 a jury 
acquitted him on four charges and deadlocked on 29 other charges.12  
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• 2006 - A senior building inspector was investigated by the FBI after he purchased a 
distressed property that had been the subject of a DBI abatement order.13  

• 2007 - The City Controller investigated this situation and recommended that the DBI 
adopt rules restricting such purchases in the future.14  

• 2010 - A former plan checker who became a permit expediter was criminally 
prosecuted and sued for damages by the City Attorney after he faked documentation 
for a large number of projects submitted to the permit process.15 
 

The DBI always has been subject to the ethics rules and regulations that apply to City 
employees.16 In 2005 DBI began to take formal steps to strengthen its ethics rules and 
regulations by implementing a new Permit Processing Code of Conduct that was adopted 
by the Ethics Commission. 17 A Statement of Incompatible Activities was issued in 
2008.18 Most significant is the 40-page revised Code of Professional Conduct (CPC) 
applying to all DBI employees, issued in 2009.19 This document is comprehensive and 
provides many useful examples of unacceptable conduct. Despite these changes, there is 
a common public perception of a lack of ethical behavior within the department. 

e. Employee Ethics Compliance Process 
 
The DBI’s ethics guidance and compliance process is unfocused and could lead to the 
inconsistent application of ethical standards. There is no specific point person for getting 
answers to ethics questions. Its internal ethics regulations advise non-supervisory 
employees to go to their supervisors with ethics questions. Supervisors and managers can 
obtain ethics advice through their immediate superior, the Personnel and Payroll Manager, 
the Director, the Ethics Commission or the City Attorney. In Jury interviews with DBI 
management and supervisory staff, we heard that there are procedures that are unwritten 
but generally understood.20 There is no one place on the DBI web page or in a manual 
where all of the ethics rules applying to DBI employees are stated. 
 
DBI employees, like all City employees, are required to take ethics training when hired 
and every two years thereafter. All DBI employees are required to submit an annual Form 
700 (financial disclosure) and a certification statement that they have taken Sunshine Act 
training annually and ethics training at least every two years. 
 

2. The City’s Current Building Environment 
 
After a decline in building construction, there is currently an almost unprecedented 
building boom in the City.21 One hundred and forty buildings around the City, including 
26 high-rises, currently are adding 4,000 housing units and 1.5 million square feet of 
office space. Huge projects are underway, such as the new Transbay Terminal, the 
Mission Bay development, and new hospital buildings. Developers have applied to 
construct another 40,000 housing units over the coming years. After many projects were 
shelved during the recession, “shovel ready projects have been breaking ground virtually 
overnight.”22  
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A respected economist in the City told the Jury that, in 2012, building and remodeling 
activity contributed roughly $5 billion to the San Francisco economy and generated over 
14,000 construction jobs. In addition, almost 7,000 jobs for architects, engineers, and 
support industries were created.  
 
However, the same economist stated that inefficiencies and service backlogs at DBI and 
the Planning Department which inhibit or delay housing and commercial construction 
cause an increase in building costs that ultimately drives up commercial and residential 
rents, making the City less competitive. According to the S.F. Controller’s Government 
Barometer Report23 issued in February of 2013, the percentage of all building permits 
involving new construction and major alterations that are approved or disapproved within 
90 days of submission declined from 66 percent in the prior quarter to 55 percent, with a 
downward trend line over both the short- and long-term. 
 
Our report keys off the excellent work done for the 2007 Business Process Reengineering 
Report (BPR),24 which addresses DBI’s weaknesses and need for a strategic plan, 
improved procedures, and better use of technology.   
 
Many individuals we interviewed pointed out that the performance of the Department is 
improving and we hope, with this report, to contribute to that positive momentum.  
 
 

Investigation 
 
The Jury initiated this investigation because of complaints we heard about the 
Department of Building Inspection, as well as the Planning Department, from a number 
of sources. Building Inspection is perceived as taking too long to deliver services, being 
retaliatory, providing preferential treatment to certain users, being inconsistent in its 
interpretation of building and housing codes and being dysfunctional in general. There 
were some people who declined to be interviewed, expressing a fear of retaliation, even 
though Grand Jury interviews are confidential. 
 

1. Departmental Reform 

a. Management Challenges 
 

Much of the perception about the Department of Building Inspection (DBI) is based on 
departmental inefficiencies and deficiencies that worsened during the recession when the 
Department laid off about 100 people, more than 25 percent of its work force, and there 
were delays in rehiring to meet the recent high demand for services. 

 
Organizations with demands like those facing DBI require management that initiates and 
supports the development of business management plans and systems that enable the 
organization to be accountable for its mission. A previous Jury, the Controller, the San 
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Francisco Planning and Urban Research Association (SPUR), and the BPR report all 
have noted that DBI lacks a strategic plan which would set priorities, focus energy and 
resources, ensure that employees are working toward common goals, and adjust 
operations in response to a changing environment.25  
 
The DBI has had a revolving door of directors, with five in the past seven years and, as of 
our report, an acting director for a year. Such turnover in the director’s position and the 
shuffling of managers, sometimes out of their area of expertise, has hampered the 
Department as it deals with a flood of work during this building boom.  

b. Problems in Hiring 
 
Permit and inspection fees declined swiftly in the most recent recession, reduced 
operating revenue and required DBI to dramatically reduce staffing levels to maintain a 
balanced operating budget. Construction activity in San Francisco rebounded after the 
recession, and DBI was unable to quickly replace staff who were laid off, due to the 
City’s cumbersome hiring procedures and internal Department inefficiency in moving the 
process forward. The DBI had to analyze job content, update job descriptions, and 
develop a test for each job classification before recruiting could begin. These and other 
civil service procedures extended the hiring timeline to about one year. When we began 
our investigation, there were roughly 75 vacant positions. Although many of them have 
been filled, the Department remains understaffed for the current workload.   
   
DBI estimates that it will have a $37 million, four-year department operating surplus at 
the end of the current fiscal year. A study prepared by the Controller recommends that 
DBI maintain a $17 million operating reserve to support an orderly staff level transition 
when the current building boom ends.  

c. Lack of Current Policies and Procedures 
 
The Jury requested and reviewed the Department’s policies and procedures manuals, 
which are a basic tool of any agency and especially important in a regulated, technical 
field. The policies and procedures documents provided to us were frequently outdated, 
with some from the late 1980s, most from the 1990s, and a few updates through 2007. 
We understand that these aging manuals were not widely distributed and used. Some are 
available as online resources within DBI, and a few can be found online by the public. 

d. Training  
 
After a significant number of employees were laid off during the economic downturn, the 
Department was short of funds and there was some justification to consider training as a 
secondary need. Current management is trying to emphasize training more than in the 
past.  
 
Training needs identified but not yet fully implemented include: 
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• technical training – from inside and outside sources 
• functional training across City departments and DBI divisions  
• California Building Code training 
• instruction in DBI policies and procedures 
• leadership and change management training for supervisors and managers 
• training in organizational values 
• technology training for employees in preparation for a new document 

management and tracking system, as well as in use of mobile devices that 
eventually will connect field personnel directly to DBI’s database 

 

2. Ethical Standards as an Ongoing Issue 
 
Our investigation was not focused on finding specific instances of misconduct; we found 
no direct evidence that ethical violations at DBI are common. However, we were told that 
in the early months of 2013 an employee was investigated for improper ethical conduct 
and had resigned. In addition, a review of complaints made to a City agency revealed that 
periodic allegations of ethical misconduct continue.  

a. Reducing Potential Favoritism in Plan Check 
 
A 2007 redesign of the permitting process reduced opportunities for obtaining and giving 
preferential treatment in the plan check area of DBI. A one-stop Plan Check, located on 
the fifth floor of DBI headquarters, and Plan Review, located on the second floor, both 
use supervisor oversight and clipboard signup to ensure that plan checkers are assigned in 
order of availability, not according to customer preference.  
 
Nevertheless, individuals we interviewed expressed concern that some customers might 
still be receiving preferential treatment, perhaps because of political pressure asserted by 
powerful building interests.  
 
That concern may be warranted. Many applicants retain permit expediters to move their 
plans through the application and approval process, and these expediters frequently 
establish relationships with the plan checkers. This has long been a concern of DBI critics 
and some members of the Board of Supervisors. At the time of this report, the Board is 
considering whether expediters should be required to register as lobbyists with the Ethics 
Commission and disclose the names of their clients.26  
 
Despite the supervised assignment of customers to plan checkers, the work schedules of 
the checkers are posted, and we heard from DBI staff that some customers might come to 
DBI on a certain day and let another customer move ahead of them in the line in order to 
work with a particular employee. This may occur even without the knowledge or 
involvement of the employee.27 DBI officials have told BIC that they are “considering 
doing spreadsheets for the [sign-in] clipboards and copying them every evening, and 
putting them into the system so staff will know if there is inappropriate contact between a 
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plan checker and a certain expediter.”28 The Jury found that this type of system has not 
been implemented. 

b. Ensuring Ethics Compliance 
 
The Jury asked DBI management personnel about efforts to maintain a strong ethical 
environment. They told us that ethical conduct is a priority; every employee knows that 
customers must be treated equally and violations will not be tolerated. The DBI 
customers we interviewed believe that the vast majority of DBI employees adhere to 
strong ethical standards. But those who want to bend or break the rules are still in a 
position to grant preferential treatment to favored customers.   
 
As in Plan Check, DBI management has not developed a system to identify inspectors 
who may be misusing their positions. Inspectors have considerable latitude in scheduling 
and conducting inspections. They are assigned to geographic territories but have the 
autonomy to venture outside their territory. Inspectors potentially can approve work 
outside their assigned areas, a practice that, according to one previous employee, has 
occurred and resulted in special treatment for select customers. As in Plan Check, DBI 
has no control mechanism in place to find out if this is occurring. 

c. Assessing the Ethical Culture 
 
The DBI has enhanced its ethics regulations and changed its operations to deter 
favoritism. We interviewed officials who were committed to taking all necessary steps to 
ensure fairness. The public perception, however, continues to be that DBI does not treat 
all customers equally, and DBI does not have systems to identify cases of favoritism.   
 
A government official interviewed by the Jury noted that ethical climate surveys are a 
valuable tool for managers of large organizations. The Jury reviewed two of these 
surveys29 at other organizations to determine whether this approach might offer some 
benefit to DBI. The surveys usually are anonymous and ask employees to respond, for 
example, on their level of comfort for reporting ethical concerns; whether they have 
witnessed ethical violations; their awareness of the organization’s ethical practices, 
policies and procedures; and their understanding of where to turn for advice about ethics. 
This type of survey could provide DBI leadership with a solid basis for directing 
management’s attention where it is needed, and could help DBI address the public’s 
skepticism regarding its ethics. 
 

3. Code Enforcement Practices and Priorities 
 
The Jury became aware of code enforcement problems within DBI after talking to City 
officials and interested citizens, reviewing complaints, and attending and reviewing the 
minutes of BIC meetings. We were told that DBI is ineffective in addressing blighted and 
abandoned properties and that it has a backlog of complaints. To assess the code 
enforcement process, the Jury conducted numerous interviews, reviewed the applicable 
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laws and procedures, and examined all DBI complaints received in FY 2008-09 and 
2009-10 that resulted in the issuance of a NOV.  

a. The Origination of Code Violation Cases 
 
The DBI is responsible for the safety of all buildings in San Francisco. Building safety is 
achieved through the enforcement of San Francisco and California building, plumbing, 
electrical, mechanical, and housing codes. DBI is alerted to code violations through its 
own discovery during inspections and from complaints of alleged violations that are 
reported to the Department. DBI investigates all complaints and will issue a Notice of 
Violation (NOV) for code violations. 
 
Property complaints are received by DBI through various channels: from housing 
residents, through the City’s 311 hot line, through other City departments, via email, or 
through the DBI website. The recent change that allows citizens to anonymously file 
complaints on the DBI website has increased the number of complaints received.  
 
The ease with which complaints can be filed is a positive factor in enforcing codes and 
protecting public safety. The resulting high volume of complaints has, however, 
presented DBI with an ongoing and, so far, unresolved problem: How to deal with 
complaints efficiently in a manner that will facilitate informed research and evaluation, 
eliminate complaints with no merit, consolidate duplicate complaints, schedule site 
inspections, and pursue code violations to a resolution. A new system that allows for 
online scheduling of field inspections and summarizes complaints by type and inspection 
district within the City has the potential to assist DBI in managing this process. 
 
The DBI conducted 122,590 site inspections in FY 2010-11.  

• Of these, 103,691 inspections were conducted by Building, Electrical, and 
Plumbing Inspection divisions. These inspections primarily are for new 
construction and residential housing complaints. 

• Another 16,337 inspections were conducted by Housing Inspection Services 
(HIS), which is responsible for the 20,194 multi-unit buildings in San Francisco 
that have about 188,716 individual housing units. 

 
Managing a large number of property-specific transactions efficiently without up-to-date 
information technology presents numerous challenges and limitations for DBI staff. At 
present, about 130 inspectors take clipboards into the field, fill out paper forms, and 
return to the office to hand off the forms to clerical employees who input the information 
into various DBI databases. The building inspectors are unable to access DBI code 
information and data records from the field, and the information in DBI databases may 
not be current due to data entry backlogs or may not be accurate due to data entry errors. 
 
As part of the current implementation of a new Permit and Project Tracking System 
(PPTS), the Department is conducting pilot tests of handheld tablets and smart phones. 
If building inspectors implement mobile handheld devices they can access DBI records in 
the field and immediately update DBI databases with the results of their inspection. Data 
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transcription errors would be reduced and photos could be added to inspection records 
along with inspector notes.  

b. Pursuing Resolution of Notices of Violation 
 
The Jury investigated the code enforcement processes in use at DBI through interviews 
with staff. Once a complaint has been filed and/or a violation found, the resolution of 
complaints takes two distinct paths toward resolution, depending on whether it is handled 
by HIS or by one of the other divisions: Building, Plumbing, Electrical, or Code 
Enforcement. 

i. Housing Code Violations 
The Housing Inspection Services (HIS) division of DBI commonly issues NOVs for 
violations in multi-unit residential housing and single room occupancy multi-tenant 
buildings (SROs). SROs are small single room living spaces that generally have shared 
bathrooms and no kitchens. NOVs are issued for problems like water leaks, pests, 
unstable decks, inadequate heating systems and dilapidated conditions. HIS handles 
housing code enforcement from start to finish:30 

• Violations are found during routine inspections or after complaints are 
investigated. A NOV is issued to the property owner, with a specified time frame 
for abatement (correction) of the violation. Assessment of enforcement costs is 
possible. 

• If re-inspection reveals that the violation was not abated within the designated 
time or a property owner is unwilling to address a building code violation, a 
Director’s Hearing can be ordered, at which a DBI hearing officer considers 
whether to issue a Director’s Order of Abatement against the owner. This order 
notifies the property owner of code enforcement costs and provides a set time 
period for the owner to apply to DBI for permits, call for inspection, and complete 
all corrective work.  

• If an Order of Abatement is issued, it either becomes final or it can be appealed to 
the Abatement Appeals Board (AAB), which consists of the seven members of 
BIC.31 

• If upheld by AAB, uncorrected violations may be referred to the City Attorney’s 
Office (CAO) after review and approval by the Litigation Committee, which 
consists of BIC and representatives from DBI and the City Attorney.  

• In cases for which City Attorney action is not viable, HIS continues to post 
notices to the property owner, perform inspections, and update the enforcement 
costs for eventual recovery. These efforts are intended to pressure the property 
owner toward code compliance. 

• When property owners are unresponsive to Orders of Abatement, DBI may 
eventually place a lien on a property.  

 

ii. Building, Electrical, and Plumbing Code Violations 
The Building, Electrical, and Plumbing Inspection divisions of DBI inspect for work 
performed without a building permit or exceeding the scope of a permit. Common code 
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violations addressed by these divisions are: additions of bathrooms, kitchens, and in-law 
units; abandoned and dilapidated buildings; leaking sewer lines; improper wiring that 
creates a fire hazard; and non-compliant water heaters. 
 
The steps in the building codes enforcement process in these divisions are: 
• After inspection and verification of a code violation, the inspector issues a first NOV 

with a specified time frame for obtaining permits and correcting the violation. 
• After a re-inspection, if all items are not corrected, the inspector issues a second NOV 

that provides additional time for corrective action. (Re-inspection is scheduled at the 
discretion of the inspector.) 

• When the second NOV does not achieve compliance, the matter is referred to the 
Code Enforcement Section (CES) of Inspection Services. The CES decides when to 
order a Director’s Hearing and at that point the same steps are available as in housing 
inspection cases.  

 
The CES can issue its own NOVs, as well, as in the case of a vacant building that is 
considered a nuisance. When a property owner is in violation of a number of different 
codes, there may be NOVs issued concurrently by any combination of the Housing, 
Building, Plumbing, and Electrical Inspection and Code Enforcement divisions. 
 

iii. DBI Performance on Code Enforcement 
The Jury attended a number of BIC meetings that included discussion of some 6,000 
pending, unresolved NOVs. We performed a statistical analysis of all NOVs issued by 
DBI over a two-year period. The goal of the analysis was to calculate the number of 
NOVs issued by each DBI division and the amount of time required by each division to 
resolve a NOV. The DBI gave the Jury a spreadsheet download of the 8,875 NOV 
records for FY 2008-09 and FY 2009-10, providing a data snapshot of the status of those 
NOVs as of April 30, 2013.  
 
During the two reported time periods: 
 

• The DBI issued 8,875 NOVs. Of these, HIS issued 5,992 (68 percent) and 527 
(nine percent) remain open. 

 
• The DBI conducted 766 Director’s Hearings for all divisions. HIS initiated 634 

(83 percent) of these. After going to Director’s Hearings, 238 (38 percent) of HIS 
NOVs remain open. Thus, the Director’s Hearing process is 62 percent effective 
in abating or closing out HIS NOVs. 

 
• The Building, Electrical, and Plumbing Code Enforcement divisions issued 2,848 

(32 percent) of the DBI NOVs. The Building Inspection Division accounts for 70 
percent. Eighteen percent remained open as of May 2013. This is twice the rate of 
open NOVs in HIS. 
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The Building Inspection Division, Electrical Inspection Division, and Plumbing 
Inspection Division refer five percent of their open NOVs to a Director’s Hearing. This is 
less than half the rate of HIS referrals for hearings. Of those referred to a hearing, 468 or 
61 percent were abated or closed. For 2009 and 2010, 298 or 39 percent of NOVs that 
went to a hearing remained open as of April 29, 2013. 

iv. Assessed Costs Against NOVs Remaining Open 
The costs that DBI assesses for NOV enforcement include staff time for monthly 
violation monitoring, case inquiries, case management, permit history research, 
notice/hearing preparation, inspections, staff appearances/reports at hearings, and case 
referrals.32 In FY 2009-10, HIS issued twice as many NOVs as the Building, Electrical, 
and Plumbing Inspection divisions and assessed more than eight times the amount of 
costs. According to DBI’s data, HIS assessed $335,016 while the other divisions 
combined assessed $40,900: 
 

 
 

v. City Attorney Actions 
When action by the inspection services divisions does not correct violations, the case may 
ultimately be referred to CAO, which can employ an arsenal of building code provisions 
and state statutes in order to compel compliance with the applicable codes.  
 
Cases are presented to CAO during bimonthly meetings of the Litigation Committee of 
BIC. As of the date of our report, CAO was handling 84 active cases referred by DBI. 
These are the numbers of referred cases for each DBI division over the last three years: 
 

Fiscal Year HIS Referrals to 
CAO 

CED Referrals to 
CAO 

2010-2011 14 5 

2011-2012 14 11 

2012 through March 
2013 

9 4 

Totals 37 20 

 
Depending on the circumstances, CAO may seek injunctive relief, penalties, attorney fees 
and costs, recovering and reimbursing the DBI for its attorney fees, litigation costs, and 
civil penalties imposed. 33         

                                

2009 2010 Total

HIS 212,105$ 122,911$  335,016$ 

All other Divisions 16,418 $   24,482 $    40,900 $   

Total 228,523$ 147,393$  375,916$ 

 HIS % of total 93% 83% 89%



City and County of San Francisco 
2012-2013 Civil Grand Jury 
   

20 
Building a Better Future at the Department of Building Inspection 

vi. The Accumulation of Open Violations 
In the process of examining NOVs issued in 2009 and 2010, the Jury observed that about 
4,400 NOVs were issued in a single year by DBI. About 56 percent of the NOVS were 
closed out in the year they were issued and another 22 percent were closed out in the 
following year. About 78 percent of NOVs are closed out in the first two years and about 
11 percent of the NOVs are never closed out. The DBI is making an effort to reverse this 
trend, and their annual reports reveal a net decrease in open NOVs from 2011 to 2012.34 
 
Ten years of the NOV issuance and closure cycle, explained in the above paragraph, has 
led to an estimated 6,000 open NOVs. Some of the factors that have contributed to the 
large number are: 
 

• reductions in the number of building inspectors 
• a code enforcement process that is poorly documented and inconsistently enforced 
• information technology systems that are not capable of managing the large 

numbers of building code inspections that lead to NOVs  
• DBI’s belief that only half of every dollar spent on building code enforcement is 

recovered 
• in some cases, the financial circumstances of the violator 

 
Although members of the public affected by unsafe, blighted, and abandoned properties 
are frequent speakers at BIC hearings,35 open building code violations are not apparent to 
residents unless they have a blighted or abandoned building in their neighborhood or they 
see a media story about an extreme case. Open code violations are a much more 
immediate problem for the estimated 30,000 low-income residents of San Francisco who 
reside in more than 500 SRO residential hotels. Unfortunately, those who are most 
vulnerable are often subject to prolonged delays in code enforcement. 
 
Located in the Tenderloin, 308 Turk Street is a two-story building with a restaurant on 
the first floor. Tenants have complained about lack of heat, lack of security, mold, 
leaking pipes, broken windows, and rodent infested rooms. As of April 9, 2013, the date 
of a San Francisco Chronicle story, there were more than 38 active NOVs issued by DBI 
on 308 Turk Street.36 A Director’s Hearing has been held several times by DBI regarding 
the property. The most recent was January 10, 2013, and an order requiring that 
violations be corrected within seven days was issued. The case was referred to the 
Litigation Committee on January 15, 2013, and the case was sent to the City Attorney for 
civil action. 
 
The BIC requests that DBI provide regular updates on the status of open NOVs.37 DBI 
managers have increased their efforts to clean up the data and bring long-standing 
problems to closure; however, lengthy delays continue. As a result of frustration with the 
current level of code enforcement, a multi-department code enforcement task force has 
been established by the City to address the most serious open NOVs. Task force 
participants include DBI, CAO, the police, fire, public health, and public works 
departments, and some Board of Supervisor offices. While the approach is commendable 
and the results are good, the task force process is very labor intensive, and the Jury found 
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that it was only addressing about two percent of the 940 open FY 2008-09 and 2009-10 
NOVs. The DBI code enforcement process should be amended to allow for a speedy and 
fair enforcement process.  

vii. The Current Processes Delay Resolution 
The current processes are rife with opportunities for delay, and DBI gives property 
owners leeway as long as they believe the owner ultimately will abate the violation. This 
allows savvy owners to “game” the system in order to delay repairing their property. To 
abate a NOV, a property owner must obtain permits and have work done in accordance 
with the applicable codes and confirmed by a final inspection. DBI officials recognize 
that owners need reasonable time to correct violations and the process may require 
months if Planning Department approval is needed. The expressed strategy of DBI 
managers is to issue a graduated series of penalty notices that will, over time, compel 
owners to remove code violations and settle any penalties. We found that inspectors, 
hearing officials, and the Appeals Abatement Board (AAB) tolerate excessive delays.   
 
Inspectors do not schedule a Director’s Hearing until they have given the owner 
sufficient time. However, in non-housing-related cases there are no set time frames and 
little apparent tracking. Our review of NOV records revealed that many months often 
pass between a NOV, a re-inspection, and the issuance of a second NOV. It is not until 
the second NOV remains unabated that a Director’s Hearing is scheduled. 
 
Before or at the Director’s Hearing, an owner is often given even more time, which puts 
resolution off beyond the 30-day limit for continuances.38 Even after the Hearing Officer 
issues an Abatement Order and provides a set time for compliance, this order may remain 
open for months or years. When an owner appeals the order, the process may stall again 
at AAB. It is common for a property owner to request and receive continuances “for good 
cause shown” beyond the 60-day maximum.39 Finally, when a matter has been decided 
by AAB and is ripe for referral to the City Attorney, it must be approved by the Litigation 
Committee, which meets only every other month.  
 
All the while, DBI costs accumulate. It appears that the accrual of costs and fees for re-
inspection, monthly monitoring, hearings, and lien recording are not adequate incentive 
for compliance in all cases.40 Indeed, some of these fees may be waived by officials at 
any stage. In permit violation matters, DBI officials do not routinely seek the multiple 
penalties to which they are entitled (two times permit cost for work exceeding permit, 
nine times for work without a permit).41 Stiff penalties are not assessed until the City 
Attorney is involved. 

c. The Potential of an Improved Code Enforcement Process 

i. Enhancing Code Enforcement Revenue 
The Board of Supervisors and the Mayor have repeatedly enacted ordinances for fees and 
other revenue to ensure funding for DBI’s housing and code enforcement efforts. There 
are annual hotel license and apartment house fees, one- and two-story housing fees, and a 
host of inspection fees and penalties.42 In 2010, the Board transferred $738,240 from the 
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defunct Code Enforcement and Rehabilitation Fund to DBI “to support code enforcement 
activities.”43  
 
Of particular note is a monthly “violation monitoring fee” for verified NOVs enacted in 
July of 2010.44 NOVs issued after the ordinance adoption are subject to this fee –
currently $52 per month - if violation abatement is not achieved 30 days beyond the first 
compliance date. While HIS routinely assesses and collects these fees, the other divisions 
have not yet done so, almost three years after they were supposed to be instituted.  The 
Jury was told that they now intend to start. The Jury estimates the amount of revenue lost 
to DBI from this non-collection to be about $900,000 (see Appendix). 
 
During the three fiscal years 2011, 2012, and 2013 through March, CAO recovered and 
reimbursed $5.56 million in proceeds to DBI. The CAO billed DBI for a total of $2.87 
million for all CAO code enforcement activity on DBI’s behalf during this period.45 The 
net proceeds to DBI for this period are $2.69 million. 
 
The current DBI tracking system does not support automated billing and reporting of 
code violation assessments. Automating the billing process will increase the number of 
assessments billed and provide reporting on waived assessments. Better data will allow 
DBI to identify compliance costs that exceed current assessed costs and adjust individual 
cost assessments to recover actual costs incurred.   

ii. Other Enforcement Options 
NOV administrative procedures provide for due process, are ultimately effective in most 
cases, and are relatively informal. They do not necessarily involve the expense of legal 
representation. Hearing officers are DBI employees who also perform other duties, and 
BIC commissioners are not compensated for service on the Abatement Appeals Board. 
Nevertheless, for a significant number of NOVs the process works only after years of 
enforcement efforts when the City Attorney becomes involved with the authority to seek 
injunctive relief and substantial penalties, e.g., $1,000 per day.  
 
As the Board of Supervisors and the Mayor have consistently affirmed their desire for 
stronger code enforcement, they could consider strengthening DBI’s code enforcement 
processes. For example, a more formal hearing process with an administrative law judge 
and prescribed procedures (including the right to cross-examination) could provide a 
level of due process and create a record that would support the assessment of higher 
administrative penalties than currently are authorized. Or a mediation process could be 
developed to facilitate agreed-to solutions.  
 
To address NOVs that are longstanding due to the poor finances of an owner, DBI should 
re-visit its reluctance to use its Repair and Demolition Fund, which may be used to fund 
demolition and repair of buildings that are subject to emergency orders.46 DBI officials 
have told BIC that they are reluctant to use the fund because it is hard to find contractors 
(sometimes they use the Department of Public Works instead) and it might take DBI 
longer to do the job than it would take the owner.47 Yet in some cases it might be the only 
way to accomplish the Department’s safety goals.  The Jury notes that the Controller 
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recommended in his recent reserve study that DBI transfer $1.5 million to this fund to 
enable demolition of properties approved for such action. The controller further 
recommends that DBI make a one-time grant to the Mayor’s Office of Housing to fund 
loans for repairs for low-income owners.48 Either or both of these actions would give DBI 
a way to resolve some of its longstanding NOVs. 
 
Past code enforcement procedure has resulted in a backlog of violations and in the loss of 
revenue to DBI while allowing owners to avoid and delay corrective action. The code 
enforcement process can be streamlined to achieve the earliest possible resolution and the 
full revenue potential of the process. In addition, new reporting can be developed that 
will provide management with full visibility of code enforcement workflow issues and 
concentrate staff efforts in resolving them.  
 

4. The Role of Technology in Implementing Change 

a. Business Process Reengineering 
 
Business Process Reengineering (BPR) is a management strategy that focuses on the 
analysis and redesign of workflows and processes with the goal of improving customer 
service and reducing organizational costs. The design and implementation of the one-stop 
permitting center on the fifth floor of the DBI building is a good example of business 
process reengineering. Locating DBI and planning, fire, and public works employees in a 
single location expedites the issuance of building permits for most residential 
construction projects.  
 
In 2007, nearly 200 individuals participated in a four-month BPR study of DBI. Four 
subcommittees examined specific areas within the Planning Department and DBI 
divisions and contributed their findings for the report. The subcommittee chairs were 
experts in their disciplines and represented specific groups of DBI customers. The four 
subcommittees and affiliations of chairs were: 
• Plan Review and Issuance -- American Institute of Architects 
• Inspection -- Residential Builders Association 
• Automation -- A. R. Sanchez-Corea & Associates 
• Performance Measures -- San Francisco Planning +Urban Research Association 

(SPUR) 
 
At the conclusion of the study, a 225-page report including some 180 recommendations 
was issued. The Jury found the BPR report to be a very comprehensive and professional 
document. In almost 50 interviews conducted by the Jury, nearly all of the BPR findings 
were confirmed by DBI customers or employees. However, the majority of the 
recommendations in the BPR document have not been fully implemented. Some of the 
recommendations cannot be implemented using the current information technology at 
DBI.  
 
The BPR recommendations were intended to: 
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• bring visibility and efficiency to the permit review and inspection processes 
• make departmental processes more accessible to both internal City departments 

and external customers 
• improve the accuracy and consistency of data collected 
• implement internet-based online services 
• establish systems to enable ongoing improvement of data communication to 

internal and external customers 
 
The BPR Automation Subcommittee findings include the following: 

• The databases of the agencies involved in permit reviews and inspections are not 
linked. 

• The current Permit and Project Tracking System (PPTS) does not record which 
DBI employee approved a permit or allow DBI employees to put a permit 
application on hold. 

• The current PPTS is unable to provide accurate information showing the online 
real-time status of any project, including which staff person within a specific 
agency is currently reviewing the project. 

• There is too much reliance on paper forms, permits, etc. 
• There is a need to implement online plan review and expand the limited online 

permitting process. 
• Field inspection information must be manually transferred to the administrative 

office for data entry. 
 
The Automation Subcommittee also developed specific recommendations to improve the 
department’s ability to fulfill its mission: 

1. Develop a citywide automated permit tracking system to track the entire 
development, review, permitting, and inspection process. 

2. Integrate the databases of all departments involved in the permit review and 
inspection. 

3. Create a “smart” permit numbering system for simplified accurate tracking of 
projects. 

4. Provide updated online services covering all pertinent information for any 
property, its permit history, construction type, complaints, violations, conditions, 
and approval, etc. 

5. Expand the availability, use, and scope of online permits. 
6. Provide field staff with mobile devices capable of receiving, transmitting, and 

updating information between the field and office database. 
7. Pilot electronic plan submittal and plan review. 

 
The Jury believes that it is important to update the key findings and recommendations of 
each of the four BPR subcommittees to provide BIC and the DBI Director with a current 
assessment of the Department as part of a strategic planning process. We reviewed a 
status update of the BPR recommendations prepared by the senior management of DBI in 
February 2013 and found that many of the BPR findings were not fully implemented five 
years after the completion of the study. 
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b. New Technology  
 
In 2010, DBI and the Planning Department issued a request for proposal (RFP) for a 
single software solution that would replace the aging DBI Permit Tracking System and 
upgrade the management and automation of the permitting and planning processes. The 
DBI and the Planning Department evaluated the companies that responded to the RFP. 
The Accela system, used by over 150 municipalities, was selected.  
 
The Jury observed a demonstration of the Accela system and was impressed with its 
capabilities. The Jury has concerns, however, about DBI’s implementation of Accela. 
These concerns are: 
 
• Many of the current DBI operating procedures lack specific due dates or follow up 

dates. If current business processes are not changed to include due dates, Accela will 
not be able to monitor overdue tasks.  

 
• To compensate for the lack of detailed up-to-date operating procedures, DBI 

information technology staff and Accela consultants will need the full-time support of 
current DBI employees who are the “subject matter experts”(SMEs) on the operations 
within DBI. These employees will play a critical role in system acceptance testing 
prior to Accela going live. Making these SMEs available while there are many vacant 
staff positions in DBI and in the current building environment will be an operational 
challenge. 

 
• By selecting Accela, DBI has acquired hardware and software that appears capable of 

supporting the system objectives outlined in the BPR study. The Jury learned that the 
objective of the initial installation of Accela is to replicate current DBI operational 
processes. Achieving the Accela goals enumerated below will require substantial 
additional DBI management and technology resources to methodically review and 
revise existing DBI operating procedures.  

c. Goals for the Accela Permit and Project Tracking System 
 
The Accela implementation project’s objectives are straight out of the BPR study: 
      
Business objectives: 

• create consistent business practices throughout the City 
• improve City business processes 
• enhance the functionality of the Department 
• increase reporting capabilities 
• provide enhanced online access 
• provide mobile devices for field inspection personnel 

      
The Accela system features that would enable achievement of these objectives are: 
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• Web-based staff access to the system from any internet device 
• a single website portal for citizen access to DBI information or to file a complaint 
• user registration allowing the online submission of applications, tracking of 

projects and payment of fees 
• sophisticated management reporting tools 

 
New technology such as Accela, if properly configured, implemented and, most 
importantly, supported by DBI management, can address many of the Department’s 
business process challenges. Current funding provides an opportunity for DBI to take full 
advantage of the potential of the system. 
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Findings and Recommendations 
 

Departmental Reform  
Finding 1: 
The revolving door of DBI leadership has adversely affected the Department’s ability to 
develop and execute a strategic plan and to implement the recommendations of the 2007 
Business Process Reengineering Report (BPR). 
Recommendation 1.1:  
The DBI management should retain a consultant to update the 2007 BPR findings and 
recommendations and present the findings to BIC and the DBI Director. 
Recommendation 1.2:  
The BIC and DBI Director should develop a detailed action plan with firm due dates for 
implementing BPR recommendations that the consultant identifies as not completed.   
 
Finding 2:  
DBI’s policies and procedures manuals are not current. The lack of accessible, up-to-date 
department procedures inhibits the ability of the organization to train its employees and 
ensure consistent enforcement of departmental policies and procedures. 
Recommendation 2.1: 
The DBI management should update its departmental policies and procedures.   
Recommendation 2.2: 
The DBI should make all policies and procedures easily accessible online internally and, 
where appropriate, externally. 
 
Finding 3: 
The DBI does not have a multi-year employee training plan with annual training 
objectives.  
Recommendation 3.1: 
The DBI should assess staff needs for leadership and communication training and 
develop department plans to strengthen areas of weakness. 
Recommendation 3.2:  
The DBI should assess technical skill deficiencies in the DBI staff and develop training 
plans to strengthen these areas.  
Recommendation 3.3: The DBI should cross-train specific staff members to allow the 
Department to better respond to fluctuating workloads. 
 
Finding 4:  
The DBI has put strong rules of ethical conduct in place and made operational changes to 
deter improper ethical conduct. Nevertheless, the public perception persists that some 
DBI customers receive preferential treatment.   
Recommendation 4.1: 
The DBI Director should conduct an ethical climate survey and use the results to identify 
areas where improved communication of ethical standards and monitoring of employee 
behavior are needed. 
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Finding 5:  
Many issues that the Jury found would have been ameliorated by tighter and more active 
oversight by the Building Inspection Commission (BIC). 
Recommendation 5.1: 
The Board of Supervisors should hold a hearing within six months of the release of this 
report by the 2012-13 Jury to see if BIC has taken action on the issues raised. 
 

Code Enforcement 
Finding 6: 
DBI’s code enforcement policies and practices have resulted in a backlog of unresolved 
violations.  
Recommendation 6.1: 
The DBI should establish performance standards for resolving code violations within 
designated time frames (for example, closing 75 percent of Notices of Violation within 
six months and 95 percent within 12 months of when they are issued). The performance 
standards should be reviewed and approved by BIC in public session. 
Recommendation 6.2: 
The DBI should develop monthly management reports for BIC that monitor the 
Department’s performance against BIC-approved performance standards for resolving 
building code violations. 
 
Finding 7:  
The DBI has been unable to achieve prompt abatement of a significant number of serious, 
continuing code violations in multi-unit housing and abandoned older buildings. 
Recommendation 7.1: 
The DBI should review and expand its criteria for using the Building Code’s Demolition 
and Repair Fund to achieve actual abatement of unsafe building conditions. 
Recommendation 7.2:   
The Abatement Appeals Board should abide by the Building Code’s limits on 
continuances during the Notice of Violation (NOV) process. 
Recommendation 7.3: 
The Board of Supervisors should review the administrative procedures in the Building 
Code and consider enacting a process that provides for stronger penalties at the 
administrative level.  
 
Finding 8:   
DBI’s Building and Code Enforcement Sections have not consistently assessed and/or 
collected the fees, costs, and penalties available under the Building Code. This has 
deprived DBI of resources that could be devoted to further enforcement activities. 
Recommendation 8.1: 
All DBI enforcement units should use the monetary tools in the Building Code to 
encourage abatement and to fund enforcement operations.  
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Role of Technology 
Finding 9: 
Outdated and incomplete documentation and poorly defined business processes could 
compromise the implementation of the Accela software system.  
Recommendation 9.1:  
The DBI should ensure that management has clearly defined the business rules and 
workflow processes for the new Accela system.  
Recommendation 9.2: 
The DBI "subject matter experts" assigned to the Accela implementation team should be 
given adequate time to respond to consultant questions not addressed by department 
documentation and to fully assist in system acceptance testing prior to going live. 
 
Finding 10:  
Well-designed business processes supported with good information systems can improve 
the effectiveness of DBI. 
Recommendation 10.1:  
The DBI should conduct a methodical review of all major business processes to ensure 
that they are designed to achieve the department objectives and that they include time or 
due date criteria that can be monitored by information systems.  
 
Finding 11:  
Use of handheld devices interfacing directly with Accela would free inspectors from 
filling out paper forms, eliminate office data entry of paper forms, and collect more 
useful, accurate and timely data from the inspection process. 
Recommendation 11.1:  
The DBI should ensure that all field inspectors and supervisors are 
fully trained and supported in both the use of the mobile equipment and the 
mobile Accela application being implemented as part of the Permit and 
Project Tracking System. 
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Response Matrix 
 

Findings Recommendations Responses 
Required 

1.  The revolving door of DBI 
leadership has adversely affected the 
Department’s ability to develop and 
execute a strategic plan and to 
implement the recommendations of 
the 2007 Business Process 
Reengineering Report (BPR).  

 

1.1  The DBI management should retain a consultant to update the 
2007 BPR findings and recommendations and present the findings to 
BIC and the DBI Director. 
 
 1.2  The BIC and DBI Director should develop a detailed action 
plan with firm due dates for implementing BPR report 
recommendations that the consultant identifies as not completed.   
 

Pres., Building 
Inspection 
Commission 
 
Board of 
Supervisors 
 

 2.  DBI’s policies and procedures 
manuals are not current. The lack of 
accessible, up-to-date department 
procedures inhibits the ability of the 
organization to train its employees 
and ensure consistent enforcement of 
department policies and procedures. 
 

2.1  The DBI management should update departmental policies and 
procedures.   
 
2.2  The DBI should make all policies and procedures easily 
accessible online internally and, where appropriate, externally. 

 
 

Pres., Building 
Inspection 
Commission 
 
Dir., Department of 
Building Inspection 
 
 

3.  The DBI does not have a multi-
year employee training plan with 
annual training objectives.  
 

3.1  The DBI should assess staff needs for leadership and 
communication training and develop department plans to strengthen 
areas of weakness. 
 
3.2  The DBI should assess technical skill deficiencies in the DBI 
staff and develop training plans to strengthen these areas.  
  
3.3. DBI should cross-train specific staff members to allow the 
Department to better respond to fluctuating workloads. 

Dir., Department of 
Building Inspection 
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Findings Recommendations Responses 
Required 

4.  The DBI has put strong rules of 
ethical conduct in place and made 
operational changes to deter 
improper ethical conduct.  
Nevertheless, the public perception 
persists that some DBI customers 
receive preferential treatment.   
 

4.1  The DBI Director should conduct an ethical climate survey and 
use the results to identify areas where improved communication of 
ethical standards and monitoring of employee behavior are needed. 

 

Dir., Department of 
Building Inspection 

5.  Many issues that the Jury found 
would have been ameliorated by 
tighter and more active oversight by 
the Building Inspection Commission 
(BIC). 

 

5.1  The Board of Supervisors should hold a hearing within six 
months of the release of this report by the 2012-13 Jury to see if BIC 
has taken action on the issues raised. 
 

Board of 
Supervisors 
 
 
 

6.  DBI’s code enforcement policies 
and practices have resulted in a 
backlog of unresolved violations.  
 

6.1  The DBI should establish performance standards for resolving 
code violations within designated time frames (for example, closing 
75 percent of Notices of Violation within six months and 95 percent 
within 12 months of when they are issued). The performance 
standards should be reviewed and approved by BIC in public 
session. 
 
6.2  The DBI should develop monthly management reports for BIC 
that monitor the Department’s performance against BIC-approved 
performance standards for resolving building code violations. 
 
 
 
 
 

Pres., Building 
Inspection 
Commission 
 
Dir., Department of 
Building Inspection 
 
Board of 
Supervisors  
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Findings Recommendations Responses 
Required 

7.  The DBI has been unable to 
achieve prompt abatement of a 
significant number of serious, 
continuing code violations in multi-
unit housing and abandoned older 
buildings. 
 

7.1  The DBI should review and expand its criteria for using the 
Building Code’s Demolition and Repair Fund to achieve actual 
abatement of unsafe building conditions. 
 
7.2  The Abatement Appeals Board should abide by the Building 
Code’s limits on continuances during the NOV process. 
 
7.3  The Board of Supervisors should review the administrative 
procedures in the Building Code and consider enacting a process 
that provides for stronger penalties at the administrative level. 
 

Dir., Department of 
Building Inspection 
 

8.  DBI’s Building and Code 
Enforcement Sections have not 
consistently assessed and/or 
collected the fees, costs, and 
penalties available under the 
Building Code.  This has deprived 
DBI of resources that could be 
devoted to further enforcement 
activities. 
 

8.1  All DBI enforcement units should use the monetary tools in the 
Building Code to encourage abatement and to fund enforcement 
operations.  

Pres., Building 
Inspection 
Commission 
 
Dir., Department of 
Building Inspection 
 

9.  Outdated and incomplete 
documentation and poorly defined 
business processes could 
compromise the implementation of 
the Accela software system. 

9.1  The DBI should ensure that management has clearly defined the 
business rules and workflow processes for the new Accela system.  
9.2  The DBI “subject matter experts” assigned to the Accela 
implementation team should be given adequate time to respond to 
consultant questions not addressed by department documentation 
and to fully assist in system acceptance testing prior to going live. 
 

Pres., Building 
Inspection 
Commission 
 
Dir., Department of 
Building Inspection 
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Findings Recommendations Responses 
Required 

10.  Well-designed business 
processes supported with good 
information systems can improve the 
effectiveness of DBI. 

 

10.1  The DBI should conduct a methodical review of all major 
business processes to ensure that they are designed to achieve the 
department objectives and that they include time or due date criteria 
that can be monitored by information systems.  
 

 
 

Pres., Building 
Inspection 
Commission 
 
Dir., Department of 
Building Inspection 
 

11.  Use of handheld devices 
interfacing directly with Accela 
would free inspectors from filling 
out paper forms, eliminate office 
data entry of paper forms, and 
collect more useful, accurate and 
timely data from the inspection 
process. 
 

11.1  The DBI should ensure that all field inspectors and supervisors 
are fully trained and supported in both the use of the mobile 
equipment and the mobile Accela application being implemented as 
part of the Permit and Project Tracking System. 
 

 
Pres., Building 
Inspection 
Commission 
 
Dir., Department of 
Building Inspection 
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Methodology 
 
The 2012-13 Civil Grand Jury interviewed almost 50 people (several twice), attended 
public advisory committee meetings, Building Inspection Commission (BIC) meetings, 
Board of Appeal meetings, and the Accela Users meeting. 
 
We reviewed  

• Department of Building Inspection (DBI) budgets  
• DBI annual reports 
• DBI policies and procedures  
• 2007 DBI Business Process Reengineering Report  
• 2013 DBI progress report on the BPR Report  
• February 2012 DBI Performance Report  
• 2011-2013 performance statistics from the plan check, inspections, and housing 

divisions  
• a recent lawsuit filed against DBI 
• the DBI Code of Professional Conduct 
• the DBI Statement of Incompatible Activities 
• Other ethics laws and regulations applying to DBI 
• About 15 building permits and their supporting files 
• BIC meeting minutes 
• Abatement Appeals Board (AAB) minutes 
• Various sections of the building and housing codes 

 
The Jury interviewed current and former employees, officials at DBI, and customers who 
use its services to learn the status of the Department’s ethics regulations and how its 
processes had been modified to address ethical problems.  
 
We reviewed media accounts of some of the ethical lapses of particular DBI employees 
and read opinion pieces in blogs, trade newsletters, and websites where customers stated 
their candid accounts of navigating DBI’s permit processing operation. The Jury obtained 
information from City departments/agencies that receive, track, and investigate 
allegations and complaints about ethical behavior and other negative activity and 
behavior in San Francisco government. 
 
The Jury reviewed the complaint and permit information on a number of properties with a 
long-unresolved Notice of Violation. We attended or reviewed the minutes of a number 
of AAB hearings. We also discussed the NOV process with DBI staff, other City officials, 
and members of the community.  
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Glossary 
 

AAB   Abatement Appeals Board 
 
BBI   Bureau of Building Inspection 
 
BIC   Building Inspection Commission 
 
BPR   2007 Business Process Reengineering Report 
 
CAO   City Attorney’s Office 
 
CES   Code Enforcement Section 
 
CPC   DBI Code of Professional Conduct 
 
DBI   Department of Building Inspection 
 
FBI   Federal Bureau of Investigation 
 
HIS   Housing Inspection Services 
 
NOV   Notice of Violation 
 
PPTS   Permit and Project Tracking System 
 
RFP   Request for Proposals 
 
SIA   DBI Statement of Incompatible Activities 
 
SPUR   San Francisco Planning and Urban Research Association 
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Appendix 
 

NOV fees not assessed by DBI 
 

The Board of Supervisors approved a change in the fees for open or unresolved NOVs.  
As of August 1, 2010 DBI is allowed to charge $52 per month for a verified NOV. The 
additional penalty was intended to provide property owners a financial incentive to close 
out the NOV and to provide DBI additional funding for building code enforcement. 
 
The Jury found that the Housing Inspection Division of DBI was billing the additional 
$52 per month, but the Code Enforcement Section was not billing the $52 per month. The 
Jury estimated the revenue lost by the failure of the Code Enforcement Section to bill the 
$52 per month to be about $900,000.  
 
Based on the Jury’s statistical review of the NOVs issued in FY 2008-09 and FY 2009-10, 
the Jury observed that 32.5 percent of the issued NOVs went to Code Enforcement and 
that the three-year closure rate for all NOVs was 56.3 percent in the year the NOV was 
issued, 21.5 percent in the year after the NOV was issued, and 7.1 percent two years after 
the NOV was issued. These observations allowed the Jury to determine that: 
 

• About 1,442 NOVs are sent to Code Enforcement each year. 
• At year-end of each of the three years, 631 Code Enforcement NOVs (43.7 

percent x 1,442) are open. On average 315 (50 percent) of the NOVs are open for 
a full year in the year of issuance.  

• In each of the three years an NOV was issued, Code Enforcement lost $196,560 
(315 x $52 x 12) by not billing the property owner. The three-year total is 
$589,680. This amount excludes the second- and third-year billings for open 
NOVs.  

• 320 NOVS were open for 12 months in the second year of issuance for the first 
two years. Failure to bill resulted in a loss of $399,360 (320 x 2 x $52 x 12). 

• 218 NOVs were open for 12 months in the third year. Failure to bill resulted in a 
loss of $136,032 (218 x $52 x 12). 

• The three-year or 36-month total of $1,125,072 needs to be scaled back for the 
one month the program was not in effect and to allow a few months of program 
start up.  

• The year-three revenue of $532,272 is assumed to be for 12 full months. A very 
conservative assumption is to scale back the third full year by five months.  
$221,780 is 5/12ths of $532,272.   

• The 36-month computed amount of $1,125,072 less five months ($221,780) is 
$903,292.  
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  BUILDING INSPECTION COMMISSION (BIC) 
  Department of Building Inspection (DBI) 
   
  REGULAR MEETING  
  Wednesday, March 21, 2012 at 9:15 a.m.  
  City Hall, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, Room 416 
  Aired Live on SFGTV Channel 78 
  ADOPTED June 20, 2012 
   

            
                                

      MINUTES  
  
The regular meeting of the Building Inspection Commission was called to order at 9:10 a.m. by 
Vice-President Mar. 
 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call - Roll call was taken and a quorum was certified. 
  
 COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT:  
  Warren Mar, Vice-President   Kevin Clinch, Commissioner 
  Frank Lee, Commissioner   Angus McCarthy, Commissioner/President 
  James McCray, Commissioner  Myrna Melgar, Commissioner  
  Debra Walker, Commissioner 
  Sonya Harris, Secretary 
 
 D.B.I. REPRESENTATIVES: 
  Vivian Day, Director 
  Edward Sweeney, Deputy Director, Inspection Services 
  Pamela Levin, Deputy Director, Administrative Services 
  William Strawn, Communications Manager 
  Penny Venable, IS Project Director 
  Joe Duffy, Sr. Building Inspector 
  Dan Lowrey, Chief Building Inspector 
 
 CITY ATTORNEY REPRESENTATIVE 
  John Malamut, Deputy City Attorney 
  Jana Clark, Deputy City Attorney 
 

2.   President’s Announcement(s). 
 
Commissioner Mar announced that he was temporarily chairing the meeting until a new President 
was elected.  Commissioner Mar welcomed newly appointed Commissioners McCray and 
McCarthy to the Commission and said that the Commissioners had been given a tour of DBI the 
previous week along with recently appointed Commissioner Melgar. 
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Commissioner Mar acknowledged thank you letters received by the Department on behalf of DBI 
employees Willy Yau and Tom Hui.  Commissioner Mar stated that it was good to hear that Willy 
Yau was able to help a first time homeowner obtain a permit by assisting her in Chinese.   
Commissioner Mar thanked six DBI employees who represented DBI at the St. Patrick’s Day 
Parade:  Bob Farrow, James O’Sullivan, Evelyn Karcs, Nancy Gutierrez, Joseph Yu and Mira Lee 
and said that DBI will be present at almost every street fair or festival on the calendar this year.  
Commissioner Mar said that he forgot to thank Senior Building Inspector Joe Duffy for his 
participation with Mayor Lee in one of the Mayor’s community meetings.   
 
There was no public comment on this item.   
 
3. Present certificates to former Commissioners. 
 
Commissioner Mar said that he was happy to see that former Commissioners Murphy and 
Hechanova were present as both had served as President’s of the BIC.  Commissioner Mar thanked 
the two Commissioners for their leadership and assistance to the BIC throughout the years. 
 
Director Day said that she wanted to thank both Mel and Reuben for helping her in her duties and 
for their support of staff.  
 
Commissioners Walker and Lee thanked the past President’s for all of their hard work and for the 
direction they shared with all of the BIC Commissioners.  Commissioner Lee thanked 
Commissioner Romero, who was not present, for his many years of service to the BIC and said that 
he was very helpful when new Commissioners came on board.  Commissioner Lee stated that he 
thought that the Commission really turned around six years ago when Commissioner Murphy was 
appointed to the BIC and listed the many accomplishments of the Commission during that time.   
 
Commissioner McCarthy thanked Commissioners Hechanova and Murphy for his transition onto 
the BIC and said that since being appointed he has had numerous conversations with both 
Commissioners on the process and how to make it more efficient. 
 
Secretary Harris thanked Commissioners Romero, Hechanova and Murphy for their years of service 
and read the certificates.  The certificates read: “In appreciation for your many years of outstanding 
professional service to the Department of Building Inspection and to the City and County of San 
Francisco.  Your colleagues hereby convey our sincere and heartfelt gratitude for your 
professionalism, dedication and commitment to the citizens of San Francisco.”  The certificates 
were presented to Commissioners Murphy and Hechanova. 
 
Former Commissioners Hechanova and Murphy thanked their fellow Commissioners, Attorney 
John Malamut, BIC and DBI staff and wished the new Commissioners good luck in their future 
endeavors. 
 
There was no public comment on this item. 
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4.  Election of BIC President and Vice-President. 
   
Deputy City Attorney John Malamut explained the process for election and said that it would be 
best to handle motions sequentially starting first with President and then Vice-President. 
 
Commissioner Walker said that Commissioner Mar has served as Vice-President and that no 
Commissioner appointed by the Board of Supervisors had been President since her term several 
years ago.  Commissioner Walker said that in light of that and in the spirit of working together 
she would nominate Warren Mar for President.  Commissioner Melgar seconded the motion. 
 
Commissioner Mar stated that he would accept the nomination. 
 
Commissioner Lee said that he had given this item a lot of thought and said that he believed that the  
person sitting in the contractor’s seat is the best person to serve as President.  Commissioner Lee 
stated that Commissioner McCarthy had served as President on the Immigrant Rights Commission 
for five years and had a great deal of experience.  Commissioner Lee made a motion, seconded by 
Commissioner Clinch that Commissioner McCarthy be President.  
 
Commissioner McCarthy said that he would accept the motion. 
 
Secretary Harris called for public comment on the motions. 
 
Luke O’Brien of the San Francisco Coalition for Responsible Growth (SFCRG) said that he thought 
that either candidate would do a good job.  Mr. O’Brien said that he thought that Commissioner 
Mar was fair, reasonable, confident and intelligent with the matters at hand, but said that 
Commissioner McCarthy is in the trenches and knows the trials and tribulations of an average Joe 
who walks into DBI to get a permit.  Mr. O’Brien stated that he thought that former Commissioner 
Murphy had accomplished a great deal during his tenure as President because he was a hands-on 
kind of guy and said that because of that he would support Commissioner McCarthy for President. 
 
Ms. Nancy Wuerfel stated that she wanted to lend her support to Commissioner Mar because of 
experience and continuity.  Ms. Wuerfel said that there is a lot that goes on behind-the-scenes at 
DBI and said that Commissioner Mar has been part of the process and has helped create new 
processes that are improved.  Ms. Wuerfel said that it is important to look at the years that 
Commissioner Mar has spent on the BIC and the importance of carrying forward what began with 
Commissioner Murphy. 
 
Mr. Rodrigo Santos, President of SFCRG said that he wanted to remind the Commissioners that the 
entire income of DBI and most of Planning rely solely on permit fees as DBI cannot use any 
general funds for financial help. Mr. Santos said that, as a structural engineer, he can tell that San 
Francisco is poised for tremendous growth over the next several years. Mr. Santos stated that it is 
essential that the BIC and DBI help people with the permitting process and said that Angus 
McCarthy is ideally positioned to be able to take care of that effort. 
 
Mr. Henry Karnilowicz of SFCRG said that he appreciated the time that Commissioner Mar has put 
into the Commission, but said that he knew Commissioner McCarthy from the Advisory Board to 
the Redevelopment Agency.  Mr. Karnilowicz stated that Commissioner McCarthy has done many 
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projects and really understands how the permitting process works and how to deal with all aspects 
of that process.  Mr. Karnilowicz said that he would support Commissioner McCarthy as President 
and welcomed the new Commissioners. 
 
Mr. Bob Noelke of SFCRG, Small Property Owners of San Francisco and the Apartment 
Association said that Commissioner Mar has been very helpful in the past, but stated that he would 
support Commissioner McCarthy for President.  Mr. Noelke said that small property owners are in 
real trouble and said that he thought that Commissioner McCarthy would have the flexibility and 
knowledge to do the best job as Commission President. 
 
Mr. John Keogh of SFCRG congratulated the new Commissioners and stated that he always follows 
a simple formula in any selection process that involves three things:  can do, will do and how fit.  
Mr. Keogh said that each of the candidates have their strengths, but said that he would support 
Commissioner McCarthy because of the stronger demonstrated elements to do with the 
Commission needs, as has been expressed by previous speakers.  Mr. Keogh said that 
Commissioner McCarthy served on a previous Commission where he really served with distinction 
and has a strong, gregarious personality along with the experience that would be a real asset to the 
BIC. 
 
There was no further public comment. 
 
Secretary Harris called for vote on the first motion to elect Commissioner Mar as President.  
The Commissioners voted as follows: 
 
   Commissioner Mar    Yes 
   Commissioner Clinch   No 
   Commissioner Lee    No 
   Commissioner Melgar   Yes 
   Commissioner McCarthy   No 
   Commissioner McCray   No 
   Commissioner Walker   Yes 
 
The motion failed by a vote of 3 - 4. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 010-12 
 
Secretary Harris called for a vote on the second motion to elect Commissioner McCarthy as 
President.  The Commissioners voted as follows: 
 
   Commissioner Mar    No 
   Commissioner Clinch   Yes 
   Commissioner Lee    Yes 
   Commissioner Melgar   Yes 
   Commissioner McCarthy   Yes 
   Commissioner McCray   Yes 
   Commissioner Walker   No 
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The motion carried by a vote of 5 - 2. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 011-12 
 
Commissioner Mar congratulated Commissioner McCarthy and said that he looked forward to 
working with him. 
 
Commissioner Mar said that now President McCarthy could do the nomination for Vice-President. 
 
President McCarthy opened the floor for Commissioner’s comments on nominations. 
 
Commissioner Lee made a motion to elect Commissioner Mar as Vice-President.  The motion 
was seconded by Commissioner Walker. 
 
Commissioner Mar declined nomination. 
 
Commissioner Lee asked Commissioner Mar to reconsider and said that he understood that 
Commissioner Mar wanted to be President, but said that at the same time he thought it would be a 
huge missed opportunity for Commissioner Mar not to consider the Vice-Presidency as he is very 
knowledgeable and has a great working relationship with staff at the Department.  Commissioner 
Lee stated that Commissioner Mar has some great ideas, a real passion for community outreach and 
has served so well in the past; his service is still needed as Vice-President. 
 
President McCarthy stated that he and Commissioner Mar have not worked together in the past, but 
have a great deal in common as they both come from immigrant backgrounds and have the same 
values.  President McCarthy said that there is a lot of conversation about the Commissioners 
working together and said this is one of the main reasons why Commissioner Mar should accept 
this nomination, to basically reinforce what the Commission says.  President McCarthy said that 
this would be a huge missed opportunity if Commissioner Mar were not to serve as Vice-President 
and asked Commissioner Mar to reconsider. 
 
Commissioner Melgar asked that Commissioner Mar reconsider his nomination as Vice-President 
especially in light of his experience in tenant and landlord issues. 
 
Commissioner Walker asked that Commission Mar reconsider the nomination because of his 
success of working with staff, the public and the development community especially with Code 
Enforcement issues.  Commissioner Walker stated that Commissioner Mar would bring continuity 
to the leadership of the Commission and would be able to work with President McCarthy to usher 
in a new day for the BIC to come together to work on the very important issues that face DBI. 
 
Commissioner Mar thanked his fellow Commissioners for their comment and said he would accept 
the nomination.  Commissioner Mar said that he wanted to put his values out there in accepting this 
nomination and would work on the ability for DBI to serve tenants, landlords and builders at the 
same time. 
 
Secretary Harris called for public comment. 
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Former Commissioner Reuben Hechanova and Mr. Bob Noelke of SFCRG spoke during public 
comment to thank Commissioner Mar for accepting the nomination for Vice-President and to 
support the work of the new Commissioners going forward. 
 
President McCarthy called for a vote on the nomination.  The Commissioners voted as 
follows: 
 
   Commissioner Mar    Yes 
   Commissioner Clinch   Yes 
   Commissioner Lee    Yes 
   Commissioner Melgar   Yes 
   Commissioner McCarthy   Yes 
   Commissioner McCray   Yes 
   Commissioner Walker   Yes 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 012-12 
 
President McCarthy thanked everyone for their support in electing him President and said that the 
BIC and the Department have a real opportunity to help dig this City out of the very difficult time 
everyone has been in. President McCarthy stated that he is committed to be involved in every 
aspect of the Department and said that he has tremendous respect for the rank and file and pledged 
the Commission’s support in what staff needs to make things happen in the field.  President 
McCarthy said that one of his main goals would be to secure the future in building especially 
because it is the small developers that will be a huge factor in rebuilding this town.  President 
McCarthy stated that there are many agenda items that need to be processed to make this one of the 
greatest cities in the world. 
 
Vice-President Mar said that he thought one of the most important things to do was to get the 
Permit Tracking System up and running so that all of the different departments involved can work 
together.  Vice-President Mar stated that his goal was to help everyone by streamlining the process 
to make it easier for everyone. 
 
5.  General Public Comment:  The BIC will take public comment on matters within the                                                                              

Commission’s jurisdiction that are not part of this agenda. 
 
Mr. Steve Currier of the Outer Mission Resident’s Association stated that he came before the 
Commission in January with some of his Board Members regarding Code violations in the Outer 
Mission.  Mr. Currier said that at Mr. Sweeney’s request he sent a letter to the Department listing 
the properties that were of concern, some of them for over 25 years, but to date has not received a 
reply.  Mr. Currier spoke about problems at 161 Gambier, 815 Lisbon, 1294 Geneva, 398 Winding 
Way and offered to give the Commission a list of several properties that should come under Code 
Enforcement in the area.  Mr. Currier stated that he, the Association and the neighborhood are very 
frustrated with the process and lack of enforcement.   
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Mr. Shane Mayer, President of the Bayview Resident’s for Improving Their Environment, spoke of 
a particular concern in his neighborhood which is 4801 Third Street in Mendell Plaza.  Mr. Mayer 
stated that this has been an eyesore for over 20 years and DBI has addressed the issues several times 
over the years without closure.  Mr. Mayer said that the Commission has mentioned Code 
Enforcement many times and said that this was a perfect example of where $38M has been spent on 
the area, but this eyesore still exists.  Mr. Mayer asked the Commissioners to make this a priority. 
 
Ms. Ann DeJesus said that she lives on Third Street in the Bayview just across from the eyesore 
that the previous speaker talked about.  Ms. DeJesus asked the Commission to deal with this 
building as there have been numerous complaints, but nothing has been solved.  Ms. DeJesus stated 
that there are a lot of crimes committed around this building and said it was about time that the 
Commission dealt with blighted buildings such as this one. 
 
Mr. Robert Davis from the Bayview spoke about the previously mentioned building on Third Street, 
known as the Bishop White Building, and the City’s inability to collect the nine times multiplier for 
fines on buildings such as that one and others in the City.  Mr. Davis said that the City is losing 
approximately $4M in uncollected fees on vacant buildings.  Mr. Davis addressed the Notice of 
Violation process and said that the process is broken in the Bayview and all other parts of the City.  
Mr. Davis mentioned that there are three departments covering blight in San Francisco, DBI, DPW 
and DPH and said that the Departments are not communicating as nothing gets solved. 
 
Mr. Quincy Vladimir spoke about 4801 Third Street and said that the building has been deemed 
structurally unsafe by DBI.  Mr. Vladimir said that this is dangerous because many people wait near 
the building for the 24 Divisadero bus.  Mr. Vladimir talked about the crime around the building 
and asked that the Commission look into this matter and take aggressive action against the owners. 
 

6. APPEALS PURSUANT TO SECTION D.3750.4 OF THE CITY CHARTER 
 
Appeal by F. Joseph Butler, AIA 
of DBI Director’s failure to render a written decision or determination regarding property 
located at 550 Jersey Street, Permit Application #201102250973.  

 
a. Discussion and possible action regarding the Building Inspection Commission’s                

jurisdiction pursuant to Section D3.750-4 of the City Charter over this appeal. 
 

It was determined that the Commission does have jurisdiction over this appeal and the appeal 
process was explained by Deputy City Attorney Jana Clark. 
 

b. Presentation by parties including witnesses. 
 

Deputy City Attorney Jana Clark explained the procedure for the presentation of the appeal.   
 
Senior Building Inspector Joseph Duffy gave the following report: 
 
The building at 550 Jersey Street is a two story, single family dwelling, with a 1904 date of original 
construction.   The building underwent a remodel in 2011, including a horizontal addition which 
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was approved under Permit application 200009201068 and then renewed under Permit application 
201102250973.  The building has undergone all of the required inspections except final building 
inspection and a temporary certificate of occupancy was issued on December 21, 2011.  Electrical 
and Plumbing permits have been completed and final sign off has been given.  Full sign off has 
been given by DPW and all required Special Inspections have been submitted to DBI and approved.  
A final Building Inspection will be performed when Permit application 201109023798 has been 
approved and issued.  This permit is a structural revision to the roof framing which is currently 
under review with the Planning Department.   
 
Inspector Duffy said that the Commission and all parties had a description of the process and 
everything is up to date. 
 
Deputy Director of Inspections Ed Sweeney stated that at the request of a Contractor named 
Damien Quinn who owns a construction company called Ground Zero Construction a meeting was 
arranged between Mr. Sweeney and the contractor on February 3, 2011 at 9:00 a.m.  Mr. Sweeney  
gave the following report on the meeting: 
 
The Contractor had two projects, a remodel at 2514 – 23rd Avenue, a single family dwelling and 
1100-02 Taraval Street/2397 – 21st Avenue where a bar and restaurant were being remodeled.  The 
Contractor made a request at this meeting that DBI stop accepting any further complaints and 
subsequent inspection for enforcement as the Contractor claimed that DBI was being used to harass 
and hinder his progress.  Mr. Sweeney informed the Contractor that DBI must accept all complaints 
and do follow up inspections.  At the end of the meeting the Contractor asked if Mr. Sweeney could 
assist with the renewal of a permit for a project at 550 Jersey Street, a horizontal addition of two 
feet.  Mr. Sweeney helped the Contractor to fill out the permit and this was the only permit filled 
out on February 3, 2011.  In the course of assisting this Contractor with the permit, the wrong stamp 
was used by Mr. Sweeney.  The Contractor made it clear that no work had been done on the 
previous permit.  Due to the scope of work the valuation was reduced to $150,000.  The Contractor 
was told verbally and in writing to proceed to City Planning to obtain their approval.  When it was 
brought to the attention of DBI staff that City Planning approval had not been obtained the permit 
was revoked on August 3, 2011.  On August 15, 2011 City Planning requested that DBI lift the 
revocation as after review City Planning allowed work to start on the addition.  New permits were 
based on the 2010 Building Codes.  This Contractor had the option of doing special inspections for 
this construction and the Engineer of Record, Santos and Urrutia submitted an overall compliance 
report to DBI which was written on December 19, 2011.   
 
President McCarthy called on the Appellant. 
 
Ms. Nancy Wuerfel said that she is a member of the Little House Committee, an advocate for good 
government and an appellant along with Mr. Butler.  Ms. Wuerfel stated that this appeal concerns a 
new permit for a final inspection on a project, when in fact no work had ever begun on the original 
permit that had expired for nine years.  Ms. Wuerfel stated that the new permit was issued without 
complying with the mandatory conditions imposed by the Building Code.  Ms. Wuerfel said that 
she was present to appeal the failure of the Director to issue a determination on the facts of Code 
violations presented to the Director and to request that the BIC oppose the reinstatement of the 
permit.  Ms. Wuerfel stated that after numerous complaints there was no response from staff or 
Executive Management at DBI, but said that the Director did revoke the permit as having been 
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issued in error.  Ms. Wuerfel said that the inspection records show that no work was performed 
under the original permit which was not vested.  Ms. Wuerfel said that Director Day has failed to 
acknowledge many errors in the processing. 
 
Mr. Joseph Butler stated that he is a member of the America Institute of Architects and is also an 
appellant in this case.  Mr. Butler said that the San Francisco Building Code states that if one wants 
to commence work on an expired permit where the work has not started a new application is 
required and a new permit shall be obtained, not renewed.  Mr. Butler said that the authority of the 
Building Official in the State of California to renew a nine year old permit does not exist.  Mr. 
Butler stated that none of the other fees required by various departments in the City were collected 
even though DBI is talking about losing up to $4M of uncollected fees for vacant buildings.  Mr. 
Butler said that this permit should have been null and void according to the Code as there were no 
plans and no specifications, no review by other departments as this is not an over the counter 
permit; it is a major alteration to a historic building.  Mr. Butler stated that the Planning Department 
was wrong in not requiring a 311 notice and glossed over things that they could not solve.   
 
Secretary Harris called for public comment. 
 
Dr. Derek Kerr said that after working for 20 years at Laguna Honda Hospital he became a whistle 
blower and that two years after $250,000 was recovered for the patient gift fund due to a tainted 
public health contract.  Dr. Kerr stated that it took media attention, community action and a law suit 
to get attention and none of this would have happened if the Health Commission had responded to 
violations of the Administrative Code.  Dr. Kerr said that the BIC has the authority and duty to 
uphold the Building Codes.  Dr. Kerr said that the matter of the Jersey Street permit was explained 
by Mr. Butler and Ms. Wuerfel and asked that the Commission review the reinstatement of the 
building permit that was properly revoked in August 2011.  Dr. Kerr stated that good oversight and 
good governance is the solution and said that if there were not good governance what was the point 
of having this Commission. 
 
Ms. Linda Yacobucci said that she was speaking as an advocate for good government and asking 
the Commission to oversee the Department of Building Inspection as the Director has not done.  
Ms. Yakabucci stated that she could not understand how the permit was appropriately revoked 
because no work was done on the project and no one looked into the original reason for revocation.  
Ms. Yacobucci said that the BIC must make sure that the rules be invoked all of the time and asked 
that the Commissioners support good government. 
 
Ms. Hulda Garfolo said that she was present with a concern of great importance; DBI’s failure to 
enforce the law.  Ms. Garfolo said that there was an undeniable failure on the part of DBI’s 
Executive Director and staff to enforce the Building Codes and said that as a result the Commission 
should be doing the job for them.  Ms. Garfolo said that she had served on the 2010 Grand Jury that 
exposed similar failure of San Francisco government, in particular the Ethics Commission.  Ms. 
Garfolo stated that she was fed up with City and County departments showing favoritism to a select 
group of people; a perfect example of that being what happened with 550 Jersey Street.  Ms. 
Garfolo said that this permit had expired and a new permit must be issued.  Ms. Garfolo said that 
she had faith that the Commission would exercise its authority and that it is not just a sleeping 
watchdog. 
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Mr. Henry Karnilowicz said that he wanted to speak on the issues of NOV’s and violations of Code 
Enforcement.  Mr. Karnilowicz stated that he does a lot of work with the Building Department and 
said that is very tough to try to enforce some of these issues due to owners, tenants and a lot of 
different issues.  Mr. Karnilowicz said that from his experience he would not agree that the 
Building Department is not doing its job; it is not an easy one and there are a lot of buildings that 
have violations. 
 
Commissioner Walker said that normally these things are heard at the Board of Appeals around the 
actual permit.  Commissioner Walker stated that the Commission was only looking at whether the 
Director issued or did not issue a proper written response; it is not about the permit itself.   
 
Mr. Bob Noelke stated that he had many dealings with the Department of Inspection; they are very 
honest.  Mr. Noelke said that staff is cooperative and helpful and that these are competent people 
with a lot of integrity. 
 
Mr. Jim Keith said that he wanted to talk about the process on this issue.  Mr. Keith stated that he 
was asked to speak on behalf of the project sponsor because the project sponsor was so distraught 
that he felt he could not present the facts appropriately.  Mr. Keith said that the BIC did not have 
jurisdiction over this issue as the San Francisco City Charter says that the Commission’s 
jurisdiction shall not extend to permits that are appealable to the Planning Commission or the Board 
of Permit Appeals.  Mr. Keith said that this appeal was not even filed in a timely fashion as any 
appeal should be filed with the Commission within 15 days of the challenged decision; there is no 
jurisdiction.  Mr. Keith said that he wanted to go into the merits of the underlying permits.  Mr. 
Keith said that small builders go to the City to pull a permit; a permit was issued and work was 
started according to the permit; the project sponsor was then notified that the permit was revoked.  
Mr. Keith said that the Planning Department and DBI then evaluated the issues that were raised by 
Mr. Butler and the other appellant and found those concerns wanting.  Mr. Keith stated that these 
complaints have been heard again and again and said that his fear is that if this Commission takes 
jurisdiction it is going to allow an endless stream of complaints to continually harass a builder; this 
would be a terrible precedent.  Mr. Keith said that he hoped the Commission would not take 
jurisdiction, but if they did, hoped that the BIC would affirm the actions of DBI staff and the 
Director.        
 
Mr. Patrick Buscovich said that he knew about this case as he lived in the neighborhood.  Mr. 
Buscovich said that the only issue with this permit is to know if work was started under the original 
permit and said that everything else was garbage. 
 
Mr. Rodrigo Santos said that he could not emphasize how complicated the permitting process is in 
San Francisco especially in the Planning Department.  Mr. Santos said that Planning staff has no 
issues regarding this project and have no problems validating the configuration of this building and 
its structural safety and compliance.  Mr. Santos said that more importantly, a licensed Structural 
Engineer wrote an affidavit saying that the structural calculations meet with the current Code and 
that all of the special inspections are in order.  Mr. Santos said that this home is going to be sold to 
someone and that person will have all of the documents; the Department’s job is to validate the 
permits and a licensed professional has written a letter to say that everything is in order.  Mr. Santos 
stated that this is what is important and critical and said that the BIC must stop this harassment and 
validate this permit.   
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Ms. Mary Galvin said that her home is at 2514 – 23rd Avenue and that she owns the property at 550 
Jersey Street which has been the subject at this Commission and at the other boards.  Ms. Galvin 
said that Mr. Butler who has brought this appeal is the Architect of record for Ms. Galvin’s next 
door neighbor, Ms. Wuerfel, and said that these two individuals have combined in a relentless 
campaign of harassment.  Ms. Galvin stated that her family has been defamed and harassed both 
personally and professionally and said that this has been done under the guise of concerned citizens.  
Ms. Galvin said that Mr. Butler and Ms. Wuerfel have manipulated multiple San Francisco Boards, 
Commissions and public agencies to satisfy their own agenda, which appears to be nothing short of 
the complete and emotional ruin of her family. Ms. Galvin said that her children have been 
intimidated and harassed to the point that she has requested the police to intervene and said that 23 
complaints were called in on her home on 23rd Avenue.  Ms. Galvin said that 7 complaints were 
filed against a restaurant that her family is trying to open on 21st Avenue with the potential loss of 
22 jobs.  Ms. Galvin said that Ms. Wuerfel suggested to her family at the start of this campaign that 
she should use Ms. Wuerfel’s Architect and that if she did all problems would be resolved.  Ms. 
Galvin stated that at a recent BIC meeting Mr. Butler appeared before the Commission and showed 
photographs depicting the inside of her home and said that over her dead body did she give 
permission to this man to enter her home.  Ms. Galvin said that once aware of her family’s interests 
in 550 Jersey Street, Mr. Butler and Ms. Wuerfel have transferred their campaign of harassment to 
that property.  At this point in her public comments, Ms. Galvin’s three minutes were up. 
 
Mr. Patrick Spiers said that he was involved in the building and remodeling of this property and 
said that the house was built as per approved plans, all inspections were performed as work 
progressed and the City Inspector and the Engineer of Record all signed off on this job; the job card 
was finalized on December 5, 2011.  Mr. Spiers said that the structure meets all Building Codes of 
2011 and spoke on the process that went on during construction regarding complaints and 
reinstatement of the permit.  Mr. Spiers said that the appeal today was a clear indication of how the 
process is being manipulated for unscrupulous reasons to circumvent building in San Francisco and 
asked that the Commission pass this permit and let everyone move on with their lives and allow 
builders to create more beautiful homes in the City of San Francisco. 
 
President McCarthy called for the three minute rebuttal from the Department. 
 
Chief Building Inspector Daniel Lowrey said that the process of obtaining a permit renewal on the 
third floor at DBI was looked at in the Business Process Reengineering (BPR) in 2007.  Mr. 
Lowrey said that at that time it was determined that there was too much repetitiveness going from 
floor to floor, station to station, with the customer waiting a long time to renew permits.  Mr. 
Lowrey stated that DBI staff on the third floor does the renewal of permits on a case by case basis.  
Mr. Lowrey explained about the stamps to renew permits and said that one stamp was to complete 
work and obtain final inspection and the other was just to obtain final inspection.  Mr. Lowrey 
stated that if Planning approval is needed then the permit is diverted to Planning, but said that 
discretion is used on these permits as a lot of the large projects are beyond the time limit and need 
to be renewed because the project sponsor might have run out of money somewhere along the way.  
Mr. Lowrey said that some of these permits to small contractors need additional financing and just 
need more time and that is why DBI does the renewal process.  Mr. Lowrey said that this has been 
the practice for the last seven or eight years, not just under Director Day.  Mr. Lowrey stated that if 
the permit does not have to go to Planning then DBI looks at the scope of the work and renews the 
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permit; the valuation can change over time because sometimes on a prior permit the project sponsor 
has paid for inspections that have not been performed as work was not completed.  Mr. Lowrey 
stated that on this permit there was an error as it was checked to go to Planning, but did not; then 
the permit was revoked awaiting Planning approval and once Planning approved it the permit was 
reinstated and all inspections were performed; DBI feels that the process has been completed.   
 
President McCarthy called on the appellant for rebuttal. 
 
Mr. Butler said that Pat Buscovich is right as the issue is whether or not work had started.  Mr. 
Butler showed a job card that was issued with the initial permit and said that it is on this card that 
the District Inspector would sign in the field that she had executed an inspection and would make 
notes on the back of the card if there were any comments; they are no notes; there were no 
inspections.  Mr. Butler said that on the back of the card there were initials of Carla Johnson, the 
District Inspection showing the permit application number and the box that says expired is checked 
and circled with “final” crossed out.  Mr. Butler stated that it was clear that no work had been 
performed on the earlier permits and said that the burden of proof was not with him to show that no 
work had started; the Department has the record to show that no work had started.  Mr. Butler said 
that going back to the Code, a new permit should have been issued.  Mr. Butler said that he 
regretted that Ms. Galvin was caused any emotional difficulty, but said that the OSHA complaint 
regarding excavation was found to be valid as there was no permit for excavation.  Mr. Butler said 
that the issue is whether or not work had been performed and if no evidence is in the record to date 
to demonstrate that, then the Commission must find that a new application should have been made.  
At this point Mr. Butler’s rebuttal time was up. 
 
President McCarthy called for Commissioner’s comments. 
 

c. Deliberation and possible decision by the Building Inspection Commission to approve, 
disapprove or modify the decision or determination being appealed. 

 
Commissioner Walker said that she appreciated the rights and responsibilities of the public for 
appealing permits if they feel that there are issues, however, appealing permits is not in the BIC’s 
jurisdiction.  Commissioner Walker said that these permits and issues are all appealable to the 
Board of Appeals and that the issue before the Commission is only one of whether or not the 
Director appropriately or inappropriately did not issue a written response.   
 
Vice-President Mar said that he thought it was important to clarify the point and said that the City 
Attorney was very clear that DBI is just talking about whether or not the Director of the Department 
issued in a timely way, which was 15 days, a written decision.  Vice-President Mar stated that this 
is the entire jurisdiction the BIC has today, not whether to revoke the permit or to reissue a permit. 
 
Commissioner Lee said that if this issue went to a hearing and the Director did not give a written 
decision, then this might be appealable to the BIC, but all that is shown today is a letter to the 
Director that did not get a response. 
 
President McCarthy said that obviously this is a complex case, but said that the key issue for him is 
whether the concerns were addressed.  President McCarthy said that there is no question about it, 
every aspect of this case has been addressed; every inspection has been performed.  President 



 

 

S.F. Building Inspection Commission – MINUTES – Regular Meeting of March 21, 2012 – Page 13 
  

 
 
 

Building Inspection Commission - 1660 Mission Street - San Francisco, CA 94103-2414  
415-558-6164 - voice, 415-558-6509 – fax 

 

McCarthy stated that everything passed with Planning’s process; there was no foul play and 
obviously the Department did a good job.  President McCarthy said the DBI processes almost 
53,000 permits a year and a human error was made with this permit, but the problem was rectified 
and the Department did a very thorough job to make sure that everything was addressed that was 
brought up by the appellant today. 
 
Commissioner Walker asked the appellant why there was no appeal done to the Board of Permit 
appeals. 
 
Mr. Butler said that no Notice of Permit Issuance for major alterations was issued nor was any 
posted on the building; no letter was sent to the neighbors because no new application was made.  
Mr. Butler said that since no notice went to anyone the opportunity to appeal to the Board of Permit 
Appeals within 15 days was closed.  Mr. Butler said that a new environmental review process 
would have had to occur if Planning had checked these plans in February 2011.  Mr. Butler stated 
that he went to the Landmark Preservation Advisory Board’s successor Board, the Historical 
Preservation Commission and senior staff said that the bay in-fill would not be allowed under the 
current environmental review procedures that are in place at the Department. Mr. Butler said that 
the Planning Zoning Administrator did not issue a determination so there was no appealable 
document and that is why he and Ms. Wuerfel came to the BIC. 
 
After a short discussion on the advice of the City Attorney, Commissioner Walker made a motion, 
seconded by Commissioner Lee that the appeal is denied based on the findings that the Director 
did not err or abuse her discretion in not rendering a written decision.         
  
The Commissioners voted as follows: 
   President McCarthy    Yes 
   Vice-President Mar    Yes 
   Commissioner Lee    Yes 
   Commissioner Melgar   Yes 
   Commissioner Clinch   Yes 
   Commissioner McCray   Yes 
   Commissioner Walker   Yes 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 013-12 
 
7. Discussion and possible action for the Commission to convene a Closed Session regarding 

a PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT - DEPUTY DIRECTOR. 
a. Public Comment on all matters pertaining to the Closed Session. 

 
There was no public comment. 
 

b. Possible action to convene a Closed Session. 
 

Commissioner Clinch made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Lee to go into Closed Session.  
The motion carried unanimously. 
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RESOLUTION NO. BIC 014-12 
 
The Commission went into Closed Session at 11:25 a.m. 
 

c. CLOSED SESSION:  Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957(b) and the San 
Francisco Administrative Code Section 67.10(b). Discussion and possible action to 
appoint a Deputy Director. 

 
The Commission reconvened at 11:49 a.m. 
 

d. Reconvene in Open Session to vote on whether to disclose any or all discussions held           
in Closed Session (Administrative Code Section 67.10(b). 

 
Commissioner Walker made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Mar, to disclose the Closed 
Session discussion.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 015-12 
 
President McCarthy announced that Mr. Tom Hui was overwhelmingly approved as Deputy 
Director of Permit Services.  President McCarthy thanked Mr. Hui for taking on the job and the 
responsibility.   
 
Deputy Director Tom Hui thanked the Commission for his appointment and said that he appreciated 
the support of the Commission and the Director.  Mr. Hui said that it is important for everyone to 
work together.  Mr. Hui stated that the backlog at the Department is improving and said that there 
are a number of major projects coming in the next few months along with the regular projects that 
are under $5M.  Mr. Hui spoke about the appeal that was heard and said that staff are human and 
when mistakes are found the Department tries to correct them quickly.  Mr. Hui said that with 550 
Jersey DBI had to make sure that Planning approved the project because the neighborhood had to 
have a voice and secondly, the Department had to inspect to make sure that the structure was safe.  
Mr. Hui stated that this building is only a two-story residential project and yet so much time was 
spent on it; the Department is only trying to help homeowners, small developers and major 
developers to make things fair for everyone.  Mr. Hui again thanked the Commission. 
 

8. Discussion and possible action regarding proposed ordinance (File #120188).  Small 
Business Month – Fee Waiver Program, introduced by Supervisor Chu recognizing 
Small Business Month in May 2012; amending the San Francisco Planning Code and 
the San Francisco Building Code to waive fees for the month of May for certain 
façade improvements; make findings, including environmental findings and findings 
of consistency with the General Plan and priority policies of Planning Code Section 
101.1. 

 
Ms. Katie Tang of Supervisor Chu’s office said that this was legislation introduced to provide 
permit fee waivers for small businesses that would like to replace their awnings or provide 
pedestrian lighting.  Ms. Tang stated that San Francisco has a tradition of celebrating small 
businesses during the month of May and this would be a pilot program in May to encourage these 
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small businesses to replace awnings and to install outside lighting for safety.  Ms. Tang said that 
this would help improve storefronts on commercial corridors and would not include new 
construction.  Ms. Tang said that this legislation has the support of the Small Business 
Commission and the Code Advisory Committee (CAC); the CAC offered some feedback and that 
has been incorporated into the legislation.  Ms. Tang asked for any questions. 
 
Commissioner Walker said that she thought this was a great idea and said a lot of façade 
improvements have been done on 6th Street and it really makes a difference to the general activity.  
Commissioner Walker asked about the cost of this legislation. 
 
Ms. Tang said that it would be $15,000 for DBI for the month, but said that the budget impact is 
minimal and the trade off is that the City is educating people that they need to have permits to do 
this type of work.   

 
Commissioners Walker, Melgar, Lee and President McCarthy all voiced their support for this 
legislation and asked about outreach.  Ms. Tang said that there were fliers that were printed up and 
would be distributed in several languages; it was already covered by the major Chinese newspapers.  
Commissioner Walker asked that there be an update on this issue as it might be something that the 
Department could continue if it is successful in May.  President McCarthy said that he would like to 
see how it plays out in the community. 
 
Commissioner Walker made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Clinch, to approve the 
legislation.  The motion carried unanimously. 
   
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 016-12 

 
9. Discussion and possible action regarding proposed ordinance (File #120191), Building 

Code – Definition of Efficiency Unit, introduced by Supervisor Wiener amending the 
San Francisco Building Code Section 1208.4 to reduce the square footage requirement 
for Efficiency Dwelling Units pursuant to Section 17958.1 of the California Health & 
Safety Code; and making environmental findings. 

 
Deputy Director Tom Hui asked that this item be continued at the request Supervisor Weiner as 
there were some questions that arose during the discussion of this issue at the Code Advisory 
Committee Meeting.  Director Day said that the Supervisor did not indicate a specific time frame 
for this item to be heard. 
 
Commissioner Walker made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Mar that this item be 
continued to the call of the Chair.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 017-12 

 
10. Discussion and possible action regarding Draft #5 of a proposed new Administrative 

Bulletin #078, Criteria for Waiving Special Inspection Requirements for Signs, 
Awnings and Canopies. 
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Deputy Director Tom Hui explained that this Administrative Bulletin was really a matter of 
housekeeping to clear up some issues with signs, awnings and canopies.  Mr. Hui said that it is 
overkill to have small businesses produce a Special Inspection for these items and urged the 
Commission to support the Department. 
 
Commissioner Clinch made a motion, seconded by Vice-President Mar to adopt this 
Administrative Bulletin.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 018-12 
 

 
11. Discussion and possible action regarding proposed changes to the San Francisco 

Building Code Sections 106A.3.7 Application expiration, 106A.3.8 Disapproval of 
application, 106A.3.8.1 Withdrawal of application, 106A.4.4 Permit expiration, and 
corrections to Section 110A-Schedule of Fee Tables. 

 
Director Day explained that this item came from the Public Advisory meetings and the need for 
permit applicants and permit holders to have a longer time span to complete their work in this 
economy.  Director Day gave the following points in support of this legislation: 
 
 Extends the time limit on larger projects from one year to two years. 
 Project sponsors do not have to keep coming back every year for a permit extension on a 

project that might take them several years to get all of their addenda submitted. 
 DBI will not be collecting money every year on large projects because DBI is not doing 

work on the project so it not fair to charge fees. 
  It could take up to a year or two years to do the structural engineering after a site permit has 

been approved. 
 Sometimes a permit is extended due to financial conditions as people are trying to get loans. 
 Allowing the project sponsor 60 days instead of the current 21 days to respond to the 

notification of cancellation; 21 days is not enough time to get a certified letter returned to 
the Department. 

 Other departments such as Health or DPW weigh in on building permits; the application 
expiration time originally extended to include every agency that touches the permit; that 
time limit is unreasonable 

 Only time spent plan checking in the Building, Electrical, Plumbing or Mechanical Code 
will be considered; time spent at other agencies will not be counted. 

 In 2007 the fee table for a revised permit for alterations was less than the inspection fee for 
permits that had no plans. 

 People with violations on their property were coming in and drawing up a set of plans to get 
the penalties reduced on the erroneous amount that was in the fee table for plans; it was not 
the minimum fee. 

 This legislation corrects the fee for an Appeal to the BIC to include the City Attorney’s time 
 Appointments for over the counter plan check had a fee that was $400 + 50% of the plan 

check; that has been changed to a flat fee of $500. 
 Fees for charges in the Records Department were reduced to match the Sunshine Ordinance 
 The Department is trying to spur the economy, help permit applicants and staff. 
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Commissioner Walker asked if a project sponsor could just do nothing on the project.  Director 
Day said that the project sponsor has to submit a letter to the Director or to the unit stating what 
they have been doing on the project and certifying that they are not abandoning the project. 
 
Commissioner Lee asked if the Department just sends a letter to notify someone if a permit is 
going to expire or if there is a form that they fill out and return to the Department.  Director Day 
said that there is no form, but the Department sends a letter out to both the project sponsor and the 
project owners.  Director Day stated that the letter gives them the amount to pay if they want to 
extend the permit; if the permit is over three years old it will be sent back to Planning to make sure 
that Planning will allow the permit to be extended. Director Day stated that this has been 
happening for almost five years and there has only been one permit denied as normally permit 
extension is granted by Planning for any entitlement on a small building.  Director Day said that 
there is a different process for larger buildings that include approval by Planning, and said that it 
was at the direction of the Mayor to make sure that DBI continue trying to get these buildings 
built.  Director Day said that everyone is trying to spur the economy and said that this would be 
another help to permit applicants and staff.  Director Day stated that DBI is bringing these 
buildings up to the 2010 Codes as much as possible. 
 
President McCarthy congratulated staff and said that the Director obviously has listened to the 
Department’s clients, the permit holders, as this was a continuous problem for them.  President 
McCarthy thanked Director Day and said that he looked forward to more of this type of analyzing 
to see what is best for the Department overall. 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
Commissioner Lee made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Walker that the Commission 
approve this legislation.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 019-12 
 
12. Discussion and possible action on CAPSS Implementation team proposed new 

Administrative Bulletins AB-098, Post-Earthquake Repair & Retrofit Requirements for 
Wood-Frame Residential Buildings with Three or More Dwelling Units, AB-099, Post-
Earthquake Repair and Retrofit Requirements for Concrete Buildings, and AB-100, 
Post-Earthquake Repair and Retrofit Requirements for One and Two-Family Dwellings. 

 
President McCarthy asked for public comment on this item. 
 
Mr. Laurence Kornfield, a former employee of DBI for many years and now working with the City 
Administrator’s Office on the earthquake safety implementation program, which is the 
implementation of the CAPSS recommendations, a 10 to 12 years study thru DBI.  Mr. Kornfield 
said that he was present to ask for a continuation of this item as a couple of the outside agencies 
such as the Structural Engineer’s Association and others asked if it could be continued while they 
do a more formal review. 
 
Deputy Director Tom Hui said that the thought that it was important to implement these 
Administrative Bulletins as soon as possible as no one knows when the next big earthquake will be.  
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Mr. Hui stated that no document will be perfect, but said that the Department needs to implement 
something to help the public and DBI employees perform post earthquake duties. 
 
Commissioner Walker made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Lee to continue this item to 
the next meeting of the BIC.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 020-12 
 
13. Director’s Report. 

a. Update on DBI’s finances. 
 

Deputy Director Pamela Levin gave a very brief report with the following highlights relating to 
finances: 
 

• Overall DBI continues to do well. 
• Apartment License Fee and rental fees will be coming in at the beginning of April. 
• 84% of charges for service have come in even though on 67% of the year has gone by. 
• Money that is due from the Central Subway Project is going to be delayed until August. 
• The majority of DBI’s expenses are related to personnel; DBI had 20 positions approved last 

Friday. 
• Some of those positions have been tested for, but DBI is waiting for the results. 
• Some of those positions have NOT been tested for, so the Department will have to move 

through a process to hire people. 
• The Mayor’s Office has recognized that DBI needs to have these vital positions to provide 

service to its customers. 
• Other Departments are slow in providing DBI with the bills for services of those 

departments, particularly the City Attorney’s Office and Real Estate. 
• The finances show that the Department continues to show a slow recovery. 

 
Commissioner Mar asked if with the delay of testing and trying to hire new employees could the 
Department hire Prop F, retired employees, in the meantime.  Ms. Levin explained that the process 
of hiring Prop F employees still has to go through the Mayor’s Office and said that DBI had gotten 
approval for two positions.  Ms. Levin said that it is an uphill battle to hire both regular positions 
and Prop F positions.  Ms. Levin stated that with Prof F positions the Department has to show how 
an individual is really going to improve the organization as compared to go into a real recruitment 
process .Ms. Levin said that the Department is trying to get as many positions as possible filled so 
that the Department can move forward.   
 
Commissioner Walker said that there has been a great deal of talk about Code Enforcement and 
asked if any of the new positions would be filled for that division.  Ms. Levin said that she 
believed that three of the positions that have been approved would be for Code Enforcement. 
 

b. Update on proposed legislation. 
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Mr. Bill Strawn DBI’s Public Affairs and Legislative Manager said that he had given the 
Commissioners a summary of the different pieces of legislation that DBI is monitoring at the 
moment and spoke on the following items: 
 
 Pubic Arts Trust Fund is back on a renotification period and will probably be back early 

next month. 
 Bicycle parking in existing Commercial Buildings introduced by Supervisor Avalos.  DBI 

would only get involved in this issue if the Department of the Environment asks DBI to 
verify that there might be a public safety hazard around where the bicycles were being 
parked or stored. 

 Waiver of fees for small businesses for the replacement of awnings which was discussed 
earlier in the meeting. 

 Legislation introduced by Supervisor Wiener that the Commission just agreed to continue; 
it deals with the definition of efficiency units and will be back before the Commission in 
April or May. 
 

Mr. Strawn said that he had included references to Legislation in the State that are affecting 
Building Codes and might affect DBI in the long term. 
 
Commissioner Walker asked about AB-184 and how it would affect DBI’s local Seismic Safety 
strengthening efforts.  Mr. Strawn said that he had not received any details as to how that financing 
might affect DBI, but said that he would try to find more information on the issue. 
 
Commissioner Lee asked about AB-801 regarding uniforms for Code Enforcement Officers.  Mr. 
Strawn said that he has been waiting for a response from CALBO and said that he would be happy 
to look into that issue as well.   
 
Director Day said that there is a Code Enforcement department in the State of California that has 
been very effective with having their Code Enforcement staff wear uniforms and having their Code 
Enforcement staff complete certified training just as the Building, Electrical, Plumbing and 
Mechanical Inspectors do.  Director Day stated that these Code Enforcement Officers complete a 
“Post-832” training which is a slight degree of police training where they are shown how to 
approach customers that are unwilling to be approached or how to approach a house, even to knock 
on the door as a Code Enforcement Officer.  Director Day said that CALBO opposes these 
requirements as right now most building departments do not have enough money for their Code 
Enforcement Officers, let alone for uniforms and this type of training.  Director Day said that it 
will be interesting to what how this issue shakes out. 
  

c. Update on Permit Tracking System. 
 
Ms. Penny Venable of DBI said that the Commissioners had received a handout regarding the 
update of the Permit Tracking System.  Ms. Venable reported that 25% of this 24-month project is 
done and that everything so far has been successful.  Ms. Venable stated that DBI has been 
working with Planning on an almost daily basis to walk through requirements for this system.  Ms. 
Venable said that Accela/21Tech, the vendor, has been documenting all of the meetings and in 
March created prototype systems for some of the documents that have been configured.  Ms. 
Venable stated that the Department is currently in the process of enterprise analysis and that is due 
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this month so everything is on schedule.  Ms. Venable said that the vendor continues with the 
configuration analysis documents and has been turning over a number of documents to DBI for 
review and sign-off; that process is being staggered and all sign-offs are due April 13th.   Ms. 
Venable reported that the historical data analysis was started early and the next steps are to 
complete the enterprise configuration analysis sessions and begin the core system configuration 
and integration.  Ms. Venable said that DBI will soon form a subcommittee with Planning to start 
getting feedback on how the customers would like the citizen access to look. 
 
President McCarthy said that there is still a long way to go and said that the Commission is 
anxious to see this system in full operation. 
 

d. Update on major projects. 
 

Deputy Director Tom Hui said that the Commissioners had a report in front of them showing a few 
billion dollars in construction costs with roughly 5,000 units to be added in the City.  Mr. Hui said 
that there are roughly 100 projects that would be considered “major”, but said that 90% of them 
are going through the counter.  Mr. Hui said that the Department needs more staff for plan 
checking and eventually for inspectors out in the field.  Mr. Hui stated that he looked back over the 
last six years before the economic crisis and said that DBI has laid off roughly 30% of its staff so 
now with business picking up more staff is needed. 
 
President McCarthy said that it looks like DBI has a couple of busy years ahead if all holds well 
and asked if this was much of a jump from last year.  Mr. Hui said that there is about a 50% 
increase and that some projects might be coming back because there were on hold for different 
reasons.  President McCarthy said that hopefully the banks will fund these projects now. 
 

e. Update on Q-Matic and status of activation. 
 
Director Day said that all staff has been trained on the Q-Matic system and some tweaks have been 
made.  Director Day said that Deputy Director Hui has been working with Hemma, DBI’s IT 
Manager, to go back to the vendor to make it easier for the customers and to include an express 
line for permits with no plans.  Director Day stated that DBI has now trained the Fire Department, 
the Planning Department, BSM, PUC, and any other department that is present on the fifth floor to 
use the Q-Matic System.  Director Day said that she would be going to the first floor next month to 
walk a customer through the system; staff is set up that will be testing and monitoring this to see if 
there is any way to make it more efficient before it is fully implemented.  
 

f. Update on other technology projects. 
 
Deputy Director Pamela Levin gave an update on other technology projects going on at DBI.  The 
following projects were discussed: 
 
 More updates to the Department’s website. 
 User Beta testing for the public to make 3R requests online. 
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 Getting an IT equipment room in the Department that will include Planning and the Human 
Services agencies; generator capacity is an issue that should be worked out by the end of 
this week. DBI is working with DPW to determine the scope of the project and the cost. 

 Cash Management system is going to be implemented around the beginning to mid-May. 
 DBI will be expanding from eight cash registers to 40 cash registers making it much more 

convenient for customers. 
 The Cash Management System is designed to work with the current permit tracking system 

and will work with the new system when it is fully implemented. 
 DBI continues to work with the Assessor’s Office and DPW in terms of an Enterprise 

Addressing System. 
 The PUC continues to put together Ordinances having to do with everything from 

irrigation, to waste water, to storm water compliance, to landscape ordinances and DBI has 
to deal with those issues. 
  

g. Update on new hires. 
 
Director Day said that since the last meeting the Department has been able to hire one new IT 
person who has been directly responsible for the training of Q-Matic. 
 
Director Day stated that an Inspector participated at the Mayor’s kickoff community coffee event 
on March 2nd and said that she would be participating in a series of Town Hall Community 
Engagements with the Mayor and District Supervisors at the end of the month through April on the 
budget.  Ms. Day reported the DBI has begun a series of Code updates to keep the customers fully 
informed on any changes and these are being put on the web; they are not Code rulings, but are 
information on Code items.  Ms. Day said that along with May being Small Business Month it will 
also be Building Safety month.  Ms. Day said that finally, DBI is distributing survival kits to all 
DBI staff to be used in case of any emergency.  Ms. Day said that she would bring one of the 
survival kits to the next DBI meeting for the Commissioners to see.   
 
There was no public comment on the Director’s report. 
 
14. Commissioner’s Questions and Matters. 

a. Inquiries to Staff.  At this time, Commissioners may make inquiries to staff regarding 
various documents, policies, practices, and procedures, which are of interest to the 
Commission. 

b. Future Meetings/Agendas.  At this time, the Commission may discuss and take action 
to set the date of a Special Meeting and/or determine those items that could be placed 
on the agenda of the next meeting and other future meetings of the Building 
Inspection Commission. 

 
Commissioner Walker asked if there could be an item on the next agenda regarding Code 
Enforcement in response to members of the public in the Bayview and in District 11; specifically 
regarding the blighted property ordinance and an update about how DBI is managing that.   
 
Commissioner Melgar said that she would like to add to that request and asked that the Director do 
a presentation on what the Department is doing with the backlog and current complaints; the 
relationship with the Code Enforcement Division and the City Attorney; how cases get prioritized; 
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how much money the Department pays the City Attorney; how much of that is collected in fees 
and what the Department’s strategy is for collecting those fees and pursuing those cases.  
Commissioner Melgar stated that she does not understand the process and would like a discussion 
by the Commission about the policy of what goes to Code Enforcement, to the City Attorney for 
Enforcement and what strategy is used to get the money back.   
 
Director Day said that this could probably be agendized for the May meeting.  Commissioner 
Walker asked if next month the Commission could get a response to those specific bundles of 
Code Enforcement problems.  Director Day stated that she could get a status of where the 
problems are in the system and how they are being handled. Commissioner Walker said that in 
May a formal presentation could be done and said that it would be timely as there is an open spot 
on the Litigation Committee. 
 
Secretary Harris said that at the next meeting there would be an item to fill spots on both the 
Litigation Committee and the Nomination Committee. 
 
Vice-President Mar said that he would like to see a chart on repeat offenders.  Director Day said 
that she would put it on a spreadsheet so it can be sorted by a property owner name. 
 
Secretary Harris announced that the next meeting would be held on April 18, 2012.  There was no 
further discussion or public comment on this item. 
 
15. Review and approval of the minutes of the Regular Meeting of September 21, 2011. 

 
Commissioner Walker made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Clinch that the minutes be 
approved.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 021-12 
 
Commissioner Walker said that she appreciated that the Secretary was trying to catch up on the 
minutes. 
 
16. Adjournment. 
 

Commissioner Clinch made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Walker that the meeting be 
adjourned.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 022-12 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 1:03 p.m. 
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           Respectfully submitted, 
 
          

            ____________________ 
          Ann Marie Aherne 
                                                                 Commission Secretary - Retired 
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  BUILDING INSPECTION COMMISSION (BIC) 
  Department of Building Inspection (DBI) 
   
  REGULAR MEETING  
  Wednesday, June 20, 2012 at 9:30 a.m.  
  City Hall, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, Room 416 
  Aired Live on SFGTV Channel 78 
  ADOPTED August 15, 2012 
            

                                
      MINUTES  

  
The regular meeting of the Building Inspection Commission was called to order at 10:51 a.m. by 
President McCarthy. 
 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call - Roll call was taken and a quorum was certified. 
  
 COMMISSION MEMBERS PRESENT:  
  Angus McCarthy, President   Warren Mar, Vice-President 
  Frank Lee, Commissioner   Kevin Clinch, Commissioner  
  James McCray, Commissioner          Myrna Melgar, Commissioner  
  Debra Walker, Commissioner 
  Sonya Harris, Secretary 
 
 D.B.I. REPRESENTATIVES:  
  Vivian Day, Director 
  Edward Sweeney, Deputy Director, Inspection Services 
  Tom Hui, Deputy Director, Permit Services 
  Pamela Levin, Deputy Director, Administrative Services 
  William Strawn, Communications Manager 
     
 CITY ATTORNEY REPRESENTATIVE 
  John Malamut, Deputy City Attorney 
 

2. President’s Announcements. 
 
President McCarthy had no announcements. 
 

3. General Public Comment:  The BIC will take public comment on matters within the 
Commission’s jurisdiction that are not part of this agenda. 

 
Mr. Tom Harvey introduced himself as the Fire Marshal for the City of San Francisco and said that 
he has been involved in fire prevention and investigation for over 20 years, and in the Fire 
Department for 30 years. Mr. Harvey stated that he worked as a Supervisor when the Building 
Department was still on McCallister Street, and he has a long history and great working relationship 
with a lot of the Directors, Deputy Directors, and staff.  Mr. Harvey asked Secretary Harris to 
distribute the Organization Chart for the Division of Fire Prevention and Investigation, and said if 
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the Commission ever has any questions or wants to work with staff on anything to please contact 
them.  Mr. Harvey stated that he just wanted to say hello, and he plans to have staff attend BIC 
meetings in the future if there are any agenda items relating to Building and Fire together. 
 
Mr. Henry Karnilowicz stated that he wanted to speak about the Q-Matic system that went into 
effect last Monday and he was hoping that it would expedite permits getting issued, but it has had 
the opposite effect and created gridlock and there is no flexibility in the system.  Mr. Karnilowicz 
said that before a customer could take an hour to two hours to get a permit, and now they are lucky 
if they get it in one day.  For example if a customer went to Planning, they have to go to the 
information counter and there are 10 people waiting, the customer has to wait until their number is 
issued.  There may not be anybody at the Planning counter so the customer has to wait until they get 
a ticket and then staff starts calling the numbers: There are alphabetical notations before the 
numbers, e.g., A-310, C-260, etc., and the customer does not know what this is for.  Mr. 
Karnilowicz said that the customer has no idea where they are in the system – at the back of it or at 
the front of it—so they are just waiting until the number rolls up. Routing is done internally and a 
Plan Checker may route a customer to Fire, but when the customer arrives there is already someone 
else there that was routed incorrectly.  If a customer is working for someone like Clear Channel that 
wants to get their permits issued right away, they can’t because they have to wait for the Fire 
person.  Mr. Karnilowicz stated that the system is quite a disaster and it does work in Oakland but 
there is only one floor:  He has had situations where the intake person said he needed to go to 
Planning and it was right across the way, and if there was a mistake he could just go back to the 
same person but it does not work the same in San Francisco because the planner could be on a 
different floor.  It is a very complicated system, and there are architects, engineers, contractors, Fire 
staff, and DBI staff that are not happy with Q-Matic.  Mr. Karnilowicz said Wendy Aragon was at 
the meeting earlier and stated it took almost five hours day one of Q-Matic to get an AB-017 permit 
for a commercial, interior demo and last week her number was dropped from one station to another. 
 
Ms. Bobbie Sue Hood said that she is an architect and a former Building Inspection Commissioner, 
and she was present to speak about the Q-Matic system.  Ms. Hood stated since doing her masters at 
Berkeley she was interested in computer systems that save money, time, and make the overall 
system work better for all involved:  If planes were scheduled according to the Q-Matic system, 
people would be up in the air running out of gas all over the country. Ms. Hood said to take a global 
perspective if there are seven or eight stations to stop at and each one you have to wait the longest 
time.  Whereas if you know how the various stations work and know there is no one at fire at 8:00 
a.m., so you go get in line at structural engineering plan check and there are five people waiting 
there:  You know it will not take long to check with fire so you get that done because there is a fire 
plan checker sitting there doing nothing, so his time is being wasted while you were in line waiting 
for the structural plan checker.  Ms. Hood stated instead of Q-Matic being a system that maximizes 
time by making staff time more efficient, it does not work:  In the sense of serving permit 
applicants it does not work either because their time has been extended up to five times as long.  
Ms. Hood said people who are experienced in going through the previous system as Mr. 
Karnilowicz is, knows if he goes to DBI at a certain hour that he can get things done so his 
knowledge makes the plan checker and the Building Department’s use of their own time for the 
same permit fee more efficient.  Ms. Hood stated that it would be a win-win for everybody to revise 
the system since it is on the computer, and it is a software problem so it could be fixed without 
throwing out the system, and there are plenty of software engineers in this town who would 
consider it easy work. 



 

 

S.F. Building Inspection Commission – MINUTES – Regular Meeting of June 20, 2012 – Page 3 
  

 
 
 

Building Inspection Commission - 1660 Mission Street - San Francisco, CA 94103-2414  
415-558-6164 - voice, 415-558-6509 – fax 

 

Mr. Robert Davis said that last month he heard Pamela Levin talk about cases that have gone to the 
Litigation Committee, and he has some paperwork about a building around the corner from his 
house that had a Director’s Hearing but nothing else happened to it.  Mr. Davis stated that he got a 
spread sheet from DBI and some information was duplicated, but there were about 2,100 open 
Director’s Hearings.  Mr. Davis said he wondered how many Directors’ Hearings were never sent 
to the Litigation Committee, and he found that there was over 750 some dating back to the year 
2000:  He did a little math and sorted all the data by the zip code and year.  Mr. Davis stated the 
open Director’s Hearings go back to 1996 and open Director’s Hearings with Orders of Abatement 
go back to 2000, and nothing else has happened with those and he wonders why.  Mr. Davis said he 
did further calculations by the value of open NOVs, and a couple of months ago there were nearly 
5,500:  He calculated they were worth about $1,100 each so he multiplied that by 2,000 open 
Director’s Hearings and came up with $2,300,000.  Mr. Davis stated the number of Director’s 
Hearings that are open and had never gone to the Litigation Committee is a little bit more than 
$750,000.  Mr. Davis said again he would like to ask that the complaint process, including Notices 
of Violation and including Director’s Hearings become an agenda item at the Building Inspection 
Commission. 
 
4. Discussion and possible action to approve a Declaration of Financial Hardship form for 

requesting fee exemptions for appeals heard by the Building Inspection Commission in 
accordance with Administrative Code Section 77.10. 

 
Deputy City Attorney Jana Clark, said she submitted a proposed form which is basically the form 
that the Board of Appeals uses, but it does not explicitly provide for a neighborhood organization to 
get a fee waiver.  Ms. Clark stated that she did some background research and discovered that under 
the Planning Code, to apply for a discretionary review fee waiver they have their own form:  On the 
form specifically contemplated in the Planning Code, they allow for a neighborhood organization to 
get a fee waiver based on different criteria.  For example, if the neighborhood organization has been 
in existence for 24 months and they are on a list that the Planning Department maintains, so there 
are different ways this can be handled.  Ms. Clark stated that she seeks the Commission’s direction 
and is happy to assist staff with whatever form the BIC decides to use, but those are the options:  
The form the Board of Appeals uses explicitly applies to individuals and there are different criteria 
that they can check to indicate that they have a financial hardship.  Ms. Clark said the other 
possibility is that the BIC modifies that form to include an option for a neighborhood organization, 
by virtue of being a bonafide neighborhood organization, and the Commission can decide what 
criteria they would like to create to establish that.  Ms. Clark reiterated that she could assist staff in 
modifying this form or the BIC is free to adopt it as is. 
 
Vice-President Mar said since the Declaration of Financial Hardship form is pretty clear for 
individuals does it preclude the Commission from adopting the current form, and later adopting one 
for neighborhood organizations?  Ms. Clark stated she did not see any reason why the BIC could 
not do that, and have one form for individuals and one for neighborhood organizations. 
 
Commissioner Walker made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Melgar, to approve the 
Declaration of Financial Hardship form. 
 
Secretary Harris called for public comment.  There was none. 
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Secretary Harris asked if all Commissioners were in favor or any opposed. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 033-12 
 

5.   Discussion and possible action regarding a new Administrative Bulletin AB-098, Post-
Earthquake Repair and Retrofit Requirements for Wood-Frame Residential Buildings 
with Three or More Dwelling Units, proposed by the CAPSS Implementation Team.   

 
Mr. Laurence Kornfield requested that agenda items 5, 6, and 7 all be heard at the same time and 
the Commission granted his request.  Mr. Kornfield said that he is working with the City 
Administrator’s Office on earthquake safety programs and the work he does is an outgrowth of 
work that was done under the Department of Building Inspection over the last 10 years or so, which 
looks at overall, city-wide earthquake impacts and then proposes ways/methods to reduce the 
impact.  Mr. Kornfield stated some of them are procedural and some require certain types of 
upgrades – It is a broad complex of many type of earthquake safety measures and the work that was 
done has developed into what is called the Earthquake Safety Implementation Plan, run under the 
City Administrator’s Office.  Mr. Kornfield said that there is a 30-year work plan because this is 
such a big and complicated project, and they can only make incremental improvements but over 30 
years they might be able to make substantial changes.  Mr. Kornfield provided copies of the 30-year 
plan and the implementation plan, and he said the first two items on the 30-year program 
implementation schedule are the items that the BIC would be voting on.  Mr. Kornfield continued to 
address the following items: 

• 95% of the implementation plan states how they are going to comply with existing Code 
requirements in the California Building Codes for buildings that get damaged in an 
earthquake. 

• The California Building Code has a provision that actually replicates what used to be in the 
San Francisco Building Code Amendments, but it is now statewide:  It says if a building is 
substantially structurally damaged beyond a certain point in an earthquake it cannot be fixed 
back to its previous condition because future earthquakes are expected, so people have to do 
certain levels of retrofit. 

• A big issue as seen in Oakland and other cities is that it is very difficult to have an engineering 
analysis that shows a building has exceeded the damage percentage or not, and it is subject to 
interpretation and argument between FEMA, insurance companies, and building companies. 

• The three bulletins deal with coming to the conclusion of whether or not a building has or has 
not exceeded the structural damage states.     

• The three bulletins each address different building types:  One and two-family buildings, 
Large wood frame buildings, and Concrete buildings. 

• The bulletins were previously before the BIC but some members of the public expressed 
concerns, and his office attempted to resolve them in the bulletins. 

• The City Administrator’s Office has made a commitment with the Code Advisory Committee, 
the Structural Sub-committee, and the Structural Engineers Association of Northern 
California. 

• There are a very small number of buildings they anticipate will meet a disproportionate 
damage trigger. 
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•  There was a letter submitted by a member of the public that his office will take into 
consideration as well. 

 
Commissioners & Staff Question & Answer Discussion: 
 

• President McCarthy asked if Mr. Kornfield received the public letter and he said yes and 
those concerns were addressed. 

• Commissioner Lee asked who would first determine whether these criteria are met at these 
buildings. Mr. Kornfield said the bulletins set the criteria but they do not say how the 
Department will implement each post-quake inspection protocol procedure or who is doing 
what:  That is part of the Department’s policies that they are developing through the 
earthquake response programs. 

• If a professional such as a licensed engineer does an analysis to determine structural 
deficiencies after an earthquake, they have to submit that to the City. 

• Commissioner Lee said if an inspection was done by a government inspector then the 
owner would want to hire their own engineer. 

• Commissioner Lee asked what would happen if there was a dispute, and Mr. Kornfield said 
they tried to make it clear so there are not a lot of technical disputes. 

• In the 1989 earthquake there were rarely disputes about technical issues, but they were 
more about what it means for somebody to go back in or what does that then require the 
owner to do.  When there were disputes the City hired outside firms to give their opinions. 

• Commissioner Walker said when she was President in 2007 the BIC voted for CAPSS, and 
the primary source of urgency around this ties into FEMA funds because S.F. is at risk of 
not having Federal support in the case of an earthquake. 

• Deputy Director Tom Hui said that he supported the Administrative Bulletins.  He was 
hired one day after the 1989 earthquake, and it was important for engineers to make sure all 
the damaged buildings were safe before they could be occupied. 

 
President McCarthy called for public comment. 
 
Ms. Kelly Cobine spoke on behalf of the Structural Engineers Association of Northern California 
(SEAONC), and said their organization has about 1,500 members in Northern California 
predominantly practicing structural engineering and related fields.  Ms. Cobine stated that 
SEAONC has a very strong interest in these bulletins because it will be their members that will be 
in the field working with the Building Department and others to implement them after the next 
earthquake.  Ms. Cobine said they also have a very long history of being collaborators with the 
Building Department in local amendments to the Building Code, particularly ones that are seismic 
safety oriented – This is a collaboration SEAONC would like to continue and they understand the 
intent is to adopt the bulletins now and work over the next year on possible refinements.  Ms. 
Cobine stated that in support of this the Structural Engineers Association has taken a position of 
the court in principle of the entire project and one particular product coming out of the CAPSS 
project.  They are permitting their committees to provide technical review in the short run and over 
the next 30 years as other pieces are implemented, so they look forward to further collaboration 
and encourage the BIC to please move forward and pass the Administrative Bulletins. 
 
Commissioner Clinch made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Walker, to approve the three 
Administrative Bulletins: AB-098, AB-099, and AB-100.  The motion carried unanimously. 
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RESOLUTION NO. BIC 034-12 
 

 
6. Discussion and possible action regarding a new Administrative Bulletin AB-099, Post-

Earthquake Repair and Retrofit Requirements for Concrete Buildings, proposed by the 
CAPSS Implementation Team.  

 
Discussed above in agenda item 5. 

 
7. Discussion and possible action regarding a new Administrative Bulletin AB-100, Post-

Earthquake Repair and Retrofit Requirements for One- and Two-Family Dwellings, 
proposed by the CAPSS Implementation Team. 

 
Discussed above in agenda item 5. 

 
8. Director’s Report. 

a. Update on DBI’s finances. 
 
Deputy Director of Administrative Services, Pamela Levin, gave an update on DBI’s finances and 
addressed the following points: 

• It is projected that there will be a $10.8M balance at the end of the year, and a lot of this will 
go into DBI’s deferred credits because it is pre-payment of work that has not been 
completed. 

• The majority of increases in revenue are due to large projects. 
• There is a 44% increase in permits of $1M or more for this year compared to last fiscal year. 
• In comparing May 2011 versus May 2012 there was a 116% increase, which shows there is 

a rebound in the construction industry. 
• In terms of expenses, DBI is still under spending on salaries and fringes. 
• The Department has hired a significant amount of people this past month including:  6 

engineers, 8 clerks (promoted from within DBI), and 1 cashier.   
• There are also 14 requisitions for various levels of positions, and some are waiting for the 

citywide testing to be completed.  
• DBI is working with DHR to get the exams done by September, so people can hopefully get 

hired in October. 
 

Commissioner’s & Staff Question & Answer Discussion: 
• Commissioner Walker asked how many positions are not filled at this point?  Today there 

are 51 vacancies in the Department and 25 of those cannot be filled, so technically DBI 
could hire 26 positions. 

• There has been close cooperation from the Mayor’s Office and they are not holding any of 
DBI’s requisitions. 

• Out of the 26 people that the Department can hire, 11 people have already been hired?  
There will be 26 people available to hire after the 15 that have been hired. 

• When a person gets promoted then their position has to be filled, so DBI is trying to stay on 
top of that. 
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• Vice-President Mar asked if DHR was still working with DBI to bring back some retirees to 
help with some of the backlog?  The Department has brought everybody back that had been 
laid off.  In terms of reaching out to retired people the managers and Deputy Directors may 
have people in mind, but some no longer live in the area.  Also for Prop F someone has to be 
identified and the request has to state what that person “brings to the table” that is specific to 
the needs of the Department. 

• Ms. Levin said DBI had its first hearing at the Budget & Finance Committee and staff got a 
draft of the recommendations, and they were eliminating Inspector positions: Ms. Levin 
explained that was not acceptable so they recommended increasing DBI’s attrition levels to 
keep the positions, but that would take away money.  The Committee also tried to reduce 
training, overtime, materials & supplies, and Code Books which totaled $1.7M:  These cuts 
would have dropped DBI’s budget to a 1% increase in revenue instead of the 4% increase 
that was originally budgeted. 

• At Monday’s meeting, DBI staff explained the Department’s budget and said what has been 
happening with trying to fill positions and why DBI has such a high salary savings. 

• This week DBI staff will work with the Budget Analyst’s office to come to an agreement, 
and in preparation Ms. Levin came up with a detailed hiring plan and sent it to them. 

• If DBI has an attrition rate, the takeaway 2013/2014 the Department will not be in a good 
position. 

• DBI is working with the Mayor’s Office and the Controller’s Office on trying to get them to 
put in a reserve budget for the salary value and fringe value that they do not think the 
Department would be able to use. 

• President McCarthy said DBI is an enterprise department and has money to take care of this, 
and at the end of the day the Budget Analyst is cutting staff when they are needed to help 
serve customers. 

• President McCarthy said the Mayor is about getting people back to work and DBI is a big 
part of that equation. 

 
b. Update on proposed legislation. 

 
Mr. Bill Strawn, Legislative & Public Affairs Manager, gave an update on proposed legislation 
which included the following items:  

• The redefinition of efficiency units that Supervisor Wiener brought to the BIC and they 
approved last month has been postponed to mid-July, because there was a Board hearing 
and they would like to have more public input before introducing it to the full Board. 

• The Planning Department is holding a hearing tomorrow to try to create a new definition of 
student housing.  DBI has been monitoring this because initially Supervisor Kim had some 
potential amendments she was considering in terms of using well-established, vacant 
buildings to see whether or not those might be converted for possible use as student 
housing or other low-income housing but he believes the Supervisor has withdrawn those 
amendments pending more investigation.  There is concern that such a conversion might 
trigger a need for a new Certificate of Occupancy which might affect rent control. 

• Supervisor Cohen has introduced legislation on additional penalties for foreclosed 
properties, but that is not going to come before the Board until the middle of July because 
of other issues on their agenda. 
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• Supervisor Chiu’s legislation on disability access will be postponed also and he is in the 
process of trying to help commercial buildings make sure that tenants are renting spaces 
that meet the ADA requirements for Federal and State. 

• As an update, the legislation that Supervisor Chu put forward regarding small business 
waiver of awning replacement fees DBI ended up with 11 waivers which is about the same 
as the Department had last year without any incentive program.  DBI did not get a strong 
indication one way or another that by waiving fees it would actually get people to improve 
their facades.  

• Commissioner Walker asked if the Department did outreach and Mr. Strawn said yes there 
was information on the DBI counters and the BOS posted it in newsletters. 

• Commissioner Mar asked about the discussions on Supervisor Wiener’s legislation on 
efficiency units and if the Board thought the BIC should discuss it again.  It seemed as 
though there were some issues at the CAC about the size and student housing.  Mr. Strawn 
said Supervisor Wiener acknowledged that there had been discussions in both venues. 

• Under State Legislation, Senate Bill 1186 which addresses the issue of frivolous lawsuits 
and how to assist small businesses in dealing with some of the ADA issues.  He believes it 
is being driven by Senator Feinstein being in contact with Senator Steinberg at the State 
level.  This legislation may affect how DBI implements some of its enforcement going 
forward. 

• President McCarthy asked if DBI ever sent a letter to Senator Feinstein supporting this 
legislation.  Mr. Strawn said that he could send a letter stating DBI has had a hearing on 
this and support the measures they are trying to do at the State level. 
 

c. Update on Permit Tracking System. 
 
Deputy Director Levin gave an update on the Permit Tracking System, and stated that the project 
was going well and on schedule.  Ms. Levin said that DBI has been working with Accela on 
meetings to have the Department’s documentation configured and see what they have done in 
terms of configuration, which is an important part for staff to be involved in.  Ms. Levin stated that 
there was a meeting yesterday where staff saw how the Citizen’s Access Portal – the area that 
citizens can go in and request permits or find out information – to see where their permit is in the 
process.  Ms. Levin said that the vendor showed an example of what other agencies had done in a 
couple of states to give staff some ideas, and they are trying to identify exactly where interested 
parties can be involved in the project.  Ms. Levin stated that staff has also been working on 
identifying source data and doing data conversion, and she believes the vendor will still meet the 
November 2013 deadline. 
 

d. Update on major projects. 
 
Deputy Director of Plan Review Services, Tom Hui, gave an update on major projects.  Mr. Hui 
stated that there were three projects over $10M, and a job that came from the Planning 
Department, CPMC, which is $130M project.  President McCarthy asked what the fees on this 
project were, and Mr. Hui said he thought it was close to $1M.  President McCarthy stated that 
DBI needs engineers to check these projects, and Mr. Hui said he was going to give the BIC an 
update that he had help from Director Day and Ms. Levin:  Jeff Ma who was retired has come back 
under Prop F because he is very familiar with the Code.  Mr. Hui stated DBI could possibly get 
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some old-timers to come back, but they are out of the Code cycle and it is a little hard to get used 
to the new Code.  Mr. Hui stated that three engineers have been hired and two will start next 
Monday and the other one at the beginning of July.  Mr. Hui said that Deputy Director Sweeney is 
working hard to speed up work on the Inspector’s test, and DHR will get the 5214 announcement.  
President McCarthy said Prop F is a great policy, but not too many people come back because as 
mentioned earlier they have a lot of studying to do to keep up with the new Code changes.  
President McCarthy asked if Ron Tom was working on the major projects, and Mr. Hui said yes he 
is very experienced and is helping to do the oversight and make sure they comply with the Code 
requirements.  President McCarthy mentioned that it is good that the younger engineers coming 
aboard now are shadowing with the seasoned veterans, because it is important that they get a good 
start in understanding things. 
 

e. Update on Q-Matic and status of activation. 
 
Deputy Director Hui gave an update on Q-Matic and addressed the following points: 

• Q-Matic started on June 11th and so far there are a lot of people who do not like the system. 
• The first day was chaotic and staff really worked hard, including Chief Building Inspectors 

Ron Tom and Neil Friedman. 
• Some customers pulled several tickets at one time which jammed the system, because it 

was too hard to catch up.  Director Day was there looking at how things were going also. 
• Right away staff tried to correct the problem by removing the self serve kiosk the next day. 
• In Oakland their department is different than ours in San Francisco, because they have 

everything operating on one floor while DBI has multiple floors.   
• Customers may be confused with the new system and staff has to go by the order. For 

example: One person is #100 and the other is #110, but #110 may go first because a certain 
station opens first, and customers may think someone jumped ahead of them. 

• There are a lot of issues with the program also, because if a customer is waiting 1 hour and 
1 minute then their number is automatically gone. 

• Mr. Hui tried to put more staff on the fifth floor, and cashiers also had problems because 
they had to go through the numbers and they were delayed. 

• Suggestion boxes have been placed on the first and fifth floors.  Ron Tom, Neil Friedman, 
Rudy Pada, and David Leung have helped a lot. All staff has been working hard as a team. 

• There are delays of about half an hour to 45 minutes minimum and have to be served in 
order. 

 
Commissioner’s & Staff Question & Answer Discussion: 

• Commissioner Walker said hearing the public comment earlier it seems like once a 
customer is in order no matter what station they have to go to, so she asked if there was a 
way for people to go to the next open station even if it was not in order of how they were 
supposed to go in order to have a parallel process. 

• Mr. Hui said perhaps it is possible but staff cannot pick and choose: A supervisor needs to 
go around to look at their screens and then try to remove the station. 

• Commissioner Walker asked if this was automatic?  Mr. Hui said it is not automatic, it is 
hard.  Commissioner Walker said it is too bad that it cannot just be put into the computer 
that wherever the open station is, the customer could go there.  Mr. Hui said one station is 
on the first floor and the other one could be on the fifth floor. 
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• President McCarthy stated he was at DBI when Q-Matic launched and he could see there 
are growing pains and everyone has to work with the system, but at some time a general 
analysis has to be done to see if the system is really working for the Department. 

• President McCarthy asked Mr. Hui to come back to the Commission to give a 
comprehensive report after further evaluating the system. 

• Vice-President Mar said nobody likes to wait for permits or to pay their fees, but as part of 
the report he wants the issue of fairness addressed.  For certain people it is their life to hang 
out at 1660 Mission Street pulling permits all the time:  There was a past complaint without 
the automated system that these customers were jumping the line which made the public 
less confident in the way the Department was run. 

• Mr. Hui stated before the new system staff looked at the check list then tried to make it 
uniform with all staff present and the supervisor did quality control.  The cashiers had a 
major problem, because people want to get the permit ready, pay, and leave. 

• Mr. Hui said due to the extra work load a lot of people were out sick.  Also a problem that 
came up is during the lunch hour a lot of people come to get permits, but hard to maneuver 
without all the staff there. 

• Commissioner Melgar asked what the plan is because she has heard from several folks as to 
how chaotic the new system is.  One speaker was concise in talking about the issue of time 
efficiency.  People need to get used to Q-Matic and she heard how much better it worked in 
Oakland due to the issue of several floors vs. one floor but there seems to be a 
software/program problem also.  Suggested maybe an efficiency expert come in to help 
DBI to see when the system is working and when it is not. 

• Mr. Hui said the “frequent flyers” know the system works, so the more patient customers 
are the homeowners.  Sometimes customers are sitting confused as to where they are in the 
process.  Also if there is a violation on the property staff asks them to go to the 6th floor or 
the 3rd floor to clear it up, but they are not in the Q-Matic system so they have to go back to 
the first floor to get a ticket. 

• Mr. Hui stated there may be some other ways that staff can try to educate customers more 
on the system, but they have already had a lot of training in this area. 
 

f. Update on other technology projects. 
 

Deputy Director Levin gave a brief update on other technology projects.  Ms. Levin stated that DBI 
has been trying to help with records management and have things available online, so the 
Department implemented the 3R request so customers can request this on the website.  Ms. Levin 
said staff is also working on scoping and having people be able to have records requests:  DBI 
would like to assist people on using the web more efficiently.    
 

g. Update on new hires. 
 

Discussed above in agenda item 8a. 
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9.  Commissioner’s Questions and Matters. 

a. Inquiries to Staff.  At this time, Commissioners may make inquiries to staff regarding 
various documents, policies, practices, and procedures, which are of interest to the 
Commission. 

 
Commissioner Walker stated that she would like an agenda item on Housing Authority code 
enforcement, and said the BIC periodically gets updated as to how both departments are working 
together on bringing Housing Authority buildings up to Code. 
 

Vice-President Mar said that as the Commission heard from an earlier speaker, there are a lot of 
outstanding NOVs and code enforcement.  Vice-President Mar stated that he previously asked for a 
breakdown of the “bad actors”, because it is a lot of the same buildings or same landlords who 
account for a lot of the violations:  It would help if staff could prepare a spreadsheet on that by 
neighborhood so the BIC can see how things are looking. 
 

President McCarthy stated that Deputy Director Sweeney has been working on the NOVs and 
should have information prepared for the next report. 

 
b. Future Meetings/Agendas.  At this time, the Commission may discuss and take action 

to set the date of a Special Meeting and/or determine those items that could be placed 
on the agenda of the next meeting and other future meetings of the Building 
Inspection Commission. 

 
Secretary Harris said that the date of the next Regular Meeting of the Building Inspection 
Commission will be on July 18, 2012.   
 

Secretary Harris called for public comment on items 8a and 8b, and there was none. 
 

10. Review and approval of the minutes of the Regular Meeting of February 15, 2012. 
 
President McCarthy made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Walker, to approve the minutes 
of the Regular Meeting of February 15, 2012.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 035-12 
 

11. Review and approval of the minutes of the Regular Meeting of March 21, 2012. 
 
Commissioner Clinch made a motion, seconded by Vice-President Mar, to approve the minutes of 
the Regular Meeting of March 21, 2012.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 036-12 

 
12. Discussion and possible action on (a) the Appointment/Hiring of an Acting/Interim 

Director of the Department of Building Inspection; and (b) Confirmation of Appointment 
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by Human Resources Director of Special Assistant for transition purposes pursuant to 
Section 1.1.D of the Administrative Provisions of the Annual Salary Ordinance. 
 
a. Public Comment on all matters pertaining to the Closed Session. 

 
Secretary Harris called for public comment, and there was none. 
 

b. Possible action to convene a Closed Session. 
 
Vice-President Mar stated that he was wondering if this item could be discussed in open session, 
and said for the record he was very upset about this topic.  Vice-President Mar said that he got up 
this morning at 6:30 a.m. and read about this in Matier & Ross in the San Francisco Chronicle. 
Commissioner Mar stated that the BIC is supposed to decide on something that seemingly the 
Mayor and Human Resources knows about, but the Commissioners do not so why does there need 
to be a closed session if the Chronicle and maybe the Bay Guardian knows about it.  
Commissioner Mar said the BIC may as well discuss this item in open session. 
 
Commissioner Walker said that she tends to agree and finding out from other sources that there is 
an effort to solicit a resignation from the Director that the BIC has not discussed, as the entire 
Commission, is a slap in the face to the rest of the Commission.  Commissioner Walker stated that 
she thinks this has been a process over the last few years of continued harassment from the Chair, 
not Commissioner McCarthy, but from the previous President of harassing the Director in public.  
Commissioner Walker said she hoped that would have stopped so the Commission could try to 
bring people together and move forward, because the Department under Director Day has gone 
from being in the “red” to being in the “black”.  Commissioner Walker stated that many programs 
have been initiated and attempted over the last 15 years:  DBI is in the middle of I.T. upgrades 
which the Department has been trying to do for the last 10 years, three times before the RFP has 
gone forward and failed.  DBI is succeeding in upgrading the computer systems, moving forward a 
CAPSS program that was stalled time after time and has been moved out of DBI into an 
administrative position in the Mayor’s Office.  Commissioner Walker said that she is not clear 
what happened and the Commission has a right to know what happened, as well as the public. 
 
Commissioner Lee stated that it appears some Commissioners know more than others, because he 
was not quoted in the paper. 
 
Commissioner Walker said that she was called. 
 
Commissioner Lee said regardless, the Commission should discuss this item in closed session.  
Commissioner Lee made a motion, seconded by President McCarthy, to convene in closed 
session. 
 
Secretary Harris called for a roll call vote: 
 
President McCarthy  Yes  Vice-President Mar  No 
Commissioner Clinch  Yes  Commissioner Lee  Yes 
Commissioner McCray  Yes  Commissioner Melgar No 
Commissioner Walker  No 
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The motion carried on a vote of 4 to 3. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 037-12 
 
Secretary Harris stated that the Commission was now convened in Closed Session.  The BIC was 
in recess at 12:14 p.m. 
 

c. CLOSED SESSION:  Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957(b) and the San 
Francisco Administrative Code Section 67.10(b).  

 
d. Reconvene in Open Session to vote on whether to disclose any or all discussions held           

in Closed Session (Administrative Code Section 67.10(b). 
 

The Commission reconvened at 1:48 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Lee made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Melgar, to reconvene in open 
session and to disclose the results of the closed session.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 038-12 
 
 Deputy City Attorney John Malamut stated that President McCarthy asked him to read into the 
record the decision of the Building Inspection Commission: 
 
A majority of the Building Inspection Commission voted to confirm the appointment by the 
Human Resources Director of Vivian Day, a Special Assistant for transition purposes pursuant to 
Section 1.1.D of the Administrative Provisions of the Annual Salary Ordinance.  The Commission 
also acknowledges Director Day’s resignation effective at the end of the month of June, as she has 
previously advised the Department’s employees. The Commission also voted unanimously to 
appoint Tom Hui, subject to his approval, as Acting Director effective July 1, 2012 and this will be 
subject to a six month evaluation by the Building Inspection Commission and initiation of a job 
search for a new Director. 
 
President McCarthy thanked Mr. Malamut. 

 
13. Adjournment. 

 
Commissioner Lee made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Vice-President Mar.  The motion 
carried unanimously. 
 

The meeting was adjourned at 1:55 p.m. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. BIC 039-12 
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           Respectfully submitted, 
 
          

            ____________________ 
           Sonya Harris 
                                                                        Commission Secretary 

         
 

SUMMARY OF REQUESTS BY COMMISSIONERS OR 
FOLLOW UP ITEMS    

Request to send a letter of support from DBI regarding State Senate 
Bill 1186. – McCarthy, Strawn 

Page 8 

Staff to do a comprehensive report after evaluating how Q-Matic 
system is working. – McCarthy  

Page 9 

Update on Housing Authority code enforcement. – Walker  Page 11 

Report on outstanding NOVs, including a spreadsheet with the 
breakdown in various neighborhoods. – Mar  
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE: September 26, 2013 
Contact: William Strawn, Communications Manager, 415-558-6250 
William.Strawn@sfgov.org 
 
 

PRESS RELEASE 

 

BUILDING INSPECTION COMMISSION APPOINTS  

TOM C. HUI, S.E., C.B.O. AS PERMANENT DBI DIRECTOR 
 
San Francisco, CA -- The Building Inspection Commission (BIC), the policy 
oversight body that oversees the Department of Building Inspection (DBI), today 
announced its selection of Tom Hui as Permanent Director of the Department. 
 
"Tom Hui has done an outstanding job over the past 14 months as Acting Director," 
said Angus McCarthy, President of the 7-member BIC, "and provided impressive 
and substantial evidence of his extensive expertise, experience and abilities to 
problem-solve throughout multiple interviews in our year-long national search.  He is 
clearly the most capable leader for managing the talented DBI staff, and the 
Commission is proud to appoint him Permanent Director, effective today." 
 
The BIC, working closely with the City's Department of Human Resources, as well 
as with an executive search firm, conducted a national search for DBI's permanent 
Director over the past year.  A total of 31 candidates from building departments 
across the United States, applied for the position.  Through an extensive series of 
interviews, that pool of 31 candidates was refined to seven semi-finalists and three 
finalists. 
 
"I am honored to accept the position as Permanent Director," said Hui, a Certified 
California Building Official and a licensed Structural Engineer, "and I look forward to 
continuing to work closely with the Commission and with DBI's highly talented staff 
to make our review and approval processes more efficient, more transparent and 
more customer-friendly. San Francisco is in the middle of one of the strongest 
building booms I have witnessed in my more than 30 years of technical public 
services, " Hui added, " and I am committed to taking all the steps necessary to 
ensure that building safety standards are fully met and code-compliant to protect all 
San Franciscans." 
 
Hui's appointment is effective immediately.  He is already working on a Strategic 
Action Plan that will address a number of issues raised in the June 2013 Civil Grand 
Jury Report, including a timeline to complete the implementation of the Business 
Process Reengineering recommendations, the launching of a new and more 
effective Permit Tracking System, implementation of the Mayor's new mandatory 
seismic retrofit program to protect highly vulnerable residential buildings from 
collapse following a major earthquake, and completion of a facilities study to 
determine how to expand the customer service and staff working space within the 
building department to improve operational efficiencies and public transparency. 
 

 
### 
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From: Strawn, William
To:
Subject: Trust you got back in short time? Hope you are taking care, with hot tea or brandy?
Date: Tuesday, January 28, 2014 4:42:21 PM

Several hundred people turned out at Bill Graham for this Retrofit Trade Fair, with plenty of room to walk around.

Tom and Angus are being briefed as I type by the HR investigator of the Mel Murphy house incident -- to apprise
 them/DBI of whether or not they are recommending any staff  disciplinary actions.  Presumably any such
 recommendations would not be made public due to the personnel rules in play.

I do hope to get out of here soon to be back in time for the Obama speech.

Do let me know how you're feeling, okay?
moi
 

William
Sent from my iPad

mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=CEBF4A7287E14612B9667B4027DAA38A-WILLIAM.STRAWN@SFGOV.ORG
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From: Hui, Tom
To: Strawn, William
Subject: Re: Another question
Date: Friday, December 20, 2013 5:34:05 PM

Hi Bill,
Dan is not in the office and he only work half day today. I will give you the update if I know
 more information Monday.
Thanks

Tom C. Hui, S.E., C.B.O.
Director
City & County of San Francisco
Department of Building Inspection
1660 Mission Street, Sixth Floor
San Francisco CA 94103
415-558-6131 Phone
415-558-6225 Fax
Email: Tom.Hui@sfgov.org
Web: www.sfdbi.org

Sent from my iPhone

On Dec 20, 2013, at 4:52 PM, "Strawn, William" <william.strawn@sfgov.org> wrote:

Tom -- how did Dan answer this question about  John may add to
 his story that  is 'friendly' with Mel, served with him on Rodrigo's Coalition
 that gave campaign support to the Mayor, etc.

If Dan responded to John Cote, please send me his response, okay?
Bill

William
Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Cote, John" 
Date: December 20, 2013 at 10:16:56 PM GMT+1
To: "Lowrey, Daniel" <daniel.lowrey@sfgov.org>
Cc: "O'Riordan, Patrick" <patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org>, "Sweeney,
 Edward" <edward.sweeney@sfgov.org>, "Strawn, William"
 <william.strawn@sfgov.org>, "Hui, Tom" <tom.hui@sfgov.org>
Subject: RE: Another question

Dan?

John Coté 



Staff Writer 
San Francisco Chronicle 
phone:  
fax: 415-626-8196 
email: jcote
Twitter: 

From: O'Riordan, Patrick [mailto:patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org]
Sent: Friday, December 20, 2013 1:09 PM
To: Cote, John
Cc: Lowrey, Daniel; Sweeney, Edward; Strawn, William; Hui, Tom
Subject: RE: Another question

Hi John,

I was not the person who assigned Inspector  to perform these
 four inspections.  It is best if you put this question to my Supervisor
 Deputy Director Daniel Lowrey.

Regards,

Patrick O'Riordan
Chief Building Inspector
3rd Floor, 1660 Mission Street
San Francisco, CA 94103
Tel. 415 558 6105

From: Cote, John
Sent: Friday, December 20, 2013 12:53 PM
To: O'Riordan, Patrick
Cc: Lowrey, Daniel; Sweeney, Edward; Strawn, William; Hui, Tom
Subject: Another question

Why was  signing off on things as the inspector at 125
 Crown Terrace on four occasions from 10/24/2013 through 11/13/2013
 when he was assigned to District  at the time and 125 Crown Terrace is
 in District 18?

Thanks,

John Coté 
Staff Writer 
San Francisco Chronicle 
phone:  
fax: 415-626-8196 
email: jcote
Twitter: 

From: O'Riordan, Patrick [mailto:patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org]
Sent: Friday, December 20, 2013 12:47 PM



To: Cote, John
Cc: Lowrey, Daniel; Sweeney, Edward; Strawn, William; Hui, Tom
Subject: RE: 125 Crown Terrace docs

Hi John,

I hope the following information sufficiently answers you questions.

Thanks, Patrick. This is helpful, but I still have some questions. It appears
 from these latest attachments that Murphy in the fall of 2012 owed
 $17,584 for the permit on 125 Crown Terrace. Did he actually pay that?
 If so, when?
All fees were due at the permit’s issuance and are documented as paid
 when the permit was issued on 11/28/2012 (see attachment).  $2738.37
 was paid at filing plus an additional $14,847.34 was then paid at issuance
 showing a total payment of $17,584.71 (see attachment labeled “fees” in
 my previous email)

Second, it looks like for the emergency shoring permit this week, he did
 pay $552 for that. Correct?
Correct!

Third, it indicates on Dec. 10, 2013, fees were due on the additional
 $310,500 in construction costs, but it doesn’t say how much those fees
 are. How much are they? Has Murphy paid them yet? If so, when?
The additional fees of $15,270.29 are documented on Permit Application
 # 201312174363 dated issued with the fees paid on 12/17/2013 (see
 attachment).

Regards,

Patrick O'Riordan
Chief Building Inspector
3rd Floor, 1660 Mission Street
San Francisco, CA 94103
Tel. 415 558 6105

From: Cote, John 
Sent: Friday, December 20, 2013 11:42 AM
To: O'Riordan, Patrick
Cc: Lowrey, Daniel; Sweeney, Edward; Strawn, William; Hui, Tom
Subject: RE: 125 Crown Terrace docs

Thanks, Patrick. This is helpful, but I still have some questions. It appears
 from these latest attachments that Murphy in the fall of 2012 owed
 $17,584 for the permit on 125 Crown Terrace. Did he actually pay that?
 If so, when?

Second, it looks like for the emergency shoring permit this week, he did
 pay $552 for that. Correct?

Third, it indicates on Dec. 10, 2013, fees were due on the additional



 $310,500 in construction costs, but it doesn’t say how much those fees
 are. How much are they? Has Murphy paid them yet? If so, when?

Thanks,

John Coté 
Staff Writer 
San Francisco Chronicle 
phone:  
fax: 415-626-8196 
email: jcote
Twitter: 

From: O'Riordan, Patrick [mailto:patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org]
Sent: Friday, December 20, 2013 11:33 AM
To: Cote, John
Cc: Lowrey, Daniel; Sweeney, Edward; Strawn, William; Hui, Tom
Subject: RE: 125 Crown Terrace docs

Hi John,

Sorry about that!  Please see this attachment.

Regards,

Patrick O'Riordan
Chief Building Inspector
3rd Floor, 1660 Mission Street
San Francisco, CA 94103
Tel. 415 558 6105

From: Cote, John 
Sent: Friday, December 20, 2013 11:00 AM
To: O'Riordan, Patrick
Cc: Lowrey, Daniel; Sweeney, Edward; Strawn, William; Hui, Tom
Subject: RE: 125 Crown Terrace docs

Thanks Patrick, Still looking through these. The one other thing is the fees
 that Murphy has paid/owes for all his permits at 125 Crown Terrace.

Thanks much,

John Coté 
Staff Writer 
San Francisco Chronicle 
phone:  
fax: 415-626-8196 
email: jcote
Twitter: 

From: O'Riordan, Patrick [mailto:patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org]



Sent: Friday, December 20, 2013 9:46 AM
To: Cote, John
Cc: Lowrey, Daniel; Sweeney, Edward; Strawn, William; Hui, Tom
Subject: RE: 125 Crown Terrace docs

Hi John,

I am attaching the information you requested during our phone
 conversation this morning.  If there is anything else I can help you with
 please do not hesitate to call or email me.

Regards,

Patrick O'Riordan
Chief Building Inspector
3rd Floor, 1660 Mission Street
San Francisco, CA 94103
Tel. 415 558 6105

From: Hui, Tom 
Sent: Friday, December 20, 2013 7:54 AM
To: O'Riordan, Patrick
Cc: Lowrey, Daniel; Sweeney, Edward; Strawn, William
Subject: Fwd: 125 Crown Terrace docs

Hi Pat,
Please, review this email and reply to John per our conversation with
 him this morning.
Thanks
Tom

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Strawn, William" <william.strawn@sfgov.org>
Date: December 20, 2013, 6:01:55 AM PST
To: "Hui, Tom" <tom.hui@sfgov.org>, "Sweeney,
 Edward" <edward.sweeney@sfgov.org>
Subject: Fwd: 125 Crown Terrace docs

Tom-- just found this request from the Chron-- can you
 respond?
Bill

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Cote, John"



 
Date: December 19, 2013 at 10:20:34 PM
 GMT+1
To: "Strawn, William"
 <william.strawn@sfgov.org>
Subject: 125 Crown Terrace docs

Hey Bill,

So I wanted to get copies of the original
 documents for some permits on 125 Crown
 Terrace (including any addenda) and some
 other documentation. Specifically, I’d like:

1)  Permit 201110066315 
2)  The correction of that permit
 (201312174363) 
3)  Permit 201312174398 
4)  I’d also like documents outlining
 whatever the requirements are for
 determining the cost of a permit, and any
 cost guidelines the department has for basic
 types of work, like foundation, shoring etc.

5)  A current list of DBI inspection
 districts and the inspectors assigned to each
 district. If that list has changed in the last
 year, then I’d also like last year’s list as
 well.

Please give me a call with any questions. I’d
 like to get these ASAP. Please provide them
 as they become available, rather than
 waiting to have all the documents at once.
 I’m certainly willing to come to the DBI
 office to pick them up if that’s easiest.

Thanks much,

John Coté

Staff Writer

San Francisco Chronicle

phone: 

fax: 415-626-8196

email: jcote



Twitter: 

========================================================
This e-mail message is intended only
 for the personal
use of the recipient(s) named above.
 If you are not
an intended recipient, you may not
review, copy or
distribute this message.

If you have received this
communication in error, please
notify the sender immediately by e-
mail and delete the original
message.
========================================================

========================================================
This e-mail message is intended only for the personal
use of the recipient(s) named above. If you are not
an intended recipient, you may not review, copy or
distribute this message.

If you have received this communication in error, please
notify the sender immediately by e-mail and delete the
original message.
========================================================

========================================================
This e-mail message is intended only for the personal
use of the recipient(s) named above. If you are not
an intended recipient, you may not review, copy or
distribute this message.

If you have received this communication in error, please
notify the sender immediately by e-mail and delete the
original message.
========================================================

========================================================
This e-mail message is intended only for the personal
use of the recipient(s) named above. If you are not
an intended recipient, you may not review, copy or
distribute this message.

If you have received this communication in error, please
notify the sender immediately by e-mail and delete the
original message.
========================================================
========================================================
This e-mail message is intended only for the personal
use of the recipient(s) named above. If you are not
an intended recipient, you may not review, copy or
distribute this message.

If you have received this communication in error, please
notify the sender immediately by e-mail and delete the
original message.
========================================================
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From: Hui, Tom
To: Sweeney, Edward; Tom, Hanson
Cc: Lowrey, Daniel; O"Riordan, Patrick; Strawn, William; Jayin, Carolyn; Leung, David; Angus McCarthy; Rahaim,

 John
Bcc: Rodrigo Santos
Subject: 125 Crown Terrace
Date: Sunday, December 29, 2013 7:47:10 PM

Hi Ed and Hanson,

I would like to remind Hanson regarding the time schedule listed in my Action Plan dated
 December19, 2013. Hanson's reviewed report for owner's mitigation and restoration plans
 with peer review shall be submitted to me no later than December 31, 2013.

I felt the report from the engineer of record didn't provide sufficient details for restoration. In
 addition to the report review, I have asked Hanson to evaluate the construction cost of Crown
 Terrace for both original and emergency shoring permits. I wish to resolve the technical
 issues ASAP before the new application can be submitted for DBI and Planning review.

I would like to acknowledge and extend my appreciation to my staff who have been working
 hard on reviewing this project during the last two weeks .

Tom C. Hui, S.E., C.B.O.
Director
City & County of San Francisco
Department of Building Inspection
1660 Mission Street, Sixth Floor
San Francisco CA 94103
415-558-6131 Phone
415-558-6225 Fax
Email: Tom.Hui@sfgov.org
Web: www.sfdbi.org

Sent from my iPhone
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From: Hui, Tom
To: Angus McCarthy
Bcc: Rodrigo Santos
Subject: Fwd: !25 Crown Terrace - Final Construction Valuation
Date: Monday, December 30, 2013 3:00:50 PM

FYI

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Tom, Hanson" <hanson.tom@sfgov.org>
Date: December 30, 2013, 1:18:45 PM PST
To: "Hui, Tom" <tom.hui@sfgov.org>
Cc: "Hui, Tom" <tom.hui@sfgov.org>, "Sweeney, Edward"
 <edward.sweeney@sfgov.org>, "Jayin, Carolyn" <carolyn.jayin@sfgov.org>
Subject: RE: !25 Crown Terrace - Final Construction Valuation

Tom,
I am confused by Bill’s email here; Why I am suddenly become the main person to
 handle this unfortunate case!
 
I had previously requested you to reassign other engineers in DBI to handle this case;
 however, you informed me just  to help David doing the estimation only, but I ended
 up completed the task first and David performed the checking of my estimation!
In addition, DBI has so many capable engineers and other staff, and you did sent out
 our engineer to the field after the incident,  and why this burden suddenly become
 my?
As far as in your action plan you instructed me to work with the SAC members Tim
  Mathison and Steve Lew and I did. You need to wait for their report by tomorrow. You
 are copied all communication that I had with them!
I just finished my construction valuation and you already give me a dead line to
 produce the report by tomorrow noon. Why I am being put into this type of schedule
 and I am feeling you go to put me up as a scrape goat!
I would appreciate a direct conversation with you together with Ed and Bill. Maybe we
 all can sit down to strategize our working plan!
Thanks!
 
Hanson Tom, S.E.
Principal Engineer, DBI
1660 Mission St. 2nd Fl.
San Francisco, Ca. 94103
Tel: 415-558-6157
Fax: 415-558-6436
 



 
 

From: Strawn, William 
Sent: Monday, December 30, 2013 12:41 PM
To: Tom, Hanson
Cc: Hui, Tom; Sweeney, Edward; Strawn, William; Jayin, Carolyn
Subject: Fwd: !25 Crown Terrace - Final Construction Valuation

Hanson -- Thanks for these calculations. Per Tom's earlier request, please provide
 grand totals of the valuations for 125 Crown Terrace and the 115 Crown Terrace
 comparative grand totals.

You should include these comparisons in your Summary Report to the Director,
 along with your evaluation of the Santos Engineering Report. Tom wants you to
 indicate in your report that the Santos Report does not provide adequate detail
 about how restoration of the property can be achieved, and while you are
 awaiting the independent SAC evaluation of the current situation, it is your
 recommendation as DBI Principal Engineer, that the property owner and his
 engineer of record must do the following to achieve restoration -- with you
 specifying any technical steps you are recommending. This work must be
 completed by February 1, 2014, and will include daily/weekly inspections by
 DBI senior inspectors.

Also, per the enclosed valuation calculations, a correction notice is to be mailed
 immediately to the property owner, who is required to file a new permit
 application at the corrected amount and pay these fees, and any penalties,
 immediately.

Hanson, we need your report today or tomorrow as the Mayor keeps requesting it
 from Tom, so please send me your draft by no later than noon tomorrow,
 Tuesday, Dec. 31st, okay?

Thanks for understanding the urgency of this report, and for completing it today
 or early tomorrow. In addition to the Mayor, the BIC also wants to see this
 update; and we need to update the Acting Zoning Administrator, Corey Teague,
 as Planning will have to review the detailed Restoration Plan prior to any site
 work going forward.

Bill

William
Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Hui, Tom" <tom.hui@sfgov.org>
To: "Strawn, William" <william.strawn@sfgov.org>
Cc: "Jayin, Carolyn" <carolyn.jayin@sfgov.org>
Subject: Fwd: !25 Crown Terrace - Final Construction Valuation



Hi Bill,
Please, ask Hanson to review my Action Plan and my emails.
He is only forward the calculations only and no summary report
 through Ed.
Thanks
Tom
Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Tom, Hanson"
 <hanson.tom@sfgov.org<mailto:hanson.tom@sfgov.org>>
Date: December 30, 2013, 11:57:40 AM PST
To: "Hui, Tom" <tom.hui@sfgov.org<mailto:tom.hui@sfgov.org>>,
 "Sweeney, Edward"
 <edward.sweeney@sfgov.org<mailto:edward.sweeney@sfgov.org>>,
 "Leung, David"
 <david.leung@sfgov.org<mailto:david.leung@sfgov.org>>
Subject: !25 Crown Terrace - Final Construction Valuation

Dear Tom, Ed, and David:

Here is the final construction valuation for the above project in PDF
 format! I have also sent a hard copy to Ed!
Thanks to David’s help for his review and comments; I have
 incorporated all David’s comments!
Let me know if you have any questions!

Hanson
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From: Hui, Tom
To: Jason Hui
Subject: Fwd: DBI Action Plan to Investigate the 125 Crown Terrace Building Collapse of 12/16/13
Date: Monday, December 30, 2013 5:25:23 PM
Attachments: image002.gif

Sent from my iPhone 

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Tom, Hanson" <hanson.tom@sfgov.org>
Date: December 30, 2013, 2:16:56 PM PST
To: "Strawn, William" <william.strawn@sfgov.org>
Cc: "Hui, Tom" <tom.hui@sfgov.org>, "Sweeney, Edward"
 <edward.sweeney@sfgov.org>
Subject: RE: DBI Action Plan to Investigate the 125 Crown Terrace Building
 Collapse of 12/16/13

Bill,
I have it!
That was the reason I talked to Tom not to assign the task noticed my 
 probably will not able to complete the task in such a short time! I just returned full
 time work !
I was assured by Tom just to work /get the report from the SAC and help David to
 calculate the construction valuation! Now, I completed the estimate and are
 demanded to hand the report by tomorrow!  I really feel like a scapegoat!
DBI has many capable engineers with lot more experience and work longer at DBI than
 me. There is no reason to put me in this schedule!
I am still looking for a face to face discussion with Tom, Ed and you. Please arrange!
Thanks!
Hanson
 

From: Strawn, William 
Sent: Monday, December 30, 2013 2:05 PM
To: Tom, Hanson
Cc: Hui, Tom
Subject: FW: DBI Action Plan to Investigate the 125 Crown Terrace Building Collapse of
 12/16/13
Importance: High
 
Hanson – Here’s Tom’s original Action Plan on responding to the Crown Terrace
 situation, in case you do not have it.
Thanks.
Bill
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From: Jayin, Carolyn On Behalf Of Hui, Tom
Sent: Thursday, December 19, 2013 9:02 AM
To: angusmccarthy ; drmccray ; debrawalker ;
 frankwlee ; kevin.clinch ; melgar ;
 warren.mar
Cc: Lee, Mayor; Wiener, Scott; Kawa, Steve; Rahaim, John; Sweeney, Edward; Lowrey,
 Daniel
Subject: DBI Action Plan to Investigate the 125 Crown Terrace Building Collapse of
 12/16/13
Importance: High
 
President McCarthy and Honorable Members of the Building Inspection Commission,
 
Attached please find DBI’s Action Plan for the investigation of the 125 Crown Terrace
 building collapse.
 
Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact my office.
 
Thank you.
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Tom C. Hui, S.E., C.B.O.
Director
許子湯, 局長

City & County of San Francisco
Department of Building Inspection
1660 Mission Street, Sixth Floor
San Francisco CA 94103
415-558-6131 Phone
415-558-6225 Fax
Email: Tom.Hui@sfgov.org
Web: www.sfdbi.org
 

x-apple-data-detectors://0/0
x-apple-data-detectors://0/0
tel:415-558-6131
tel:415-558-6225
mailto:Tom.Hui@sfgov.org
x-msg://356/www.sfdbi.org


 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit 36 

 

 

 

 

 



From: Hui, Tom
To: Rodrigo Santos
Subject: Fwd: Engineering evaluation report
Date: Tuesday, December 31, 2013 3:11:41 PM
Attachments: Evaluation Report - 125 Crown Terrace.docx

ATT00001.htm

FYI

Sent from my iPhone 

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Tom, Hanson" <hanson.tom@sfgov.org>
Date: December 31, 2013, 3:09:52 PM PST
To: "Sweeney, Edward" <edward.sweeney@sfgov.org>, "Strawn, William"
 <william.strawn@sfgov.org>, "karackeweb "
 <karackeweb >, "Hui, Tom" <tom.hui@sfgov.org>, "Leung, David"
 <david.leung@sfgov.org>
Cc: "Thai, Sylvia" <sylvia.thai@sfgov.org>
Subject: Engineering evaluation report

Tom, Ed, Bill and David:
This is the draft that I just finished! Please review and give me your comments ASAP!
Thanks!
 
Tom:
In the final report that we will send you, the report will contain these items:

<!--[if !supportLists]-->1)      <!--[endif]-->Evaluation report
<!--[if !supportLists]-->2)      <!--[endif]-->Construction value and permit fee
<!--[if !supportLists]-->3)      <!--[endif]-->SAC evaluation report
<!--[if !supportLists]-->4)      <!--[endif]-->EOR reports as attachment

 
Hanson
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Evaluation Report:  ((((((DRAFT!)))))))

In respond to “Santos & Urrutia Structural Engineers (EOR) Reports

Ref: EOR Reports Attached:

 Dated Dec. 23, 2013 & Dec. 30, 2014

Address: 125 Crown Terrace

Date: Dec. 30, 2013

To: Tom Hui, Director

Thru: Ed Sweeney, Deputy Director

From: Hanson Tom, Principal Engr.

	David Leung, TSD Manager

  	



Dear Director Hui:

FINDING:

We have reviewed the EOR reports and found the reports are incomplete with many details not totally in agreement with your requests stipulated in your Action Plan dated on Dec. 19, 2013. (Attached)

In your Action Plan to the DBI Commission, you specially required the EOR provide engineering report in explain these items:  the “cause of the structure collapse; mitigation plan; and timeline to place the structure back upon its newly-poured foundation”.

The EOR report explained the cause of collapse is due to the buckling of one of the cradle beams! The failure of this beam caused the existing house sliding downward to the slope; and the existing house splitting into three portions!

 However, the report didn’t address the construction sequence which the contractor must follow in accordance with the approved drawings SK-4 and SK-5. In these two drawings, the construction sequences were stipulated by the EOR and were reviewed and approved by the “Structural Advisory Committee (SAC). Nine temporary cribbings have to be in place prior to install the cradle beams to lift the existing house. In addition, these nine Cribbings are required to design to resist for environmental loads such as  earthquake and wind load. Drawing SK-5 clearly shown the cribbings are to be secured by lateral bracings. 

However, the field pictures clearly shown there are only few cribbings installed to lift the house upward and there is no lateral bracing in place, which probably is the main cause of the collapse of the temporary supports and the sliding of the house downward of the slope.

There is no indication in the report spelled out the interfacing of the EOR, the Soil Engineer / Geologist and the contractor. The approved drawing clearly stipulated that the shoring contractor is required to work and coordinate with these three parties! Special inspection for shoring is clearly stipulated in the approved drawing S1.0 and the EOR report didn’t address this inspection requirement! 

Since the existing house collapsed, the EOR has obtained a permit application #201312174398 stabled and also removed some portion of the existing house to mitigate the falling hazards. However, as noted by the EOR, these temporary measures are only useful for the short time. There are no longer team measures stipulated by the EOR to prevent the existing portion of the house from moving further downward!

The EOR stipulated that the collapsed existing house to be removed into three portions and preserved for future restoration back with the new house. The three existing portions identified into three zones, the southern portion as Zone 1, the eastern portion as Zone 2 and the northern portion as Zone 3. Due to the impact of collapse, the southern portion Zone 1 suffered damages beyond preservation and will be demolished; the eastern portion Zone 2 walls to be removed and reused into the final position of the new building; the northern portion Zone 3 to be relocated to a flat position and preserved for future restoration back with the new house. The EOR shown in its sketches how the preserved portions to be used with the new house.

However, upon reviewed the record permit structural drawings S2, S3 and S4 under issued permit application # 201110066315 S1, the framings for the new house are shown with new construction; there is no indication that any existing framings, walls and floor structural elements to be used.

The EOR report didn’t include any schedule of submittal of permit application for reconstruction!

Recommendation:

The staff recommending the following action items for the department:

1) The EOR needs to expand in the report explaining the reasons that the construction sequences are deviated from the approved permit.

2) The EOR shall submit to the department all relevant inspection record performed by the Structural Engineer, the Geotechnical Engineer and the Geologist.

3) The EOR shall engage and work with the City Planning Department for the purpose of preservation of the existing house; identify existing walls and flooring system to be preserved and used for the new house.

The EOR shall start this process immediately to avoid prolonging the existing house from exposing to the environment. 

The EOR shall monitor the collapsed house daily and provide addition of supports to secure the house as needed. He is required to engage the DBI to determine permit is needed for this type of hazard mitigation work.

4) The EOR shall submit new permit to revise the permit application #201110066315, especially the structural drawings, to incorporate the reuse of the existing house walls and flooring system. 

In the event the new structural system and the shoring system changed drastically from the approved permit application #201110066315, a SAC shall be required. 

5) The EOR shall perform items 1, 2, & 3 within one week of the issuance of this report. In addition, the EOR shall provide a schedule to perform item #4 and DBI and City Planning shall approve this schedule.









 

  



 



























Evaluation Report:  ((((((DRAFT!))))))) 

In respond to “Santos & Urrutia Structural Engineers (EOR) Reports 

Ref: EOR Reports Attached: 

 Dated Dec. 23, 2013 & Dec. 30, 2014 

Address: 125 Crown Terrace 

Date: Dec. 30, 2013 

To: Tom Hui, Director 

Thru: Ed Sweeney, Deputy Director 

From: Hanson Tom, Principal Engr. 

 David Leung, TSD Manager 

    

 

Dear Director Hui: 

FINDING: 

We have reviewed the EOR reports and found the reports are incomplete with many details not totally 
in agreement with your requests stipulated in your Action Plan dated on Dec. 19, 2013. (Attached) 

In your Action Plan to the DBI Commission, you specially required the EOR provide engineering report in 
explain these items:  the “cause of the structure collapse; mitigation plan; and timeline to place the 
structure back upon its newly-poured foundation”. 

The EOR report explained the cause of collapse is due to the buckling of one of the cradle beams! The 
failure of this beam caused the existing house sliding downward to the slope; and the existing house 
splitting into three portions! 

 However, the report didn’t address the construction sequence which the contractor must follow in 
accordance with the approved drawings SK-4 and SK-5. In these two drawings, the construction 
sequences were stipulated by the EOR and were reviewed and approved by the “Structural Advisory 
Committee (SAC). Nine temporary cribbings have to be in place prior to install the cradle beams to lift 
the existing house. In addition, these nine Cribbings are required to design to resist for environmental 



loads such as  earthquake and wind load. Drawing SK-5 clearly shown the cribbings are to be secured by 
lateral bracings.  

However, the field pictures clearly shown there are only few cribbings installed to lift the house upward 
and there is no lateral bracing in place, which probably is the main cause of the collapse of the 
temporary supports and the sliding of the house downward of the slope. 

There is no indication in the report spelled out the interfacing of the EOR, the Soil Engineer / Geologist 
and the contractor. The approved drawing clearly stipulated that the shoring contractor is required to 
work and coordinate with these three parties! Special inspection for shoring is clearly stipulated in the 
approved drawing S1.0 and the EOR report didn’t address this inspection requirement!  

Since the existing house collapsed, the EOR has obtained a permit application #201312174398 stabled 
and also removed some portion of the existing house to mitigate the falling hazards. However, as noted 
by the EOR, these temporary measures are only useful for the short time. There are no longer team 
measures stipulated by the EOR to prevent the existing portion of the house from moving further 
downward! 

The EOR stipulated that the collapsed existing house to be removed into three portions and preserved 
for future restoration back with the new house. The three existing portions identified into three zones, 
the southern portion as Zone 1, the eastern portion as Zone 2 and the northern portion as Zone 3. Due 
to the impact of collapse, the southern portion Zone 1 suffered damages beyond preservation and will 
be demolished; the eastern portion Zone 2 walls to be removed and reused into the final position of the 
new building; the northern portion Zone 3 to be relocated to a flat position and preserved for future 
restoration back with the new house. The EOR shown in its sketches how the preserved portions to be 
used with the new house. 

However, upon reviewed the record permit structural drawings S2, S3 and S4 under issued permit 
application # 201110066315 S1, the framings for the new house are shown with new construction; there 
is no indication that any existing framings, walls and floor structural elements to be used. 

The EOR report didn’t include any schedule of submittal of permit application for reconstruction! 

Recommendation: 

The staff recommending the following action items for the department: 

1) The EOR needs to expand in the report explaining the reasons that the construction sequences 
are deviated from the approved permit. 

2) The EOR shall submit to the department all relevant inspection record performed by the 
Structural Engineer, the Geotechnical Engineer and the Geologist. 

3) The EOR shall engage and work with the City Planning Department for the purpose of 
preservation of the existing house; identify existing walls and flooring system to be preserved 
and used for the new house. 



The EOR shall start this process immediately to avoid prolonging the existing house from 
exposing to the environment.  
The EOR shall monitor the collapsed house daily and provide addition of supports to secure the 
house as needed. He is required to engage the DBI to determine permit is needed for this type 
of hazard mitigation work. 

4) The EOR shall submit new permit to revise the permit application #201110066315, especially 
the structural drawings, to incorporate the reuse of the existing house walls and flooring system.  
In the event the new structural system and the shoring system changed drastically from the 
approved permit application #201110066315, a SAC shall be required.  

5) The EOR shall perform items 1, 2, & 3 within one week of the issuance of this report. In addition, 
the EOR shall provide a schedule to perform item #4 and DBI and City Planning shall approve this 
schedule. 
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From: Hui, Tom
To: Rodrigo Santos
Subject: Fwd: 125 Crown Terrace questions
Date: Tuesday, January 07, 2014 10:58:28 AM

Hi Mr. Santos,
Please, help me to answer some of Debra's questions.
Thanks
Tom

Sent from my iPhone 

Begin forwarded message:

From: Debra Walker <debrawalker >
Date: January 6, 2014, 2:31:51 PM PST
To: <angusmccarthy >, Tom Hui <tom.hui@sfgov.org>
Subject: 125 Crown Terrace questions

Hello Angus and Tom.  In thinking about the building collapse I do have a few
 questions.
1) Can you provide all commissioners with the approved plans for this project.
2) Please include all of the Special INspections, i.e. Foundation inspection report
 AND shoring inspection reports.  I think these are separate actions so they would
 each have a report and approved plans.  And I believe those were done by
 "special inspection".  Please provide these to the commission.
3) Did our inspectors inspect this project at all and when.  Was it inspected by the
 district inspector, the supervisor or someone else.  If it was not the district
 inspector, why not.  Did they indicate anything in their inspection report about
 the foundation and or the shoring.
4) Was the shoring constructed as approved?  How many cribbing towers?, proper
 footing?, which direction were the beams (N?S or E?W)? and how many beams?
5) I am hearing that the house was loaded with building materials-creating extra
 weight.  Is that the case?
I think that is it for now.
Thank you both for taking this a serious as it is.
Debra
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From: angusmccarthy
To: Strawn, William
Subject: Fwd:
Date: Thursday, January 09, 2014 12:56:42 PM

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: angusmccarthy
Date: January 9, 2014 at 12:55:16 PM PST
To: Angus McCarthy <angusmccarthy

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY, FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

After reviewing the documents, reports and site visits, DBI finds and recommends
 the followingpertaining to the Shoring Work:

1. The shoring failure at 125 Crown Terrace was caused by
 thecontractor of record failing to follow the approved shoring plans,
 and failure to coordinate the “special inspections” as mandated on the
 approved plans and dictated by the State Building Code.  A
 combination of these two items together caused thebuckling of one of
 the steel beams that spanned between the contractor’s erected wooden
 cribbing towers (See Images Attached). Photos of the site hours before
 the failure suggests that the contractor work was dramatically different
 from the approved plans and our finding conclude that the failure
 would not have happened if the approved plans were followed.  We
 also feel that if the contractor had coordinated his special inspectors
 and these inspectors were performing their inspections, the team of
 inspectors would have stopped all work immediately before the
 failure. It should be noted that the approved shoring plan relies
 strictly and solely on the special inspection process, not DBI
 inspectors. When DBI inspectors last visited the site, the shoring
 very different than the pictures indicate the night of the failure. As
 noted by DBI’s Principal Engineer, the contractor failed to follow the
 construction sequence of the approved plans during installation of the
 shoring towers. In addition, the engineer of record (EOR) failed to
 provide proper and timely observation of the shoring work, per the
 building code and as required by the special inspection provision of
 the approved plans. DBI finds these failures to comply with plan
 stipulations contributed to the collapse, and constitute violations
 subject to the building code’s Nine Times’ penalty provision. DBI’s
 Deputy Director for Permit Services, and appropriate staff, have
 calculated and applied the Nine Times’ penalty to the owner’s failure
 to obtain the proper shoring, berm and ramp permit – a total of



 $25,267.21 in additional penalty fees that must be paid prior to the
 resumption of any work whatsoever on the job site (See Attachment
 M).

10.  DBI inspections for the reinforcement of the retaining walls, and the
 drilled piers, were in accordance with the approved and issued plans.
 However, the contractor never called DBI for its inspection of the shoring.
 While that is the responsibility of the owner’s special inspectors, a request for
 DBI inspection to assure compliance was never made—leaving what became
 an unsafe shoring situation undiscovered until after the incident occurred.

2.  In addition, DBI’s Director also requires continuous special inspection
 for any future shoring and foundation work for this project by the owner’s EOR
 and Geotechnical Engineer, and the submittal of weekly special inspection
 reports to DBI’s Special Inspection Team. DBI’s Deputy Director for Inspection
 Services will require unscheduled “spot” quality assurance checks by the District
 Inspector, or by supervisory Inspection staff, to insure compliance with special
 inspection requirements. These quality assurance spot-check inspections will be
 charged to and paid for by the property owner at DBI’s code-established hourly
 inspection rates, per DBI Fee Table 1-D.
3.  DBI’s Building Inspection Division shall issue a correction notice to the
 project applicant to increase the value of the construction cost for each permit per
 Hanson Tom’s report (Attachment G) and reimburse DBI, Planning, and other
 departments for all additional fees. We estimate the project applicant will pay an
 additional $26,309.32 in DBI permit fees prior to resuming work, in addition to
 the Nine Times’ penalty assessment noted above ($25,267.21) – or a total of
 $51,576.53 in penalty fees.
4.  The Project applicant shall install a temporary surface drainage system,
 as required by the approved plans, to control surface runoff within 24 hours of
 issuance of this report, and complete all work no later thanJanuary 13, 2014.
5.  The project shall be constructed per the approved plans for foundation as
 the permanent stabilization program. Any revision shall be reviewed by the third-
party independent structural engineering peer reviewer, Tuan and Robinson
 Engineers, Inc. (Attachment J and Attachment L).
6.  Until noted otherwise, no construction shall be allowed for this project,
 except foundation work. Work on the superstructure shall be first reviewed by
 City Planning. Permit revision submittals provided by the EOR shall include
 drawings showing percentage of areas of walls and floors to be retained and
 reused versus total areas

of existing walls and floors, and methods to install the structure on the approved
 location to comply with Planning’s determination. To revise the issued permits,
 new permit applications must be submitted at DBI with “Revision of the Previous
 Issued Permit” stipulated in the scope of work for the permit.
7.  Structural observation of this project will be performed according to
 DBI”s Updated Action Plan, dated December 31, 2013. Structural observation of
 the project will be performed by the District Inspector, along with the Chief



 Building Inspector or Senior Building Inspector, and special inspectors provided
 by the EOR.
8.  The permit applicant shall pay all the additional permit fees, and penalty
 fees, prior to the resumption of any construction on the site, excepting only the
 surface water drainage stabilization system required in item number four above.
9.  DBI staff and the Structural Advisory Committee (SAC) acted according
 to the San Francisco Building Code, and made completely clear to the owner that
 the proposed structure shall be structurally safe if it is built in accordance with
 the approved plans.
11.  The Director of the Department of Building Inspection will engage peer
 review by the Structural Advisory Committee at any time on this project and on
 an as-needed basis.

Additional DBI Departmental Actions

1.  Due to DBI staff oversights in Plan Check and in Technical Services in
 catching the applicant’s initial underestimation of construction costs in a known
 steep-slope neighborhood, and thus failing to make an accurate correction notice
 in the Department’s review of this unique single family construction project, DBI
 staff will take additional, mandatory, training in the application of project cost
 valuations within the next month to ensure the kinds of oversights and potential
 mistakes committed with this Crown Terrace project will not be repeated. Staff
 who fail to execute accurate correction notices in a timely manner also may be
 subject to appropriate disciplinary measures as determined by the Department of
 Human Resources and per ‘Meet and Confer’ provisions within union MOUs.

Potential Additional DBI Departmental Action Items

2.  In addition, while making an accurate project valuation estimate is the
 applicant’s responsibility, DBI will immediately add language to all applications
 specifying that failure to provide an accurate project valuation by the applicant
 may constitute grounds for an immediate investigation and consultation with the
 City Attorney concerning possible legal action. Also, the Director of DBI will
 order random audits of project valuations to gauge whether or not additional
 mandatory training for staff is warranted to ensure accuracy and consistency.

3.  We are sending a copy of DBI’s internal investigation of the December
 16, 2013 Crown Terrace incident to the California State Licensing Board for its
 review.  It would be up to that Board to determine whether or not possible actions
 are warranted under the California Professional Engineers’ Act.

From:angusmccarthy [mailto:angusmccarthy
Sent: Thursday, January 9, 2014 11:17 AM



To: Sean Keighran
Subject: Fwd: Revised Crown Terrace Report for Steve Kawa discussion today

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Strawn, William" <william.strawn@sfgov.org>
Date: January 9, 2014 at 11:03:34 AM PST
To: "Hui, Tom" <tom.hui@sfgov.org>, Angus McCarthy
 <angusmccarthy
Cc: "Strawn, William" <william.strawn@sfgov.org>
Subject: Revised Crown Terrace Report for Steve Kawa
 discussion today

I can send this to Carolyn for final formatting, if we are ready for
 that.
Bill

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY, FINDINGS AND
 RECOMMENDATIONS

After reviewing the documents, reports and site visits, DBI finds and
 recommends:

1.  The shoring failure at 125 Crown Terrace was caused by the
 buckling of one of the steel beams that spanned between the
 contractor’s erected wooden cribbing towers (See Images Attached).
 As noted by DBI’s Principal Engineer, the contractor failed to follow
 the construction sequence of the approved plans during installation
 of the shoring towers. In addition, the engineer of record (EOR)
 failed to provide proper and timely observation of the shoring work,
 per the building code and as required by the special inspection
 provision of the approved plans. DBI finds these failures to comply
 with plan stipulations contributed to the collapse, and constitute
 violations subject to the building code’s Nine Times’ penalty
 provision. DBI’s Deputy Director for Permit Services, and
 appropriate staff, have calculated and applied the Nine Times’
 penalty to the owner’s failure to obtain the proper shoring, berm and
 ramp permit – a total of $25,267.21 in additional penalty fees that
 must be paid prior to the resumption of any work whatsoever on the
 job site (See Attachment M).
2.  In addition, DBI’s Director also requires continuous special
 inspection for any future shoring and foundation work for this
 project by the owner’s EOR and Geotechnical Engineer, and the
 submittal of weekly special inspection reports to DBI’s Special



 Inspection Team. DBI’s Deputy Director for Inspection Services will
 require unscheduled “spot” quality assurance checks by the District
 Inspector, or by supervisory Inspection staff, to insure compliance
 with special inspection requirements. These quality assurance spot-
check inspections will be charged to and paid for by the property
 owner at DBI’s code-established hourly inspection rates, per DBI
 Fee Table 1-D.
3.  DBI’s Building Inspection Division shall issue a correction
 notice to the project applicant to increase the value of the
 construction cost for each permit per Hanson Tom’s report
 (Attachment G) and reimburse DBI, Planning, and other departments
 for all additional fees. We estimate the project applicant will pay an
 additional $26,309.32 in DBI permit fees prior to resuming work, in
 addition to the Nine Times’ penalty assessment noted above
 ($25,267.21) – or a total of $51,576.53 in penalty fees.
4.  The Project applicant shall install a temporary surface
 drainage system, as required by the approved plans, to control
 surface runoff within 24 hours of issuance of this report, and
 complete all work no later thanJanuary 13, 2014.
5.  The project shall be constructed per the approved plans for
 foundation as the permanent stabilization program. Any revision
 shall be reviewed by the third-party independent structural
 engineering peer reviewer, Tuan and Robinson Engineers, Inc.
 (Attachment J and Attachment L).
6.  Until noted otherwise, no construction shall be allowed for
 this project, except foundation work. Work on the superstructure
 shall be first reviewed by City Planning. Permit revision submittals
 provided by the EOR shall include drawings showing percentage of
 areas of walls and floors to be retained and reused versus total areas

of existing walls and floors, and methods to install the structure on
 the approved location to comply with Planning’s determination. To
 revise the issued permits, new permit applications must be submitted
 at DBI with “Revision of the Previous Issued Permit” stipulated in
 the scope of work for the permit.
7.  Structural observation of this project will be performed
 according to DBI”s Updated Action Plan, dated December 31, 2013.
 Structural observation of the project will be performed by the
 District Inspector, along with the Chief Building Inspector or Senior
 Building Inspector, and special inspectors provided by the EOR.
8.  The permit applicant shall pay all the additional permit fees,
 and penalty fees, prior to the resumption of any construction on the
 site, excepting only the surface water drainage stabilization system
 required in item number four above.
9.  DBI staff and the Structural Advisory Committee (SAC)
 acted according to the San Francisco Building Code, and made
 completely clear to the owner that the proposed structure shall be
 structurally safe if it is built in accordance with the approved plans.



10.  DBI inspections for the reinforcement of the retaining walls,
 and the drilled piers, were in accordance with the approved and
 issued plans. However, the contractor never called DBI for its
 inspection of the shoring. While that is the responsibility of the
 owner’s special inspectors, a request for DBI inspection to assure
 compliance was never made—leaving what became an unsafe
 shoring situation undiscovered until after the incident occurred.
11.  The Director of the Department of Building Inspection will
 engage peer review by the Structural Advisory Committee at any
 time on this project and on an as-needed basis.

Additional DBI Departmental Actions

1.  Due to DBI staff oversights in Plan Check and in Technical
 Services in catching the applicant’s initial underestimation of
 construction costs in a known steep-slope neighborhood, and thus
 failing to make an accurate correction notice in the Department’s
 review of this unique single family construction project, DBI staff
 will take additional, mandatory, training in the application of project
 cost valuations within the next month to ensure the kinds of
 oversights and potential mistakes committed with this Crown
 Terrace project will not be repeated. Staff who fail to execute
 accurate correction notices in a timely manner also may be subject to
 appropriate disciplinary measures as determined by the Department
 of Human Resources and per ‘Meet and Confer’ provisions within
 union MOUs.

Potential Additional DBI Departmental Action Items

2.  In addition, while making an accurate project valuation
 estimate is the applicant’s responsibility, DBI will immediately add
 language to all applications specifying that failure to provide an
 accurate project valuation by the applicant may constitute grounds
 for an immediate investigation and consultation with the City
 Attorney concerning possible legal action. Also, the Director of DBI
 will order random audits of project valuations to gauge whether or
 not additional mandatory training for staff is warranted to ensure
 accuracy and consistency.

3.  We are sending a copy of DBI’s internal investigation of the
 December 16, 2013 Crown Terrace incident to the California State
 Licensing Board for its review.  It would be up to that Board to
 determine whether or not possible actions are warranted under the
 California Professional Engineers’ Act.



William Strawn
Manager, Legislative & Public Affairs
Department of Building Inspection
1660 Mission Street, Suite 600
San Francisco, CA 94103-2414
Mobile: 415/850-9816
Tel. 415/558-6250
Fax: 415/558-6225
william.strawn@sfgov.org

Sent from my iPhone
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From: Strawn, William
To: O"Riordan, Patrick; Lowrey, Daniel
Cc: Hui, Tom; Sweeney, Edward; Leung, David; Panelli, Steven; Allen, Ron
Subject: RE: Drafting internal procedures re: inspections when Dist Inspector is not able to cover that district, and project

 valuation checks
Date: Tuesday, January 28, 2014 8:11:04 AM

Thanks, Patrick. What you finally decide to do is up to you, of course I think it’s important for clerical
 staff, who may know sooner than senior management, to make known a missing inspector as early
 in the day as possible – which is why I edited slightly your original item on clerical staff.
 
Your call completely as to what we finalize.  Tom told me Dan would be adding this to your
 Operations Book/Guide immediately, right?
 
Cheers,
Bill
 

From: O'Riordan, Patrick 
Sent: Monday, January 27, 2014 9:25 PM
To: Lowrey, Daniel; Strawn, William
Cc: Hui, Tom; Sweeney, Edward; Leung, David; Panelli, Steven; Allen, Ron
Subject: Re: Drafting internal procedures re: inspections when Dist Inspector is not able to cover that
 district, and project valuation checks
 
Hi Bill,
 
I'm not sure why you added a number 8 in the prioritization of who does inspections. 
I think this is exactly what we are trying to avoid saying.
 
Please note that informing clerical staff immediately is not critical in the process of assigning
 inspectors for coverage although it helps with record keeping.  My focus in regard to clerical staff is
 that if they if they are the ones contacted they will then update the Senior, Chief or possibly the
 Deputy Director of Inspection Services of the unexpected absence.
 
Regards,
 
Patrick O'Riordan
Chief Building Inspector
3rd floor, 1660 Mission Street
SanFrancisco, CA 94103
Tel. 415 558 6105
 

On Jan 27, 2014, at 3:15 PM, "O'Riordan, Patrick" <patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org> wrote:

 
Hi Dan and Bill,
 

mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=CEBF4A7287E14612B9667B4027DAA38A-WILLIAM.STRAWN@SFGOV.ORG
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=8e9f78391af24fe49a9c0b306f737c4f-patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=07cc5c5b978444d281be40032c8eccdd-daniel.lowrey@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Ad29fb13272641fd9896fbb27f8fe6ef-tom.hui@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=1b04f7401b2547aa9686c4670ced0ea3-edward.sweeney@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Cbf38a1897694c2baca1508de6f5cea9-david.leung@sfgov.org
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mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=709372dc786340b39b7084ce22b17b39-ron.allen@sfgov.org
mailto:patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org


The following is my idea of what an internal procedure for District coverage for BID
 should be.  You may want to incorporate these ideas in generating a BID, EID and PID
 global template with the input of the other Chiefs.
The Building Inspection Division (BID) has 18 building inspection districts (1 through 18)
 for the City and a 6331 Building Inspector is assigned to each of these districts by DBI
 management.  Additionally, two floating 6331 Building Inspectors are available for
 coverage of these Districts along with 6331 Building Inspectors who have other
 assignments such as complaint investigation and condo conversion duties.  When a
 District Building Inspector is unavailable to perform the inspections scheduled to
 his/her district due to vacation, scheduled training, scheduled sick leave or planned
 family related leave one of the floating Building Inspectors or a Building Inspector from
 another district or another 6331 discipline may be assigned by a supervisor to perform
 the scheduled inspections.  Sometimes, unplanned absences due to sickness or family
 related emergencies or illness happen without notice and one or more Building
 Inspector/s need to be assigned for district coverage usually the morning or day of the
 inspections.  District Inspector coverage for planned absences is organized at least a
 week and sometimes many weeks in advance.
 
 
In the event of unexpected absences the Senior Building Inspector, Chief Building
 Inspector or Deputy Director and sometimes clerical staff is contacted and made
 aware of the situation.
 
The parameters for assigning Inspectors for unexpected absences are as follows:
 

1.       The Senior Building Inspector has the responsibility and is tasked with
 providing the coverage for an Inspector’s unexpected absence.

2.       If the Deputy Director is contacted he/she will ask their Chief Building
 Inspector to arrange to have an alternate Inspector perform the inspection.

3.       If the Chief is contacted or made aware of an absence he/she will ask the
 Senior Inspector to arrange for inspection coverage.

4.       The Chief Building Inspector (Division Manager) may also assign Inspectors to
 perform these inspections based on necessity.

5.       If clerical staff are contacted regarding an unplanned absence the may provide
 the Senior, Chief or Deputy with the relevant information.
 
The prioritization of which Inspector does the Inspections is as follows:
 

1.       Floating Inspector.
2.       District Inspector with fewest inspections.
3.       District Inspector with closest proximity to where coverage is needed.
4.       Senior Building Inspector.
5.       Complaint Investigation Inspector.
6.       Building Inspector from other BID discipline.
7.       Building Inspector from another Division within DBI.



 
 

Regards,
 
Patrick O'Riordan
Chief Building Inspector
3rd Floor, 1660 Mission Street
San Francisco, CA 94103
Tel. 415 558 6105
 

From: Strawn, William 
Sent: Monday, January 27, 2014 12:07 PM
To: Lowrey, Daniel; O'Riordan, Patrick; Sweeney, Edward; Leung, David
Cc: Hui, Tom; Strawn, William
Subject: Drafting internal procedures re: inspections when Dist Inspector is not able to
 cover that district, and project valuation checks
 
Jan. 27, 2014
Per my discussion with Tom this morning, I understand Dan/Patrick are drafting a
 procedure that makes clear what happens if inspectors call in sick and compel the
 Chief Building Inspector and/or the Deputy Director to assign a floater to cover a
 project that requires a DBI inspection.  It would be helpful to have this draft in the next
 day or two, to be ahead of other recommendations that may soon be coming.
 
Similarly with respect to the calculation of project valuations, hopefully we are drafting
 a procedure that clarifies how more detailed plans are made available to ensure a
 reasonably early assessment of whether or not the applicant’s estimate is accurate or
 in need of revision/correction. Again, having a draft ready in the next day or two would
 be a very good step in the right direction. This draft may also include an indication of
 how frequently Marshall & Swift training is to be taken by appropriate DBI staff.
 
Thanks.
Bill
 
William Strawn
Manager, Legislative & Public Affairs
Department of Building Inspection
1660 Mission Street, Suite 600
San Francisco, CA 94103-2414
Mobile: 415/850-9816
Tel. 415/558-6250
Fax: 415/558-6225
william.strawn@sfgov.org
 

mailto:william.strawn@sfgov.org
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From: Strawn, William
To: Lowrey, Daniel; O"Riordan, Patrick; Leung, David; Sweeney, Edward
Cc: Hui, Tom; Jayin, Carolyn; Strawn, William
Subject: Emailing: Building Inspection Division
Date: Monday, January 27, 2014 3:55:06 PM
Attachments: Building Inspection Division.docx

  FYI, here draft language from Patrick to cover BID inspector absences.

We need to place this in a standard DBI Policy and Procedure format, possibly something those preparing current
 Code Information Sheets could do, and then post this on the DBI web site, as well as have copies at public counters.

Any suggested language changes can be sent to me.

Many thanks.
Bill

Your message is ready to be sent with the following file or link attachments:

Building Inspection Division

Note: To protect against computer viruses, e-mail programs may prevent sending or receiving certain types of file
 attachments.  Check your e-mail security settings to determine how attachments are handled.

mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=CEBF4A7287E14612B9667B4027DAA38A-WILLIAM.STRAWN@SFGOV.ORG
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=07cc5c5b978444d281be40032c8eccdd-daniel.lowrey@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=8e9f78391af24fe49a9c0b306f737c4f-patrick.oriordan@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Cbf38a1897694c2baca1508de6f5cea9-david.leung@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=1b04f7401b2547aa9686c4670ced0ea3-edward.sweeney@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Ad29fb13272641fd9896fbb27f8fe6ef-tom.hui@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=9fdcf93fabeb4fc8af0d829d4c5930ff-carolyn.jayin@sfgov.org
mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Cebf4a7287e14612b9667b4027daa38a-william.strawn@sfgov.org

Building Inspection Division

DBI Policy and Procedure to Manage Inspections 

When District Inspector Can Not Perform

Draft: January 27, 2014



See below for Draft internal procedure for District coverage for BID – possibly a template for EID, PID and HIS.

The Building Inspection Division (BID) has 18 building inspection districts (1 through 18) for the City, as well as a 6331 Building Inspector assigned to each of these districts by DBI management.  

Additionally, two floating 6331 Building Inspectors are available for coverage of these Districts, along with 6331 Building Inspectors who have other assignments such as complaint investigation and condo conversion duties.  When a District Building Inspector is unavailable to perform the inspections scheduled in his/her district due to vacation, scheduled training, scheduled sick leave, or planned family related leave, one of the floating Building Inspectors or a Building Inspector from another district, or another 6331 discipline may be assigned by a supervisor or by the Deputy Director to perform the scheduled inspections.  

In cases of unplanned absences due to sickness, family-related or other emergencies, which occur without notice, one or more Building Inspector/s will be assigned by supervisory management for that district’s coverage on the morning or day of the scheduled inspections.  District Inspector coverage  is organized at least a week in advance of the planned absence.

In the event of unexpected absences the Senior Building Inspector, Chief Building Inspector or Deputy Director, as well as key clerical personnel, are contacted, made aware of the situation, and act immediately to ensure appropriate coverage for that District. 

The criteria for assigning Inspectors for unexpected absences are:

1.	The Senior Building Inspector has the responsibility, and is tasked with, providing the coverage for an Inspector’s unexpected absence.

2.	The Deputy Director is contacted and made aware of the situation, and will assign a Chief Building Inspector to arrange an alternate Inspector to perform any and all scheduled  inspections. 

3.	When the Chief Building Inspector is contacted or made aware of an absence, he/she will assign he Senior Inspector to arrange for inspection coverage. 

4.	The Chief Building Inspector (Division Manager) also may assign Inspectors to perform these inspections based on necessity and time-sensitive jobs.

5.	Clerical staff must be informed of any unplanned absence as soon as possible, in order to provide the Senior, Chief and Deputy with the relevant information.

Prioritization of which Inspector conducts these scheduled Inspections is:

1.	Floating Inspector.

2.	District Inspector with fewest inspections.

3.	District Inspector with closest proximity to where coverage is needed.

4.	Senior Building Inspector.

5.	Complaint Investigation Inspector.

6.	Building Inspector from other BID discipline.

7.	Building Inspector from another Division within DBI.

8.	As assigned by Deputy Director of Inspection Services.





Regards,

Patrick O'Riordan

Chief Building Inspector

3rd Floor, 1660 Mission Street

San Francisco, CA 94103

Tel. 415 558 6105



Building Inspection Division 

DBI Policy and Procedure to Manage Inspections  

When District Inspector Can Not Perform 

Draft: January 27, 2014 

 

See below for Draft internal procedure for District coverage for BID – possibly a template for 
EID, PID and HIS. 

The Building Inspection Division (BID) has 18 building inspection districts (1 through 18) for the 
City, as well as a 6331 Building Inspector assigned to each of these districts by DBI 
management.   

Additionally, two floating 6331 Building Inspectors are available for coverage of these Districts, 
along with 6331 Building Inspectors who have other assignments such as complaint 
investigation and condo conversion duties.  When a District Building Inspector is unavailable to 
perform the inspections scheduled in his/her district due to vacation, scheduled training, 
scheduled sick leave, or planned family related leave, one of the floating Building Inspectors or 
a Building Inspector from another district, or another 6331 discipline may be assigned by a 
supervisor or by the Deputy Director to perform the scheduled inspections.   

In cases of unplanned absences due to sickness, family-related or other emergencies, which 
occur without notice, one or more Building Inspector/s will be assigned by supervisory 
management for that district’s coverage on the morning or day of the scheduled inspections.  
District Inspector coverage  is organized at least a week in advance of the planned absence. 

In the event of unexpected absences the Senior Building Inspector, Chief Building Inspector or 
Deputy Director, as well as key clerical personnel, are contacted, made aware of the situation, 
and act immediately to ensure appropriate coverage for that District.  

The criteria for assigning Inspectors for unexpected absences are: 

1. The Senior Building Inspector has the responsibility, and is tasked with, providing the 
coverage for an Inspector’s unexpected absence. 

2. The Deputy Director is contacted and made aware of the situation, and will assign a 
Chief Building Inspector to arrange an alternate Inspector to perform any and all scheduled  
inspections.  

3. When the Chief Building Inspector is contacted or made aware of an absence, he/she 
will assign he Senior Inspector to arrange for inspection coverage.  

4. The Chief Building Inspector (Division Manager) also may assign Inspectors to perform 
these inspections based on necessity and time-sensitive jobs. 



5. Clerical staff must be informed of any unplanned absence as soon as possible, in order 
to provide the Senior, Chief and Deputy with the relevant information. 

Prioritization of which Inspector conducts these scheduled Inspections is: 

1. Floating Inspector. 

2. District Inspector with fewest inspections. 

3. District Inspector with closest proximity to where coverage is needed. 

4. Senior Building Inspector. 

5. Complaint Investigation Inspector. 

6. Building Inspector from other BID discipline. 

7. Building Inspector from another Division within DBI. 

8. As assigned by Deputy Director of Inspection Services. 

 

 

Regards, 

Patrick O'Riordan 

Chief Building Inspector 

3rd Floor, 1660 Mission Street 

San Francisco, CA 94103 

Tel. 415 558 6105 
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Inspector Assignment Wheel 

Attachment 3 
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where schedule is not completely full 

Adjacent District Building Inspector  
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 DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION  
 City & County of San Francisco 
 49 South Van Ness Avenue, Suite 400 – San Francisco CA 94103 
 
  
 

 
STAFF REPORT 
 
DATE:   August 17, 2021 
 
SUBJECT:                         Report on code enforcement of: 
    2867 San Bruno Avenue 
    2875 San Bruno Avenue 
    2883 San Bruno Avenue 
    2891 San Bruno Avenue 
    2899 San Bruno Avenue 
                                                         
Background 
 
On August 19, 2013, the Department of Building Inspection (DBI) issued five building 
permits to construct five 4-story buildings with a total of ten dwelling units at 2867-2899 
San Bruno Avenue (San Bruno properties). The approved site permit included 
commercial uses on the ground floor, office use on the second floor and dwelling units 
on the third and fourth floors of each building. Per the site permit process, the 
department issued subsequent addenda to allow the construction of the five buildings. 
The buildings were constructed and final sign-off was completed on January 6, 2017. 
 
In December 2018, DBI received a complaint from the San Francisco Planning 
Department (SF Planning) regarding reports of unpermitted construction at the 
properties. The complaint was assigned to a code enforcement building inspector and 
research and review of all approved permit documents began.  
 
Property History 
 

1. The subject properties are composed of five buildings with addresses on San 
Bruno Avenue and Woolsey Street ranging from 2867 through 2899 San Bruno 
Ave and 90 through 98 Woolsey (three storefront addresses at 2899 San Bruno). 
 

2. These structures were built under permit applications 201209270763, 
201209270766, 201209270765, 201209270764, 201209270758 “To erect 4 
stories, 2 offices, 1 commercial retail and 2 family dwellings building.” 
 

3. Under these permits, the properties were to be constructed as mixed-use 
buildings with one (1) commercial space on the first floor, two (2) office spaces at 
the second floor, a unit on the third (3) floor and unit on the fourth (4) floor with a 
roof deck. 

 



 
 

2 
 

Review of Records and Field Inspections 
 
Several city agencies, including DBI, the San Francisco Fire Department (SFFD), SF 
Planning and the San Francisco City Attorney’s Office participated in a joint task force 
inspection on January 9, 2019. The purpose of the joint task force inspection was to 
determine the full extent of the building, planning, and fire code violations at the 
property. At the time of inspection, it was identified that the buildings were not built 
according to the approved plans.  
 
The joint task force inspection found: 
 

• There are six dwelling units (instead of two) in each of the five buildings. 
 

• The approved office use on the second floor of each building had been converted 
into two separate dwelling units resulting in 10 additional dwelling units for the 
five buildings.  

 
• The authorized dwelling unit on the third and fourth floors of each building was 

split into two separate dwelling units resulting in four illegal units in each of the 
five buildings. As a result, a total of 20 additional dwelling units were added 
illegally. This increase in units changes the building code occupancy from an R-3 
to a R-2 occupancy, which substantially increases the requirements for means of 
egress, fire safety, and accessibility.    

 
• Unpermitted work had been performed that differed from the approved plans at 

the ground floor of the buildings and at the exterior façade, including: 
 

o The front façade approved under 201209270763, 201209270766, 
201209270765, 201209270764, 201209270758 permits is different than 
currently built (windows on second and third floors deviate from approved 
plans). 

 
o The roof deck approved under 201209270763, 201209270766, 

201209270765, 201209270764, 201209270758 permits was not 
constructed. 

 
o Rear elevation approved under 201209270763, 201209270766, 

201209270765, 201209270764, 201209270758 permits is different than 
currently built. 

 
o Garage deviates from approved plans.  There is no access to commercial 

space, and one parking space was eliminated. One garage door was 
eliminated. 
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o Piping for additional kitchens was installed without a plumbing permit. 

 
o Associated electrical installation was altered without permit. (SFEC 89.116 

89.118 89.120 89.122) 
 

Through the work of the task force, it became clear that Former Senior Inspector Bernie 
Curran had conducted the final inspection on January 6, 2017 without the rest of the 
necessary building inspections having been performed.  
 
Immediately thereafter, Mr. Curran’s supervisor asked why he had assigned himself to 
conduct the final inspection instead of designating another building inspector, per the 
standard procedure.  Mr. Curran responded that then-Director Tom Hui had asked him 
to conduct inspections of those buildings. 
 
An investigation of a later complaint regarding 2861- 2865 San Bruno Avenue, an 
adjacent property with the same owner, determined that PA# 201704033064 “to reduce 
the size of a light court and increase the size of the rooftop penthouse” was approved 
without the permit being routed to City Planning.  A notice of violation was issued on 
November 4, 2019.  Unlike the other projects, this was an alteration of an existing 
building on a separate lot.  It had not yet received a Certificate of Final Completion at 
the time the NOV was issued, so the permits for this project were suspended until a new 
permit is filed reviewed and issued.  
 
DBI issued a total of 16 Notices of Violation (NOVs) at the San Bruno properties, 
including 2861 San Bruno Avenue. The cases were referred to a Director’s Hearing and 
subsequently Orders of Abatement were issued against the properties. The orders have 
been appealed and are currently scheduled to be heard at the Abatement Appeals 
Board. This process is part of DBI’s administrative code enforcement process. Separate 
notices of violation were also issued by SFFD and SF Planning. 
 
To allow continued occupancy of the buildings, the property owner obtained building 
permits for temporary life-safety upgrades, and the work was completed and inspected 
by DBI and SFFD. It is the department’s determination that these steps are sufficient to 
ensure that the buildings are safe for continued occupancy pending resolution of the 
outstanding violations, and taking the extraordinary step of evacuating the buildings and 
displacing the residents was not warranted. 
 
The buildings are required to be upgraded to meet all applicable building codes as well 
as requirements from SF Planning, SFFD and other city agencies. This report will 
document the detailed actions that took place since the initial complaint in December 
2018. 
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Chronology of Enforcement and Temporary Mitigation of Unsafe Conditions 
 
January 9, 2019 
Fifteen (15) Notices of Violation were issued on January 9, 2019 by DBI’s Building 
Inspection Division, Plumbing Inspection Division and Electrical Inspection Division.  

 
February 6, 2019 
Multiple electrical permits were obtained for “2867-2873 San Bruno Avenue—fire alarm 
work to temporarily mitigate the imminent safety hazards and unsafe conditions.” These 
permits were finalized by DBI’s Electrical Inspection Division on February 27, 2019. 
 
February 8, 2019 
Multiple permits were issued to “upgrade sprinkler monitoring system to full alarm 
system for TI to temporarily mitigate imminent safety hazards and unsafe conditions.”  
The permits were finalized by SFFD on February 27, 2019. 

 
February 19, 2019 
Multiple permits were issued for “as-built for FA install a relay module for the door strike 
to mitigate imminent hazard and unsafe conditions.” These permits were finalized on 
February 28, 2019. 

 
February 21, 2019 
Multiple permits were issued to “provide temporary scaffold fire exit to all 3 levels of 
building at rear—temporary fire exit to be constructed with metal scaffold frame with 24 
hour full access from building to public right of way to mitigate unsafe condition that 
exists at the above properties as a result of referenced fire code violation.” These 
permits received final sign-off on March 3, 2019 by DBI’s Building Inspection Division. 

 
May 29, 2019 
The property owner filed multiple building permit applications: 
201905291900,201905291901, 201905291902, 201905291888 and 201905291899 to 
“comply ENF#2017008719-00,02,03&04ENF, DBI NOVs, legalize 2 units, provide 
second egress for 4th floor units by installing permanent hot-dipped galvanized steel fire 
escape stairs, interior adjustment of approved PA#201209270766 to accommodate 4 
units, façade modify to match as built conditions per zoning administrator.”  These 
permits are being reviewed by multiple city agencies. 
 
June 9, 2019 
DBI issued warning letters and referred the cases to DBI’s code enforcement 
administrative process. 

 
October 24, 2019 
DBI issued Orders of Abatement. 
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November 4, 2019  
Notice of Violation was issued for PA# 201704033064 at 2861-2865 San Bruno Ave on 
the basis that the permit had not been routed to Planning for review. 

 
November 26, 2019 
All permits for 2861-2865 San Bruno Ave were suspended. 

 
The owner’s representative subsequently appealed the administrative orders pursuant 
to Section 105A.2. Therefore, Orders of Abatement have not been recorded against the 
title of the properties as of August 17, 2021. 

 
Throughout the administrative code enforcement process, DBI’s code enforcement 
team has assessed approximately $27,745.57 in initial bills to be charged to the 
property owner that include inspectors’ time and clerical work (preparing hearings, 
posting of orders, site visits, mailing of documents, etc.). To date, the owner has paid 
$10,169.79.  
 
These cases will continue to accrue penalties that will be collected once the buildings 
are brought into code compliance and all associated permits are completed. The 
property owner will also be required to pay separate penalty fees associated with the 
issuance of building, electrical and plumbing permits. These penalty fees will be 
collected and calculated at the time of issuance of these specific permits.  
 
 
Thank You,                                                                   
Mauricio E. Hernandez 
Chief Building Inspector 
Code Enforcement Division & Complaint Investigation Team 
 
CC 
Joseph Duffy 
Acting Deputy Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

6 
 

Sixteen (16) total notices of violations active in code enforcement 
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Copies of Notices of Violations 
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Copies of permits obtained to mitigate the life safety concerns 
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Copies of Orders of Abatement and Initial Assessment Fees 
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RN DISTRICT OF CALIFOR~ OCl I b 
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C4UFokNJ; 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

v. 

CR 14 527 

ALLEN FONG et al., Rs 

DEFENDANT(S). 

INDICTMENT 

VIOLATIONS: Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(d)- Conspiracy to Conduct Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering 
Activity (one count); Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce 

to Promote Prostitution) (one count); Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2- Use of Facility in Interstate Commerce to 
Promote Prostitution (eleven counts); Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(1 )(A)(i) - Conspiracy to Launder Monetary 

Instruments) (one count); Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 2- Laundering Monetary Instruments (nine counts); Title 
18, United States Code, Section 1956(h) & 1956(a){2)(A)- Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity (one count); Title 18, 
United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2- Transporting Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity (seven counts); Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 371, Title 18, United States Code, Section 2421, & Title 8, United States Code, Section 1328- Conspiracy to Transport for 
Prostitution and Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose (one count); Title 18, United States Code, Sections 981, 982, 1963, and 2428, and 

Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461 -Forfeiture Allegations 

A true bill. 

Foreman 

Filed in open court this 

Clerk 
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DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTIO U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: D COMPLAINT D INFORMATION 

r----OFFENSE CHARGED 

NameJJ!hJistrict Court, ttludge/Magistrate Location 

Ndf,!l-flfRNAjST~CT OF CALIFORNIA 

CLtr:/ '~/iB';\NCIS~ ~lSI ON 

D Misde
meanor 

[81 Felony 

PENALTY: SEE ATTACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (& Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

D person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

D this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21, or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D 
charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

D U.S. ATTORNEY D DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
D pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
D before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

[8] U.S. Attorney D Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney (if assigned} DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOT IN CUSTODY 

D 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) If not detained give date any prior Jt.. 
summons was served on above charges If------

2) D Is a Fugitive 

3) D Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) D On this charge 

5) D On another conviction } 
D Federal D State 

6) D Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer DYes 
been filed? 

DATE OF 
ARREST 

D No 

• 
lf"Yes" 

} give date 
filed ______ _ 

Month/Day/Year 

Or ... if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/Day/Year 

D This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

r-------------- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS -----------~ 
PROCESS: 

D SUMMONS D NO PROCESS* [81 WARRANT 

If Summons, complete following: 
D Arraignment D Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail ------
• Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: ---------- Before Judge:---------
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ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENALTIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k:/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JJE MU (a/k:/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, and 
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i. 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2- Use ofFacility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) -
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

2 
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COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John 

Fujimoto," alk/a "David Lee," alk/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY -FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John 
Fujimoto," alk/a "David Lee," alk/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAJ HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana"), and 

JJE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH THIRTY-ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLA TJONS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

3 
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PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 - Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

10 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," a/k/a 
"David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "JeffLaw," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

YA HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY-TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

WAYLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

4 
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---------------., 

ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY
FOUR] 

5 
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AO 257 (Rev. 6/78) 

I ' 

DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION - IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: 0 COMPLAINT 0 INFORMATION [E]INDICTMENT 

0 SUPERSEDING ,.----OFFENSE CHARGED ------"-~~~-'-'--'-"::......, 

SEE ATTACHMENT; COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & 
TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH THIRTY-TWO 

PENALTY: SEE ATTACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

0 
0 

0 

fEl 

Petty 

Minor 

Misde-
mea nor 

Felony 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (&Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

O person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

0 
this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21, or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

0 
charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

0 U.S. ATTORNEY 0 DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
0 pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
O before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

[8] U.S. Attorney 0 Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney (if assigned) DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Magistrate Location 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

DEFENDANT-U.S----------------------------~ 

• VA HUAI HUNG 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOT IN CUSTODY 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) 0 If not detained give date any prior ~ 
summons was served on above charges .,: __________ _ 

2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) 0 Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction } 0 Federal 0 State 

6) 0 Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer 0 Yes 

been filed? 0 No 

DATEOF • 
ARREST 

lf"Yes" 

} 
give date 

filed -------------
Month/Day/Year 

Or ... if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/Day/Year 

0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

,.--------------- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS ----------------, 
PROCESS: 

0 SUMMONS 0 NO PROCESS* fEj WARRANT 

If Summons, complete following: 
0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail ---------
• Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: ----------- Before Judge:---------
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ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENALTIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

WAYLEN FONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," alk/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

HE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, and 
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VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2- Use of Facility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(I)(A)(i) -
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

2 
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# 

COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/kla "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/kla "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "JetT 
Law," and a/kla "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY -FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/kla "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH THIRTY-ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/kla "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/kla "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

3 
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PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," alkla "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (alk/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 - Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

10 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," alk/a 
"David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 
[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

Y A HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY- TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEENJ 

W A YLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

4 
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ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (alk/a "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY

FOUR] 

5 
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AO 257 (Re\1. 6/78) 
~ 

DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION -IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: D COMPLAINT D INFORMATION [?:$) INDICTMENT 

D SUPERSEDING r----OFFENSE CHARGED 

SEE ATTACHMENT; COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO 

PENALTY: SEE ATTACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

0 Petty 

0 Minor 

D Misde
meanor 

[?:$] Felony 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (&Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

D person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

D this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21, or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

D U.S. ATTORNEY D DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
0 pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
0 before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

(g) U.S. Attorney 0 Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney (if assigned) DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Magistrate Location 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

DEFENDANT-U.S----------------------------~ 

• LEOW WAN RU VERON 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOT IN CUSTODY 

a 

D 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) If not detained give date any prior .. 
summons was served on above charges -----------

2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) 0 Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction } 
0 Federal 0 State 

6) D Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer D Yes 

been filed? 0 No 

DATE OF • 
ARREST 

lf"Yes" 

} 
give date 

filed --------------
Month/Day/Year 

Or. .. if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/Day/Year 

0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS ---------------, 
PROCESS: 

D SUMMONS D NO PROCESS* [?:$] WARRANT 

If Summons, complete following: 

0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail -------
*Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: Before Judge: -------------- --------------
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ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENALTIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, and 
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• 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John 

Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 

Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2- Use of Facility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(1 )(A)(i) -
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

2 
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• 

COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," alk/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," a!k/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY-FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John 
Fujimoto," alk/a "David Lee," a!k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (alk/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (alk/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (alk/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY -FIVE THROUGH THIRTY -ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a!k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (alk/a "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

3 
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• 

PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/kla "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 - Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

10 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," a/kla 
"David Lee," a/kla "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/kla "JeffLaw," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 
[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

Y A HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY-TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/kla "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (a!k/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

W A YLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

4 
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.. 

ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (alk/a "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY
FOUR] 

5 
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AO 257 (Rev. 6/78) .. 
DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION - IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: 0 COMPLAINT 0 INFORMATION (8] INDICTMENT 

0 SUPERSEDING ,----OFFENSE CHARGED --------=-.;:;.;_;=-=-==c:_:_:_::c-., 

Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Magistrate Location 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SEE ATIACHMENT; COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN 0 Petty 
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

0 Minor DEFENDANT - U.S 

Misde-0 meanor 
• ROBERTCHUN 

[8] Felony 
PENALTY: SEE ATIACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (&Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

O person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

O this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21, or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

0 
charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

0 U.S. ATTORNEY 0 DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
0 pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
0 before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

[g) U.S. Attorney 0 Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney (if assigned) DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOT IN CUSTODY 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) 0 If not detained give date any prior .. 
summons was served on above charges ------

2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) 0 Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction } 
0 Federal 0 State 

6) 0 Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer 0 Yes 

been filed? 0 No 

DATE OF • 
ARREST 

lf"Yes" 

} 
give date 

filed -------
Month/Day/Year 

Or ... if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/Day/Year 

0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

,-------------- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS ----------------
PROCESS: 

0 SUMMONS 0 NO PROCESS* (8] WARRANT 

If Summons, complete following: 

0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail ------
* Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: Before Judge: ---------- --------
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• 

ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENALTIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/kla "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERTCHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/kla "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/kla "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, and 
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VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title I 8, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2 -Use of Facility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

WA YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) -
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$I 00 special assessment 

2 
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COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," alk/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(l )(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY-FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY -FIVE THROUGH THIRTY -ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

3 
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PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

liE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 - Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

1 0 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," a/k/a 
"David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 
[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY- TWO] 

Y A HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY-TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

W A YLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

4 
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ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY
FOUR] 

5 
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AO 257 (Rev. 6178) 
' 

DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION - IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: D COMPLAINT D INFORMATION (g) INDICTMENT 

D SUPERSEDING ,----OFFENSE CHARGED -----"".:::.:...::::.:...:.:=:.:..:...:..:~ 

SEE ATIACHMENT; COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & 
THIRTY-TWO 

PENALTY: SEE ATIACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

0 Petty 

0 Minor 

D Misde
meanor 

(g) Felony 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (&Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

D person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

D this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21. or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

D U.S. ATTORNEY D DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
0 pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
D before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

[8] U.S. Attorney D Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney (if assigned) DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

Name of District Court. and/or Judge/Magistrate Location 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

DEFENDANT - U.S 

• JIE MU 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOT IN CUSTODY 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) D If not detained give date any prior .._ 
summons was served on above charges "-------

2) D Is a Fugitive 

3) D Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) D On this charge 

5) D On another conviction } 
D Federal 0 State 

6) D Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer DYes 

been filed? D No 

DATE OF • 
ARREST 

lf"Yes" 

} 
give date 
filed ______ _ 

Month/DayN ear 

Or ... if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/DayNear 

D This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS ----------------. 
PROCESS: 

D SUMMONS D NO PROCESS* (g) WARRANT 

If Summons. complete following: 
D Arraignment D Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail ------
• Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: Before Judge: --------- --------
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ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENALTIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/kla "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k!a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

WAYLENFONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k!a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, and 
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VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 

Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2- Use of Facility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assess~ent 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 

Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

WA YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) -
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

2 
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COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/kla "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 

Fujimoto," alk/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY -FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," alk/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (alk/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN (alk/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (alk/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH THIRTY-ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," alk/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (alk/a "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

3 
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PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (alk/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 -Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

I 0 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," a/k/a 
"David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a "JeffWoo") 
[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

Y A HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY-TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY- TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (alk/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

W A YLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

4 
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ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY
FOUR] 

5 
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AO 257 (Rev. 6178) . 
DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION - IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: 0 COMPLAINT 0 INFORMATION [8) INDICTMENT 

0 SUPERSEDING ,----OFFENSE CHARGED ____ ___;::...=..:...c=-:..:=~:::_, 

Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Magistrate Location 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SEE AITACHMENT; COUNTS ONE & IWO 0 Petty 
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

0 Minor DEFENDANT-U.S---------------------------. 

Misde-0 mean or 
• LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE 

[81 Felony 

PENALTY: SEE ATTACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (&Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

O person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

O this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21, or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

0 charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

0 U.S. ATTORNEY 0 DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
0 pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
0 before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

~U.S. Attorney 0 Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney (if assigned) DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOT IN CUSTODY 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) D If not detained give date any prior • 
summons was served on above charges -----------

2) D Is a Fugitive 

3) D Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) D On another conviction } 
D Federal 0 State 

6) D Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer D Yes 

been filed? D No 

DATE OF • 
ARREST 

lf"Yes" 

} 
give date 

filed -------------
Month/Day/Year 

Or ... if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/Day/Year 

0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

,...--------------- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS ---------------. 
PROCESS: 

0 SUMMONS 0 NO PROCESS* [8) WARRANT 

If Summons, complete following: 

0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail --------
• Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: Before Judge: --------------- -------------
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ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENALTIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

WA YLEN FONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (alkla "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERTCHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, and 
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• 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952{a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2 -Use of Facility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

WA YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) -
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

2 
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COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY-FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/kla "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN (a/kla "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (a/kla "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH THIRTY-ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/kla "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

3 
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PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a!k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a!k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 -Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

10 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," a/k/a 
"David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 
[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY- TWO] 

YA HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY-TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a!k/a "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (a!k/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

W A YLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

4 
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ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY
FOUR] 

5 
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AO 257 (Rev. 6/78) 
' 

DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION - IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: 0 COMPLAINT 0 INFORMATION 

.---OFFENSE CHARGED 

[gj INDICTMENT 

0 SUPERSEDING 

Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Magistrate Location 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SEE ATTACHMENT; COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN 0 Petty 
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

0 Minor DEFENDANT - U.S 

Misde-0 mea nor 
• KEVIN HARTIG 

[g] Felony 

PENALTY: SEE ATTACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (&Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

O person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

O this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21, or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

0 charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

0 U.S. ATTORNEY 0 DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
0 pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
0 before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

[8] US. Attorney D Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney {if assigned) DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOT IN CUSTODY 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) 0 If not detained give date any prior • 
summons was served on above charges ------

2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) 0 Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction } 
0 Federal 0 State 

6) 0 Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer 0 Yes 

been filed? 0 No 

DATE OF • 
ARREST 

lf"Yes" 

} give date 
filed ______ _ 

Month/Day/Year 

Or. .. if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/Day/Year 

0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

,-------------- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS 
PROCESS: 

0 SUMMONS 0 NO PROCESS* [gj WARRANT 

If Summons, complete following: 

0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail ------

* Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: _________ Before Judge: _______ _ 
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ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENAL TIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a!k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a!k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a!k/a "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a!k!a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a!k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, and 
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VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/kla "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2 - Use of Facility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) -
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

2 
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COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY-FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," alk/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH THIRTY-ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," alk/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 
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PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 - Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

10 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," a/k/a 
"David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

Y A HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN. & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY-TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

W A YLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 
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ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY
FOUR] 
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AO 257 (Rev. 6f78) . 
DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION - IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: D COMPLAINT 0 INFORMATION [gj INDICTMENT 

r--- OFFENSE CHARGED D SUPERSEDING 

Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Magistrate Location 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SEE ATIACHMENT; COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN D Petty 
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

D Minor DEFENDANT-U.S--------------------------~ 

Misde-D mea nor 
• WA YLEN FONG 

[gJ Felony 

PENALTY: SEE ATIACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (& Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

D person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

D this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21, or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

D U.S. ATTORNEY D DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
0 pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
0 before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

[8] U.S. Attorney D Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney (if assigned) DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOTIN CUSTODY 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) D If not detained give date any prior .. 
summons was served on above charges If-----------

2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) 0 Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction } 
D Federal 0 State 

6) D Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer D Yes 

been filed? 0 No 

DATE OF • 
ARREST 

lf"Yes" 

} 
give date 
filed ____________ __ 

Month/Day/Year 

Or ... if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/Day/Year 

D This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

---------------- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS --------------. 
PROCESS: 

D SUMMONS D NO PROCESS* [gJ WARRANT 

If Summons, complete following: 

0 Arraignment 0 Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail -----------
* Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: Before Judge: ----------------- ---------------
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ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENALTIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (alk/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, and 
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VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 

Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2- Use of Facility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 

Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHON, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) -
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 
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• 

COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY-FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (alk/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHlN (alk/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (alk/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH THIRTY-ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 
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PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," alk/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 - Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

10 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John Fujimoto," alk/a 
"David Lee," alk/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo") 
[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

YA HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY-TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

WA YLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 
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ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/kla "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY
FOUR] 
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AO 257 (Rev. 6f8l 

DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION -IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: D COMPLAINT D INFORMATION 

~--OFFENSE CHARGED 

(8] INDICTMENT 

D SUPERSEDING 

Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Magistrate Location 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SEE ATTACHMENT; COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN D Petty 
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

D Minor DEFENDANT-U.S---------------------------, 

Misde-
D meanor 

• ANGELINA CHUONG 

[8] Felony 
PENALTY: SEE ATTACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (&Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

D person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

D this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21, or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D 
charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

D U.S. ATTORNEY D DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
0 pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
0 before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

[8] U.S. Attorney D Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney (if assigned) DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOTIN CUSTODY 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) 0 If not detained give date any prior ~ 
summons was served on above charges .,-: __________ _ 

2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) 0 Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction } 
0 Federal 0 State 

6) 0 Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer DYes 

been filed? 0 No 

DATE OF • 
ARREST 

lf"Yes" 

} 
give date 
filed ___________ _ 

Month/Day/Year 

Or. .. if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/Day/Year 

0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

,--------------- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS ----------------, 
PROCESS: 

D SUMMONS D NO PROCESS* [8] WARRANT 

If Summons, complete following: 

0 Arraignment D Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail 
----------

• Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

DatefTime: ______________ Before Judge: _____________ _ 
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ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENALTIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERTCHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, and 
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VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2 - Use of Facility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) -
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 
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COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY-FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (alk/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN (alk/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH THIRTY-ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 
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PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 - Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

1 0 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," a/k/a 
"David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 
[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

YA HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY-TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

W A YLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 
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ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY
FOUR] 
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AO 257 (Rev. 6/78) . 
DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION -IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

BY: D COMPLAINT D INFORMATION 

r----OFFENSE CHARGED 

~ INDICTMENT 

D SUPERSEDING 

Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Magistrate Location 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SEE ATTACHMENT; COUNTS ONE & TWENTY-FOUR D Petty 
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

D Minor DEFENDANT-U.S--------------------------~ 

Misde-D mea nor 
• CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN 

~ Felony 

PENALTY: SEE ATTACHMENT 

PROCEEDING 

Name of Complaintant Agency, or Person (& Title, if any) 

ICE/HSI 

D person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court, 
give name of court 

D this person/proceeding is transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrp 20, 21, or 40. Show District 

this is a reprosecution of 

D charges previously dismissed 
which were dismissed on motion 
of: 

D U.S. ATTORNEY D DEFENSE 

this prosecution relates to a 
0 pending case involving this same 

defendant 

prior proceedings or appearance(s) 
D before U.S. Magistrate regarding this 

defendant were recorded under 

Name and Office of Person 
Furnishing Information on this form 

} 

} 

SHOW 
DOCKET NO. 

MAGISTRATE 
CASE NO. 

MELINDA HAAG 

[8] U.S. Attorney D Other U.S. Agency 

Name of Assistant U.S. 
Attorney (if assigned) DEBORAH R. DOUGLAS 

DISTRICT COURT NUMBER 

DEFENDANT 

IS NOTIN CUSTODY 

D 
Has not been arrested, pending outcome this proceeding. 

1) If not detained give date any prior • 
summons was served on above charges ------

2) 0 Is a Fugitive 

3) D Is on Bail or Release from (show District) 

IS IN CUSTODY 

4) 0 On this charge 

5) 0 On another conviction } 
D Federal D State 

6) D Awaiting trial on other charges 

If answer to (6) is "Yes", show name of institution 

Has detainer DYes 

been filed? 0 No 

DATEOF • 
ARREST 

lf"Yes" 

} 
give date 
filed ______ __ 

Month/Day/Year 

Or. .. if Arresting Agency & Warrant were not 

DATE TRANSFERRED 
TO U.S. CUSTODY • Month/Day/Year 

D This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

,--------------- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS ---------------. 
PROCESS: 

D SUMMONS D NO PROCESS* ~ WARRANT 

If Summons, complete following: 
0 Arraignment D Initial Appearance 

Defendant Address: 

Comments: 

Bail Amount: No Bail ------
* Where defendant previously apprehended on complaint, no new summons or 
warrant needed, since Magistrate has scheduled arraignment 

Date/Time: ------------ Before Judge:--------
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ATTACHMENT: MAXIMUM STATUTORY PENALTIES 

COUNT ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATION: 

PENALTY: 

COUNT TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

W A YLEN PONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct 
Enterprise Affairs Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine, or twice the gross profits or other proceeds, 
whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE, and 
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VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

YAHUAIHUNG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1952(a)(3)- Conspiracy to 
Use Facility in Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS THREE THROUGH THIRTEEN: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2- Use of Facility 
in Interstate Commerce to Promote Prostitution 

5 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT FOURTEEN: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

WA YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(l)(A)(i)
Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

2 

Case 3:14-cr-00527-RS   Document 1   Filed 10/16/14   Page 58 of 106



COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: 

DEFENDANT: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/kla "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(l )(A)(i) and 2 -
Laundering Monetary Instruments 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$1 00 special assessment 

COUNT TWENTY-FOUR: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and alkla "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a!k/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a!k/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (a!k/a "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH THIRTY-ONE: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/kla "John 
Fujimoto," a/kla "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff 
Law," and a/k/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a!k/a "Brisa") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity 

3 
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PENALTY: 20 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$500,000 fine or twice the value of the monetary instrument or funds 
involved in the transmission or transfer, whichever is greater 
$100 special assessment 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 

DEFENDANTS: 

VIOLATIONS: 

PENALTY: 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," alk/a "John 
Fujimoto," a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff 
Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/kla "Jane") 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 2421, and Title 8, United 
States Code, Section 1328 - Conspiracy to Transport for Prostitution and 
Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose 

10 years imprisonment 
3 years supervised release 
$250,000 fine 
$100 special assessment 

COUNTS APPLICABLE TO EACH DEFENDANT 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen,"a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," alk/a 
"David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff Law," and alk/a "Jeff Woo") 
[COUNTS ONE THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

YA HUAI HUNG [COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOURTEEN, & TWENTY-FOUR THROUGH 
THIRTY-TWO] 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & TWENTY-FOUR 
THROUGH THIRTY-TWO] 

ROBERT CHUN [COUNTS ONE, TWO, & FOURTEEN] 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") [COUNTS ONE, TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, & THIRTY-TWO] 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE [COUNTS ONE & TWO] 

KEVIN HARTIG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

W A YLEN FONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

4 
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ANGELINA CHUONG [COUNTS ONE & FOURTEEN] 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") [COUNTS ONE & TWENTY
FOUR] 

5 
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1 MELINDA HAAG (CABN 132612) 
United States Attorney 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION RS 
11 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Qlt· 14 527 
12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

v. 

ALLENFONG, 
alk/a "Steve Nguyen," 
alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," 
alkla "John Fujimoto," 
alkla "David Lee," 
alk/a "May Lee," 
alk/a "Sakura Susa," 
alk/a "JeffLaw," and 
alk/a "JeffWoo," 

YA HUAI HUNG, 
LEOW WAN RU VERON, 

alkla "Brisa," 
ROBERT CHUN, 
JIE MU, 

alk/a "Jane," 
LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, 
KEVIN HARTIG, 
W A YLEN FONG, 
ANGELINA CHUONG, and 
CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN, 

alk/a "Nana," 

Defendants. 

) VIOLATIONS: Title 18, United States Code, Section 
) 1962( d) - Conspiracy to Conduct Enterprise Affairs 
) Through a Pattern of Racketeering Activity (one 
) count); Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 & 
) 1952(a)(3) - Conspiracy to Use Facility in Interstate 
) and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution) (one 
) count); Title 18, United States Code, Sections 
) 1952(a)(3) and 2- Use of Facility in Interstate 
) Commerce to Promote Prostitution (eleven counts); 
) Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) & 
) 1956(a)(l)(A)(i)- Conspiracy to Launder Monetary 
) Instruments) (one count); Title 18, United States 
) Code, Sections 1956(a)(l )(A)(i) and 2 -Laundering 
) Monetary Instruments (nine counts); Title 18, United 
) States Code, Section 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A) -
) Conspiracy to Transport Funds to Promote Unlawful 
) Activity (one count); Title 18, United States Code, 
) Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2- Transporting Funds to 
) Promote Unlawful Activity (seven counts); Title 18, 
) United States Code, Section 3 71, Title 18, United 
) States Code, Section 2421, & Title 8, United States 
) Code, Section 1328 - Conspiracy to Transport for 
) Prostitution and Importation of Alien for Immoral 
) Purpose (one count); Title 18, United States Code, 
) Sections 981, 982, 1963, and 2428, and Title 28, 
) United States Code, Section 2461 -Forfeiture 
) Allegations 
) 

______________ ) SAN FRANCISCO VENUE 

Indictment 
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1 INDICTMENT 

2 The Grand Jury charges: 

3 COUNT ONE: (18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)- Conspiracy to Conduct Enterprise Affairs Through A Pattern of 
Racketeering Activity) 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

A. The Racketeering Enterprise 

1. At all times relevant to this Indictment, in the Northern District of California and 

elsewhere, the defendants, 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," alk/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
alk/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and alk/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

WAYLENFONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN ( a/k/a "Nana"), 

together with others known and unknown to the grand jury, were members and associates of a 

prostitution organization which operated approximately forty brothels in the greater San Francisco Bay 

Area from at least August 2002 through at least July 29, 2014. The organization and the individuals who 

associated with it for criminal purposes constituted an "enterprise," as defined by Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 1961 ( 4) (hereinafter the "Enterprise"), that is, a group of individuals associated in fact. 

The Enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members functioned as a continuing unit for 

the common purpose of achieving the objectives of the Enterprise. The Enterprise was engaged in, and 

its activities affected, interstate and foreign commerce. 
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1 

2 

B. 

2. 

Purposes of the Enterprise 

The purposes of the Enterprise included, but are not limited to: (i) enriching the members 

3 and associates of the Enterprise through, among other things, recruiting adult females, primarily from 

4 Asian countries, to work as prostitutes in the Northern District of California and elsewhere; (ii) keeping, 

5 maintaining, controlling, supporting, employing, and harboring said prostitutes; (iii) collecting the 

6 Enterprise's share of the prostitutes' earnings; and (iv) engaging in financial transactions in interstate 

7 and foreign commerce to promote, manage, establish, carry on, and facilitate the prostitution operation. 

8 C. The Means and Methods of the Enterprise 

9 3. Defendants and their co-conspirators used the following methods and means, among 

10 others, to conduct and participate in the affairs of the Enterprise: 

11 a. Members and associates of the Enterprise solicited, enticed, and persuaded adult 

12 females, primarily from Asian countries, to work for the Enterprise as prostitutes in the Northern District 

13 of California and elsewhere. The importation of Asian women into the United States for the purpose of 

14 prostitution was facilitated by various methods utilized by the Enterprise, including making the flight 

15 reservations and/or purchasing airline tickets for Asian women from foreign countries and within the 

16 United States, including for known prostitutes employed or associated with the Enterprise; instructing 

17 Asian women entering the United States to place on their immigration entry document (1-94) a 

18 residential address on 21st A venue in San Francisco (hereafter "San Francisco Residence"), the 

19 residential address of defendant YA HUAI HUNG in San Francisco, which is property owned by 

20 defendant ALLEN FONG; and other addresses associated with the Enterprise, as the location they 

21 intend to stay while in the United States; and transportation services from the airport to the brothels. 

22 b. The Enterprise rented the apartments used as brothels through nominee lessees for 

23 limited periods of time, and then opened other brothels, often with overlapping rental periods. The 

24 nominee lessees included defendants ALLEN FONG, KEVIN HARTIG, WA YLEN FONG, ROBERT 

25 CHUN, and ANGELINA CHUONG, co-conspirators William Sharon and Alex Chan, and other 

26 associates. PG&E accounts for various Enterprise brothels were opened in the names of defendants 

27 ALLEN FONG, KEVIN HARTIG, WA YLEN FONG, ROBERT CHUN, and ANGELINA CHUONG, 

28 co-conspirators William Sharon and Alex Chan, and other associates. The Enterprise paid the rent, 
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1 deposits, and/or utilities for the brothels from money orders, cashier checks, and vanous banks, 

2 including the joint account of defendant ALLEN FONG and co-conspirator William Sharon at the 

3 United Commercial Bank ("UCB"); the Bank of America business account for Zenvision Spa and the JP 

4 Morgan Chase Bank account held jointly by defendants ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG; 

5 defendant ALLEN PONG's separate UCB/East West Bank account; the Bank of America account held 

6 in Sakura Susa's name, but used by ALLEN FONG; and the separate bank accounts of defendants 

7 KEVIN HARTIG and ANGELINA CHUONG and co-conspirator Alex Chan. 

8 c. The Enterprise used social networking websites such as MyRedbook.com, 

9 Craigslist.org, and Backpage.com to post advertisements for prostitution services, which included 

10 contact information and photographs of nude and partially nude women assuming provocative and 

11 suggestive poses. 

12 d. To avoid law enforcement detection, the telephone numbers placed m the 

13 Enterprise's prostitution advertisements were typically from telephone-shielding services which 

14 incorporated Voice over Internet Protocol ("VoiP") technology, which immediately forwarded calls 

15 coming into the VoiP numbers to cellular telephones assigned to fictitious subscribers. 

16 e. The Enterprise's telephone operators such as defendant JIE MU (aka "Jane") 

17 answered the calls for telephone numbers posted on the website advertisements for prostitution services, 

18 coordinated the meeting place between the prostitutes and their customers ("Johns"), and directed the 

19 "Johns" to a particular brothel. 

20 f. The prostitutes kept approximately two-thirds of their earnings from the "Johns" 

21 and paid one-third to the Enterprise, primarily through defendant ALLEN FONG. 

22 g. From at least March 4, 2004, through October 3, 2013, members of the Enterprise 

23 sent numerous outgoing international wire transfers to Asian countries such as Singapore, Thailand, 

24 China, Hong Kong, Taiwan, Vietnam, and the Philippines, including to known Enterprise members and 

25 prostitutes. 

26 h. Members of the Enterprise provided logistical support for the brothels and the 

27 prostitutes, including helping the prostitutes move in and out of brothels, transporting the prostitutes 

28 from one brothel to another brothel, making bulk purchases of condoms from out-of-state condom 
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1 companies and delivering the condoms and other supplies to the brothels, and moving furniture and 

2 household items into and out of the brothels. 

3 1. The Enterprise expanded the scope, nature, and geographical range of its 

4 prostitution activities by opening additional brothels in different cities, enlarging its operations, 

5 soliciting new prostitutes to work for the Enterprise, and increasing the roles of Enterprise members to 

6 promote and carry on the prostitution business. 

7 D. The Roles of the Defendants Within the Enterprise 

8 4. At various times relevant to this Indictment, the defendants' roles in the Enterprise 

9 included, but were not limited to, the following: 

10 a. ALLEN PONG is the head of the Enterprise. PONG was involved in the 

11 recruitment of prostitutes from foreign countries and facilitated their importation into the United States; 

12 the rental of apartments for use as brothels; and payments for the rent, deposits, and utilities at the 

13 brothels, as well as other aspects of the operation, including online advertisements for prostitution 

14 services, bulk condom purchases from out-of-state companies, and international and domestic airline 

15 tickets for numerous Asian women, including for known prostitutes employed or associated with the 

16 Enterprise. In addition, PONG transmitted numerous international wire transfers to Enterprise members, 

17 including prostitutes, in foreign countries. PONG recruited other members and associates of the 

18 Enterprise to promote its business and operations such as taking photographs of the prostitutes, posting 

19 those photographs and advertisements for sexual services online, answering the telephone contact 

20 numbers listed on the advertisements, and coordinating the sexual liaisons between the "Johns" and the 

21 prostitutes. PONG was also involved in the day-to-day operations ofthe brothels such as delivering bulk 

22 condoms and other supplies to the brothels, transporting prostitutes from the airport to the brothels and 

23 between brothels, moving furniture and household items into and out of the brothels, and picking up the 

24 Enterprise's share of the prostitutes' earnings from the brothels. 

25 b. YA HUAI HUNG was ALLEN PONG's partner at the Zenvision Spa operated as 

26 an Enterprise brothel. HUNG opened two joint bank accounts with ALLEN PONG at the Bank of 

27 America on behalf of Zenvision Spa and JP Morgan Chase Bank. From both bank accounts, numerous 

28 payments were made for the operation of the Enterprise's prostitution operation, including payments for 
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• 

1 renting Zenvision Spa and other Enterprise brothels, prostitution advertisements, bulk purchase of 

2 condoms, VoiP telephone-shielding services, air fare for Asian women, including known Enterprise 

3 prostitutes, and wire transfers and other payments to co-conspirators and prostitutes. On August 12, 

4 2013, YA HUAI HUNG and another Enterprise prostitute were present inside the brothel at 1341 David 

5 Street, Apt #107, San Mateo, California, which was leased by ALLEN FONG. 

6 c. LEOW WAN RU VERON (alk/a "Brisa") recruited prostitutes in Singapore to 

7 work for the Enterprise in the United States. LEOW WAN RU VERON was also a prostitute. 

8 VERON was paid for her services on behalf of the Enterprise, including at least twenty-three outgoing 

9 international wire transfers, totaling $179,218.00, ranging from $2,500.00 to $18,000.00, sent to 

10 VERON's DBS Bank Account in Singapore from on or about March 3, 2007, through June 30, 2011. 

11 Those wire transfers were funded from the Zenvision Bank of America and JP Morgan Chase Bank 

12 accounts held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG; the United Commercial Bank account 

13 held jointly by ALLEN FONG and co-conspirator William Sharon; the Cathay Bank account held by 

14 ALLEN FONG; the United Commercial/East West Bank account held by ALLEN FONG; the Bank of 

15 America and JP Morgan Chase Bank accounts held by LEOW WAN RU VERON; and the Citibank 

16 account held by co-conspirator Alex Chan. 

17 d. ROBERT CHUN took photographs of nude and partially nude prostitutes and 

18 posted those photographs online, together with advertisements offering their sexual services. CHUN also 

19 updated and revised the prostitution advertisements and assisted ALLEN FONG in updating prostitution 

20 advertisements posted by FONG. CHUN's cellular telephone contained at least thirteen text messages 

21 between CHUN and ALLEN PONG from approximately May 5, 2013, to July 4, 2013, where they 

22 discuss taking photographs and making Internet postings for female workers. CHUN' S computers 

23 contained photographs of nude and partially nude Enterprise prostitutes, including defendants Y A HUAI 

24 HUNG and LEOW WAN RU VERON, and co-conspirators SJ, VK, and SWO. In addition, CHUN was 

25 the nominee lessee for at least two of the apartments used as brothels by the Enterprise. CHUN was 

26 paid $500.00 per month by ALLEN PONG for his services as a nominee lessee for each of the 

27 apartments that he rented. CHUN was also provided with cash or cashier's checks from ALLEN PONG 

28 to pay the rent for the apartments. 
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1 e. JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane") was a telephone operator who answered calls to the 

2 telephone numbers posted on the Enterprise's online advertisements for prostitution services, 

3 coordinated the meeting place between the "Johns" and the prostitutes, directed the "Johns" to a 

4 particular brothel, and provided them with codes to security gates and doors to permit access to brothels 

5 in secure buildings. On several occasions, JIE MU picked up prostitutes arriving from Asian countries at 

6 the San Francisco International Airport. JIE MU also made cash pickups of the Enterprise's share ofthe 

7 prostitutes' earnings from the brothels, helped prostitutes move in and out of the brothels, and 

8 occasionally took some of the prostitutes sightseeing, shopping, or on other errands. JIE MU sent a 

9 $2,000.00 international wire transfer to co-conspirator SWO in Singapore, a prostitute who worked for 

10 the Enterprise. When her husband LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE assumed the role of internet 

11 advertiser for the Enterprise, JIE MU provided LEE with a computer apparatus which contained data 

12 related to the online prostitution advertisements provided to her by ROBERT CHUN. 

13 f. LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE posted advertisements for prostitution services 

14 on various Internet websites on behalf of the Enterprise. LEE used pre-paid gift cards to pay for the 

15 Internet postings and also to purchase telephone numbers from telephone-shielding services. LEE either 

16 created or purchased the e-mail addresses associated with the fictitious subscribers listed in the 

17 advertisements. LEE was paid $500.00 in cash per month by ALLEN PONG for each brothel that he 

18 advertised. On a number of occasions, LEE drove his wife JIE MU to the brothels where she picked up 

19 the Enterprise's share of the prostitutes' earnings and also dropped off supplies and cellular telephones 

20 for the prostitutes. LEE also helped prostitutes move into, and move out of, several brothels. 

21 g. KEVIN HARTIG was the nominee lessee for four apartments used as brothels by 

22 the Enterprise, and opened the PG&E accounts for three of those brothels. Rents, deposits, and/or 

23 PG&E utility payments were made from HARTIG's Wells Fargo Bank account, the United 

24 Commercial/East West Bank account of ALLEN PONG, and the JP Morgan Chase Bank account held 

25 jointly by ALLEN PONG andY A HUAI HUNG. 

26 h. W A YLEN PONG was the nominee lessee for two apartments used as brothels by 

27 the Enterprise, and opened the PG&E accounts for both apartments. His brother ALLEN PONG paid 

28 for the PG&E services at both apartments from his United Commercial/East West Bank account. The 
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1 rent and/or deposits for those apartments were paid directly by WA YLEN FONG, or indirectly through 

2 money orders remitted in the name of"Waylen Fang." 

3 1. ANGELINA CHUONG was the nominee lessee for 2759 S. Norfolk Street, Apt 

4 no. 211, San Mateo, California, and was paid $700.00 in cash per month by ALLEN FONG for her 

5 services as a nominee lessee. On February 2, 2012, the date CHUONG signed the rental application for 

6 Apt no. 211, she provided the leasing office with a rent deposit of$473.65 issued from her Wells Fargo 

7 Bank account. Through monies provided by ALLEN FONG, CHUONG paid the rent for Apt no. 211, 

8 which included at least two money orders, totaling $1,767.83, dated February 8, 2012, and signed by 

9 CHUONG. CHUONG opened the PG&E account for Apt no. 211, and ALLEN FONG paid the PG&E 

10 bills. Approximately six weeks after CHUONG signed the lease for Apt no. 211 on February 7, 2012, 

11 CHUONG leased her father-in-law's house at 2401 Erin Place, South San Francisco, California, to 

12 Enterprise members and gave ALLEN FONG the key to the house. On or about September 10, 2012, a 

13 bulk shipment of 2,000 condoms, purchased by ALLEN FONG on August 25, 2012, was delivered via 

14 the United Parcel Service to 2401 Erin Place, South San Francisco, California, and the same address was 

15 used as the billing address for ALLEN PONG's purchase of an additional 2,000 condoms on March 12, 

16 2013. 

17 J. CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana") was a prostitute who 

18 was working at the Enterprise brothel on 3 Plaza View Lane, Apt no. 309, Foster City, CA, leased by 

19 ALLEN FONG, during an undercover law enforcement operation on November 22, 2013. After that 

20 brothel was closed down by the Foster City Police Department on or about November 22, 2013, 

21 CHONTHICHA JAEMRA T ANASOPHIN and ALLEN FONG, posing as a couple, went to another 

22 leasing office on or about January 22,2014, where FONG leased 2719 S. Norfolk Street, Apt no. 311, 

23 San Mateo, CA. JAEMRATANASOPHIN sequentially used the addresses of approximately five 

24 Enterprise brothels, and ALLEN PONG's residential address, as her residential address from November 

25 2011 to February 2014, as set forth on her JP Morgan Chase Bank statements. The rental records for the 

26 Enterprise brothel at 1341 David Street, Apt no. 107, San Mateo, CA, leased by ALLEN FONG, list 

27 CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN as a "co-resident." The JP Morgan Chase Bank account held 

28 by JAEMRATANASOPHIN funded twenty outgoing international wire transfers, totaling $109,300.00, 
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1 ranging from $1,800.00 to $9,000.00, to Singapore and Thailand from December 5, 2011, through 

2 October 3, 2013. 

3 

4 

E. 

5. 

The Racketeering Conspiracy 

Beginning from at least August 2002, and continuing to at least July 29, 2014, in the 

5 Northern District of California and elsewhere, the defendants, 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERTCHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

WA YLEN FONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana"), 

17 together with others known and unknown to the grand jury, being members employed by and associated 

18 with the Enterprise, which enterprise was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and 

19 foreign commerce, did knowingly and intentionally conspire with each other, and with other persons, to 

20 violate Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(c), that is, to conduct and participate, directly and 

21 indirectly, in the conduct of the Enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity, as defined 

22 in Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1961(1) and (5), which pattern of racketeering activity 

23 consisted ofmultiple acts indictable under Title 18, United States Code, Section 1952 (Use of Facility in 

24 Interstate and Foreign Commerce to Promote Prostitution); Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 

25 (Laundering of Monetary Instruments); Title 18, United States Code, Section 2421 (Transportation for 

26 Prostitution), and Title 8, United States Code, Section 1328 (Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose). 

27 6. It was part of the conspiracy that each defendant agreed that a conspirator would commit 

28 at least two acts of racketeering activity in the conduct ofthe affairs ofthe Enterprise. 
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1 G. Overt Acts 

2 7. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish the object of the conspiracy, the 

3 defendants and their co-conspirators, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, committed the 

4 following overt acts, among others, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, on or about the 

5 dates set forth below, and as set forth in paragraphs 10, 17, 22, and 29 of this Indictment, incorporated 

6 by reference herein. 

7 a. As set forth in the table below, the following conspirators leased the properties used as 

8 Enterprise brothels for the periods indicated below: 

9 Overt Brothel Location Lease Holder(s) Application Approximate Dates Approximate 
Act Date of Lease Dates 

10 Brothels 
Vacated 

11 
I Zenvision Spa William Sharon 8/29/02 8/29/02 to 3/16/09 3/16/09 

12 2572 Appian Way, Pinole, CA 

13 2 
3144 La Selva Circle, Apt #6, Allen Fong & 3/30/07 4/09/07 to 7/31107 11/12/07 
San Mateo, CA unnamed co-

14 
conspirator 

(CC #1) 

15 3 
1315 Palos Verdes Drive, Apt William Sharon 10/08/07 10/11107 to 10/10/08 3/31/08 

16 # 1, San Mateo, CA 

17 
4 

701 Salt Ct, Redwood City, CA William Sharon 10/19/07 1 0/24/07 to 4/30/08 12/29/07 

18 5 
590 Avocet Drive, Apt #7106, William Sharon 11103/07 11/9/07 to 2/08/08 2/08/08 
Redwood City, CA 

19 6 
247 Arriba Drive, Apt #604, William Sharon 2112/08 2/12/08 to 5/11/08 6/22/08 

20 Sunnyvale, CA 

7 
21 1145 Alameda De Las Pulgas, Allen Fong & 2/27/08 2/29/08 to 4/30/08 4/24/08 

22 
Apt. #9, Belmont, CA William Sharon 

23 
8 

3 Avocet Drive, Apt #3-1 04, William Sharon 3/12/08 3/14/08 to 6/13/08 6/23/08 

Redwood City, CA 

24 9 
3321 La Selva Circle, Apt #2, William Sharon 4/10/08 4/ I 0/08 to 10/08/09 11/01/09 

25 
San Mateo, CA 

26 
10 

2723 S. Norfolk Street, Apt William Sharon 5/09/08 5/10/08 to 5/09/09 5/09/09 

#311, San Mateo, CA 

27 11 
337 S. Fremont Street, Apt William Sharon 5/24/08 5/27/08 to 8/26/08 3/20/09 

28 
#119, San Mateo, CA 
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1 12 

5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt William Sharon 7/22/08 7/23/08 to 10/22/08 12/02/08 

#151, San Mateo, CA 2 

3 13 
149 Maple Street, Apt #1306, William Sharon 8/08/08 8116/08 to 5/31/09 10/10/08 

4 
Redwood City, CA 

14 
39440 Civic Center Drive, Apt William Sharon 9/23/08 9/25/08 to 12/24/08 11107/08 

#214, Fremont, CA 5 

15 
505 Shell Pkwy, Apt #1106, William Sharon 9/30/08 I 0/07/08 to 4/06/09 4/30/09 

6 

7 Redwood City, CA 

8 16 
5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt Waylen Fong 11130/08 12/02/08 to 3/01/09 10/15/09 

#354, Cupertino, CA 

17 
1624 Hope Drive, Apt #621, Waylen Fong 3/23/09 3/23/09 to 7/22/09 7/22/09 

9 

10 Santa Clara, CA 

19608 Pruneridge Ave, Apt William Sharon 4/07/09 4/07/09 to 8/06/09 10/01/09 
18 

11 

12 
#8105, Cupertino, CA 

19 20425 Via Paviso, Apt #D-14, William Sharon 7/31109 8/04/09 to 3/31110 4113/10 
13 

14 Cupertino, CA 

20 
950 E. Hillsdale Blvd, Apt #101, William Sharon 15 

11110/09 11110/09 to 5/09/10 5/20/10 

Foster City, CA 

16 21 
700 Agnew Rd, Apt #21 0, Santa William Sharon 11119/09 11119/09 to 3/12/10 3/12/10 

17 Clara, CA 

22 
3297 La Selva Street, Apt #2, Alex Chan 2/04/10 2/05110 to 6/27110 6/29110 

18 
San Mateo, CA 

19 23 
2723 S. Norfolk Street, Apt Alex Chan 2/18/10 2/22/10 to 2/21111 9/09/10 

20 #211, San Mateo, CA 

24 
744 Edgewater Blvd, Apt #201, Alex Chan 2/19/10 3/14/10 to 9/13110 9/13110 

Foster City, CA 
21 

22 25 
2715 S. Norfolk St, Apt #111, Alex Chan 8/19/10 9/09/10 to 3/08111 1127112 

23 San Mateo, CA 

26 
5600 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt Alex Chan 9/10/10 9111/10 to 12/10/10 12/10/10 

#311, Cupertino, CA 
24 

25 27 
853 Commodore Drive, Apt William Sharon 10116/10 10116/10 to 9/15/11 9/15/11 

26 #464, San Bruno, CA 

28 
1000 Foster City Blvd, Apt Robert Chun 4119/11 5/11111 to 2/29/12 4/09112 

#4408, Foster City, CA 
27 

7800 El Camino Real, Apt #122, Robert Chun 9/20111 9/29/11 to 12/28111 12/28/11 
29 

28 
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Colma, CA 

30 
1000 Foster City Blvd, Apt Kevin Hartig 12/31/11 1/27/12 to 7/31/12 9/28/12 
#2109, Foster City, CA 

31 
1000 Foster City Blvd, Apt Unnamed CC #2 1/31/12 1/31/12 to 10/05/12 10/05/12 
#3208, Foster City, CA 

32 
2759 S. Norfolk St, Apt #211, Angelina 2/02/12 2/07112 to 11/06/12 8/10/12 
San Mateo, CA Chuong 

33 
2401 Erin Place, South San Enterprise On or about 3/19/12 to at least On or 
Francisco, CA (lessor Angelina members 3/19/12 9/30/12 about 9/30/12 
Chuong) 

34 
2759 S. Norfolk St, Apt #103, Kevin Hartig 8/06/12 8/08/12 to 6/07/13 6/07113 

San Mateo, CA 

35 
117 5 Park Place, Apt # 103, San Kevin Hartig 10/03/12 10/04/12 to 4/03/13 2/18/13 

Mateo, CA 

36 2187 Vista Del Mar, San Mateo, Kevin Hartig & 10/12/12 10/12/12 to 10/11/13 8/26/13 
CA Unnamed CC #2 

37 
1341 David Street, Apt #107, Allen Fong 2/07/13 2/15/13 to 8/14/13 8/31/13 

San Mateo, CA 

38 
700 Agnew Road, Apt #134, Allen Fong 3/18/13 to 8/10/13 
Santa Clara, CA 3/18/13 6/01/13 

39 3 Plaza View Ln, Apt# 309 
Foster City, CA 94404 Allen Fong 6/07113 6/07/13 to 3/01/14 11/30/13 

40 2719 S. Norfolk St, Apt #311, 
San Mateo, CA Allen Fong 1/10/14 1/22/14 to 1/21/15 7/29/14 

b. The following additional overt acts, among others, were committed by the defendants and 

t heir co-conspirators, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of 

c alifornia and elsewhere, on or about the dates set forth below: 

Overt Approximate 
Act Date 
41 8/29/02 William Sharon and an associate signed the lease for the Enterprise 

brothel at Zenvision Spa. 

42 4/21/05 A "Registration Form for Commercial Employers" dated 4/21/05, and 
signed by ALLEN FONG, was filed with the California Employment 
Development Department ("EDD") identifying YA HUAI HUNG as the 
"individual owner" of Zenvision Spa and ALLEN FONG as its 
"manager." 

43 2/20/08 An Enterprise prostitute sexually solicited an undercover police officer at 
1315 Palos Verdes Drive, Apt #1, San Mateo, CA, leased by William 
Sharon. 
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1 44 5/08/08 ALLEN FONG initiated the rental of 2723 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #311, 
San Mateo, CA, and asked to complete the lease in the name of his 

2 "father-in-law" William Sharon. 

3 45 5/09/08 ALLEN FONG and William Sharon arrived together to rent 2723 S. 

4 
Norfolk Street, Apt #311, San Mateo, CA, and Sharon signed the lease. 

5 
46 5/10/08 Using a pickup truck, ALLEN FONG moved household items into 2723 

S. Norfolk Street, Apt #311, San Mateo, CA. 

6 47 5/24/08 ALLEN FONG and William Sharon arrived together to lease 337 S. 

7 
Fremont Street, Apt # 119, San Mateo, CA, and Sharon signed the rental 
application. 

8 48 6/30/08 JIE MU sent an outgoing international wire transfer for $2,000.00 to co-

9 
conspirator SWO in Singapore funded from MU's Bank of America 
account (ending 66425). 

10 49 7/22/08 ALLEN FONG initiated the rental of 5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt# 151, 

11 
Cupertino, CA, on behalf of William Sharon, whom ALLEN FONG 
described as his "father-in-law." 

12 50 7/23/08 ALLEN FONG brought William Sharon into the leasing office to sign the 

13 
lease for 5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt # 151, Cupertino, CA. 

14 
51 9/09/08 YA HUAI HUNG sent an outgoing international wire transfer for 

$3,500.00 to co-conspirator ELGin Singapore. 

15 52 10/07/08 While posing as William Sharon's son-in-law, ALLEN FONG attempted 

16 
to rent 505 Shell Pkwy, Apt #1106, Redwood City, in Sharon's name. 

17 
53 10/07/08 ALLEN FONG brought William Sharon to the leasing office, where 

Sharon signed the rental documents for 505 Shell Pkwy, Apt #1106, 

18 
Redwood City, CA. 

19 
54 10/27/08 An Enterprise prostitute sexually solicited an undercover police officer at 

337 S. Fremont Street, Apt #119, San Mateo, CA, leased by William 

20 
Sharon. 

21 55 11130/08 WA YLEN FONG provided the leasing staff with a $99.00 deposit to rent 
5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt #354, Cupertino, CA. 

22 56 12/02/08 WA YLEN FONG opened the PG&E account for 5624 Stevens Creek 

23 
Blvd, Apt #354, Cupertino, CA. 

24 57 2/13/09 An Enterprise prostitute sexually solicited an undercover police officer at 
337 S. Fremont Street, Apt #119, San Mateo, CA, leased by William 

25 Sharon. 

26 58 2/25/09 JIE MU and LAURENCE SHU KW AN LEE met with Enterprise 
prostitute SWO, and then drove SWO to the Washington Mutual Bank. 

27 
59 2/25/09 In a recorded conversation inside his vehicle, LAURENCE SHU KWAN 

28 LEE asked SWO if she had withdrawn more than $10,000.00 from the 
bank. 
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2 
60 3/23/09 W A YLEN FONG provided the rent payment, totaling $2,304.52, to the 

leasing staff for 1624 Hope Drive, Apt #621, Santa Clara, CA. 

3 61 3/23/09 W A YLEN FONG opened the PG&E account for 1624 Hope Drive, Apt 
#621, Santa Clara, CA. 

4 

5 
62 4/03/09 ALLEN FONG entered 505 Shell Pkwy, Apt# 1106, Redwood City, CA, 

leased by William Sharon. 

6 63 4/06/09 ALLEN FONG entered 3321 La Selva Circle, Apt #2, San Mateo, CA, 

7 
leased by William Sharon. 

8 
64 4/06/09 ALLEN FONG delivered supplies to 1624 Hope Drive, Apt# 621, Santa 

Clara, CA, leased by W A YLEN FONG. 

9 65 4/06/09 ALLEN FONG delivered supplies to 5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt #354, 

10 
Cupertino, CA, leased by WA YLEN FONG. 

11 
66 4/8/09 ALLEN FONG traveled to 2723 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #311, San Mateo, 

CA, leased by William Sharon. 

12 67 4/23/09 Co-conspirator VK sexually solicited an undercover police officer at 2723 

13 
S. Norfolk Street, Apt #311, San Mateo, CA, leased by William Sharon. 

14 
68 8/04/09 ALLEN FONG drove William Sharon and an Asian female to 5624 

Stevens Creek Blvd, Cupertino, CA, and escorted the Asian female into 

15 
Apt #354, leased by W A YLEN FONG. 

16 
69 8/04/09 ALLEN FONG and William Sharon arrived together to renew the lease 

for the Enterprise brothel at 19608 Pruneridge A venue, Apt # 8105, 

17 
Cupertino, CA, leased by William Sharon. 

18 70 7/21/09 JIE MU cleaned 1624 Hope Drive, Apt #621, Santa Clara, CA, leased by 
WA YLEN FONG, and moved items out of that apartment. 

19 71 7/21/09 JIE MU told leasing staff that she was cleaning and helping W A YLEN 

20 FONG move out of 1624 Hope Drive, Apt #621, Santa Clara, CA. 

21 72 7/21/09 JIE MU attempted to retrieve WAYLON FONG's mail for 1624 Hope 
Drive, Apt #621, Santa Clara, CA. 

22 
73 7/21109 JIE MU told leasing staff that W A YLEN FONG would come to the 

23 leasing office on "Friday" and retrieve his mail for 1624 Hope Drive, Apt 
#621, Santa Clara, CA. 

24 
74 6/22/09 W A YLEN FONG submitted a notice of intent to vacate 1624 Hope Drive, 

25 Apt #621, Santa Clara, CA. 

26 75 11/19/09 ALLEN FONG and William Sharon met with a leasing staff member for 
the purpose of renting 700 Agnew Road, Apt #21 0, Santa Clara, CA. 

27 
76 11/20/09 ALLEN FONG provided a copy of William Sharon's driver's license to 

28 the leasing office for the rental of 700 Agnew Road, Apt #21 0, Santa 
Clara. CA 
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77 12/02/09 ALLEN FONG and William Sharon together entered 700 Agnew Road, 

Apt #21 0, Santa Clara, CA. 

3 78 12/18/09 ALLEN FONG entered 20425 Via Paviso, Apt #D-14, Cupertino, CA, 

4 
leased by William Sharon, with a prostitute. 

5 
79 12/19/09 Inside the brothel at 20425 Via Paviso, Apt #D-14, Cupertino, CA, in a 

recorded conversation, ALLEN FONG told a prostitute how much money 

6 
FONG needed to be paid from her prostitution earnings. 

7 
80 2/22/10 An Enterprise prostitute sexually solicited an undercover police officer at 

20425 Via Paviso, Apt #D-14, Cupertino, CA, leased by William Sharon. 

8 81 2/22110 After an undercover officer was sexually solicited by an Enterprise 

9 
prostitute at 20425 Via Paviso, Apt #D-14, Cupertino, CA, another 
prostitute at that brothel, SJ, called "Jane" [JIE MU], who told SJ to 

10 
standby and she would have "the boss" call her. 

11 
82 2/22/10 A few minutes after JIE MU told SJ that the "boss" would call her, 

ALLEN FONG called SJ and pressed for details about the police 

12 
operation. 

13 
83 3/11110 Using his pick-up truck, ALLEN FONG and laborers moved items out of 

700 Agnew Road, Apt #21 0, Santa Clara, CA, leased by William Sharon, 

14 
and transported them to a Public Storage unit. 

15 
84 6/28/10 ALLEN FONG made an ATM cash deposit of$1,200.00 into the Bank of 

America account (ending 8321) held by LEOW WAN RU VERON. 

16 85 7/07/10 ALLEN FONG made an ATM cash deposit of $2,300.00 into the Bank of 

17 
America account (ending 8321) held by LEOW WAN RU VERON. 

18 
86 7/12/10 ALLEN FONG made an ATM cash deposit of$1,000.00 into the Bank of 

America account (ending 8321) held by LEOW WAN RU VERON. 

19 87 7/17/10 ALLEN FONG made ATM cash deposits of $1,700.00 and $900.00, 

20 
totaling $2,600.00, into the Bank of America account (ending 8321) held 
by LEOW WAN RU VERON. 

21 88 7/19/10 ALLEN FONG made an ATM cash deposit of $900.00 into the Bank of 

22 America account (ending 8321) held by LEOW WAN RU VERON. 

23 89 8/17/10 ALLEN FONG exited 1 030A Balboa Street, San Francisco, CA, with an 
Asian female, and transported the female to 2723 S. Norfolk Street, Apt 

24 #211, San Mateo, CA, leased by Alex Chan. 

25 90 8/17110 ALLEN FONG entered the building of 744 Edgewater Blvd, Foster City, 
CA, where Apt #20 1 was leased by Alex Chan. 

26 
91 9/03110 ALLEN FONG drove an Asian female from 2723 S. Norfolk Street, Apt 

27 #211, San Mateo, CA, to 744 Edgewater Blvd, Foster City, CA. 

28 92 9/03/10 ALLEN FONG exited 744 Edgewater Blvd, Foster City, CA, and escorted 
another Asian female~ _and carried her luQQaQe into his vehicle 
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1 
93 9/03/10 ALLEN FONG drove the two Asian females to the Bank of America, 

2 where they made A TM transactions. 

3 94 9/09/10 ALLEN FONG and Alex Chan together entered the building at 2715 S. 

4 
Norfolk, San Mateo, CA, leased by Alex Chan. 

5 
95 9/09/10 ALLEN FONG moved items from 2723 S. Norfolk, Apt # 211, San 

Mateo, CA, leased by Alex Chan, to 2715 S. Norfolk Street, Apt# 111, 

6 
San Mateo, CA, also leased by Alex Chan. 

7 
96 3/23/11 An Enterprise prostitute sexually solicited an undercover police officer at 

2715 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #111, San Mateo, CA, leased by Alex Chan. 

8 97 4/13/11 ALLEN FONG toured 1000 Foster City Blvd, Apt #4408, Foster City, 

9 
CA, which was then leased by ROBERT CHUN beginning on 5/11/11. 

10 
98 9/28/11 ROBERT CHUN paid $2,833.67 in rent for 7800 El Camino Real, Apt 

#122, Colma, CA, via a Citibank official check #311823166. 

11 99 9/29/11 ROBERT CHUN opened the PG&E account for 7800 El Camino Real, 

12 
Apt #122, Colma, CA. 

13 
100 12/13/11 An Enterprise prostitute sexually solicited an undercover police officer at 

1000 Foster City Blvd, Apt #4408, Foster City, CA, leased by ROBERT 

14 
CHUN. 

15 
101 1/24/12 KEVIN HARTIG opened the PG&E account for 1000 Foster City Blvd, 

Apt #2109, Foster City, CA. 

16 102 1/28/12 KEVIN HARTIG paid $3,005.48 in rent for 1000 Foster City Blvd, Apt 

17 
#2109, Foster City, CA, from his Wells Fargo account (ending 2282). 

18 103 2/2/12 ANGELINA CHUONG provided the leasing office with a deposit of 
$473.65 for 2759 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #211, San Mateo, CA, from her 

19 
Wells Fargo Bank account (ending 2741). 

20 104 2/08/12 ANGELINA CHUONG submitted two money orders, totaling $1,767.83, 
and signed by CHUONG, to the leasing office for rent payment for 2759 

21 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #211, San Mateo, CA. 

22 105 2/09/12 ANGELINA CHUONG opened the PG&E account for 2759 S. Norfolk 
Street, Apt #211, San Mateo, CA. 

23 
106 3/19/12 ANGELINA CHUONG leased 2401 Erin Place, South San Francisco, 

24 CA, to Enterprise members. 

25 107 3/19/12 ANGELINA CHUONG gave ALLEN FONG the key to 2401 Erin Place, 
South San Francisco, CA. 

26 
108 8/08/12 KEVIN HARTIG opened the PG&E account for 2759 S. Norfolk Street, 

27 Apt #103, San Mateo, CA. 

28 109 8/09/12 KEVIN HARTIG paid $2,007.48 in rent for 2759 S. Norfolk Street, Apt 
#103 San Mateo CA from his Wells Fanm account (endin2: 2282). 
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110 10/04/12 KEVIN HARTIG opened the PG&E account for 1175 Park Place, Apt 

#103, San Mateo, CA. 

3 Ill 10/04/12 KEVIN HARTIG paid $2,648.26 in rent for 1175 Park Place, Apt #103, 

4 
San Mateo, CA, from his Wells Fargo account (ending 2282). 

5 
112 10/16/12 An Enterprise prostitute sexually solicited an undercover police officer at 

2759 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #103, San Mateo, CA, leased by KEVIN 
HARTIG. 

6 

7 
113 4/10/13 ALLEN FONG entered 2187 Vista Del Mar, San Mateo, CA, leased by 

KEVIN HARTIG and unnamed CC #2. 

8 114 4110/13 ALLEN FONG escorted an Asian female from 2759 S. Norfolk Street, 

9 
Apt #103, San Mateo, CA, leased by KEVIN HARTIG, and carried her 
luggage, into his vehicle. 

10 115 4/10/13 ALLEN FONG drove an Asian female from 2759 S. Norfolk Street, Apt 

11 
#103, San Mateo, CA, to 1341 David Street, San Mateo, CA, where Apt 
# 107 was leased by ALLEN FON G. 

12 116 5/3/13 ALLEN FONG delivered supplies to 2759 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #103, 

13 
San Mateo, CA, leased by KEVIN HARTIG. 

14 
117 5/3/13 ALLEN FONG delivered supplies to 1341 David Street, Apt #107, San 

Mateo, CA, leased by ALLEN FONG. 

15 118 8/12/13 During the execution of a federal search warrant at 1341 David Street, Apt 

16 
#107, San Mateo, CA, leased by ALLEN FONG, YA HUAI HUNG and 
another Enterprise prostitute were present inside that brothel. 

17 119 8/12/13 ALLEN FONG possessed approximately 1,088 condoms inside his 

18 
vehicle. 

19 120 8/12/13 ALLEN FONG possessed approximately eleven bank cards, including the 
Bank of America bank card (ending 0914) issued from the Bank of 

20 America account (ending 77382) opened in the name ofSakura Susa. 

21 121 10/03/13 CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN sent an outgoing international 
wire transfer for $7,000.00 to her bank account in Singapore. 

22 
122 11122/13 CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN and another prostitute were 

23 present inside the Enterprise brothel at 3 Plaza View Lane, Apt #309, 
Foster City, CA, leased by ALLEN FONG, during an undercover law 

24 enforcement operation. 

25 123 1/22/14 ALLEN FONG and CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN, posing as 
a couple, went together to a leasing office, where ALLEN FONG rented 

26 2719 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #311, San Mateo, CA. 

27 

28 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962( d). 
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1 COUNT TWO: (18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 1952(a)(3) - Conspiracy to Use Interstate and Foreign 
Commerce in Aid of Racketeering Enterprise) 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

8. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs one through four and seven are realleged 

and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

9. Beginning from at least October 24, 2006, and continuing to at least November 22, 2013, 

2014, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, the defendants, 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a!k/a "Jeff Law," and alk/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, and 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

knowingly conspired with each other, and with other persons known and unknown to the grand jury, to 

travel in interstate and foreign commerce, and use the mail and a facility in interstate commerce, 

namely, the telephone, the Internet, the United Parcel Service ("UPS"), and the United States Postal 

Service ("USPS"), with the intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on, and facilitate the promotion, 

management, establishment and carrying on of an unlawful activity, that is, a business enterprise 

involving prostitution offenses in violation of the laws of the State in which they are committed and of 

the United States described in paragraph five above, and thereafter did perform an act to promote, 

manage, establish and carry on, and to facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and carrying 

on of such unlawful activity, to wit: Internet purchases of condoms, delivery of condoms across state 

lines by UPS and USPS, posting of prostitution advertisements online, answering calls for telephone 

numbers posted on the online advertisements, and making telephone calls for the purpose of 

coordinating sexual activity between prostitutes and customers in exchange for money. 

10. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish the object of the conspiracy, the 

defendants and their co-conspirators, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, committed the 

following overt acts, among others, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, on or about the 

Indictment 18 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

dates set forth below: 

Overt Approximate 
Ach nate 
1 10/24/06 

2 10/26/06 

3 10/30/06 

4 11104/06 

5 11/09/06 

6 11113/06 

7 11118/06 

8 11/23/06 

9 11/28/06 

10 12/03/06 

11 12/07/06 

12 12/12/06 

13 12/13/06 

Indictment 

LEOW WAN RU VERON ("BRISA") entered the United States at 
the San Francisco International Airport ("SFO") from Singapore. 

Two days after LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the United States 
on 10/24/06, ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting 
(#226080485) of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean 
female named "Veron" entitled "Sexy Singaporeans or Busty 
Yo Yo." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#228061711) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Veron." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#230165966) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Veron." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#232455818) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Brisa." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#234502112) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Brisa." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#236883950) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Brisa." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#238990139) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Brisa." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#241148836) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Brisa." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#243577115) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Brisa." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#245768302) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Brisa." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#248147040) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Brisa." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#248759947) 
of a orostitution advertisement for a Sin!!aoorean female named 

19 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

Indictment 

12/17/06 

1/22/07 

4/19/07 

4/19/07 

7/17/07 

10/29/07 

10/29/07 

10/29/07 

11/05/07 

11105/07 

2/02/08 

2/20/08 

5/13/08 

"Brisa." 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#250395936) 
of a prostitution advertisement for a Singaporean female named 
"Brisa." 

LEOW WAN RU VERON departed the United States from SFO to 
Singapore. 

LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the United States at SFO from 
Singapore. 

On her I-94 immigration entry document ("I-94"), LEOW WAN RU 
VERON listed the Enterprise brothel at 3144 La Selva Circle, Apt 
#6, San Mateo, CA, leased by Allen Fong & unnamed CC #1, as the 
location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

LEOW WAN RU VERON departed the United States from SFO to 
Singapore. 

Based upon flight reservations made by LEOW WAN RU VERON, 
co-conspirators VK and SHG entered the United States on the same 
flight from Singapore (through Taipei) to the San Francisco 
International Airport. 

On her I -94, co-conspirator VK listed 3144 La Selva Circle, San 
Mateo, CA, leased by ALLEN FONG & unnamed CC #1, as the 
location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

On her I-94, co-conspirator SHG listed 3144 La Selva Circle, San 
Mateo, CA, leased by ALLEN FONG & unnamed CC #1, as the 
location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

Based upon flight reservations made by LEOW WAN RU VERON, 
two Asian women and LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the 
United States on the same flight from Singapore (through Taipei) to 
the Los Angeles International Airport ("LAX"). 

From LAX, LEOW WAN RU VERON and two Asian women who 
took the same flight from Singapore to LAX on 11/05/07 also took 
the same flight from Burbank, CA, to Oakland, CA, on 11105/07 
based upon domestic airline tickets purchased by ALLEN FONG on 
11/04/07 via his UCB/East West Bank account (ending 8930). 

LEOW WAN RU VERON departed the United States from SFO to 
Singapore. 

ROBERT CHUN made an online Craigslist posting (#579810942) 
of a prostitution advertisement for "Mina," which was used by a 
"John" to arrange for sexual services at the Enterprise brothel on 
1315 Palos Verdes Dr, Apt # 101, San Mateo, CA, leased by 
William Sharon, on 2/20/08. 

ALLEN FONG made an Internet purchase of 1,000 condoms from 
Go Live Inc. located in Florida and the condoms were shinned via 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

Indictment 

5/27/08 

6/12/08 

10/10/08 

11/11108 

12/20/08 

2/11/09 

2/13/09 

4/22/09 

4/22/09 

4/23/09 

4/23/09 

6/11/09 

7/18/09 

United Parcel Service to the San Francisco Residence. 

LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the United States at SFO from 
Singapore. 

ALLEN FONG made an Internet purchase of 2,000 condoms from 
Okamoto USA, Inc. located in Connecticut, and the condoms were 
shipped via Federal Express to the San Francisco residence. 

ALLEN FONG made an Internet purchase of 2,000 condoms from 
Go Live, Inc. located in Florida, and the condoms were shipped via 
United Parcel Service to the San Francisco Residence. 

ALLEN FONG made an Internet purchase of 6,000 condoms from 
Go Live, Inc. located in Florida, and the condoms were shipped via 
United Parcel Service to the San Francisco Residence. 

LEOW WAN RU VERON departed the United States from SFO to 
Singapore. 

LAURENCE LEE made an online Craigslist posting (#1031226572) 
of a prostitution advertisement for "Nora," which was used by an 
undercover officer to arrange for sexual services on 2/13/09 at the 
Enterprise brothel on 337 S. Fremont St, Apt #119, San Mateo, CA, 
leased by William Sharon. 

JIE MU was the telephone operator who arranged prostitution 
services for an undercover officer on 2/13/09 at the Enterprise 
brothel located on 337 S. Fremont St, Apt #119, San Mateo, CA, 
leased by William Sharon. 

LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the United States at SFO from 
Singapore. 

On her I-94, LEOW WAN RU VERON listed 1030A Balboa St, San 
Francisco, CA, which was YA HUAI HUNG's residence owned by 
ALLEN FONG, as the location where she would be staying while in 
the United States. 

JIE MU was the telephone operator who arranged prostitution 
services for an UC officer on 4/23/09 at the Enterprise brothel 
located on 2723 S. Norfolk St, Apt #311, San Mateo, CA, leased by 
William Sharon. 

LAURENCE LEE made an online Craigslist posting (#1136671465) 
of a prostitution advertisement for "Luisa," which was used by an 
undercover officer to arrange for sexual services on 4/23/09 at the 
Enterprise brothel on 2723 S. Norfolk St, Apt #311, San Mateo, CA, 
leased by William Sharon. 

ALLEN FONG made an Internet purchase of 6,000 condoms from 
Go Live, Inc. located in Florida, and the condoms were shipped via 
United Parcel Service to the San Francisco residence. 

LEOW WAN RU VERON deoarted the United States from SFO to 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

40 

41 

42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

50 

51 

Indictment 

9/15/09 

9/15/09 

9/15/09 

9/15/09 

9/15/09 

9/22/09 

9/22/09 

2/22/10 

2/22/10 

5/05/10 

5/27/10 

8/02/10 

Singapore. 

JIE MU was the telephone operator who arranged prostitution 
services for a "John" at 5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt #354, 
Cupertino, CA, leased by WA YLEN FONG. 

JIE MU was the telephone operator who arranged prostitution 
services for a second "John" at 5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt #354, 
Cupertino, CA, leased by WA YLEN FONG. 

JIE MU was the telephone operator who arranged prostitution 
services for a third "John" at 19608 Pruneridge Ave, Apt #8105, 
Cupertino, CA, leased by William Sharon. 

LAURENCE LEE made an online Craigslist posting (#1375728560) 
of a prostitution advertisement for "Lisa," which was used by a 
"John" on 9/15/09 to arrange for sexual services at the Enterprise 
brothel on 5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt #3 54, Cupertino, CA, 
leased by W A YLEN FONG. 

LAURENCE LEE made an online MyRedbook.com posting 
(#178449) of a prostitution advertisement for "Tina," which was 
used on 9/15/09 by a different "John" to arrange for sexual services 
at the Enterprise brothel on 5624 Stevens Creek Blvd, Apt #354, 
Cupertino, CA, leased by WA YLEN FONG. 

JIE MU was the telephone operator who arranged prostitution 
services for an undercover officer on 9/22/09 at the Enterprise 
brothel located on 19608 Pruneridge Ave, Apt #81 05, Cupertino, 
CA, leased by William Sharon. 

JIE MU was the telephone operator who arranged prostitution 
services for a fourth "John" at 19608 Pruneridge Ave, Apt #8105, 
Cupertino, CA, on 9/22/09. 

JIE MU was the telephone operator who arranged prostitution 
services for an undercover officer on 2/22/10 at the Enterprise 
brothel located on 20425 Via Paviso, Apt# D-14, Cupertino, CA, 
leased by William Sharon. 

An Enterprise member made an online MyRedbook.com posting 
(#144120) of a prostitution advertisement for "Kate," which was 
used by an undercover officer on 2/22/10 to arrange for sexual 
services at the Enterprise brothel on 20425 Via Paviso, Apt# D-14, 
Cupertino, CA, leased by William Sharon. 

LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the United States at SFO from 
Singapore. 

ALLEN FONG made an Internet purchase of 5,040 condoms from 
Go Live, Inc. located in Florida, and the condoms were shipped via 
United States Postal Service to the residence of Y A HUAI HUNG in 
San Francisco, CA. 

LEOW WAN RU VERON denarted the United States from SFO to 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

2/15/11 

8/02/11 

7/03/12 

7/03/12 

8/25/12 

3/12/13 

9/25/13 

11/21/13 

11/22/13 

Singapore. 

ALLEN FONG made an Internet purchase of 2,000 condoms from 
Go Live, Inc. located in Florida, and the condoms were shipped via 
United Parcel Service to the residence of YA HUAI HUNG in San 
Francisco, CA. 

ALLEN FONG made Internet purchase of 3,124 condoms from Go 
Live, Inc. located in Florida, and the condoms were shipped via 
United Parcel Service to 1 030A Balboa Street, San Francisco, CA. 

An Enterprise member posted a prostitution advertisement 
(#377258) for sex with "Mika" on MyRedbook.com. 

An Enterprise member posted a prostitution advertisement 
(#378653) for sex with "Mika" on MyRedbook.com. 

Using Visa credit card (ending 0914) issued from a Bank of 
America account (ending 77382) opened in Sakura Susa's name, 
ALLEN FONG made an Internet purchase of 2,000 condoms from 
Global Protection Corp. located in Massachusetts, and the condoms 
were shipped via United Parcel Service to 2401 Erin Place, South 
San Francisco, CA. 

Using Visa credit card (ending 0914), ALLEN FONG made an 
Internet purchase of 2,000 condoms from Global Protection Corp. 
located in Massachusetts, and the condoms were shipped via United 
Parcel Service to "Y A HUAI HUNG" at 1 030A Balboa Street, San 
Francisco, CA. 

Using Visa credit card (ending 0564), ALLEN FONG made an 
Internet purchase of 3,000 condoms from Global Protection Corp. 
located in Massachusetts, with the billing contact as "Sakura Susa" 
at 1 030A Balboa Street, San Francisco, CA. 

An Enterprise member posted a prostitution advertisement 
(#582161) for sex with "Nana" on MyRedbook.com. 

An Enterprise member posted a prostitution advertisement 
(#559330) for sex with "Nana" on MyRedbook.com. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 371 and 1952(a)(3). 

23 
COUNTS THREE THROUGH SEVEN: (18 U.S.C. §§ 1952(a)(3) and 2- Use oflnterstate Commerce 

24 in Aid of Racketeering Enterprise) 

25 11. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs one through four and seven are realleged 

26 and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

27 12. On or about the dates listed below, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, 

28 the defendant, 
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1 ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a!k!a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 

2 "JeffWoo"), 

3 knowingly used the mail and a facility in interstate commerce, namely, the telephone, with the intent to 

4 promote, manage, establish, carry on, and facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and 

5 carrying on of an unlawful activity, that is, a business enterprise involving prostitution offenses in 

6 violation of the laws of the State in which they are committed and of the United States described in 

7 paragraph five, and thereafter did perform an act to promote, manage, establish and carry on, and to 

8 facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and carrying on of such unlawful activity, to wit: 

9 use of telephones to arrange sexual activity between prostitutes and customers in exchange for money, 

1 0 as set forth below: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Count 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

Approximate 
Date 
2/22110 

3/23111 

12113/11 

10/16/12 

11/21/13 

Indictment 

Telephone 
No. 

Account Provider for 
Telephone No. 

(408) 731-
9034 

Te1usion, Inc. d/b/a 
TossableDigits.com 

(650) 241- Phone.com 
3583 

(650) 241- Phone.com 
3583 

(650) 264- Phone.com 
7568 

(408) 643- AT&T Wireless 
1217 

24 

Billing Contact for 
Account 
Lily Go 
_{\~;;_\Ys.:l_:2J_@gt_lLajJcf_(l_l])_ 

Acct # 6330 

Allen Fong, 1 030A 
Balboa St, San 
Francisco, CA 94118 
(650) 630-1528 
IJJ~_y_L!;l_Ql)Q@;JJptr_n a i l"_l:QID 

Use of Telephone 
Number 
UC officer arranged 
appointment with 
prostitute at 20425 Via 
Paviso, Apt # D-14, 
Cupertino, CA, by 
calling (408) 731-9034. 
UC officer arranged 
appointment with 
prostitute at 2715 S. 
Norfolk Street, Apt 
#Ill, San Mateo, CA, 
by calling (650) 241-
3583. 

Allen Fong, 1 030A UC officer arranged 
Balboa St, San appointment with 
Francisco, CA 94118 prostitute at 1000 Foster 
(650) 630-1528 City Blvd, Apt # 4408, 
mnyJl]_Ql]Q({JDJQJIJl(tiJ,(:plJJ Foster City, CA, by 

Steve Fujimoto, 512 2200 

Ave, San Francisco, CA 
94118 
(650) 630-1528 

calling (650) 241-3583. 
UC officer arranged 
appointment with 
prostitute at 2759 S. 
Norfolk Street, Apt 

rnavl!?_gbq_@)Jotmail.~gm #103, San Mateo, CA, 
by calling (650) 264-
7568. 
UC officer arranged 

Santa appointment with 
William F. Sharon 
1624 Hope Dr, 
Clara, CA 
(650) 483-5756 

prostitute at 3 Plaza 
View Lane, Apt # 309, 

I!l_<l_yJ1NhQ(q!hmm<!iJ,(:QIJJ Foster City, CA, by 
calling (408) 643-1217. 
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1 All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2. 

2 COUNTS EIGHT TROUGH THIRTEEN: (18 U.S.C. §§ 1952(a)(3) and 2 - Use of Interstate 
Commerce in Aid of Racketeering Enterprise) 

3 

4 
13. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs one through four and seven are realleged 

and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 
5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

14. 

the defendant, 

On or about the dates listed below, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, 

ALLEN FONG (a!k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a!k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a!k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

knowingly used the mail and a facility in interstate commerce, namely, the Internet, with the intent to 
10 

11 
promote, manage, establish, carry on, and facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and 

carrying on of an unlawful activity, that is, a business enterprise involving prostitution offenses in 
12 

13 
violation of the laws of the State in which they are committed and of the United States described in 

paragraph five, and thereafter did perform an act to promote, manage, establish and carry on, and to 
14 

15 
facilitate the promotion, management, establishment and carrying on of such unlawful activity, to wit: 

the defendant made Internet postings of prostitution advertisements, as set forth below: 
16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Count Approximate 
Date 
Prostitution 
Advertisement 
("Ad") Posted 
on Internet 

8 3/23/11 

9 12/13/11 

Indictment 

MyRedbook.com Names Used to 
Ad Posting No. Post Ads 

# 210337 for sex "springfling" 
with "Pamela" captured IP 

address 
76.220.54.254 

# 285615 for sex "violeteyes" 
with "Cookie" captured IP 

address 
76.220.54.254 

25 

AT&T 
Unique 
IP 
Address 
Used to 
Post Ads 

76.220.5 
4.254 

76.220.5 
4.254 

Name and 
Address of 
AT&T 
Customer 
Assigned 
Unique IP 
Address 
Allen Fong 
with his 
listed 
residential 
address in 
San Mateo 

Phone No. Linked to 
Ad Posting & 
Contact/Subscriber 

(650) 241-3583 
Phone.com 

Allen Fong 
I 030A Balboa Street, 
San Francisco, CA 
(650) 630-1528 
may! bobo@hotmail.com 

Allen Fong (650) 241-3583 
with his Phone.com 
listed 
residential 
address in 
San Mateo 

Allen Fong 
I 030A Balboa Street, 
San Francisco, CA 
(650) 630-1528 
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1 may 1 bobo@hotmail.com 

2 10 7/03/12 # 178017 for sex "discrete lover" 76.220.5 Allen Fong (650) 241-3583 
with "Mika" captured IP 4.254 with his Phone.com 

3 address listed 
76.220.54.254 residential Allen Fong 

4 address in 1030A Balboa Street, 
San Mateo San Francisco, CA 

5 (650) 630-1528 
may 1 bobo@hotmai I. com 

6 
11 10/16112 # 414190 for sex "asianlust88" 76.220.5 Allen Fong (650) 264-7568 

7 with "Yuki" captured IP 4.254 with his Phone.com 
address listed 

8 76.220.54.254 residential "Steve Fujimoto" 
address in (650) 630-1528 

9 San Mateo may 1 bobo@hotmail.com 

10 12 11/21113 # 582161 for sex "zen-vision" 76.220.5 Allen Fong ( 408) 643-1217 
with "Nana" captured IP 4.254 with his AT&T 

11 address listed 
76.220.54.254 residential William F. Sharon 

12 address in 1624 Hope Dr, 
San Mateo Santa Clara, CA 

13 (650) 483-5756 
rnt_lV I bgborlt'hotmai l.<.:oJ!l 

14 13 11122/13 # 559330 for sex "asianxtacy" 76.220.5 Allen Fong (408)643-1217 
with "Nana" captured IP 4.254 with his AT&T 

15 address listed 
76.220.54.254 residential William F. Sharon 

16 address in 1624 Hope Dr, 
San Mateo Santa Clara, CA 

17 (650) 483-5756 
rnav I ho_boif!}hgttiHtil.c;onl 

18 

19 
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3) and 2. 

c OUNT FOURTEEN: (18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(h) & 1956(a)(l)(A)(i)- Conspiracy to Launder Monetary 
20 I nstruments) 

21 15. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs one through four and seven are realleged 

22 and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

23 16. Beginning from at least August 2002, and continuing to at least July 29, 2014, in the 

24 Northern District of California and elsewhere, the defendants, 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Indictment 

ALLEN PONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

WAYLENFONG, 

26 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG, 

knowingly conspired with each other, and with other persons known and unknown to the grand jury, to 

conduct and attempt to conduct financial transactions representing the proceeds of unlawful activity, to 

wit: prostitution, knowing that the property involved in the financial transactions represented the 

proceeds of unlawful activity, with the intent to promote the carrying on of a specified unlawful activity 

to wit: Use of Interstate Commerce in Aid of Racketeering Enterprise, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1952 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

5 I0/02/09 $288.93 

6 I0/02/09 $222.09 

7 ll/16/09 $ 173.75 

8 l/06/10 $2,047.37 

9 2/03/10 $2,100.00 

10 2/05/l 0 $2,073.56 

II 7/08/10 $1,924.00 

12 ll/23/IO $306.38 

13 7/08/ll $ 116.62 

14 8/0 l/ll $2,350.17 

15 9/28/ll $2,833.67 

Indictment 

Cupertino, CA 
PG&E payment UCB account Allen Fong & William Sharon 
for 19608 (ending 9185) William Sharon 
Pruneridge Ave, 
Apt #8105, 
Cupertino, CA 
PG&E payment UCB account Allen Fong & William Sharon 
for 20425 Via (ending 9185) William Sharon 
Paviso, Apt #0-
14, Cupertino, 
CA 
PG&E payment UCB/East West Allen Fong Waylen Fong 
for 5624 Bank account 
Stevens Creek (ending 8930) 
Blvd, Apt #354, 
Cupertino, CA 
Rent payment UCB account Allen Fong & William Sharon 
for 700 Agnew (ending 9185) William Sharon 
Rd, Apt #21 0, 
Santa Clara, CA 
Rent payment UCB account Allen Fong & William Sharon 
for 20425 Via (ending 9185) William Sharon 
Paviso, Apt #0-
14, Cupertino, 
CA 
Rent payment UCB account Allen Fong & William Sharon 
for 700 Agnew (ending 9185) William Sharon 
Road, Apt 
#210, Santa 
Clara, CA 
Rent payment UCB!East West Allen Fong Alex Chan 

for 744 Bank account 
Edgewater (ending 8930) 
Blvd, Apt #201, 
Foster City, CA 
PG&E payment Bank of America Sakura Susa Alex Chan 

for 2715 S. account (ending 
Norfolk St, Apt 77382) 
#Ill, San 
Mateo,CA 
PG&E payment UCB/East West Allen Fong Robert Chun 

for IOOO Foster Bank account 
City, Apt (ending 8930) 
#4408, Foster 
City, CA 
Rent payment Bank of America Sakura Susa William Sharon 

for 853 account (ending 
Commodore 77382) 
Dr., Apt #464, 
San Bruno, CA 
Rent Payment Citibank Official Robert Chun Robert Chun 

for 7800 El Check 
Camino Real, #311823166 
Apt #122, 
Colma, CA 

28 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

16 I/25/12 

17 1/25/12 

18 2/02/12 

19 2/08/12 

20 4/12/12 

21 7/06/12 

22 8/09/12 

23 8/3 I/12 

24 10/26/12 

25 1/28/13 

26 I/29/13 

Indictment 

$107.50 PG&E payment 
for 7800 EI 
Camino Real, 
Apt #122, 
Colma,CA 

$252.44 PG&E payment 
for2715 S. 
~orfolkSt, Apt 
#I I I, San 
Mateo, CA 

$473.65 Deposit for 
2759 S. ~orfolk 
St, Apt #21 I, 
San Mateo, CA 

$1,767.83 Rent Payment 
for 2759 S. 
~orfolk St, Apt 
#21 I, San 
Mateo, CA 

$65.72 PG&E payment 
for 2759 S. 
~orfolk St, Apt 
#21 I, San 
Mateo,CA 

$2,169.00 Rent payment 
for 2759 S. 
~orfolk St, Apt 
#21 I, San 
Mateo, CA 

$2,007.48 Rent payment 
for 2759 S. 
~orfolk St, Apt 
#103, San 
Mateo,CA 

$2,607.42 Rent payment 
for 1000 Foster 
City, Apt 
#2109, Foster 
City, CA 

$50.00 PG&E payment 
for 2759 S. 
~orfolk St, Apt 
# 103, San 
Mateo, CA 

$275.66 PG&E payment 
for 2759 S. 
~orfolk St, Apt 
#103,San 
Mateo, CA 

$3,068.09 Rent payment 
for I I 75 Park 
Place, Apt 
#103,San 
Mateo, CA 

29 

Bank of America Sakura Susa Robert Chun 
account (ending 
77382) 

Bank of America Sakura Susa Alex Chan 
account (ending 
77382) 

Check# 1036 Angelina Chuong Angelina 
from Wells Fargo Chuong 
account (ending 
2741) held by 
Angelina Chuong 
U.S. Postal Angelina Chuong Angelina 
Service Money Chuong 
Orders 
(#I 9422006930 & 
19422006941) 
UCB/East West Allen Fong Angelina 
Bank account Chuong 
(ending 8930) 

Bank of America Sakura Susa Angelina 
account (ending Chuong 
77382) 

Wells Fargo Kevin Hartig Kevin Hartig 
account (ending 
2282) 

Wells Fargo Kevin Hartig Kevin Hartig 
account (ending 
2282) 

UCB/East West Allen Fong Kevin Hartig 
Bank account 
(ending 8930) 

JPMC account Allen Fong & Ya Kevin Hartig 
(ending 04425) Huai Hung 

Wells Fargo Kevin Hartig Kevin Hartig 
account (ending 
2282) 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

27 

28 

4/03/13 $2,759.00 

6/04113 $ 600.00 

Rent payment 
for 700 Agnew 
Road, Apt 
#134, Santa 
Clara, CA 
Deposit for 3 
Plaza View 
Lane, Apt #309, 
Foster City, CA 

Bank of America Allen Fong Allen Fong 
account (ending 
8519 

UCB/East West Allen Fong Allen Fong 
Bank account 
(ending 8930) 

6 All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956(a)(1)(A)(i). 

7 COUNTS FIFTEEN THROUGH TWENTY-THREE: (18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 2-

8 
Laundering of Monetary Instruments) 

9 18. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs one through four and seven are realleged 

1 0 and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

11 19. On or about the dates listed below, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, 

12 the defendant, 

13 

14 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

15 knowingly conducted, and attempted to conduct, financial transactions representing the proceeds of 

16 unlawful activity, to wit: prostitution, knowing that the property involved in the financial transactions 

17 represented the proceeds of unlawful activity, with the intent to promote the carrying on of a specified 

18 unlawful activity, to wit: Use of Interstate Commerce in Aid of Racketeering Enterprise, in violation of 

19 18 U.S.C. § 1952; Transportation for Prostitution, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2421; and Importation of 

20 Alien for Immoral Purpose, in violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1328. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Count 

15 

16 

17 

Indictment 

Date of Amount 
Financial 
Transaction 
11/16/09 $173.75 

7/08/10 $1,924.00 

10115110 $240.72 

Purpose of Method of 
Transaction Payment 

PG&E payment UCB/East West 
for 5624 Stevens Bank account 
Creek Blvd, Apt (ending 8930) 
#354, Cupertino, 
CA 
Rent payment for UCB/East West 
744 Edgewater Bank account 
Blvd, Apt #201, (ending 8930) 
Foster City, CA 
Fees for 853 UCB/East West 
Commodore Dr., Bank account 
Apt #464, San (ending 8930) 
Bruno, CA 

30 

Account Holder(s) Nominee Lessee 
or Remitter of Apartment 

Used as Brothel 
Allen Fong Waylen Fong 

Allen Fong Alex Chan 

Allen Fong William Sharon 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

4/06/12 $946.70 Rent payment for UCB/East West Allen Fong Robert Chun 
1000 Foster City, Bank account 
Apt #4408, Foster (ending 8930) 
City, CA 

4/12/12 $65.72 PG&E payment UCB/East West Allen Fong Angelina 
for 2759 S. Bank account Chuong 
Norfolk St, Apt (ending 8930) 
#211, San Mateo, 
CA 

3/19/13 $642.00 Fees for 700 Bank of Allen Fong Allen Fong 
Agnew Road, Apt America 
# 134, Santa Clara, account (ending 
CA 8519) 

3/21/13 $1,068.00 Rent payment for Bank of Allen Fong Allen Fong 
700 Agnew Road, America 
Apt # 134, Santa account (ending 
Clara, CA 8519) 

4/03/13 $2,759.00 Rent payment for Bank of Allen Fong Allen Fong 
700 Agnew Road, America 
Apt # 134, Santa account (ending 
Clara, CA 8519 

6/04/13 $ 600.00 Deposit for 3 UCB/East West Allen Fong Allen Fong 
Plaza View Lane, Bank account 
Apt #309, Foster (ending 8930) 
City, CA 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1 )(A)(i) and 2. 

15 COUNT TWENTY-FOUR: (18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(h) & 1956(a)(2)(A)- Conspiracy to Transport Funds to 

16 
Promote Unlawful Activity) 

17 
20. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs one through four and seven are realleged 

18 
and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

19 
21. Beginning from at least March 4, 2004, and continuing to at least October 3, 2013, in the 

20 
Northern District of California and elsewhere, the defendants, 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a!k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a!k/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

27 
knowingly conspired with each other, and with other persons known and unknown to the grand jury, to 

28 
transport, transmit, and transfer, and attempt to transport, transmit, and transfer, a monetary instrument 

Indictment 31 
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1 and funds from the United States to and through a place outside the United States, with the intent to 

2 promote the carrying on of a specified unlawful activity, to wit: Use oflnterstate and Foreign Commerce 

3 in Aid of Racketeering Enterprise, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1952; Transportation for Prostitution, in 

4 violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2421; and Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose, in violation of 8 U.S.C. 

5 § 1328. 

6 22. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish the object of the conspiracy, the 

7 defendants and their co-conspirators, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, committed the 

8 following overt acts, among others, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, involving 

9 international wire transfers sent by Enterprise members from the United States to foreign countries, 

10 including to known Enterprise members and prostitutes on or about the dates set forth below: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Overt 
Act 

I 
2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

IO 

II 

I2 

I3 

Indictment 

Date of Amount of 
Wire Wire 
Transfer Transfer 
sent from 
the United 
States 
7/02/06 $2,000.00 
3/09/07 $I,OOO.OO 

5/03/07 $8,000.00 

5/22/07 $9,000.00 

9/04/07 $3,810.00 

9/I8/07 $5,000.00 

IO/I 0/07 $6,500.00 

I2/07/07 $6,000.00 

1125/08 $I8,000.00 

2/22/08 $I4,308.00 

5/22/08 $6,000.00 

6/30/08 $2,000.00 

Method of Account Receiving Beneficiary 
Payment Holder(s) or Location 

Issuer Outside 
the United 
States 

Western Union Allen Fong Canada JieMu 
Zenvision Bank of Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
America account Huai Hung 
(ending 40008) 
Cathay Bank Allen Fong Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
account (ending 
5745) 

Cathay Bank Allen Fong Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
account (ending 
5745) 
Zenvision Bank of Allen Fong & Ya Singapore swo 
America account Huai Hung 
(ending 40008) 
UCB/East West Allen Fong Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
account (ending 
8930) 
UCB/East West Allen Fong Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
account (ending 
8930) 
UCB account Allen Fong & Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
(ending 9I85) William Sharon 

UCB account Allen Fong & Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
(ending 9I85) William Sharon 
UCB account Allen Fong & Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
(ending 9I85) William Sharon 
UCB account Allen Fong & Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
(ending 9I85) William Sharon 
Bank of America Jie Mu Singapore swo 
account (ending 

32 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 
30 

31 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

Indictment 

7/14/08 

7/30/08 

7/31108 

8/29/08 

9/9/08 

I 0/15/08 

10/24/08 

3/20/09 

6/22/09 

7/09/09 

7/13/09 

8/18/09 

9/08/09 

10/26/09 

2/02/10 

2/13/10 
2/18/l 0 

6/03/10 

7/13/10 

10/26/10 

1/25/ll 

6/30/11 

12/05/ll 

1/17/12 

8/06/12 

66425) 
$6,600.00 UCB/East West 

account (ending 
8930) 

$5,600.00 Zenvision Bank of 
America account 
(ending 40008) 

$8,000.00 Citibank account 
(ending 7310) 

$6,600.00 UCB account 
(ending 9185) 

$3,500.00 Zenvision Bank of 
America account 
(ending 40008) 

$9,900.00 Bank of America 
account (ending 
68419) 

$4,000.00 Zenvision Bank of 
America account 
(ending 40008) 

$2,500.00 JPMC account 
(ending 0442-5) 

$9,500.00 JPMC account 
(ending 7464) 

$9,500.00 JPMC account 
(ending 7 464) 

$9,000.00 Bank of America 
account (ending 
68419) 

$1,500.00 JPMC account 
(ending 0442-5) 

$2,000.00 JPMC account 
(ending 0442-5) 

$2,610.00 JPMC account 
(ending 40442-5) 

$1,800.00 JPMC account 
(ending 40442-5) 

$1,700.00 Western Union 
$4,500.00 JPMC account 

(ending 40442-5) 
$9,000.00 JPMC account 

(ending 7 464) 
$9,900.00 Bank of America 

account (ending 
68419) 

$2,500.00 JPMC account 
(ending 40442-5) 

$4,000.00 JPMC account 
(ending 40442-5) 

$9,000.00 JPMC account 
(ending 40442-5) 

$5,000.00 JPMC account 
(ending 5066) 

$4,800.00 JPMC account 
(ending 5066) 

$2,500.00 JPMC account 
(ending 40442-5) 

33 

Allen Fong Singapore SBH 

Allen Fong & Ya Singapore ELG 
Huai Hung 

Alex Chan Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 

Allen Fong & Singapore SBH 
William Sharon 
Allen Fong & Ya Singapore ELG 
Huai Hung 

LeowWanRu Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Veron 

Allen Fong & Ya Singapore NBH 
Huai Hung 

Allen Fong & Ya Singapore NBH 
Huai Hung 
Leow Wan Ru Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Veron 
Leow Wan Ru Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Veron 
Leow Wan Ru Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Veron 

Allen Fong & Ya Singapore NBH 
Huai Hung 
Allen Fong & Ya Singapore NBH 
Huai Hung 
Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Huai Hung 
Allen Fong & Ya Singapore NBH 
Huai Hung 
Allen Fong Singapore SBH 
Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Huai Hung 
LeowWan Ru Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Veron 
LeowWanRu Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Veron 

Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Huai Hung 
Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Huai Hung 
Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
Huai Hung 
Chonthicha Singapore Chonthicha 
J aemratanasophin J aemratanasophin 
Chonthicha Singapore Chonthicha 
J aemratanasophin J aemratanasophin 
Chonthicha Singapore Chonthicha 
J aemratanasophin J aemratanasophin 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

39 

40 

41 

3/05113 $9,000.00 Chonthicha Thailand Chonthicha 
Jaemratanaso hin Jaemratanaso hin 

7/01113 $8,000.00 Chonthicha Thailand Chonthicha 
Jaemratanaso hin Jaemratanaso hin 

10/03/13 $7,000.00 Chonthicha Thailand Chonthicha 
Jaemratanaso hin Jaemratanaso hin 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1956( a)(2)(A). 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH THIRTY-ONE: (18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 -
6 Transportation of Funds to Promote Unlawful Activity) 

7 23. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs one through four and seven are realleged 

8 and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

9 24. On or about the dates listed below, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, 

1 0 the defendants, 

11 

12 

13 

14 

ALLEN FONG (a!k/a "Steve Nguyen," a!k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a!k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

15 knowingly transported, transmitted, and transferred, and attempted to transport, transmit, and transfer, a 

16 monetary instrument and funds from the United States to and through a place outside the United States, 

17 with the intent to promote the carrying on of a specified unlawful activity, to wit: Use of Interstate and 

18 Foreign Commerce in Aid of Racketeering Enterprise, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1952; Transportation 

19 for Prostitution, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2421; and Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose, in 

20 violation of8 U.S.C. § 1328, as set forth below: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Count 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

Indictment 

Date of Amount 
Wire of Wire 
Transfer Transfer 
sent from 
the United 
States 
10/26/09 $2,610.00 

2118110 $4,500.00 

6/03/10 $9,000.00 

7113/10 $9,900.00 

10/26/10 $2,500.00 

Method of Account Holder(s) Receiving Beneficiary 
Payment or Issuer Location 

Outside the 
United 
States 

JPMC account Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
(ending 40442-5) Huai Hung_ 
JPMC account Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
(ending 40442-5) Huai Hung 
JPMC account Leow WanRu Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
(ending 7464) Veron 
Bank of America LeowWan Ru Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
account (ending Veron 
68419) 
JPMC account Allen Fong & Ya Sing~ore Leow Wan Ru Veron 

34 
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1 

2 

3 

• 

30 

31 

1125/11 $4,000.00 

6/30/11 $9,000.00 

(ending 40442-5) Huai Hung 
JPMC account Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
(ending 40442-5) Huai Hung 
JPMC account Allen Fong & Ya Singapore Leow Wan Ru Veron 
(ending 40442-5) Huai Hung 

4 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2. 

5 COUNT THIRTY-TWO: (18 U.S.C. §§ 371 & 2421, and 8 U.S.C. § 1328- Conspiracy to Transport for 
Prostitution and Importation of Alien for Immoral Purpose) 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

25. The factual allegations contained in paragraphs one through four and seven are realleged 

and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

26. Beginning from at least October 24, 2006, and continuing to at least November 22, 2013, 

in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, the defendants, 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

knowingly conspired with each other, and with other persons known and unknown to the grand jury, to 

transport an individual in interstate and foreign commerce to engage in prostitution, in violation of Title 

18, United States Code, Section 2421, and import an alien into the United States for the purpose of 

prostitution and to keep, maintain, control, support, employ, and harbor such alien in a house and other 

place for the purpose of prostitution in pursuance of such illegal importation, in violation of Title 8, 

United States Code, Section 1328. 

27. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the defendants, 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

knowingly transported, and attempted to transport, a person in interstate and foreign commerce with the 

Indictment 35 
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• 

1 intent that such person engage in prostitution and any sexual activity for which any person can be 

2 charged with a criminal offense, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2421. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

28. It was further a part and an object of the conspiracy that the defendants, 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

9 directly and indirectly imported, and attempted to import, into the United States, an alien for the purpose 

10 of prostitution and for other immoral purpose, and to keep, maintain, control, support, employ, and 

11 harbor such alien in a house and other place, for the purpose of prostitution and other immoral purpose 

12 in pursuance of such illegal importation, in violation of Title 8, United States Code, Section 1328. 

13 29. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish the objects of the conspiracy, the 

14 defendants and their co-conspirators, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, committed the 

15 following overt acts, among others, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, on or about the 

16 dates set forth below: 
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• 

1 account (ending 5745). 

2 7 5/22/07 ALLEN FONG sent an outgoing international wire transfer for $9,000.00 

3 
to LEOW WAN RU VERON in Singapore from PONG's Cathay Bank 
account (ending 5745). 

4 8 7/06/07 Co-conspirator ELG entered the United States from Singapore. 

5 9 7/06/07 On her I-94, co-conspirator ELG listed ALLEN PONG's property at 

6 
1 030A Balboa Street, San Francisco, CA, as the location where she would 
be staying while in the United States. 

7 10 8/11/07 Co-conspirator SWO entered the United States from Singapore. 

8 11 9/04/07 An outgoing international wire transfer for $3,81 0. 00 was sent to co-

9 
conspirator SWO in Singapore from the Zenvision Bank of America 
account (ending 40008) held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI 
HUNG. 

10 

11 
12 9/18/07 ALLEN FONG sent an outgoing international wire transfer for $5,000.00 

to LEOW WAN RU VERON in Singapore from PONG's UCB/East West 

12 
Bank account (ending 8930). 

13 
13 10/10/07 ALLEN FONG sent an outgoing international wire transfer for $6,500.00 

to LEOW WAN RU VERON in Singapore from PONG's UCB/East West 

14 
Bank account (ending 8930). 

15 
14 10/29/07 Based upon flight reservations made by LEOW WAN RU VERON, co-

conspirators VK and SHG entered the United States on the same flight 

16 
from Singapore (through Taipei) to the San Francisco International 
Airport. 

17 15 10/29/07 On her I-94, co-conspirator VK listed the Enterprise brothel at 3144 La 

18 
Selva Circle, San Mateo, CA (leased by ALLEN FONG & unnamed CC 
#1), as the location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

19 16 10/29/07 On her I-94, co-conspirator SHG listed the Enterprise brothel at 3144 La 

20 
Selva Circle, San Mateo, CA (leased by ALLEN FONG & unnamed CC 
#1), as the location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

21 17 11/05/07 Based upon flight reservations made by LEOW WAN RU VERON, two 

22 
Asian women and LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the United States on 
the same flight from Singapore (through Taipei) to the Los Angeles 

23 
International Airport ("LAX"). 

24 18 11/05/07 From LAX, LEOW WAN RU VERON and two Asian women who took 
the same flight from Singapore to LAX on 11/5/07 also took the same 

25 
flight from Burbank, CA, to Oakland, CA, on 11105/07 based upon the 
domestic airline tickets purchased by ALLEN FONG via his UCB/East 

26 West Bank account (ending 8930). 

27 19 12/07/07 An outgoing international wire transfer for $6,000.00 was sent to LEOW 
WAN RU VERON in Singapore from the UCB account (ending 9185) 

28 held jointly by ALLEN FONG and William Sharon. 
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1 20 1/25/08 An outgoing international wire transfer for $18,000.00 was sent to LEOW 
WAN RU VERON in Singapore from the UCB account (ending 9185) 

2 held jointly by ALLEN FONG and William Sharon. 

3 21 2/22/08 An outgoing international wire transfer for $14,308.00 was sent to LEOW 

4 
WAN RU VERON in Singapore from the UCB account (ending 9185) 
held jointly by ALLEN FONG and William Sharon. 

5 22 2/28/08 Co-conspirator SPL entered the United States from Hong Kong. 

6 23 2/28/08 On her 1-94, co-conspirator SPL listed the San Francisco Residence as the 

7 
location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

8 
24 3/08/08 Co-conspirator ELG entered the United States from Singapore. 

9 
25 3/08/08 On her 1-94, co-conspirator ELG listed the San Francisco Residence as the 

location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

10 26 3/15/08 Co-conspirator TMC entered the United States from Singapore. 

11 27 3115/08 On her 1-94, co-conspirator TMC listed the San Francisco Residence as 

12 
the location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

13 
28 5/22/08 An outgoing international wire transfer for $6,000.00 was sent to LEOW 

WAN RU VERON in Singapore from the UCB account (ending 9185) 

14 
held jointly by ALLEN FONG and William Sharon. 

15 
29 5/26/08 Co-conspirator SWO entered the United States at LAX from Singapore. 

16 
30 5/27/08 LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the United States at LAX from 

Singapore. 

17 31 6/30/08 JIE MU sent an outgoing international wire transfer for $2,000.00 to co-

18 
conspirator SWO in Singapore funded from MU's Bank of America 
account (ending 66425). 

19 32 7/30/08 An outgoing international wire transfer for $5,600.00 was sent to co-

20 conspirator ELG in Singapore from the Zenvision Bank account (ending 
40008) held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

21 
33 7/31/08 Alex Chan sent an outgoing international wire transfer for $8,000.00 to 

22 LEOW WAN RU VERON in Singapore from Chan's Citibank account 
(ending 7310). 

23 
34 9/09/08 An outgoing international wire transfer for $3,500.00 was sent to co-

24 conspirator ELG in Singapore from the Zen vision Bank account (ending 
40008) held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

25 
35 9/16/08 Co-conspirator TMC entered the United States from Singapore. 

26 
36 9/16/08 On her 1-94, co-conspirator TMC listed the San Francisco Residence as 

27 the location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

28 37 9/16/08 Co-conspirator TMH entered the United States from Singapore. 
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38 9/16/08 On her I-94, co-conspirator TMH listed the San Francisco Residence as 
the location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

2 
39 9/19/08 Co-conspirator PYY entered the United States from Singapore. 

3 

4 
40 9/19/08 On her I-94, co-conspirator PYY listed the San Francisco Residence as the 

location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

5 41 9/20/08 On or about 9/20/08, co-conspirator TMC was present inside the 

6 
Enterprise brothel at 337 S. Fremont Street, Apt #311, San Mateo, CA, 
leased by William Sharon, when encountered by a leasing staff member. 

7 42 10/23/08 Co-conspirator TMH and another prostitute were present inside the 

8 
Enterprise brothel at 39440 Civic Center Drive, Apt# 214, Fremont, CA, 
leased by William Sharon, during a law enforcement investigation. 

9 43 10/24/08 An outgoing international wire transfer for $4,000.00 was sent to co-

10 
conspirator NBH in Singapore from the Zenvision Bank of America 
account (ending 40008) held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI 
HUNG. 

11 

12 
44 11/23/08 Co-conspirator NBH entered the United States from Singapore. 

13 
45 11/23/08 On her I-94, co-conspirator NBH listed the Enterprise brothel at 247 

Arriba Street, Apt # 4, Sunnyvale, CA, leased by William Sharon, as the 

14 
location she would be staying while in the United States. 

15 
46 11127/08 Co-conspirator SWO entered the United States at SFO from Singapore. 

16 
47 11/27/08 On her I-94, co-conspirator SWO listed the San Francisco Residence as 

the location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

17 48 12/20/08 LEOW WAN RU VERON departed the United States from SFO to 

18 
Singapore. 

19 49 2/13/09 Co-conspirator SWO was present inside the Enterprise brothel at 337 S. 
Fremont Street, Apt #119, San Mateo, CA, leased by William Sharon, 

20 
during an undercover law enforcement operation. 

21 50 3/20/09 An outgoing international wire transfer for $2,500.00 was sent to co-
conspirator NBH in Singapore from the JPMC account (ending 0442-5) 

22 
held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

23 51 4/08/09 In a recorded telephone conversation on 4/08/09, ALLEN FONG told a 
prostitute that he had to pick up a woman from the airport on 4/08/09, and 

24 that the woman would start working on 4/10/09, the day his "new place" 
in Cupertino would be open. 

25 

26 

52 4/08/09 ALLEN FONG picked up co-conspirator TTN, who was arriving from 
Singapore, at SFO, and drove her to the Enterprise brothel at 505 Shell 
Parkway, Apt #1106, Redwood City, CA, leased by William Sharon. 

27 
53 4/22/09 LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the United States at SFO from 

28 Singapore. 
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4/22/09 

4/23/09 

6/01/09 

6/01/09 

8/18/09 

9/08/09 

9/22/09 

10/26/09 

12/18/09 

2/02/10 

2/18/10 

5105110 

10/26/10 

12/01110 

12/01/10 

~ -..I 

On her 1-94, LEOW WAN RU VERON listed 1030A Balboa St, San 
Francisco, CA, which was YA HUAI HUNG's residence owned by 
ALLEN FONG, as the location where she would be staying while in the 
United States. 

Co-conspirator VK sexually solicited an undercover officer inside the 
Enterprise brothel on 2723 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #311, San Mateo, CA 
(leased by William Sharon). 

JIE MU was at SFO to pick up co-conspirator HCS, who was entering the 
United States from China. 

Co-conspirator HCS provided Customs & Border Protection officers with 
the address of 19608 Pruneridge Road, Cupertino, CA, leased by William 
Sharon, as the location where she would be staying while in the United 
States. 

An outgoing international wire transfer for $1,500.00 was sent to co-
conspirator NBH in Singapore from the JPMC account (ending 0442-5) 
held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

An outgoing international wire transfer for $2,000.00 was sent to co-
conspirator NBH in Singapore from the JPMC account (ending 0442-5) 
held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

Co-conspirator HCS was present inside the Enterprise brothel at 19608 
Pruneridge A venue, Apt #81 05, Cupertino, CA, leased by William 
Sharon, during an undercover law enforcement operation. 

An outgoing international wire transfer for $2,610.00 was sent to LEOW 
WAN RU VERON in Singapore from the JPMC account (ending 40442-
5) heldjointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

In a recorded telephone conversation on 12/18/09, ALLEN FONG told a 
prostitute that "tons" of girls were arriving "next month" from "Singapore, 
Taiwan, and Hong Kong," and that he is "international." 

An outgoing international wire transfer for $1,800.00 was sent to co-
conspirator NBH in Singapore from the JPMC account (ending 0442-5) 
held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

An outgoing international wire transfer for $4,500.00 was sent to LEOW 
WAN RU VERON in Singapore from the JPMC account (ending 0442-5) 
held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

LEOW WAN RU VERON entered the United States at SFO from 
Singapore. 

An outgoing international wire transfer for $2,500.00 was sent to LEOW 
WAN RU VERON in Singapore from the JPMC account (ending 0442-5) 
held jointly by ALLEN FONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

Co-conspirator BHS entered the United States from Beijing, China. 

As oart of her entrv into the United States co-consnirator BHS declared 

40 
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12/01110 

1/25/11 

6/30/11 
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11/16/11 
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4/12/12 

10/12/12 

1/12/13 

6/13/13 

11/22113 
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that she was visiting her friend "Steve Fujimoto," an alias used by 
ALLEN FONG. 

On her 1-94, co-conspirator BHS listed the San Francisco Residence as the 
location where she would be staying while in the United States. 

An outgoing international wire transfer for $4,000.00 was sent to LEOW 
WAN RU VERON in Singapore from the JPMC account (ending 0442-5) 
held jointly by ALLEN PONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

An outgoing international wire transfer for $9,000.00 was sent to LEOW 
WAN RU VERON in Singapore from the JPMC account (ending 0442-5) 
held jointly by ALLEN PONG and YA HUAI HUNG. 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA T ANASOPHIN entered the United States from 
Hong Kong. 

Beginning on 11116/11, CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN used 
2715 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #111, San Mateo, CA, leased by Alex Chan, 
as her residential address on her JP Morgan Chase bank statements. 

Beginning on 3/13/12, CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN used 
2759 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #211, San Mateo, CA, leased by ANGELINA 
CHUONG, as her residential address on her JP Morgan Chase bank 
statements. 

Beginning on 4/12/12, CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN used 
2401 Erin Place, South San Francisco, CA, leased by Enterprise members, 
as her residential address on her JP Morgan Chase bank statements. 

Beginning on 10/12/12, CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN used 
Allen Pong's residential address in San Mateo, CA, as her residential 
address on her JP Morgan Chase bank statements. 

Beginning on 1112/13, CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN used 
2759 S. Norfolk Street, Apt #103, San Mateo, CA, leased by KEVIN 
HARTIG, as her residential address on her JP Morgan Chase bank 
statements. 

Beginning on 6/13/13, CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN used 3 
Plaza View Lane, Apt# 309, Foster City, CA, leased by ALLEN FONG, 
as her residential address on her JP Morgan Chase bank statements. 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN and another prostitute were 
present inside the Enterprise brothel at 3 Plaza View Lane, Apt # 309, 
Foster City, CA, leased by ALLEN PONG, during an undercover law 
enforcement operation. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 3 71 & 2421, and Title 8, United States 

27 c 
28 

ode, Section 1328. 
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1 FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS: (18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(1), 1963,2428, and 28 U.S.C. 
§ 2461) 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

30. The factual allegations contained in Count One of this Indictment are hereby realleged 

and by this reference fully incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture as set forth below. 

31. Upon conviction of the offense alleged in Count One of this Indictment, the defendants, 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen" a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," alk/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (alk/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERT CHUN, 

JIE MU (alk/a "Jane"), 

LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

WAYLENFONG, 

ANGELINA CHUONG, and 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRA TANASOPHIN ( a/k/a "Nana"), 

shall, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1963, forfeit to the United States: 

a. any interest acquired or maintained in violation of section 1962; 

b. 

affording 

any interest in, security of, claim against, or property or contractual right of any kind 

a source of influence over, any enterprise which the defendants established, operated, 

controlled, conducted, or participated in the conduct of, in violation of section 1962; and 

c. any property constituting, or derived from, any proceeds obtained, directly or indirectly, 

from racketeering activity or unlawful debt collection in violation of section 1962. 

32. Upon conviction of the offense alleged in Count Two ofthis Indictment, the defendants, 

ALLEN FONG (alk/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
alk/a "David Lee," alk/a "May Lee," alk/a "Sakura Susa," alk/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Indictment 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

ROBERTCHUN, 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 
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LAURENCE SHU KWAN LEE, and 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

shall, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), forfeit to the United States any 
4 

property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to said offense, or a 
5 

conspiracy to commit said offense. 
6 

33. Upon conviction of any of the offenses alleged in Counts Three through Thirteen of this 
7 

Indictment, the defendant, 
8 

9 

10 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a!k/a "Sakura Susa," a!k/a "Jeff Law," and a!k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

11 
shall, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(l)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), forfeit to the United States any 

12 
property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to said offenses, or a 

conspiracy to commit said offenses. 
13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

34. 

defendants, 

Upon conviction of the offense alleged in Count Fourteen of this Indictment, the 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen," a!k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a!k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, 

W A YLEN FONG, 

KEVIN HARTIG, 

ROBERT CHUN, and 

ANGELINA CHUONG, 

23 
shall, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), forfeit to the United States any property, real and personal, 

involved in said offense, or any property traceable to such property. 
24 

25 
35. Upon conviction of any of the offenses alleged in Count Fifteen through Twenty-Three of 

this Indictment, the defendant, 
26 

27 

28 

Indictment 

ALLEN FONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen" a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a!k/a "John Fujimoto," 
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1 shall, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), forfeit to the United States any property, real and personal, 

2 involved in said offenses, or any property traceable to such property. 

3 36. 

4 defendants, 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Upon conviction of the offense alleged in Count Twenty-Four of this Indictment, the 

ALLEN PONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen" a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

CHONTHICHA JAEMRATANASOPHIN (a/k/a "Nana"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

11 shall, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(l), forfeit to the United States any property, real and personal, 

12 involved in said offense, or any property traceable to such property. 

13 37. Upon conviction of any of the offenses alleged in Counts Twenty-Five through Thirty-

14 One of this Indictment, the defendants, 

15 

16 

17 

18 

ALLEN PONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen" a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

Y A HUAI HUNG, and 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), 

19 shall, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), forfeit to the United States any property, real and personal, 

20 involved in said offenses, or any property traceable to such property. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

38. Upon conviction ofthe offense alleged in Count Thirty-Two, the defendants, 

ALLEN PONG (a/k/a "Steve Nguyen" a/k/a "Steve Fujimoto," a/k/a "John Fujimoto," 
a/k/a "David Lee," a/k/a "May Lee," a/k/a "Sakura Susa," a/k/a "Jeff Law," and a/k/a 
"Jeff Woo"), 

YA HUAI HUNG, 

LEOW WAN RU VERON (a/k/a "Brisa"), and 

JIE MU (a/k/a "Jane"), 

27 shall, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), forfeit to the United States any 

28 property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to a violation of said 
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1 offense, or a conspiracy to commit said offense; and shall, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §2428 forfeit to the 

2 United States any property, real or personal, that was used or intended to be used to commit or to 

3 facilitate the commission of such violation; and any property, real or personal, constituting or derived 

4 from any proceeds that such person obtained, directly or indirectly, as the result of such violation. 

5 39. If, as a result of any act or omission of the defendants, any of the property subject to 

6 forfeiture 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

has been transferred or sold to or deposited with, a third person; 

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; 

has been substantially diminished in value; or 

has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without difficulty; 

12 any and all interest defendants have in any other property (up to the value of the property subject to 

13 forfeiture), shall be forfeited to the United States pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1963(m) and 21 U.S.C. 

14 § 853(p), as incorporated by 18 U.S.C. § 982(b)(1) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c). 

15 All in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(l), 1963, 2428; 21 U.S.C. § 853; 28 U.S.C 

16 § 2461(c); and Rule 32.2 ofthe Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

DATED: October 16,2014 

MELINDA HAAG 
22 United States Attorney 

~: J.totobt,~ !/IvY~ 
Chief, Criminal Division 

25 

(Approved as to form: 0 YL..O ) 
Deborah R. Douglas 

A TRUE BILL. 

26 

27 

28 

Assistant United States Attorney 
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AO 91 (Rev. 11/11)   Criminal Complaint

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________

United States of America )
)
)
)
)
)
)

v.
Case No.3:20-mj-71739  MAG

Defendant(s)

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the date(s) of in the county of in the

District of , the defendant(s) violated:

Code Section Offense Description

This criminal complaint is based on these facts: 

Continued on the attached sheet.

Complainant’s signature

Printed name and title

Judge’s signature

Printed name and title

Sworn to before me .

Date:

City and state:

        Northern District of California

HARLAN KELLY

March 26, 2016 San Francisco

Northern California

18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346 Count One: Wire Fraud and Honest Services Wire Fraud

Maximum Penalties:
Maximum Prison Term of 20 Years;
Maximum Fine of $250,000, or not more than the greater of twice the gross
gain or twice the gross loss;
Maximum Term of Supervised Release of Three Years;
Mandatory Special Assessment of $100; and Forfeiture

See attached Affidavit of FBI Special Agent Tyler Nave

✔

Special Agent Tyler Nave

San Francisco, CA Hon. Thomas S. Hixson, U.S Magistrate Judge

/s/

November 25, 2020

FILED 

SUSANY. SOONG 

CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN FRANCISCO

Nov 25 2020
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AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF A CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I, Tyler Nave, Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, being duly sworn, hereby 

depose and state the following:  

I. INTRODUCTION AND AGENT QUALIFICATIONS 

1. I make this affidavit in support of an application for a criminal complaint charging Harlan 

Kelly (KELLY) with one count of Honest Services Wire Fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346. 

1. I am a Special Agent of the FBI and have been so employed since March 2009.  I am 

sworn and empowered to investigate criminal activity involving violations of federal law.  I am currently 

assigned to FBI’s San Francisco Division Public Corruption Squad, which investigates abuse of public 

office in violation of criminal law, which includes fraud, bribery, extortion, conflicts of interest, and 

embezzlement. My investigative experience includes, but is not limited to: conducting wire 

communication interceptions; interviewing subjects, targets and witnesses; executing search and arrest 

warrants; handling and supervising confidential human sources; conducting surveillance; and analyzing 

phone records and financial records.  I am an investigative or law enforcement officer of the United 

States within the meaning of Section 2510(7) of Title 18, United States Code, that is, an officer of the 

United States who is empowered by law to conduct investigations of and to make arrests for offenses 

enumerated in Section 2516 of Title 18, United States Code.   

2. During my employment with the FBI, I have received formal classroom and field training 

at the FBI Academy in Quantico, Virginia and graduated from the New Agent Training program.  My 

training and experience includes, but is not limited to, public corruption, hate crimes, human trafficking, 

and foreign counter-intelligence.  I have also received additional formal and on-the-job training from the 

FBI, as well as from the United States Attorney’s office and other federal agents who have done 

extensive work in the areas of financial crimes and public corruption.  I have participated in several 

investigations involving public corruption, bribery, and fraud, and I have been the lead agent on several 

of those cases. I have worked on multiple wiretaps while investigating public corruption, white-collar 

crime, and national security cases. I have received formal training in wiretaps at the FBI academy in 

Quantico, Virginia as well as on the job training while working on wiretaps in active investigations in 

multiple field offices. 
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3. To successfully conduct these investigations, I have utilized a variety of investigative 

techniques and resources including, but not limited to, physical and electronic surveillance, witness 

interviews, various types of infiltration to include confidential human sources, and cooperating sources.  

I have utilized pen register and trap and trace devices, mail covers, pole cameras, stationary video 

recording vehicles, undercover operations, and audio and audio/video recording devices. 

4. I make this affidavit based upon personal knowledge derived from my participation in 

this investigation and upon information obtained from other law enforcement agents, documents and 

recorded conversations I have reviewed, and from witnesses and subjects of this investigation.  

5. Because this affidavit is being submitted for the purpose of establishing probable cause in 

support of the requested complaint, it does not set forth each and every fact that I, or others, have 

learned during the course of the investigation.  Rather, I have set forth only those facts I believe are 

necessary to establish probable cause and to provide the Court with an overview of the facts that 

establish that Harlan Kelly Jr., (KELLY), a public official, participated in a scheme to deprive the public 

of their right to the honest services of KELLY. 

II. COUNT ONE: HONEST SERVICES WIRE FRAUD (18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346) 
 

6. Beginning on a date unknown, but no later than September 2014, and continuing until on 

or about September 2019, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, defendant KELLY 

knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, participated in, devised, and intended to device a scheme and 

artifice to defraud the public of its right to the honest services of a public official through bribery and 

kickbacks in breach of the official’s fiduciary duty, by means of materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises, and by means of omission and concealment of material facts.  

On or about March 26, 2016, in the Northern District of California and elsewhere, for the purpose of 

executing the aforementioned scheme and artifice to defraud and attempting to do so, the defendant did 

knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted in interstate and foreign commerce, by means of a wire 

communication, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, specifically, an American Express 

credit card charge made in Hong Kong, on an account established and addressed in San Francisco, in the 

Northern District of California, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and1346. 
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a. Relevant Law 

7. Title 18, United States Code, §§ 1343 and 1346 prohibit honest services wire fraud.  The 

elements of this offense are as follows: 

a. The defendant knowingly devised or participated in a scheme to defraud the public of its 
right to the honest services of a public official through bribery or kickbacks; 1 
 

b. The defendant did so knowingly and with an intent to defraud, that is, the intent to 
deceive and cheat; 

 
c. The scheme or artifice to defraud involved a misrepresentation, false statement, false 

pretense, or concealment of fact that was material; that is, the false statement, false 
pretense, or concealment of fact had a natural tendency to influence, or were capable of 
influencing, a person or entity’s acts; and 

 
d. The defendant used, or caused to be used, an interstate or foreign wire communication to 

carry out or attempt to carry out an essential part of the scheme. 
 

III. FACTS ESTABLISHING PROBABLE CAUSE 

a. Overview 

8. The investigation has uncovered a long-running bribery scheme and corrupt partnership 

between KELLY and Walter Wong (WONG). WONG is a San Francisco construction company 

executive and permit expediting consultant who runs or controls multiple entities that do business with 

the City of San Francisco. 2  KELLY is the General Manager of the San Francisco Public Utilities 

Commission (PUC), a position he was appointed to in 2012.  Prior to his appointment to head the public 

utilities agency, KELLY was the Assistant General Manager, Infrastructure, responsible for 

implementing over $10 billion in capital improvements for water, sewer, and power.  KELLY is married 

to San Francisco’s City Administrator, the highest non-elected position in the City, which oversees the 

General Services Agency, consisting of 25 departments, divisions and programs.   

9. As part of the scheme, WONG would provide items of value to KELLY in exchange for 

official actions by KELLY that benefitted or could benefit WONG’s business ventures.  Their 

                                                 
1 Honest services fraud does not require that the bribe or kickback be completed, or that official action 

was actually taken, because the criminal act is the creation of a “scheme” to defraud. 
2 WONG was charged by Information on June 23, 2020.  On July 6, 2020, he pleaded guilty to one count 

of Conspiracy to Commit Honest Services Wire Fraud (18 U.S.C. §§§ 1343, 1346, 1349) and one count of 
Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering (18 U.S.C. § 1956(h)). He is cooperating with the government 
pursuant to a cooperation plea agreement and is seeking sentencing consideration from the Court in the event that 
he provides substantial assistance to the investigation. 
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relationship was extensive and involved coded text messages, multiple international trips paid for or 

subsidized by WONG, cash exchanges, free meals, and even personal car service provided by WONG 

(or his employees at WONG’s direction) to KELLY.  

10. As relevant to this criminal complaint, WONG paid travel and other expenses for 

KELLY and his family during a March 2016 vacation the KELLY family took to Hong Kong and China. 

These corrupt payments occurred while WONG was seeking a multi-million dollar contract from the 

PUC to convert thousands of San Francisco city streetlights to smart LED technology. Shortly after the 

bidding for that contract had ended, WONG performed extensive repair work on KELLY’s personal 

residence, work which he provided to KELLY at a substantial discount, according to WONG’s 

statements and documents I have reviewed. 

11.  WONG told investigators that he provided benefits like these to KELLY because of 

KELLY’s position at the PUC and the understanding that KELLY would, in return, use his official 

position to benefit WONG’s business ventures, including WONG’s attempts to win business from the 

PUC in connection with its ongoing efforts to convert to LED streetlights.  

12. In exchange for various items of value, KELLY used his official position to assist 

WONG’s efforts, including by hand-delivering confidential internal PUC bid documents and 

information related to the LED project.  KELLY also used his official position to delay the deadline for 

bids on the LED contract in order to benefit WONG, who was behind in preparing his bid on the PUC 

contract.  KELLY communicated by text with WONG about KELLY’s efforts to delay the deadline for 

bidding on the LED contract, stating in one text to WONG, as WONG was trying to prepare his bid, that 

the PUC was delaying the deadline.  Ten days later, as WONG was still preparing his bid, KELLY 

texted: “You told me [t]hat you had everything? I don't know what to do? I don't know how to stop the 

process anymore.”  KELLY used his cell phone for these texts to WONG, rather than his official email, 

despite the fact that the subject matter related to official PUC business. 

13. KELLY and WONG communicated by WeChat while KELLY was in China on a family 

vacation that WONG arranged for and subsidized, and KELLY acknowledged the gifts he received from 

WONG.  In one text on April 2, 2016, KELLY thanked WONG for what he had done for KELLY and 

his family: “Thank you for the best family vacation ever! A little something for everyone!” 
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a. Walter Wong/Harlan Kelly Relationship 

14. The facts described below focus on WONG’s attempt to win business from PUC in 

connection with San Francisco’s effort to convert more than 18,000 streetlights to smart LED 

technology, and a family trip to Hong Kong that WONG arranged and subsidized while his efforts to 

win the LED business were ongoing.  However, KELLY’s corrupt dealings and communications with 

WONG throughout their relationship were also much broader, and demonstrate KELLY’s intent to 

defraud San Francisco of the rights to his honest services.  In furtherance of their long-running corrupt 

scheme to defraud, WONG communicated with KELLY in private text messages, rather than through 

KELLY’s official PUC email account, about a number of projects.  

15. For example, on March 4, 2014, WONG texted KELLY, “Just finished mayor breakfast 

p's call me, lots of delevoper [sic] complaint your department.” 

16. On March 6, 2014, WONG texted KELLY: “1111 California, p/a # 201008199171. This 

is a good example is a revised plan. PUC approved before but not willing to review and resign.”  After 

KELLY did not respond, WONG again texted four hours later: 

WONG:  did u request help to this permit 1111 California, p/a # 201008199171. this 

one is in 35 radar 

KELLY: Yes have people working on ot. 

WONG: tks 

17. The reference to “35” was a code that WONG and KELLY used to refer to a former San 

Francisco mayor.  The number 35 corresponds to the letters for the official’s initials on a numeric 

telephone keypad.  I have seen coded references to “35” as early as 2013 in text messages between 

KELLY and WONG.  For example, on May 31, 2013, WONG texted KELLY “ps let me know Sunday 

what time, do u want to meet at lunch time.”  KELLY responded “Yes with 35.”  WONG replied “35 

may play golf tomorrow, he said for me to meet w u first, what time tomorrow is good for u.” 

18. A similar exchange occurred in July 2014: 

7/28/14 

WONG: 35 will be at cc [Citi Center, the name of WONG’s office building] 7 pm 

tomorrow 
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7/29/14 

KELLY: Still on at 7? 

WONG: yes we are at cc boss is here too 

b. San Francisco LED Smart Lights Project 

19. In September 2014, the City of San Francisco issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for a 

multi-million dollar contract to provide a “smart” LED lighting system for San Francisco city streets that 

could be controlled remotely (“LED Luminaries With Wireless Network Control System.”).  After 

several addendums to the RFP and several delays (at least one of which appears to have been engineered 

by KELLY to benefit WONG), the deadline for submitting bids was set for March 2, 2015.  

20. WONG sought to bid on the LED RFP contract through Green Source Trading LLC., a 

company he ran through his son.  WONG and KELLY repeatedly communicated about this project 

before it was bid, and KELLY provided WONG with confidential non-public information related to the 

bid.  Text messages sent and received between WONG and KELLY which I have reviewed corroborate 

the information that WONG provided to investigators about obtaining helpful inside PUC information 

from KELLY throughout the extended bid process for the LED contract.  

21. According to statements WONG has made to investigators, at this time in his relationship 

with KELLY, WONG had already provided free or subsidized travel and covered expenses for KELLY 

during multiple trips to China.  He had also done the same for the then-Director of San Francisco Public 

Works (DPW), Mohammed Nuru and for other San Francisco public officials.  According to WONG, in 

part based on the corrupt relationship he had established with KELLY and Nuru during these trips, he 

then received public contracts from both DPW and PUC based on official acts and influence exercised 

by KELLY and Nuru, including a 2013 pilot project with DPW, and a second 2014 project with the 

PUC.  WONG’s companies, Green Source Trading LLC and later, Alternate Choice LLC., also 

participated in a program to provide DPW (and later the PUC) with holiday lights in the shapes of bells 

and snowflakes. 

i. LED Pre-Bid Information Sharing Between WONG and KELLY 

22. On September 16, 2014, the PUC issued RFP 79002 - Request for Proposals for LED 
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Luminaires with Wireless Network Control System.3  A pre-proposal conference was set for September 

30, 2014 with proposals due by October 27, 2014.  The due dates were subject to change and did in fact 

change several times. 

23. The following day, on September 17, 2014, KELLY texted WONG: “Yes we finally got 

it out.  Keep me posted on you your proposal.( any problems). Panel is the next step.”  WONG replied: 

“Ok see you tomorrow.” 

24. On November 21, 2014, the RFP was amended and reissued as RFP 79002-A. In the first 

week of November 2014, text messages indicate that KELLY and WONG attempted to meet in person. 

After a missed meeting on November 4, 2014, they arranged by text message to meet at WONG’s office 

restaurant on November 5, 2014: 

KELLY:  Hey Mr. W lunch today? I forgot that we were meeting yesterday, sorry 

WONG:  lunch is ok can we meet 11:30 

KELLY:  Where to meet? 

WONG:  Citi center [the name of the building WONG owns] caf'e [sic] the best 

restaurant in town 

KELLY:  I will take a cab over there. 11:45 

25. On November 11, 2014, KELLY texted WONG “I need to give you a document.” 

26. On November 13, 2014, before the amended smart LED RFP was publicly released, 

WONG and KELLY arranged by text message for KELLY to deliver documents to WONG: 

WONG: do u have time to meet today 

KELLY: I have the docs. Send someone over to pick up. 

WONG: ok ps give me address do u have 77o info too 

KELLY: 525 golden gate [the address of KELLY’s office at the PUC] call me 

when they are down stairs. Yes 770 is included.  

27. Subsequent text messages indicate that KELLY sent someone down to deliver the 

documents to WONG.  WONG then texted KELLY “Pick up from front desk.”  KELLY responded 

                                                 
3 http://mission.sfgov.org/oca_bid_attachments/FA36574.pdf 
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“Call me after u read the docs.” 

28. WONG provided investigators with confidential documents containing inside information 

that he received from KELLY at different times during the bid process.  Among the materials WONG  

received from KELLY is a PUC memorandum titled “RFP 79002 Bid Review,” dated November 4, 

2014 (about one week prior to WONG picking up a package of documents at KELLY’s office and the 

day before they met for lunch on November 5, 2014).  The RFP number matches the LED RFP 

described above.  The memo purports to “analyze[] the reasons for the variance between actual pricing 

and anticipated pricing for RFP 79002 - LED Street Lights with a Wireless Control System.”  It 

described the history of the LED project and the foundations of the PUC’s cost estimate.  Among other 

things, the memo provided tables summarizing and ranking the cost proposals for the 31 bids received 

by the PUC for the September RFP, identifying the bidder by name, the type of LED fixture used in the 

bid, the type of control used in the bid, and the costs associated with each LED fixture and control for 

each bid.  The total costs of the bids ranged from $4.8 million to almost $11.5 million. 

29. Later on November 13, 2014, KELLY texted WONG: 

Re streetlights, 

1. Al will triple check but we both believe the minimum quals are pass/fail. 

2. The LBE [Local Business Entity] points apply at all stages of the evaluation that are 

subjective (as opposed to min quals which is objective) thus they apply to the raw score 

at the quality evaluation and cost evaluation stages. 

3. There were 4 of 31 proposals that initially we thought did not pass min quals; however, 

now we believe we will salvage 2 of the 4 - maybe 3 proposals. Al can speak with Mary 

tomorrow and provide you more details. 

WONG replied and thanked KELLY for the information. 

30. About a week later, on November 21, 2014, the PUC formally issued its amended RFP 

titled LED Luminaires with Wireless Network Control System, RFP 79002-A.  The RFP set a pre-

proposal conference for December 11, 2014 and a new due date for proposals of January 9, 2015.  

According to the amended RFP and a December 16, 2014 memorandum from the pre-proposal 

conference, the original RFP was reissued “to include the provisions of Chapter 14B, the City's Local 
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Business Enterprise (LBE) Ordinance” which would allow “firms that are certified by the Contract 

Monitoring Division to claim a 10% rating bonus” as long as the LBE was “certified to provide the same 

product or service that is described in the RFP.” 

ii. KELLY Delays LED Bid Process to Aid WONG 

31. Four days before proposals were due under the amended RFP, on January 5, 2015, 

KELLY texted WONG: “We are going to postpone the LED light date.”  He also provided WONG with 

a name and number of an individual in the East Bay who had attended the pre-proposal conference in 

December.  WONG replied “Till when,” to which KELLY responded: “Weeks.” (The due date for the 

RFP was in fact delayed, as noted below.)  Later that night, WONG and KELLY again exchanged text 

messages, and WONG informed KELLY “we also submit the LBE paper hope this can be final review 

from them hope u can help to check if they got a require Document.” 

32. On January 15, 2015, six days after the original due date for the recently amended RFP, 

WONG and KELLY exchanged the following texts about the project: 

WONG:  Current LED RFP does not require any assembly in SF 

KELLY:  We legally can’t require that. However, you can place that in the special 

consideration. Also one of the competitor already assemble in SF 

R u certified? 

WONG:  not yet 

KELLY:  Did u talk with [name of individual provided on January 5, 2015] 

WONG: The control from France just received information from UL 

KELLY: You told me That you had everything? I don't know what to do? I don't 

know how to stop the process anymore 

WONG:  Just talk to Frank will use existing control with UL to send in will call u 

after work 

KELLY:  Great! I will be in LA until Friday evening 

WONG:  Hope we can get together weekend 

KELLY: 4 sure 

33. Based on this text exchange, it appears that WONG was even further behind on the LED 
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project than KELLY initially thought.  When WONG texted KELLY on January 15, 2015, and told him 

that he was still waiting on a “control” from UL in France and would not have it until the end of the 

month, KELLY responded in exasperation: “You told me That you had everything? I don't know what to 

do? I don't know how to stop the process anymore.”  But his exasperation quickly turned to relief when 

WONG informed him they would still be able to submit a proposal with the existing control, and he 

happily agreed to meet with WONG on the weekend, texting back “4 sure.” 

34. Based on my training and experience, and from facts gathered during this investigation 

(including interviews with WONG), along with the context of this communication, I believe that at this 

point KELLY had used his official position to delay the RFP process in order to assist WONG.  I further 

believe that he did this in exchange for items of value that he had previously received from WONG and 

that KELLY anticipated he would receive in the future. 

35. Based on my training and experience, as well as from information I have learned during 

the course of this investigation, I believe it was a violation of San Francisco and PUC policies - and 

highly inappropriate - for KELLY to be communicating in this manner with WONG and to be delivering 

internal PUC bid documents to WONG surreptitiously while WONG was in the middle of submitting a 

bid for a major contract from PUC. 

iii. KELLY Again Provides WONG With Confidential Bid Information 

36.   KELLY and WONG appear to have continued to communicate about the LED RFP later 

in the month.  On January 27, 2015, WONG texted KELLY “tech team reply, what you request is 

possible, do u have time to go over what we find.”  KELLY did not respond. 

37. On January 27, 2015, WONG texted “are you intown [sic]?”  KELLY replied “Yes, let 

me get the specs.” 

38. On January 30, 2015, WONG and KELLY had the following exchange: 

WONG: Good morning do u have a few minutes to catch up. 

KELLY: Ok can you send some one over to pick up specs 

WONG: yes what time 

  who should we see 

39. A couple hours later, on the same day, the texts continued: 



 
 

 

11 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

WONG:  can we go to pick up package yet 

KELLY: Come now to my office 

WONG: what floor 

on our way ps let u know what floor 

Green Source Trading, LLC 

40. Several hours after that, WONG texted KELLY “review info we have question ps let me 

know when can i call you.” 

41. On February 19, 2015, RFP 79002-A was reissued with addendum number 5, setting a 

due date for proposals of March 2, 2015. 

42. On February 27, 2015, KELLY and WONG discussed the LBE issue by text message and 

arranged to meet for lunch the following day: 

WONG:  good morning, what time will you available tomorrow 

KELLY:  Lunch? 

WONG:  when today or tomorrow 

KELLY:  Tomorrow 

WONG: ok we got LBE thank you 

KELLY: Congrats! 

The following day they arranged by text message to meet at a well-known Chinese restaurant in San 

Francisco. 

43. In light of the amendment to the RFP concerning LBE participation, and the preference 

that was to be given to LBEs under the revised RFP (as described in KELLY’s previous text message), I 

believe WONG was giving notice to KELLY that because of the delay caused by the amendments to the 

RFP, WONG would now be qualified to bid on the LED project as an LBE in time for the new due date. 

iv. KELLY Gives WONG Confidential Internal Bid Documents 

44. After bids for the Smart LED contract were submitted in March 2015, KELLY again 

provided WONG with confidential inside information on the bidding process.  Contained within the 

documents that KELLY provided WONG (which WONG in turn produced to investigators) are color 

hard copy spreadsheets titled “RFP 79002-A Controls System Score Sheet 1” for each panelist who was 
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ranking the bids.  The spreadsheets are dated either April 16, 2015, or April 17, 2015 (for some of the 

spreadsheets the column width appears to be too narrow for the date to have displayed when printed, but 

the April dates are the same for all the spreadsheets where a date appears).  There are also hand written 

notations to KELLY, which appear to be from the PUC project manager handling the LED RFP, as well 

as the individual panelists’ scores for each category and sub category of the bids’ control systems.   

45. WONG also produced an email which he said he originally received from KELLY in 

hard copy. The email is dated May 20, 2015, and is addressed to KELLY from the same PUC project 

manager who was handling the LED Smart Lights RFP.  The printout displays KELLY’s name at the top 

of the header, indicating that KELLY printed the email himself before giving it to WONG.  The email, 

subject “LED RFP Follow Up Information,” reads: “Hi Harlan, In preparation for our meeting on Friday 

I have attached a spreadsheet that will hopefully answer some of your outstanding questions about the 

controls systems. If there is any other data or info that would be helpful please let me know.”  The title 

of the Excel spreadsheet attachment is “Harlan Summary.” WONG provided federal investigators with a 

copy of the spreadsheet.  The spreadsheet lists various costs and licensing fees for LED control software 

by different vendors and evaluates software and cellular data costs over a 15-year period. The top three 

ranked “controls systems” are also identified. 

46. Text messages between KELLY and WONG indicate that they met for meals at various 

times near when these documents were created: April 4, 2015; May 3, 2015 (for the mayor’s birthday 

dinner); and June 2, 2015.  Based on the investigation and interviews with WONG, I believe the two 

also met on other occasions during the summer of 2015.  WONG told investigators that he always paid 

for KELLY’s meals when they met. 

47. Insider PUC documents that KELLY secretly gave WONG and that WONG produced to 

investigators also include a hard copy spreadsheet titled “RFP 79002-A Summary Score Sheet” dated 

July 26, 2015, summarizing and ranking the scores for each bidder.  As with the documents described 

above, these spreadsheets also contain hand-written notes addressed to KELLY from the PUC project 

manager, including a sticky note to “Harlan” explaining that “a more elaborate version of this 

spreadsheet was sent to…OCA/City Hall in June.”  There is also a note apologizing for black and white 

copies because the “color printer on 7 isn’t working.”   
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48. Another hard copy spreadsheet provided by KELLY to WONG (and by WONG to 

investigators) is titled “Summary Score Sheet w/LBE Discount” and dated July 7, 2015.  It is 

accompanied by a sticky note from the same PUC project manager that states “Harlan, This is the final 

spreadsheet produced by [employee] for use by OCA [Office of Contract Administration].”  The 

spreadsheet also ranks bidders by their scores and highlights the top 10 bids, including LBE discounts.  

WONG’s company was ranked near the bottom. 

49. At least one witness who worked for the City of San Francisco and is knowledgeable 

about San Francisco contracting requirements told us that the internal PUC documents described herein 

could generally only be disseminated to the public pursuant a Public Records Act request, followed by 

review by the City Attorney’s Office and redactions of non-public information.  In addition, the witness 

stated that certain documents KELLY provided to WONG marked “Confidential – Draft” would not be 

disseminated publicly, even pursuant to a Public Records Act request.  

50. Based on my training and experience investigating public corruption cases, I know that 

providing one bidder with internal, non-public information about an upcoming bid distorts the 

competitive nature of the bidding process, and can allow a contractor to bid in a way that prevents the 

public agency from receiving the full financial benefits of a competitive bidding process, often resulting 

in inflated bids or higher costs to agencies and thus taxpayers. 

51. I believe all of the foregoing indicates that KELLY was using his official position to 

obtain confidential inside information from PUC employees about the bidding process that KELLY then 

secretly provided to WONG in hard copy while the bidding evaluation was still ongoing.  I also believe 

KELLY provided documents in hard copy, rather than by email, in order to avoid leaving behind an 

electronic paper trail.  I further believe that KELLY did this for WONG because of the items of value 

that WONG had already provided to him and would provide in the future  

v. PUC Cancels 2015 Contract; Reissues Bid Requests in 2016 

52. In September 2015, the PUC decided not to award the contract to any bidder.  Instead, the 

PUC issued a new RFP for the project in September of 2016, this time as “TC 79004 LED 

LUMINAIRES.”   Green Source Trading submitted its initial bid for this RFP on November 14, 2016. 

53. As before, KELLY again covertly provided hard copy internal PUC documents to 
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WONG in 2016. WONG has provided investigators with spreadsheets dated November 22, 2016, that 

KELLY had arranged for hand delivery to WONG in the same manner as before.  These spreadsheets 

are each marked “Confidential” and have a “Draft” watermark across them.  One spreadsheet is titled 

“TC 79004 LED LUMINAIRES BID SCREENING OVERVIEW,” and another is titled “TC 79004 

LED LUMINAIRES SECTION 90 RESPONSIVE BID REVIEW.” According to WONG, although his 

bids were ultimately unsuccessful, these and other internal bid documents KELLY gave him throughout 

the extended bidding process for both RFPs helped WONG obtain a competitive advantage in putting 

together his revised bid and interacting with the PUC staff that would rank the bids and make 

recommendations on which company would be awarded the contract. 

c. WONG Arranges a Trip to Hong Kong for KELLY and Family 

54. In March 2016, in the period between the 2015 and the 2016 Smart LED Lights RFPs, 

WONG arranged personal travel to Hong Kong and China for KELLY and his family.  WONG paid for 

incidentals during this trip for KELLY, his wife, mother-in-law, and two children. WONG confirmed 

that he did so because of KELLY’s position with PUC and KELLY’s ability to use his official position 

to benefit WONG’s business ventures, including WONG’s attempts to win business from PUC in 

connection with its ongoing efforts to convert to LED streetlights. In exchange, WONG expected and 

understood that KELLY would take official actions to benefit WONG’s bids on public contracts. 

55. WONG said his practice, when arranging international travel for San Francisco public 

officials like KELLY and Nuru, was to have the officials purchase their own airfare.  WONG would 

then reimburse the officials in cash for the airfare in order to avoid leaving a paper trail for investigators.  

When WONG reviewed his American Express credit card records from the trip, he also identified 

expenses – including meals costing hundreds of dollars and jewelry – which WONG said he bought for 

KELLY and his family.4  WONG told me he used both his American Express credit card ending in the 

                                                 
4 For example, WONG’s credit card records show a $418.95 purchase from Chow Tai Fook Jewelry Co. 

in Hong Kong on March 25, 2016. Separately, an itinerary for KELLY’s trip sent by WONG’s assistant describes 
a half day city tour on the same day, including a visit to “the Jewelry Factory with its outlet for bargain 
shopping.” WONG was able to confirm for investigators that his standard practice would have been to pay for 
these types of expenses for individuals like KELLY (and Mohammed Nuru) anytime they traveled with him 
overseas. Financial records encompassing the dates of the KELLYs trip to Hong Kong (discussed below) 
corroborate WONG’s account. 
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digits 7-51005 and his Citi Advantage credit card ending in the digits 8980. 

56. Among the charges on WONG’s American Express card, is a $615.41 (USD) charge at 

the Intercontinental HK Harbourside, Restaurant on March 26, 2016.  WONG told investigators that he 

paid for the $615.41 meal for the Kellys.  WONG did not remember the specifics of the meal, but he 

said the purpose of his organizing the trip was to spend money on the Kellys for things like meals and 

hotel rooms and, in turn, obtain official action from KELLY that would help WONG’s business.  

57. In keeping with the purpose of the trip, WONG also said that he paid for the Kellys hotel 

stay.  On March 30, 2016, WONG’s credit card shows a charge of $2,011.40 at the Mira Hotel in Hong 

Kong.  WONG said the group stayed in three rooms. KELLY and his wife stayed together in a room, the 

children and their grandmother had a room, and WONG had a room for himself.  Based on the number 

of nights and rooms for the traveling party, combined with the discounted rate WONG normally paid for 

rooms at this hotel, WONG told investigators that the $2,000-plus amount included his own stay as well 

as charges that he paid for the KELLY family stay.5 

58. As with the other expenses WONG incurred on the trip, he was not reimbursed by 

KELLY, nor did he request reimbursement for these costs.  He instead paid for these amounts (and 

would have paid other expenses on the trip) in exchange for KELLY’s previous and anticipated official 

action on WONG’s behalf.6    

59. On June 23, 2020, KELLY’s spouse was interviewed by the FBI and asked about expense 

payments during the March 2016 Hong Kong trip.  She told the agents that she paid WONG a lot of 

money for the trip, and brought lots of cash on the trip to give to Rose Pak, a San Francisco political 

activist who they visited as part of the trip.  Investigators have reviewed bank records and have found 

only one $500 cash withdrawal from the Kelly’s accounts in the weeks prior to the March 2016 Hong 

                                                 
5 According to the Kellys’ financial records that I and other FBI agents have reviewed, there is a March 30, 2016 
charge for $1,390 for the Mira Hotel in Hong Kong.  WONG said he believed paid for everything. Based on 
the rate described by WONG, this amount is consistent with WONG paying for two rooms (one for 
KELLY and his wife and one for WONG) and KELLY’s mother-in-law paying for her own room with 
the grandchildren.   
6 Based upon my training and experience, I know that credit card charges made overseas necessarily involve a 
wire transaction affecting interstate commerce or a foreign wire because the wire reflecting the charge travels 
from the point of sale terminal in the overseas location to the United States where it is processed for debit and 
payment to the customer, in this case WONG, who resides in the Northern District of California, and receives his 
credit card statements, both electronically and by mail, in the NDCA. 
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Kong trip, and one $400 withdrawal from KELLY’s mother-in-law’s account. Further, investigators 

have found records showing that the KELLYs out-of-pocket expenses via their own credit or debit cards 

while in Hong Kong and Macau totaled only $130.97, other than a charge paying for a portion of their 

hotel bill. Because the Kellys’ incurred almost no significant expenses on their own known credit or 

debit cards during an extended international trip, I believe this corroborates WONG’s statements that he 

paid for thousands of dollars in incidental expenses for the Kellys during the trip. WONG’s statements 

to investigators are further corroborated by the encrypted thank you message from KELLY described 

below. 

60. From electronic evidence I reviewed, I have learned that KELLY and WONG were 

communicating while in Hong Kong using the Chinese message application WeChat.  In a text message 

sent the day he was returning to the United States, on April 2, 2016, KELLY wrote to WONG: “Thank 

you for the best family vacation ever! A little something for everyone!”  As with KELLY’s other’s 

communications using his personal email and cell phone in furtherance of the scheme to defraud, I 

believe KELLY’s use of a personal, Chinese-based messaging application in these instances was an 

attempt to conceal his communications and evidence of his corrupt intent to defraud the public of honest 

services.  I further believe that KELLY’s encrypted “thank you” to WONG corroborates WONG’s 

statements to investigators that WONG spent thousands of dollars on KELLY during the trip in 

exchange for KELLY’s anticipated official action benefitting WONG’s businesses. 

61. Emails and other communications and documents also show that WONG arranged the 

Kellys’ flights to Hong Kong.  Text messages indicate that WONG used a credit card provided by 

KELLY to purchase the tickets.  On March 1, 2016, WONG and KELLY exchanged the following text 

messages: 

WONG: Is this flight ok for your group 

Mar 24 2016 SFO 12:55 arrive Hong Kong 

March 25 7 pm April 3 12:30 am arrive SFO April 2 

10 pm 

KELLY: Ok with me 

WONG: which credit card should we use ps give us a copy by fax 415 554 8805 
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can we meet tomorrow after work ? 

can i call you 

62. Significantly, KELLY’s bank accounts show an unexplained cash deposit of $1,800 on 

April 29, 2016, just weeks after the Hong Kong trip.  The total is close to the amount that Kelly’s family 

paid for two of the Hong Kong flights ($1,706), according to documents, including bank account 

statements and check ledgers, that I and other agents have reviewed.  The aforementioned deposit was 

the largest cash deposit into KELLY’s accounts since March 2014, and further corroborated WONG’s 

account that he would have reimbursed KELLY in cash for KELLY and his wife’s airfare. 

63. State and local ethics and disclosure laws require officials like KELLY to (among other 

things) report potential conflicts of interest and list the gifts they have received, including meals and 

travel, every year on a document known as a Form 700.  Although KELLY’s Form 700 disclosed a $55 

breakfast he received from the San Francisco Chamber of Commerce on March 16, 2016, he never 

disclosed any of the travel, accommodations, meals, or other items of value he received during his 2016 

trip to Hong Kong and China.  I believe this is evidence of KELLY’s intent to defraud and his desire to 

hide the benefits he received from WONG. 

64. In September 2016, the LED lights contract was put out for rebid, and in November 2016, 

WONG’s company bid again.  According to WONG, the internal PUC documents that KELLY had 

previously provided allowed WONG to adjust his bid to be more competitive.  In the end, WONG’s 

company placed much higher in the ranking to win the bid than it did previously, and according to 

WONG, was allowed to participate in a run-off review.  However, WONG said that they decided to 

withdraw from the process after the city made multiple changes to the contract requirements.  According 

to WONG, after expressing frustration to Nuru about the changes, Nuru told him to forget about the 

project because someone else had bribed KELLY with a much larger sum and WONG was not going to 

win the RFP. 

65. In addition to the 2015 and 2016 LED Smart Lights bids, WONG’s company, Green 

Source Trading, had contracts with the PUC to provide LED Christmas snowflake lights in and around 

Union Square and Market Street.  WONG told investigators he received contracts for holiday lights from 

KELLY and Nuru, in exchange for the items of value that he provided to both public officials. KELLY 



 
 

 

18 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

and WONG repeatedly communicated about this contract using KELLY’s personal email account.  For 

example, on March 1, 2019, and again on September 19, 2019, WONG sent KELLY a quote regarding 

snowflake LED rope lights to KELLY’s personal email account. WONG sent these emails to KELLY’s 

personal email, despite the fact that they contained documents and information related to their contract 

work for PUC, and KELLY is required by San Francisco’s Sunshine Ordinance to use his official email 

for communications related to PUC business.  

66. Based on my training and experience, I believe KELLY’s use of his personal email to 

communicate about official business provides additional probable cause to believe that WONG and 

KELLY engaged in the bribery scheme described above. By using his personal email to communicate 

about PUC business pertaining to LED lights contracts, KELLY ensured that these emails would not be 

preserved as San Francisco government records and would not therefore be subject to public record 

keeping and disclosure laws.  As with KELLY’s other’s communications using his personal email and 

his cell phone (calls and texts) in furtherance of the honest services scheme to defraud, I believe 

KELLY’s use of his personal devices and email in these instances is evidence of his corrupt intent to 

defraud the public of honest services. 

d. WONG Pays for Water Damage Repair Work at KELLY’s Residence 

67. In 2017, KELLY contracted with WONG to repair water damage to the KELLY 

residence.  Walter Wong Construction invoiced KELLY $23,236 for the work. On August 11, 2017 

WONG emailed KELLY stating that KELLY’s insurance company would only cover $11,547. 

Ultimately, KELLY paid WONG only $11,547 for the repair work, according to WONG, and confirmed 

by billing records and checks from KELLY that I have reviewed.  WONG stated that he never pressed 

KELLY to pay the remainder of the bill because he wished to provide KELLY with benefits in exchange 

for KELLY, as head of the PUC, directing business to WONG and his companies as KELLY had done 

in the past.  

68. KELLY has admitted that he knew he underpaid WONG for the water damage repair 

work.  On May 21, 2020, WONG met with KELLY and, under the direction of law enforcement, 

surreptitiously recorded the conversation.  During this conversation, WONG told KELLY that the FBI 

had seized WONG’s records, and that WONG’s attorneys were asking about the repair work on 
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KELLY’s house.  KELLY admitted that he knew he underpaid WONG, stating: “I only paid what my 

insurance gave me, and my deductible. So on that one, if that’s one you want me to pay, I’m willing to 

pay.”  KELLY then said: “So it’s not like you were giving me money. we were friends, you were helping 

me, and the insurance company was telling me, that’s too high, he’s ripping you off. but I know you’re 

not ripping me off.”  

69. During this conversation, KELLY said they should get a third-party estimate for the cost 

of the unpaid work, saying: “you can just say, you know, that number’s disputed, and so Harlan’s 

saying one thing and you’re saying something else.”  Further, in the recorded conversation, KELLY 

denied not paying for his airline tickets to Hong Kong, and for other construction work WONG did on 

KELLY’s residence.  KELLY said he fully paid the construction bills he received from WONG, and 

believed that he gave WONG his credit card to pay for tickets to Hong Kong. 

IV. CONCLUSION AND REQUEST FOR SEALING 

70. Based on the forgoing, I believe probable cause exists for the issuance of a criminal 

complaint charging KELLY with one count of Honest Services Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 

1343 and 1346.  Based on the evidence above, I believe that KELLY violated his duty of honest services 

to the City and County of San Francisco by providing WONG with internal bid documents, and non-

public information regarding a multi-million city contract in return for bribes and kickbacks, including 

thousands of dollars of personal expenses WONG paid during KELLY’s trip to Hong Kong, and 

thousands of dollars of repair work WONG performed on KELLY’s residence, for which KELLY never 

paid. 

71. I further request that the Court order that all papers in support of this application, 

including the affidavit, be sealed until further order of the Court.  These documents discuss an ongoing 

criminal investigation that is neither public nor known to all of the targets of the investigation.  

Accordingly, there is good cause to seal these documents because their premature disclosure may give 

targets an opportunity to flee/continue flight from prosecution, destroy or tamper with evidence, change 

patterns of behavior, notify confederates, or otherwise seriously jeopardize the investigation. 

/ / 

/ / 
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I declare under penalty of perjury that the above is true and correct to the best of my knowledge 

and belief. 

 
____________________    
TYLER NAVE 
FBI Special Agent 

 
 
Sworn to before me over the telephone and signed  
by me pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.P 4.1 and 4(d) 
this _____day of November, 2020. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
HON. THOMAS S. HIXSON  
United States Magistrate Judge 

/s/

25th
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